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Q1

Revenue

Q3Q2 Q4

Revenue (millions)

$103

$136 $135
$140

$68

$96 $94

Revenue 
down 39% Y/Y

Loss from Operations 
down from ($114M) in the prior year

 
down 21% Y/Y and representing 
63% of fee revenue

Net Loss 
down from ($109M) in the prior year

Adjusted EBITDA 
down from $37M in the prior year

$514M

($257M)

$353M

($240M)

($17M)

$96

Home

Small Business

$1.5T2 $895B3

Auto

Personal

$707B2

$156B2

49% of total Q4 transaction 
volume was committed capital, 
up from 0% at the start of the year 
Leading to more scalable, more reliable, 
and more competitive funding

Launched HELOC in 11 states 
plus DC 
Our median time to funding is nine 
days vs industry at 36 days 

88 Dealer rooftops now offer 
Upstart auto lending 
Up from 27 rooftops a year ago

Launched the Upstart Macro 
Index (UMI) 
Providing a clear picture of the current 
state of the economony, enabling more 
refined pricing decisions

437,659 Loans
87% Automated

Originations

1  In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe that certain non-GAAP financial measures, including contribution profit and adjusted EBITDA are useful in evaluating our operating 
performance. For a full reconciliation of each non-GAAP metric to the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP, please see Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures in this Annual Report.

2 Total market volume for each category is based on data provided by TransUnion for Q3 2022 - Q2 2023.
3 Total small business loans using data provided by the Office of Advocacy U.S. Small Business Administration, July 2022, for 2020 fiscal year.
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Today Upstart is a very different company than 
when we went public in 2020. From our AI models, 
to our products, to our talent, we have made 
progress in nearly every aspect of our business. 
However, most of these improvements have been 
masked by a difficult environment for lending.  

In last year’s letter, I told you that we were planning 
for a difficult 2023. Unfortunately that planning 
assumption was accurate. Interest rates remained 
at their highest in decades, consumer risk was 
elevated, multiple bank failures led to extreme 
caution among lenders, and there was significant 
dislocation in the capital markets. 

While 2023 was a challenging year, I prefer to see 
the silver lining in it; only by passing through the 
crucible of the post-pandemic period have we 
been able to understand clearly the aspects of our 
business that needed to be stronger. And we’ve 
focused our resources and energy intensely in 
these areas while simultaneously operating in a 
conservative and responsible manner.

We are as bullish as ever on AI-enabled lending as 
a category and continue to execute in a manner 
such that, when all is said and done, Upstart will be 
the iconic company that defines this massive and 
important category of AI. While lending will always 
have some amount of cyclicality, we believe industry 
volatility can be significantly mitigated by both 
technology and business model innovation. That  
is our goal.

At its essence, leadership in AI lending requires two 
capabilities:  the ability to rank relative borrower 
risk (model accuracy), and the ability to adjust 
models quickly to the macro environment (model 
calibration). Excellence in these two areas means 
banks and credit unions can lend continually and 
responsibly through any economy. While never 
perfect, these two superpowers allow lenders to 
provide unparalleled value to their customers  
while delivering exceptional business results for  
the long term.

In 2023, we achieved the largest model accuracy 
improvements in our history. Model accuracy (or 
“separation” as we call it) has long been Upstart’s 
strength and we continue to expand on our industry 
leadership in this area. But we’re far from done - 
we see significant potential to build more accurate 
models through more data, better algorithms, and 
more sophisticated, frequent and efficient model 
training. 

In 2023, we also had an equally intense focus on 
model calibration. We launched the Upstart Macro 
Index (UMI) and parallel timing curve calibration 
(PTCC). These tools, particularly when combined 
with faster and more frequent model training, help 
lenders respond more precisely to changes in the 
macroeconomy, and ultimately make appropriately 
priced credit available to more Americans 

Only by passing through the 
crucible of the post-pandemic 
period have we been able 
to understand clearly the 
aspects of our business that 
needed to be stronger. And 
we’ve focused our resources 
and energy intensely in these 
areas while simultaneously 
operating in a conservative 
and responsible manner.
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When all is said and done, 
Upstart will be the iconic 

massive and important 
category of AI.

no waiting, no documents to upload, and no phone 
calls. We believe our relief loans have the potential 
to eradicate more than 70 percent of payday loans 
in the next five years. 

Auto is another growth area for us. 2023 was a 
difficult year for the auto industry, with high interest 
rates and shifting recovery values, so we focused on 
strengthening our relationships with auto dealers 
and rounding out our auto retail software with new 
features. We’re confident that our steady focus on 
this large and inefficient market will be rewarded 
once the industry normalizes.

We also strengthened our loan funding. In 2023 we 
signed multiple committed capital partnerships that 
strengthened the money supply on Upstart. Our 
aim for these partnerships is to maintain capital 
commitments sufficient to remain cash flow positive 
through future market cycles.

In 2023, we also began investing significantly in 
loan servicing and collections. Improvements in 
servicing directly reduce loss rates, which over time 
increase approvals and reduce interest rates for 
Upstart borrowers. Applying our machine learning 
expertise to servicing has the potential to expand 
our platform and unlock the type of efficiency gains 
that we’ve long seen on the origination side. 

throughout the cycle. While no model is perfect 
and the direction of the economy is (for now) 
unpredictable, these tools represent a giant leap 
toward unlocking AI-powered precision lending for 
the entire industry.

On the product front, we took our first steps into 
the largest category of consumer credit, home 
lending, by launching a home equity line of credit 
(HELOC). As it matures, this offering will diversify our 
business because it serves a prime consumer and 
tends to thrive in higher interest rate environments. 
In Q4, our average HELOC time-to-close was just 
nine days, which is already dramatically better than 
the industry average of more than five weeks. This 
impressive metric reflects our relentless focus on 
enabling a superior customer experience through 
automation. 

At the opposite end of the credit spectrum, we also 
made rapid progress on our small dollar “relief” 
loans, which now represent about 15 percent of first 
time borrowers on the platform. In Q4 an incredible 
80 percent of these loans were fully automated with 
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Finally, the area that gives me the most confidence 
in our future is the Upstart team. In the last year 
we have raised the bar on talent even higher. Our 
leadership in predictive AI, the impact and relevance 
of our mission, and our “digital first” approach to 
work has enabled us to recruit top talent across the 
country, even while maintaining a cautious approach 
to hiring. More than anything else, it is our team 
who will drive our success in the years ahead. 

Beyond the accomplishments of 2023, there is much 
to be excited about as we look ahead. Some banks 
and credit unions are now cautiously getting back 
into lending, and we expect to launch a number of 
compelling features that will support this return 
by helping our lending partners better serve their 
existing customers.

In conclusion, it’s too soon to say when interest 
rates and risk levels will return to their long-term 
averages. So we continue to be cautious with our 
investments, while ensuring we are well positoned 
to capitalize when the inevitable normalization 
arrives. Regardless of the economy’s direction in 
the year ahead, I’m confident that we’re building a 
stronger business for the future. 

As many fintechs and even banks retreat from the 
lending business, we remain strongly committed to 
it. Americans will always need access to affordable 
credit. And by continuing to serve borrowers 
through this difficult time we’re extending our 
advantage in training data, model calibration, 
products, and process. Thank you for your trust  
and confidence as we lead the lending industry to  
an AI-enabled future.

Dave Girouard 
Co-Founder & CEO
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
federal securities laws abouta us and our industry,rr which statements involve subsu tantial risks and uncertainties.
Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In
some cases, you can identify fff orff ward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “seek,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “aim,” “project,” “contemplate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” or “continue,” or the negative of these words or other similar terms
or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans, or intentions. Forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include statements about:

• our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, our operating
expenses, our ability to determine reserves and our ability to achieve and maintain profitabia lity;

• our ability to improve the effectiveness and predictiveness of our AI models and our expectations
that improvements in our AI models can lead to higher appra oval rates and lower interest rates;

• our ability to increase the volume of loans facilitated through our AI lending marketplt ace;

• our ability to successfulff ly maintain a diversified and resilient loan funding strategy, including
lending partnerships, whole loan sales, committed capia tal arrangements and securitization
transactions;

• our capia tal allocation plans, including expectations regarding funff ding loans through our balance
sheet and allocations of cash and timing for any share repurchases and other investments;

• our ability to maintain competitive interest rates offeff red to borrowers on our platform, while
enabling our lending partners and institutional investors to achieve an adequate return over their
cost of funding;

• our ability to successfulff ly build our brand and protect our reputation froff m negative publicity;

• our ability to increase the effectiveness of our marketing strategies, including our direct consumer
marketing initiatives;

• our expectations regarding macroeconomic events, including rising interest and inflaff tion rates
and monetary policy changes;

• our expectations regarding the credit performance of Upstart-powered loans;

• the impact of recent bank faiff lures, including disruptrr ion in the banking industry,rr and any
associated effeff cts on our business and industry;rr

• our expectations and management of futff urtt e growth, including expanding the number of potential
borrowers;

• our ability to successfulff ly adjud st our proprietary AI models, products and services, and provide
up-to-date inforff mation to our lending partners, in a timely manner in response to changing
macroeconomic conditions and fluff ctuatt tions in the credit market;

• our compliance with appla icable local, state and fedff eral laws;

• our ability to comply with and successfulff ly adapt to complex and evolving regulatoryrr
environments, including regulation of artificff ial intelligence and machine learning technology;

• our expectations regarding regulatory srr upport of our approach to AI-based lending;
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• our expectations regarding the success of our strategic investments and acquisitions, including the
integration of acquired operations, products, technology, internal controls and personnel;

• our expectations regarding new and evolving markets and our ability to enter into new markets
and introduce new products and services;

• our expectations concerning relationships with third parties;

• our ability to protect against increasingly sophisticated fraudulent borrowing and online theft;

• our ability to service our loans and pursue collection of delinquent and defauff lted loans;

• our ability to successfulff ly compete with companies that are currently in, or may in the futff urt e
enter, the markets in which we operate;

• our ability to effeff ctively secure and maintain the confidff entiality of the inforff mation received,
accessed, stored, provided and used across our systems;

• our ability to successfulff ly obtain and maintain corporate funff ding and liquidity to supporu t
continued growth and for general corporate purposrr es;

• our ability to attract, integrate and retain qualified employees;

• our ability to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over
financial reporting and operations;

• our ability to effeff ctively manage and expand the capabilities of our operations teams, outsourcing
relationships and other business operations;

• our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

• our expectations regarding outstanding litigation and regulatory irr nvestigations; and

• our ability to manage the increased expenses associated with being a public company.

We caution you that the forff egoing list may not contain all of the forff ward-looking statements made in
this report.

Forward-looking statements should not be relied uponu as predictions of future events. We have based
the forff ward-looking statements contained in this report primarily on our current expectations and projeo ctions
about future events and trends that we believe may affeff ct our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forff ward-looking statements is subju ect to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors, including those described in the section titled “Riskii Factorsrr ” and elsewhere in
this report. Readers are urged to carefulff ly review and consider the various disclosures made in this report and in
other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission that disclose risks and
uncertainties that may affeff ct our business. Moreover, we operate in a very crr ompetitive and rapia dly changing
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge froff m time to time and it is not possible forff us to predict all
risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forff ward-looking statements contained in this report. We
cannot assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forff ward-looking statements will be
achieved or occur, and actuat l results, events, or circumstances could diffeff r materially from those described in
the forff ward-looking statements.

Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of
these forff ward-looking statements. Moreover, the forff ward-looking statements made in this report relate only to
events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to updau te any forwff ard-
looking statements made in this report to refleff ct events or circumstances afteff r the date of this report or to refleff ct
new inforff mation or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. Undue reliance should
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not be placed on our forward-looking statements as we may not actuat lly achieve the plans, intentions, or
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the
potential impact of any futff urt e acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint venturtt es, or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the
relevant subju ect. These statements are based upon information availabla e to us as of the date of this report, and
while we believe such information forff ms a reasonabla e basis for such statements, such information may be
limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiry into, or review of, all potentially availabla e relevant inforff mation. These statements are inherently
uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely uponu these statements.

Each of the terms the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” and similar terms used herein referff collectively to
Upstart Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporrr ation, and its consolidated subsu idiaries, unless otherwise stated.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Upstart is the leading artificff ial intelligence (“AI”) lending marketpltt ace, connecting millions of
consumers to more than 100 banks and credit unions that leverage Upstart’s AI models and cloud applications
to deliver supeu rior credit products. Founded in 2012, Upstart’s platforff m includes personal loans, automotive
retail and refinff ance loans, home equity lines of credit (“HELOCs”), and small dollar loans.

We’re dedicated to improving access to credit forff all. Money is a fundamental ingredient of life,ff and
unless you are in the few percent of Americans with significant wealth, the price of borrowing affeff cts you everyrr
day. Throughout history,rr affoff rdable credit has been central to unlocking mobility and opportunity. The FICO
score was invented in 1989 and remains the standard for determining who is approved forff credit and at what
interest rate. While FICO is rarely the only input in a lending decision, most lenders use simple rules-based
systems that consider only a limited number of variabla es. Unforff tunately, because these legacy credit systems
fail to accurately identify aff nd quantify rff isk, millions of creditworthy individuals are left off ut of the system, and
millions more pay too much to borrow money.

Upstart AI remakes the lending process. We leverage AI to more accurately quantify tff he truerr risk of a
loan. Our AI models have been continuously upgraded, trained and refinff ed for more than ten years. We apply
AI models to income and identity fraud, acquisition targeting, loan stacking, time-delimited defauff lt and
prepayment prediction, and servicing. Powered by more than 1,600 variables1, our models are trained on more
than 58 million repayment events, adding an average of 83,000 new repayments each business day.

We believe the flyff wheel effeff cts generated by our constantly improving AI models provide a significant
competitive advantage. More training data generally leads to higher appra oval rates and lower interest rates with
better returt ns to our bank and credit union partners, collectively our “lending partners.” Our AI also enabla es our
lending partners to deliver an exceptional digital-first experience. They can respond instantly to a customer’s
loan request 24/7 with no human intervention. In 2023, more than 87%2 of our loans were fulff ly automated
where borrowers were approved instantly, with zero documentation to uplu oad.

Our AI marketplace connects consumers with our lending partners. Consumers can access Upstart-
powered loans via Upstart.com, through a lender-branded product on our lending partners’ own websites, and
through auto dealerships that use our Upstart Auto Retail softwff are.

Loans issued through our marketpltt ace are retained by our lending partners, purchased by our network
of institutional investors, or funded by Upstart’s balance sheet. Investors may also invest in securities
collateralized by Upstart-powered loans through our pass-through and securitization programs.

As of December 31, 2023, out of the total principal of loan originations facilitated on our marketpltt ace
in 2023, 48% were purchased by institutional investors, 32% were retained by our lending partners, 16% were
held on our balance sheet, and the remaining 4% were contributed as collateral to the securitization transaction
completed in July 2023, which we have consolidated in our financial statements. In the year ended December
31, 2023, our top three lending partners originated 80% of the loans facilitated through our marketplt ace and fees
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conceptually distinct unit of data, such as “applicant-reported savings.” A “combined” variabla e is data that has been transforff med, combined,
or otherwise engineered from a raw variabla e or set of raw variabla es, such as “applicant-reported savings” divided by “loan amount.”

2 Percentage of Loans Fully Automated is definff ed as the total number of loans in a given period originated end-to-end (from initial rate
request to final fundiff ng for personal loans and small dollar loans, and from initial rate request to signing of the loan agreement forff auto
loans) with no human involvement required divided by the Transaction Volume, Number of Loans in the same period.



received froff m these lending partners accounted for 63% of our total revenue. Our goal is to continue expanding
our lending partnerships to new participants and deepen our relationships with existing lending partners.

Institutional investors play an important role in our lending marketplt ace by providing capital forff higher
risk loans that may not be economically feasible for traditional banks and credit unions to hold. We enter into
nonexclusive agreements with our institutional investors who purchase whole loans, the trusrr t entities in our
pass-through programs and the grantor trusrr t entities in our asset-backed securitizations. To improve the loan
funding capaa city for our marketpltt ace across business and macroeconomic cycles, we secured multiple
committed capital arrangements with instituttt ional investors in 2023, which delivered a significant amount of
loan funding to the Upstart marketplt ace. We continue our work on further developing and securing committed
capital arrangements forff our marketpltt ace.

Our revenue is primarily comprised of fees paid by lending partners and institutional investors. We
charge our lending partners platform and referff ral feesff at origination and the agreements with our lending
partners may contain minimum feeff amounts. We also earn loan servicing revenue from contracts with lending
partners and institutional investors. As a usage-based platform, we target positive unit economics on each
transaction, leading to a cash effiff cient business model with high margins. We believe these are the key
components to achieve both high growth rates and profitabia lity over time.

Our AI Lending Models

Our AI models are central to our value proposition and unique position in the industry.rr They are
central to the efficacy of the Upstart marketplace experience we provide to consumers and the value we deliver
to lending partners and institutional investors. The key aspects of our AI models include:

Variablesll and TraTT ining Datatt

Variables in our AI models have increased from 23 in 2014 to more than 1,600 as of December 31,
2023. These include factors related to credit experience, employment, educd ational history, bank account
transactions, cost of living and loan application interactions. As of December 31, 2023, our models have been
trained on more than 58 million repayment events, adding an average of 83,000 new repayment events each
business day. Upstart's models benefit froff m an exponentially growing dataset of repayment observations,
allowing them to detect subtu le patterns that drive loan-level default and prepayment risk.These elements of our
model are co-dependent; the use of hundreds or thousands of variables is impractical without sophisticated
machine learning algorithms to tease out the interactions between them, and sophisticated machine learning
depends on large volumes of training data. Over time, we have been able to deploy and blend more
sophisticated modeling techniques, leading to a more accurate system. This co-dependency presents a challenge
to others who may aim to short-circuit the development of a competitive model. While incumbent lenders may
have vast quantities of historical repayment data, their training data lacks the hundreds of non-traditional
variables that power our model.

Modeling TecTT hniquii es

Growth in our training data has enabla ed the development of increasingly sophisticated modeling
techniques. For example, while earlier versions of our models were centered on logistic regression and Monte
Carlo simulations, our more recent models incorporate neural networks, Bayesian hyperparameter optimization,
and gradient boosting. We expect that our data science investments and continued growth of training data will
unlock even more powerful techniques over time.
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Model ApplA icll atiott ns

While our first model focff used on predicting the likelihood of loan default, we have since appla ied
models throughout the process of credit origination. These models quantify aff nd reduce risk in various ways,
while also increasing automation and funneff l conversion.

The currently active AI models within the Upstart platform—smm hared by and availabla e to all Upstart’s
lending partners—include:

• Acquisiii tion targer ting—igg dentifieff s consumers likely to qualify fff orff and have need for a loan;

• Loan stacking—igg dentifieff s consumers likely to take out multiple loans in a short period of time;

• Time-deldd imited prepaye ment prediction—quantifieff s the likelihood that a consumer will fully prepay a
loan earlier than originally scheduled;

• Income fraud—quadd ntifieff s the risk of potential misrepresentation of borrower income;

• Idendd tity fraud—quadd ntifieff s the risk that an applicant is misrepresenting their identity;

• Time-deldd imited defdd aulff t prediction—quantifieff s the likelihood of default forff each period of the loan
term; and

• Servicing—igg dentifieff s borrowers to prioritize for servicing outreach, allowing for customized
intervention and improved servicing effiff ciency.

Despite their sophistication, our AI models are delivered to lending partners in the forff m of a simple
cloud application that shields borrowers from the underlying complexity. Additionally, our platform allows
lending partners to tailor lending applications based on their policies and business needs. Within the construcrr t of
each lender’s self-dff efinff ed lending program, our platform enables the origination of conforff ming and compliant
loans at a low per-loan cost.

Our Ecosystem

Our ecosystem includes consumers, banks, credit unions, auto dealers and institutional investors who
purchase Upstart-powered loans directly or invest in securities issued by our pass-through and securitization
programs. This broad ecosystem allows participants to access and benefitff from our products in a variety of
ways, which leads to broader adoption of our AI lending solutions.

Consumersrr

On the consumer side, we have built a mobile-responsive web application to aggregate demand on
Upstart.com, where consumers are presented with lender-backed offeff rs from our lending partners. Consumers
can quickly and easily inquire about a rate, evaluate and choose a loan offeff r, provide necessary information forff
verification and review required disclosures before final acceptance of the loan. A similar experience is also
offeff red as a branded product on lending partners’ websites. We have also made significant investments in
Upstart Auto Retail, a froff nt-end software-as-a-service appla ication that modernizes the auto sales process forff
both the consumer and the dealer. Similar to Upstart.com, we expect Upstart Auto Retail to become an
important aggregator of consumer demand.

Consumers on our platform are generally offeff red unsecured personal and secured auto loans ranging
from $1,000 to $100,000 in size, at APRs typically ranging from approximately 7.8% to 35.99%, with terms
typically ranging from hthree monthhs to seven years, with a monthly repayment schedule and no prepayment
penalty.
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Value ProPP poso itiott n to Ctt onCC sumers

• Highei r appra oval rates and lower interest rates—An internal study, conducted and published
in 2023, compared our personal loan AI model to that of a traditional underwriting credit
score based model. The study demonstrated the abia lity of our AI model to expand credit
access to borrowers. Results from the studyt showed that our AI model appra oves 44% more
borrowers and yields 36% lower average APR forff approved loans.

• Superior digii tal expee erience—Whether consumers appla y forff a loan through Upstart.com or
directly through a lending partner’s website, the appla ication experience is streamlined into a
single appla ication process and the loan offers provided are firff m. In the year ended December
31, 2023, 87% of Upstart-powered loans were fulff ly automated, an increase from 75% in 2022.
Automation improvements were duedd in large part to product, engineering and machine
learning enhancements such as eliminating previously manual processes, increasing the
accuracy of our verification and fraud detection models, and removing ineffiff cient or
unnecessary processes and procedurd es.

Lendindd g ParPP tners arr nd Institutt tional InvII estors

On the loan fundiff ng side, we target a wide range of small, medium, and large lending partners with an
appetite to invest in improved underwriting and digital originations. Because AI is a new and disruptu ive
technology, and lending is a traditionally conservative industry,rr we have brought our technology to the market
in a way that allows us to grow responsibly and improve our AI models, while allowing lenders to take a
pruderr nt approach to assessing and adopting our platform. As of December 31, 2023, we had more than 100
lending partners. Our lending partners retain loans that align with their business and risk objectives. Because
lenders vary with respect to program objectives, risk tolerance and funding capacity, program parameters can
vary significantly across diffeff rent lenders. Lending partners have access to an administrative interface for
reporting and program management. We also perform fairness testing on our models to help satisfy lending
partners’ regulatory orr bligations.

Loan volumes exceeding lending partners’ funff ding capacity or risk tolerance can be flowed through
our marketplt ace and sold to our network of institutional investors, which have a broader and more diverse
appetite for risk. As a result, we can develop our business and our AI models faster than if we relied only on the
funding capaa city of our lending partners. The combination of lending partner and institutional investor funding
provides our lending marketpltt ace with competitive and diverse capital.

Our network of institutt ional investors includes investors that buy whole loans originated via Upstart’s
platform, as well as investors that buy securities, such as pass-through certificff ates. We are typically retained by
participating institutional investors to service the loans we help originate. In the case of whole loan purchasers,
we typically enter into loan purchase agreements and loan servicing agreements with such purchasers.
Institutional investors may also purchase interests in loans originated via Upstart’s platforff m in the form of pass-
through certificates. We have pass-through certificate programs sponsored by certain financial institutions under
which institutional investors can purchase securities collateralized by Upstart-powered loans froff m an issuer
trusrr t.

While there are minimal diffeff rences between whole loan sales and sales of pass-through certificff ates
from Upstart’s perspective, both programs are offeff red to provide flexibility to institutional investors in our
marketplt ace. Some institutional investors may preferff pass-through certificff ates, which may be more liquid and
require less operational complexity, while other institutt ional investors may preferff whole loan purchases, which
are generally more cost effeff ctive. Whole loans purchased afteff r origination may later be included in our asset-
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backed securitization transactions whereby interests in these Upstart-powered loans are sold to other
institutional investors.

For our asset-backed securitizations, we engage with investment banks to structurt e transactions under
which we and/or certain of the purchasers of whole loans or pass-through certificff ates described in the preceding
paragraphs sell pools of whole loans to a bankruptrr cy-remote special purposrr e entity. The special purposrr e entities,
through one or more intermediate transferff s and entities, create and sell tranched asset-backed notes and
suboru dinated certificates, in each case, backed by the collective pools of Upstart-powered loans sold into the
investment structurt e.

Value ProPP poso itiott n to Ltt endingii Partnett rs and InsII tituii tional Investors

• Competitive digital lending expex rience—We provide banks and credit unions with a cost
effeff ctive way to compete with the technology budgets of their competitors.

• Expandex d customer base—We referff customers that appla y forff loans through Upstart.com to
our lending partners, helping them grow both loan volumes and number of customers.

• Upstart referff ral netwott rk—Okk nce we aggregate consumer demand on our website, we pass
those customers to our lending partners

• Branded product—Ltt ending partners can serve customers with a branded Upstart application
on their own website or mobile application.

• Flexible configff urations—We built a configff urable lending solution designed to meet the needs
of our lending partners. Because our lending partners have complete authority and control
over their lending programs, they predetermine many aspects of their loan offeff ring, including
interest rate and loan size ranges, target returns forff various risk profileff s, minimum credit
score, maximum debt-to-income ratio, feeff structurtt es and disclosures.

• Servicing—Wgg hile most lending partners and institutional investors choose to have us service
their loans (through a branded servicing portal), each has the option of directly servicing loans
itself. Off ur servicing platforff m manages all communication with borrowers, credit reporting
agencies, and when necessary, collections agencies.

• Delivering returns—We focff us on credit performance compared to the expectations set by us
at the time of origination. An equal investment in all vintages of Upstart-powered core
personal loans that originated in the firff st quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2023 is
currently expected to deliver returns in line with a blended target of 9.0%. At a more granular
level, all quarterly vintages of core personal loans that originated in 2018 through the fouff rth
quarter of 2020 are currently forecasted to meet or exceed the target returns set at the time of
loan origination. The quarterly vintages of core personal loans that originated in the firff st
quarter 2021 through the second quarter 2023 are currently forecasted to underperform
relative to their target returns. The core personal loans that originated in the third quarter of
2023 or later are currently forecasted to deliver returns in line with target yields. This
reversion in performance was driven by a combination of factff ors including increased
conservatism in underwriting and the relative stabilization of macroeconomic conditions, as
reflected in UMI.

We have included similar disclosures in our Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended
December 31, 2022, and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q starting froff m the quarter that
ended June 30, 2022. We recently identifieff d an error in the calculations that supporu ted some
of these statements. This resulted in an overstatement of the expected return of an equal
investment in all vintages of Upstart-powered core personal loans that originated in the firff st
quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2023 by 0.9 - 1.3% for each disclosure. The error
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also impacted our forecasts of the performance of certain quarterly loan vintages relative to
target returns in the aforff ementioned reports. After correcting forff the error, vintages retained
by the hypothetical lending partner that we forff ecasted to meet or exceed target returns still
include those originated froff m mid-2018 through mid-2021, but no longer include vintages
from mid-2021 through mid-2022. Loans purchased by the hypothetical institutional investor
would have been expected to experience underperformance relative to target returt ns through
mid-2023 vintages, not through mid-2022 vintages. Importantly, the error did not impact any
of our financial statements, any forff ecasts prepared for our actuatt l lending partners or
institutional investors, or the overall expected performance trend.

• New product offeo rings—Personal loans are one of the fasff test-growing segments of credit in
the U.S. and auto financing is the second largest segment of consumer lending. Our platformff
helps lenders provide a product their customers want, rather than letting customers seek loans
from competitors. We continue to invest in expansion of our producd t offerings and launched a
new HELOC product in 2023.

• Access to capia tal markerr ts—We have built a broad network of institutional investors who
provide loan funding through purchases of whole loans, pass-through certificff ates and asset-
backed securitizations. We have secured multiple committed capital arrangements with
institutional investors, which deliver a significant amount of loan funding to the Upstart
marketplt ace. We continue our work on expanding committed capital arrangements forff our
marketplt ace.

• Continuous engagement with rating agencies—Upstart-powered personal loans are analyzed
by credit rating agencies and are subju ect to significant and constant scrutiny froff m experts.
Credit ratings are often publicly availabla e, which help institutional investors and lending
partners gain confidff ence in Upstart-powered loans.

• Insighti s itt nto changes in thett economym —Iyy ntroduced in 2023, the Upstart Macro Index (“UMI”)
estimates the impact of the macroeconomy on credit performance for Upstart-powered
unsecured personal loans and helps our lending partners and institutional investors better
understand and account for the effeff ct that macroeconomic conditions have on our credit
performance.

Our Technology Infrastructure

Our cloud-based softwff are platforff m incorporr rates modern technologies and softwff are development
approaches to allow forff rapia d development of new featurt es.

Cloull d-Na- tive Technologio es

We run our technology platform as containerized services on the Amazon Web Services cloud. Our
architecturt e is designed forff high availabia lity and horizontal scalability. Our primary development platforff ms are
Rubyu on Rails and Python, but our Kubeu rnetes-based compute environment gives us the fleff xibility to run
heterogeneous workloads with minimal operational overhead. We deploy new software regularly without
platform downtime, allowing borrowers and lenders to immediately benefitff from the latest updates to our
platform.

Data Integre ity and SecuSS rityii

Our inforff mation security program governs how we safeguard the confidff entiality, integrity, and
availabia lity of our consumer and lending partner data. Our environment is continuously monitored with a suite
of tools designed to detect and respond to security events in both internal and user-facing systems. We have a
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robust secure software development cycle and regularly engage with third parties to audit our security program
and to perform regular penetration tests of our Web application and cloud environment.

Configff urable Mll ulMM ti-ll Tenant Architecttt ure

Our multi-tenant architecturt e enabla es multiple lending partners to use the same version of our
application while securely segmenting their data. Though all tenants are using the same version of our platform,
our software is designed to be highly configff urable to meet the needs of our diverse lending partners, allowing
customizations to everytrr hing from the applicant user interface to the core rulrr es governing credit decisioning.

Machine Learning PlaPP tforff mrr

In order to support innovation in our underwriting, fraud detection and acquisition models, we have
developed proprietary technologies to enable our machine learning team to develop, train, test and deploy new
model updu ates with minimal engineering support. Our backend systems are designed to fleff xibly integrate with
multiple third-party data sources to feedff these models and support real-time decisioning.

Responsive Web Designgg

Our user interface is responsive to ensure appla icants and borrowers have a smooth experience
regardless of whether they are accessing our website froff m a desktop, mobile device or tabla et.

Robust Reporee tingii and IntII egtt ration CapabiCC liii tiii es

Our reporting application programming interfaces (“APIs”) provide institutional investors and lending
partners the abia lity to access data through a programmatic interface. Our integration capabilities with lending
partners include an ability to pre-fill applicant inforff mation via API and provide loan details in real-time to
facilitate a seamless process froff m appla ication to origination. Our lending partner reporting portal provides our
lending partners with a centralized console to view real time performance metrics of their lending program,
view and verify tff heir credit policy and program configff uration, and on-demand access to operational reports and
documents.

Consumer Marketing

Our growth and marketing appra oach is driven by the strength of our product and the interest rates we
offeff r. While many lenders see consumer choice as a detractor from sales volume, we benefit when consumers
compare our offeff rs to other lenders’ offers. Over time, our ability to offeff r lower rates than our competitors has
improved significantly. Because our model changes in real time, we are able to extend new loan offers to
applicants who were previously not eligible or were previously quoted a higher rate.

Our growth and marketing initiatives are primarily focff used on bringing potential borrowers to
Upstart.com, where they can learn if they qualify fff orff a loan froff m one of our lending partners and the terms of
the loan offer in only a few minutes. Our customer acquisition channels combine a mix of online and offlff ine, as
well as paid and unpaid, channels. While we constantly experiment to expand and optimize our acquisition
strategies, our largest channels include:

• Marketkk ing affia liates—A variety of online media partners, such as loan aggregators, send us traffiff c
on a cost per origination basis. Many loan aggregators also incorporrr ate appla ication data to provide
online prescreened offeff rs, which leads to highly targeted and interested referrals. For example, a
significant number of consumers that appla y forff a loan on Upstart.com learn abouta and access
Upstart.com through the website of one of our partners, Credit Karma.

• Direct mail—Wll e appla y our strengths in data science to target individuals who both qualify fff orff and
may have a need forff an Upstart-powered loan. The ability to analyze an individual’s credit data to
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target and mail prescreened offeff rs of credit gives this channel a meaningfulff data advantage over
other channels.

• Organir c tratt ffa icff —As our brand recognition and reputation grow, an increasing number of potential
borrowers come directly to Upstart.com simply by word of mouth.

• Email markerr ting—Wgg e have an automated email program that sends customized messages and
reminders to potential borrowers once they have created accounts to encourage them to complete
their loan appla ication.

• Online advertising—Sgg earch engines and social channels enable targeted outreach to potential
borrowers with specificff messages. In addition, we also advertise on streaming television services.

Operations

We have developed sophisticated tools that our internal operations team uses to supporu t the origination
and servicing of credit. Our operations teams, including credit analysts, fraff ud specialists, customer support,
payments specialists, and suppou rting services (like quality assurance and training) work to deliver a seamless
user experience to consumers on behalf of our lending partners.

Loan Originatiott n OpeOO rations

While verification is primarily and increasingly handled by our software and AI models, we also offerff
Upstart-designed tools to guide credit analysts and fraff ud specialists in cases where our software is not yet abla e
to sufficiently verify bff orrower inforff mation. By providing a prescriptive and unique path for each applicant, our
system helps our operations team provide a streamlined experience for as many borrowers as possible.

This team focuses on the minority of borrowers whose appla ications are not entirely automated or any
applicant who has questions or issues throughout the appla ication process, while expediting the approval process
to the extent possible, and identifyiff ng and rejecting fraudulent appla ications. Our operations team works closely
with our engineering and machine learning teams to furff ther increase our levels of automation.

Most prospective borrowers and appla icants interact with Upstart via our online platforff m and help
center, but we also make agent-based support readily availabla e to all borrowers. For phone supporu t, we partner
with external call center vendors and have a team of dedicated Upstart agents with specialized training.

Servicing OpeOO rations

Upstart-powered loans are serviced via our homegrown platform. For borrowers who miss payments,
we focus on early intervention and attempt to reach them via emails, calls, texts, and mail to help bring their
account current or offeff r hardship options in accordance with the creditor’s servicing policies. Borrowers on our
platform are supported via a combination of internal payments specialists and third-party service providers.

We hold collections licenses in the majoa rity of states and conduct some firff st-party collections
activities. We also partner with third-party agencies for collections, especially for accounts more than 30 days
past due. Debt collection calls and collection performance are reviewed regularly by our quality assurance or
vendor management teams. Our operations and compliance teams each also perform vendor onsite audits
annually.

Competition

Consumer lending is a vast and competitive market, and we compete in varying degrees with all other
sources of unsecured consumer credit, including banks, non-bank lenders (including retail-based lenders) and
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other finff ancial technology lending platforms. Because personal loans ofteff n serve as a replacement forff credit
cards, we also compete with the convenience and ubiu quity that credit cards represent.

On the lending partnership side, we compete with a variety of technology companies that aim to help
lenders with the digital transforff mation of their business, particularly with respect to all-digital lending. This
includes new products from legacy lending technology providers as well as newer companies focused entirely
on lending software infrastructurtt e forff lenders. We may also face competition froff m lenders or companies that
have not previously competed in the consumer lending market, including companies with large and experienced
machine learning teams and access to vast amounts of consumer-related inforff mation that could be used in the
development of their own credit risk models.

We believe we compete favff orably based on the following competitive factff ors:

• Constantly improving AI models;

• Compelling loan offers to consumers that improve regularly;

• Automated and user-friendly loan appla ication process;

• Cloud-native, multi-tenant architecturtt e;

• Combination of technology and customer acquisition forff lending partners;

• Robust and diverse lending marketplt ace; and

• Brand recognition and trust.

Government Regulation

We and the loans made through our platform by our lending partners are subject to extensive and
complex rulrr es and regulations and examination by various federal, state and local government authorities.
Failure to comply with any of the applicable rules and regulations may result in, among other things, revocation
of required licenses or registration, loss of approved status, effeff ctive voiding or rescission of the loan contracts,
class action lawsuits, administrative enforff cement actions and civil and criminal liabia lity. While compliance with
such requirements is at times complicated by our novel business model, we believe we are, at a minimum, in
subsu tantial compliance with these rulrr es and regulations.

We are currently, and expect in the futff urt e, to be subju ect to laws and regulations administered by the
CFPB. In addition to the CFPB, the Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction to investigate aspects of our
business, including with respect to marketing practices. Other state and federal agencies, including pruderr ntial
bank regulators and state attorneys general have the ability to regulate aspects of our business. Further, we are
subju ect to inspections, examinations, supervision and regulation by appla icable agencies in each state in which
we are licensed. Regulatory orr versight of our business may change over time. By way of example, in 2020, the
Califorff nia Consumer Financial Protection Law was enacted, which seeks to emulate the CFPB with respect to
its enforcement and supeu rvisory crr apabilities as well as require additional state registration forff certain covered
persons. We expect that regulatory err xaminations by both fedff eral and state agencies will continue, and there can
be no assurance that the results of such examinations will not have a material adverse effect on us.

Below, we summarize several of the material fedff eral lending, servicing and related laws appla icable to
our business. Many states have laws and regulations that are similar to the federal consumer protection laws
referred to below, but the degree and nature of such laws and regulations vary from state to state.
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Federal Lendingii and Relatll edtt Laws

Truth itt n Lii endingii Act

The Truth in Lending Act, or TILA, and Regulation Z, which implements it, require creditors to
provide consumers with uniform, understandabla e inforff mation concerning certain terms and conditions of their
loan and credit transactions, and to comply with certain lending practice requirements and restrictions. These
rules appla y to loans facilitated through our platform as well as to retail installment contracts purchased by
Upstart froff m automotive dealerships, and we assist with compliance as part of the services we provide to our
lending partners. For closed-end credit transactions, required disclosures include, among others, providing the
annual percentage rate, the finff ance charge, the amount financed, the number of payments, the amount of the
monthly payment, the presence and amount of certain fees, and the presence of certain contractuat l terms. For
retail installment contracts, required disclosures can also include certain conditions related to Guaranteed Asset
Protection waivers. For HELOCs, required open-end disclosures are provided durdd ing the origination process and
servicing requirements under TILA are fulfilff led by a third party servicer. TILA also regulates the advertising of
credit and gives borrowers, among other things, certain rights regarding updated disclosures and the treatment
of credit balances. We, on behalf of the appla icable lending partner, provide applicants with a TILA disclosure
when applicants complete their loan appla ications on our platform. If the applicant’s request is not fully funded
and the applicant chooses to accept a lesser amount offeff red, we provide an updated TILA disclosure on behalf
of the appla icable lending partner. We also seek to comply with TILA’s disclosure requirements related to credit
advertising and, to the extent that we hold or service loans, TILA’s requirements related to treatment of credit
balances for closed-end loans.

Equal CreCC dit Oii pporOO tunityii Act

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act, or ECOA, prohibits creditors froff m discriminating against credit
applicants on the basis of race, color, sex, age (provided that the applicant has the capacity to enter into a
binding contract), religion, national origin, marital status, the factff that all or part of the applicant’s income
derives froff m any public assistance program, or the fact that the appla icant has in good faith exercised any right
under the federal Consumer Credit Protection Act or certain state laws. Regulation B, which implements
ECOA, prohibits discrimination based on age, gender, ethnicity, nationality, or marital status, and restricts
creditors from requesting certain types of inforff mation from loan appla icants or engaging in certain loan-related
practices, and from using advertising or making statements that would discourage on a prohibited basis a
reasonabla e person froff m making or pursuing an appla ication. These requirements appla y to lending partners for
loans faciff litated through our platform, forff automotive dealerships selling retail installment contracts, as well as
to us as a service provider that assists in the process and as a loan originator forff our HELOC product. We abide
by policies and procedurd es implemented by our lending partners to comply with ECOA’s provisions prohibiting
discouragement and discrimination. ECOA also requires creditors to provide applicants with timely notices of
adverse action taken on credit applications, including disclosing to applicants who have been declined their
rights and the reason forff the denial. On behalf of our lending partners, we provide prospective borrowers who
apply forff a loan through our platform but are denied credit with an adverse action notice in compliance with
applicable requirements. We comply with the ECOA and Regulation B requirements appla icable to us in
connection with the HELOC product.

In 2020, we entered into an agreement with the NAACP Legal Defense and Educd ation Fund and the
Studet nt Borrower Protection Center to participate in fair lending reviews of our AI underwriting models by an
independent, third-party firm, Relman Colfax LLP, or Relman. Following a number of quantitative assessments,
Relman has published three periodic reports and plans to publish a fourth and finff al report that summarizes the
developments during the monitorship as well as industry rrr ecommendations. Notwithstanding our belief that our
models and our lending partners’ lending facilitated by our models comply with ECOA, the reports from
Relman and consumer advocacy groups and associated legislative and/or regulatory irr nquiries could create
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negative publicity and increase the risk of private litigation or government enforcement. For more inforff mation,
see Item 1A. “Riskii Factorsrr ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Fair Creditdd Reporee tingii Act

The fedff eral Fair Credit Reporting Act, or FCRA, as amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit
Transactions Act, implemented by Regulation V, and administered by the CFPB, promotes the accuracy,
fairness, and privacy of information in the files of consumer reporting agencies. FCRA requires a permissible
purposrr e to obtain a consumer credit report and requires that persons who report loan payment information to
credit bureaus do so accurately and to resolve disputes regarding reported inforff mation timely. FCRA also
imposes disclosure requirements on creditors who take adverse action on credit appla ications based on
information contained in a credit report.

Under FCRA, certain information must be provided to appla icants whose credit appla ications are not
approved on the basis of a report obtained froff m a consumer reporting agency, promptly update any credit
information reported to a credit reporting agency abouta a customer and have a process by which customers may
inquire about credit information furff nished by us to a consumer reporting agency. We, our lending partners and
the automotive dealerships with whom we partner have a permissible purposrr e forff obtaining credit reports on
potential borrowers, and we also obtain explicit consent froff m borrowers to obtain such reports. As part of our
loan servicing activities, we accurately report loan payment and delinquency inforff mation to appra opriate
consumer reporting agencies on behalf of our lending partners. We provide an adverse action notice to rejected
applicants on behalf of each lending partner at the time the applicant is rejected that includes all the required
disclosures. We also have processes in place to ensure that consumers are given “opt-out” opportunities, as
required by the FCRA, regarding the sharing of their personal inforff mation. We have also implemented an
identity theft pff revention program, as required by FCRA and its implementing regulations.

Fair Debt Collecll tion Practices Act

The fedff eral Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or FDCPA, and Regulation F that implements FDCPA,
provides guidelines and limitations on the conduct of certain debt collectors in connection with the collection of
consumer debts. The FDCPA limits certain communications with third parties, imposes notice and debt
validation requirements, and prohibits threatening, harassing or abusive conduct in the course of debt collection.
While the FDCPA primarily appla ies to third-party debt collectors, debt collection laws of certain states impose
similar requirements more broadly on creditors who collect their own debts and loan servicers of debt. In
addition, the CFPB prohibits unfaiff r, deceptive or abusa ive acts or practices, or UDAAPs, in debt collection,
including first-party debt collection. We use our internal collection team, except forff the HELOC product, and
profesff sional third-party debt collection agents to collect delinquent accounts. Any third-party debt collection
agents we use are required to comply with the FDCPA and all other applicable laws in collecting delinquent
accounts of borrowers. While our internal servicing team is not subju ect to the forff mal requirements of the
FDCPA in most cases, we have established policies intended to substantially comply with the collection practice
requirements under the FDCPA as a means of complying with more general UDAAP standards.

Privacy ac nd Data Securityii Laws

The fedff eral Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, includes limitations on financial institutions’
disclosure of nonpublic personal inforff mation about a consumer to non-affiff liated third parties, in certain
circumstances requires finff ancial institutions to limit the use and further disclosure of nonpublic personal
information by non-affiff liated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires finff ancial
institutions to disclose certain privacy policies and practices with respect to information sharing with affiff liated
and non-affiff liated entities as well as to safeguard personal customer inforff mation. We collect and use a wide
variety of inforff mation to help ensure the integrity of our services and to provide featurt es and funcff tionality to
borrowers on our platform. This aspect of our business, including the collection, use, and protection of the
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information we acquire from our own services as well as from third-party sources, is subject to laws and
regulations in the United States. Accordingly, we publish our privacy policies and terms of service, which
describe our practices concerning the use, transmission, and disclosure of inforff mation. We have a detailed
privacy policy that addresses the GLBA and is accessible froff m every page of our website. We work to maintain
the security of consumers’ personal inforff mation securely, and we do not sell, rent or share such inforff mation
with third parties for marketing purposrr es unless previously agreed to by the consumer. In addition, we take
measures to safeguard the personal inforff mation of borrowers and investors and protect against unauthorized
access to this inforff mation. We also are subju ect to other privacy and security laws and regulations that apply to
certain personal inforff mation that we collect or otherwise process, such as the Califorff nia Consumer Privacy Act,
or CCPA. The CCPA, which went into effect in 2020, requires, among other things, that covered companies
provide disclosures to Califorff nia consumers and affoff rd such consumers rights with respect to how covered
companies process their personal inforff mation. Other states have enacted similar laws, but many have GLBA
exemptions that apply to us. As our business continues to expand, and as state and fedff eral laws and regulations
continue to be passed and their interprrr etations continue to evolve, additional laws and regulations may become
relevant to us.

Dodd-Frank WalWW l Sll trSS eet Reforff m arr nd Consumer Protectt tion Act

In July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law. The Dodd-Frank Act is extensive and
significant legislation that includes consumer protection provisions. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act
created the CFPB, which commenced operations in July 2011 and has significant authority to implement and
enforce fedff eral consumer financial laws, such as TILA and ECOA. The CFPB is authorized to prevent “unfaiff r,
deceptive or abusa ive acts or practices” through its regulatory,rr supeu rvisory arr nd enforcement authority. The CFPB
also engages in consumer financial education, requests data and promotes the availabia lity of financial services to
underserved customers and communities. The CFPB has regulatory arr nd enforcement powers over most
providers of consumer financial products and services through the laws it enforff ces, including us. It also has
supeu rvisory arr nd examination powers over certain providers of consumer financial products and services,
including large banks, payday lenders, “larger participants” in certain financial services markets definff ed by
CFPB regulation, and non-bank entities determined to present a risk to consumers after notice and an
opportunity to respond.

The CFPB has imposed, and will continue to impose, restrictions on lending practices, including with
respect to the terms of certain loans. We and our lending partners are subject to the CFPB’s enforcement
authority. The CFPB may request reports concerning our organization, business conduct, markets and activities.
In addition, the CFPB may, in connection with its supeu rvisory arr uthority, also conduct on-site examinations of
our and our lending partners’ businesses on a periodic basis, subject to whether the applicable lending partner
satisfies the assets threshold forff CFPB supeu rvision. If the CFPB were to conclude that our loan origination
assistance or servicing activities, or any loans originated by our lending partners on our platform, violate
applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to a formal or informal inquiry, investigation and/or
enforcement action. Formal enforcement actions are generally made public. We are not currently subju ect to any
enforcement actions by the CFPB.

For more inforff mation regarding the CFPB and the CFPB rules to which we are subject or may become
subju ect, see Item 1A. “Risk FacFF tors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Federal TraTT de Commissiii on Act

Under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, we and our lending partners are prohibited
from engaging in unfaiff r and deceptive acts and practices, or UDAP. For nonbank financial institutions, the
Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, is the primary rrr egulator enforcing this prohibition, and in recent years
the FTC has been focused on practices of financial technology companies. The FTC is also the primary federal
regulator for automotive dealerships. Based on publicly availabla e actions, the FTC’s primary focus has been
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with respect to finff ancial technology company marketing and disclosure practices as it relates to lending
products, and on junk fees as it relates to automotive dealerships. We maintain policies and procedurd es that
require our marketing and loan application and servicing operations comply with UDAP standards. We also
maintain a dealership diligence program to monitor the fees charged forff ancillary products, forff example, for
retail installment contracts we purchase froff m dealerships. For more information regarding the FTC’s
enforcement actions, see Item 1A. “Risk FacFF tors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Electll rott nic FundFF Transferff Act and NACHA RHH ulesll

The fedff eral Electronic Fund Transfer Act, or EFTA, provides guidelines and restrictions on the
electronic transfer of fundsff from consumers’ bank accounts. Under EFTA, and Regulation E that implements it,
we must obtain consumer consents prior to receiving electronic transfer of fundsff from consumers’ bank
accounts, and our lending partners may not condition an extension of credit on the borrower’s agreement to
repay the loan through preauthorized (recurring) electronic fund transferff s. In addition to compliance with
federal laws, transferff s performed by ACH electronic transfers are subject to detailed timing and notificff ation
rules and guidelines administered by the National Automated Clearinghouse Association, or NACHA. While
NACHA guidelines are not laws, faiff lure to comply with them may nevertheless result in commercial harm to
our business. All transfers of funds related to our operations conforff m to the EFTA, its regulations and NACHA
guidelines. As part of our servicing activities, we obtain necessary electronic authorization froff m borrowers and
investors forff such transferff s in compliance with such rulrr es. The loans offered on our platform by our lending
partners must also comply with the requirement that a loan cannot be conditioned on the borrower’s agreement
to repay the loan through recurring electronic funff d transfers.

Electll rott nic SigSS nagg tures in Gii loGG bal and NatNN iott nal ComCC merce Act

The fedff eral Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, or ESIGN, and similar state
laws, particularly the Uniforff m Electronic Transactions Act, or UETA, authorize the creation of legally binding
and enforff ceabla e agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures. ESIGN and UETA require businesses
that want to use electronic records or signatures in consumer transactions to get affirmative consent froff m
consumers to receive or sign electronically any documents otherwise required by law to be “in writing”. When a
consumer registers on our platform, we obtain his or her consent to transact business electronically, receive
electronic disclosures and maintain electronic records in compliance with ESIGN and UETA requirements, and
we maintain electronic signatures and records in a manner intended to support enforff ceability of relevant
consumer agreements and consents.

Federal MarMM kerr tingii Regue lations

The Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, and similar state laws, generally prohibits
robocalls, including those calls made using an auto-dialer or prerecorded or artificff ial voice calls made to a
wireless telephone without the prior express consent of the called party (or prior express written consent, if
messages constitute telemarketing). In addition, the FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule implements the FTC’s Do-
Not-Call Registry and imposes numerous other requirements and limitations in connection with telemarketing.
Our policies address the requirements of TCPA as well as FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule and other laws
limiting telephone outreach. Furthermore, Upstart does not engage in certain activities covered by TCPA.

The Federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing, or CAN-AA SPAM,
Act makes it unlawful to send certain electronic mail messages that contain falff se or deceptive inforff mation and
provide other protections for email users. CAN-AA SPAM also requires the need to provide a funcff tioning
mechanism that allows the recipient to opt-out of receiving future commercial e-mail messages froff m the sender
of such messages. Our email communications with all consumers are formulated to comply with the CAN-
SPAM Act.
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Servicemembers Civil Rii eliell f Ae ct

Under the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, or SCRA,RR and similar state laws, there are limits on
interest rates chargeabla e to military personnel and civil judicial proceedings against them, and there are
limitations on our ability to collect on a loan to servicemembers on active dutd y originated prior to the
servicemember entering active dutdd y status and, in certain cases, for a period of time thereafteff r. The abia lity to
repossess a vehicle is also limited under the SCRA. The SCRA allows military members to suspend or postpone
certain civil obligations so that the military member can devote his or her fulff l attention to military duties. The
SCRA requires us to adjust the interest rate of borrowers who qualify fff orff and request relief. If a borrower with
an outstanding loan qualifieff s forff SCRA protection the interest rate on their loan (including certain fees) will be
reduced to 6% for the duration of the borrower’s active dutd y. During this period, any interest holder in the loan
will not receive the diffeff rence between 6% and the loan’s original interest rate. As part of the services we
provide, we require the borrower to send us a written request and a copy of the borrower’s mobilization orders
to obtain an interest rate reducd tion on a loan due to military service. Other protections offeff red to
servicemembers under the SCRA, including protections related to the collection of loans, do not require the
servicemember to take any particular action, such as submu itting military orders, to claim benefits.

Militaii ry Lendindd g Act

Under the Military Lending Act, certain members of the armed forces serving on active dutd y and their
dependents must be identifieff d and be provided with certain protections when becoming obligated on a consumer
credit transaction. These protections include: a limit on the Military Annual Percentage Rate (an all-in cost-of-
credit measure which is the same as the APR forff loans faciff litated on our platform) of 36%, certain required
disclosures beforff e origination, a prohibition on charging prepayment penalties and a prohibition on arbitration
agreements and certain other loan agreement terms. As part of the services we provide, we ensure compliance
with the requirements of the Military Lending Act.

Bank Secrecy Ac ct, Utt SAUU PATRIORR T Act, att nd U.S. Sanctions Lawsw

Under the Bank Secrecy Act, the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools
Required to Intercept and Obstrucrr t Terrorism Act, or USA PATRIOT ACT, and certain U.S. sanctions laws, our
lending partners are required to maintain anti-money laundering, customer due diligence and record-keeping
policies and procedurd es, which we perform on behalf of our lending partners, and to avoid doing business with
certain sanctioned persons or entities or certain types of sanctioned activity in certain countries. We have
implemented an BSA/AML program, or AML program, designed to prevent our platform from being used to
facilitate money laundering, terrorist financing, and other illicit activity. Our AML program is designed to
prevent our platform from being used to facilitate business in countries, or with persons or entities, included on
designated lists promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’rr s Office of Foreign Assets Controls and
equivalent foreign authorities. Our AML compliance program includes policies, procedurd es, reporting protocols,
and internal controls, including the designation of an AML compliance officer, and is designed to address these
legal and regulatory rrr equirements and to assist in managing risk associated with money laundering and terrorist
financing. With respect to new borrowers, we appla y the customer identificff ation and verification program rules
and screen names against the list of specially designated nationals maintained by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury arr nd the Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, pursuant to the USA PATRIOT Act amendments
to the Bank Secrecy Act and its implementing regulation.

Bankruptu cytt Code

Under the Bankruptrr cy Code, a lender is prohibited by the automatic stay, reorganization plan and
discharge provisions, among others, in seeking enforff cement of debts against parties who have filed forff
bankruptrr cy protection. The lender’s rights to repossess a vehicle subju ect to a loan in bankruptrr cy are also
restricted. Our policies are designed to support compliance with the Bankruptrr cy Code as we service and collect
both secured and unsecured loans.
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Real Estate Settlemll ent ProPP cedures Act

The Real Estate Settlement Procedurd es Act, or RESPA, requires lenders and servicers of home loans to
provide borrowers with pertinent and timely disclosures regarding the naturt e and costs of the real estate
settlement process. RESPA also prohibits specificff practices, such as kickbacks, and places limitations upon the
use of escrow accounts. It also requires disclosures for mortgage escrow accounts at closing and annually
thereafteff r, itemizing the charges to be paid by the borrower and what is paid out of the account by the servicer.
Prior to referff ring a consumer to an affiff liate, RESPA requires the person making each referral to provide each
person to whom business is referff red an Affiliated Business Arrangement Disclosure Statement. Our policies are
designed to support compliance with RESPA.

Stattt e Ltt endingii Regue lations

Stattt e Utt suUU ry Limiii taii tions

With respect to lending partners that are subjeb ct to Section 521 of the Depository Institution
Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980, or DIDMCA, (for FDIC-insured, state banks originating loans
on our platform, which represent the vast majoa rity of loans originated) or Section 85 of the National Bank Act,
or NBA, (for national banks originating loans on our platform), federal case law interpreting such provisions
(including interpretations of the NBA under Tiffaff ny v. National Bank of Missouri and Marquette National Bank
of Minneapolis v. First Omaha Service Corporr ration), and relevant regulatory grr uidance (including FDIC
advisory opinion 92-47) permit certain depository irr nstitutions to “export” requirements regarding interest rates
and certain fees considered to be “interest” under fedff eral law froff m the state or U.S. territory where the bank is
located for all loans originated froff m such state, regardless of the usury lrr imitations imposed by the state law of
the borrower’s residence or other states with which the loan may have a geographic nexus, unless the state has
chosen to opt out of the exportation regime. There are comparable permissions for fedff erally chartered credit
unions under the Federal Credit Union Act. See Item 1A “Risk FacFF tors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for more inforff mation abouta the risk if any loans were deemed subject to any state’s usury lrr imits.

There have also been recent judicial decisions and enacted legislation that could affect the
collectability of loans sold by our lending partners afteff r origination and the exposure of loan purchasers to
potential finff es or other penalties for usury violations. See Item 1A. “Riskii Factorsrr ” of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K forff more information abouta recent case law developments.

With respect to our HELOC product, we are a non-bank financial institution that is subject to and
complies with state-specificff interest rate restrictions.

Stattt e Dtt isclosll ure and Lendindd g PraPP ctictt e Requireii mentstt

The loans originated on our platform by our lending partners may be subject to state laws and
regulations that impose requirements related to loan disclosures and terms, credit discrimination, credit
reporting, debt collection, and unfaiff r or deceptive business practices. The retail installment contracts we
purchase are subju ect to state laws and regulations that impose requirements on contract disclosures and terms,
credit discrimination, credit reporting, debt collection and repossession, and unfaiff r or deceptive business
practices. Our ongoing compliance program seeks to comply with these requirements.

Stattt e Ltt icensingii /Rgg egistratiott n

We hold licenses, registrations, and similar filff ings so that we can conduct business, including
providing referral services and origination assistance to lenders on our platform and servicing and collecting
loans, and purchasing retail installment contracts, in all states and the District of Columbia where our activities
require such licensure, registration or filinff g. We also hold licenses and registrations required by state laws or
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regulations to originate HELOCs in those states. With respect to our securitization trusts, we have a national
bank that serves as our owner trustee and is itself exempt froff m licensure. Although we are not aware of a state
taking the position that the trusrr t itself needs licensure, it is possible that a state or states could take such position
in the futff urt e. Licenses granted by the regulatory arr gencies in various states are subject to periodic renewal and
may be revoked or suspended forff failure to comply with applicable state and federal laws and regulations. In
addition, as the product offerings of Upstart or our lending partners change, as states enact new licensing
requirements or amend existing licensing laws or regulations, or as states regulators or courts adjud st their
interpretations of licensing statutt es and regulations, we may be required to obtain additional licenses. To that
end, we have a small number of appla ications submu itted and pending to obtain additional licenses, particularly
with respect to obtaining additional authorization to engage in home lending and the purchase of retail
installment contracts. We are also typically required to complete an annual report (or its equivalent) to each
state’s regulator. The statutt es also typically subju ect us to the supervisory arr nd examination authority of state
regulators.

State licensing statutt es impose a variety of requirements and restrictions, including:

• record-keeping requirements;

• collection and servicing practices;

• requirements governing electronic payments, transactions, signatures and disclosures;

• examination requirements;

• surety bond and minimum net worth requirements;

• finff ancial reporting requirements;

• notificff ation requirements forff changes in principal offiff cers, stock ownership or corporrr ate
control; and

• restrictions on advertising and other loan solicitation activity, as well as restrictions on loan
referral or similar practices.

Federal SecSS uritiett s Regulatll iott ns

Securitieii s Act

Upstart and certain of our subsu idiaries have relied on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act for
placement of asset-backed securities directly to investors or to investment bank initial purchasers, which have
relied on RulRR e 144A and Regulation S exemptions from registration to place such asset-backed securities to
qualifieff d institutional buyers and non-U.S. investors, respectively.

Investment Advidd seii rs Act

The Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or IAA, contains subsu tantive legal requirements
that regulate the manner in which “investment advisers” are permitted to conduct their business activities. We
believe that our business consists of providing a platforff m forff consumer lending for which investment adviser
registration and regulation does not apply under appla icable federal or state law, and do not believe that we or
any of our subsu idiaries are required to register as an investment adviser with either the SEC or any of the
various states.

Broker-De- alerll Regue lations underdd the ExcEE hange Act

We are not currently registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act or any
comparable state law. The SEC heavily regulates the manner in which broker-dealers are permitted to conduct
their business activities. We believe we have conducted, and we intend to continue to conduct, our business in a
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manner that does not result in Upstart being characterized as a broker-dealer, based on guidance published by
the SEC and its staff.ff

ABS Riskii Retentiott n Rulesll

Regulation RR was jointly issued by a group of federal agencies under section 15G of the Exchange
Act, as well as under the Federal Reserve Act, section 8 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, the Bank Holding
Company Act of 1956, the Home Owners’ Loan Act of 1933; section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act; and the International Banking Act of 1978. Its purposrr e is to require
securitizers to retain an economic interest in a portion of the credit risk of assets that the securitizer transferff s or
sells to an issuing entity and that collateralize asset-backed securities that are sold to a third party. We believe
we have structurtt ed our organization such that we are in compliance with Regulation RR and will continue to
conduct our business in a manner that allows us to remain in compliance with this regulation.

Compliance

We review our policies and procedurdd es to ensure compliance with laws and regulations applicable to us
and our lending partners. We have built our systems and processes with controls in place in order to permit our
policies and procedurdd es to be followed on a consistent basis. For example, to ensure proper controls are in place
to maintain compliance with the consumer protection related laws and regulations, we have developed a
compliance management system consistent with the regulatory err xpectations published by governmental
agencies. While no compliance program can assure that there will not be violations, or alleged violations, of
applicable laws, we believe that our compliance management system is reasonabla y designed and managed to
minimize compliance-related risks.

Intellectual Property

We protect our intellectual property through a combination of patents, trademarks, domain names,
copyrights and trade secrets, as well as through contractuatt l provisions, our information security infrastructurtt e
and restrictions on access to or use of our proprietary trr echnology. As of December 31, 2023, we had two patents
issued and three patent applications in the United States related to our proprietary risk model and data
engineering. We may filff e additional patent appla ications or pursue additional patent protection in the future to
the extent we believe it will be beneficial.

We have trademark rights in our name, our logo and other brand indicia, and have trademark
registrations for select marks in the United States. We will pursue additional trademark registrations to the
extent we believe it will be beneficial. We also have registered domain names for websites that we use in our
business. We may be subject to third party claims from time to time with respect to our intellectuat l property.

Additionally, we rely upon unpatented trade secrets and confidff ential know-how and continuing
technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We also enter into confidff entiality
and intellectuat l property rights agreements with our employees, consultants, contractors and business partners.
Under such agreements, our employees, consultants and contractors are subju ect to invention assignment
provisions designed to protect our proprietary information and ensure our ownership in intellectuat l property
developed pursuant to such agreements.

For additional inforff mation about our intellectuat l property and associated risks, see Item 1A. “Riskii
Factorsrr ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Culture and Workforff ce

We have built a very srr pecial company culture at Upstart. Building the best place for top talent to do
great work has been a priority forff us from day one. It is not an accident that we have received best place to work
awards in both our San Mateo and Columbus locations. In spite of the macro-economic challenges we
encountered in 2023 - our employee engagement and retention of our top talent are both strong.

We brought together a remarkabla e diversity of thinkers to build Upstart. Our co-founders and the
members of our management team come from diverse backgrounds with varying ethnicities, educd ation
backgrounds, genders and ages. This diversity of thought ensures we tackle problems froff m all angles and arrive
at the best solution forff all stakeholders.

Recruitinii g

We attract and recruit diverse, exceptionally talented, highly educated, experienced and motivated
employees. We have an extremely rigorous recruirr ting and employee candidate screening process. For example,
our machine learning team, responsible for the development and constant improvement of our AI models, is
unlike any other that we are aware of in the consumer lending space. The majority of the members of this team
have doctorate degrees in statistics, mathematics, computer science, economics or physics and many have
extensive past experience in quantitative finff ance.

Culture

The Upstart culturt e is central to our talent advantage and we have carefulff ly and thoughtfully built it as
we have grown. Equity and inclusion underpin everytrr hing we do in the people programs we build. From our
compensation practices to how we think abouta talent management and team development to the perks and
benefits we invest in, we take a diversity, equity, and inclusion lens to each decision we make and every
strategy we build.

Upstart employees are also passionate about building an environment that works for all. Over the last
three years, we have invested heavily in growing our employee resource groups, and currently have nine
employee led organizations designed to support employees in communities that matter to them. This includes
our Afriff can American Employee Network, Catalyst (forff our LGBTQ2IA+ community), Unidos, APU (for
Asian American Upstarters), and most recently, a Veterans ERG, along with more than 20 clubs and special
interest groups.

Digii taii l FirFF strr Apprpp oach

A fewff years ago, we shifteff d our talent location strategy to one that focused on “digital” work first.
Employees in eligible roles (which comprise the majoa rity of our full-time roles) can work from anywhere in the
United States, including in one of our three offices in Austin, Texas; Columbus, Ohio; or San Mateo, Califorff nia.
However, to ensure we continue to build relationships and capture the magic of those innovative, in-person
“aha” moments, we also provide travel and onsite budgets to ensure teams can come together regularly. We
believe the benefitff s of in-offiff ce work can be captured in just a few well-considered days together, so this
flexible approach provides Upstart the best of all worlds: in-person collabora ation and team building as well as
access to diverse talent all over the country.

Emplm oyll ee Benefie tsii

In addition to providing competitive benefitff s like fulff ly paid health insurance, life iff nsurance and
disabia lity, fleff xible time off fff orff our salaried employees, and fully paid parental leave, we invest in benefits that
will provide financial fleff xibility and financial wellness forff our employees - we see this as central to our brand as
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an employer, and to attracting the types of employees that will be passionate about our mission to serve
borrowers. We continue to provide flexible “wellness” and “productivity” budgets allowing our diverse
population of employees to spend in ways that will be most useful forff them. Inspired by our company mission,
we also provide important traditional finff ancial benefits like a 401(k) match (where we match 401(k)
contributions up to a set dollar amount, ensuring equal access to these benefits dollars regardless of salary
level), a generous Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and access to a financial planning and money management
platform. We believe that these employee benefitff s, combined with competitive salaries and an equity program
that grants restricted stock units to all fulff l-time employees, have ensured that we remain a top employer in our
industry.rr

As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,388 full-time employees. We also engage temporary err mployees,
contractors and consultants as needed to supporu t our operations. None of our employees are represented by a
labora union or subju ect to a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and
we consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Corporate Inforff mation

Upstart Network, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 2012. Pursuant to a restrucrr turing, Upstart
Holdings, Inc. was incorporated in December 2013 and became the holding company of Upstart Network, Inc.
Our principal executive offices are located at 2950 S. Delaware Street, Suite 410, San Mateo, Califorff nia 94403,
and our telephone number is (833) 212-2461. Our website address is www.upstart.com. The content of our
websites and information that can be accessed through our websites is not incorporated by reference into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we fileff with the SEC, and any referff ences to
our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Available Inforff mation

Our website is located at www.upstart.com and our investor relations website at ir.upstart.com. Copies
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to these reports filed or furff nished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are
availabla e freff e of charge on our investor relations website as soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r they are
electronically filed with, or furff nished to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC
filings at www.sec.gov. The content of our websites and inforff mation that can be accessed through our websites
is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we
file with the SEC, and any referff ences to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

We announce material inforff mation to the public about us, our products and services and other matters
through a variety of means, including filings with the SEC, press releases, public conferff ence calls, webcasts, the
investor relations section of our website (ir.upstart.com), in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary
distribution of inforff mation to the public and forff complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation
FD.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high dgg egdd regg e of ro isk. The risks and uncertainties desdd cribed
below should bll e carefulff ly considerdd ed, tdd ogether with all of to hett othett r inforff mation in thitt s Aii nnual Repore t on ForFF m
10-K, including the section titled “Ma“ nagement’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Resultstt
of Operations” and our consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd related notes, beforff e making a decidd siii on to invest
in our common stock. Okk ur business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects ctt ould all lso be
harmed by rb isks and uncertainties not currently known to us or thattt we currently do not believe are material. If
any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospes cts ctt ould bll e
adverserr ly affeff cted. Idd n tII hattt event, tt hett marketkk price of oo ur common stock could dll ecldd ine, and you could lll ose part
or all of yo our investment.

SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS

The material risks that may affect our business, financial condition or results of operations include, but
are not limited to, those relating to the following:

• Our business has been and will continue to be adversely affecff ted by economic conditions and other
factors that we cannot control, including the recent bank faiff lures and resulting disruptu ion in the
banking sector.

• If we are unabla e to maintain diverse and resilient loan funding to our marketpltt ace from institutional
investors, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

• If we are unabla e to continue to improve our AI models or if our AI models contain errors or are
otherwise ineffective, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations
would be adversely affected.

• If our AI models do not accurately refleff ct the impact of economic conditions on borrowers’ credit risk
in a timely manner, the performance of Upstart-powered loans may be worse than anticipated and our
AI models may be perceived as ineffeff ctive.

• If our existing lending partners cease or limit their participation in our marketplt ace or if we are unabla e
to attract new lending partners to our marketplt ace, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affected.

• We have a relatively limited operating history,rr which may result in increased risks, uncertainties,
expenses and difficulties, and makes it diffiff cult to evaluate our future prospects.

• If we are unabla e to manage the risks associated with the Upstart Macro Index (UMI), which is at an
early research and development stage with an unproven track record, our credibility, reputation,
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

• We have incurred net losses, and we may not be able to achieve profitabia lity in the futff urt e.

• If we are unabla e to manage risks associated with the loans on our balance sheet, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

• Our revenue growth rate and finff ancial performance in the past may not be indicative of futff urt e
performance.

• Our quarterly results are likely to fluctuate and as a result may adversely affect the trading price of our
common stock.
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• Our loan funding arrangements with institutional investors, securitizations and warehouse credit
facilities expose us to certain risks, and if we faiff l to successfulff ly manage such risks, it may result in the
reduced supplu y of loan fundiff ng capia tal or require us to seek more costly or less effiff cient finff ancing for
our marketpltt ace.

• Our top three lending partners account for a significant portion of loan originations on our marketpltt ace
and our revenue.

• Our reputation and brand are important to our success, and if we are unabla e to continue developing our
reputation and brand, our ability to retain existing and attract new lending partners, our ability to attract
borrowers to our marketplt ace, our ability to maintain diverse and resilient loan funding and our ability
to maintain and improve our relationship with regulators of our industry crr ould be adversely affected.

• Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations, many of which are evolving, and
failure or perceived faiff lure to comply with such laws and regulations could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

• If we are unabla e to manage the risks related to our loan servicing and collections obligations, our
business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

• Substantially all of our revenue is derived froff m a single loan product, and we are thus particularly
susceptible to fluff ctuat tions in the unsecured personal loan market. We also do not currently offeff r a
broad suite of products that lending partners or institutt ional investors may find desirabla e.

• The sales and onboarding process of new lending partners could take longer than expected, leading to
fluctuations or variability in expected revenues and results of operations.

• We are continuing to introduce and develop new loan products and services offeff rings, and if these
products are not successfulff or we are unabla e to manage the related risks, our growth prospects,
business, financial, condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

• We rely on strategic relationships with loan aggregators to attract appla icants to our marketplt ace, and if
we cannot maintain effeff ctive relationships with loan aggregators or successfulff ly replace their services,
or if loan aggregators begin offeff ring competing products, our business could be adversely affected.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND INDUSTRYR

Our business has been and will continue to be adversely affected by economic conditions and other
factors that we cannot control.

Uncertainty, volatility and negative trends in general economic conditions historically have created a
difficult operating environment forff our industry.rr Many factors, including factors that are beyond our control,
have impacted and will continue to impact our business, financial condition and results of operations by
affeff cting the supplu y of capital to our marketplt ace from our lending partners and institutional investors, the
demand by borrowers of Upstart-powered loans, and borrowers’ abia lity and willingness to repay their loans.
These facff tors include, but are not limited to, interest rates, inflation, fiscal and monetary policies,
unemployment levels, personal savings rates, disruptrr ions in the banking sector, lower consumer confidff ence,
reduced consumer discretionary spending, conditions in the housing market, immigration policies, gas prices,
energy costs, government shutdowns, trade wars and delays in tax refunds, as well as events such as naturt al
disasters, acts of war, geopolitical conflicff ts, terrorism, catastrophes and pandemics. If any of these factors
negatively affect borrowers, lending partners or institutt ional investors, or if we are unabla e to mitigate the risks
associated with them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In recent years, the United States has experienced historically high levels of inflation. In response, the
government has implemented policy interventions, and the U.S. Federal Reserve has raised, and may continue
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to raise, interest rates. While the goal is to curb ir nflaff tion, these interventions may have broad macroeconomic
implications and may contribute to an economic downturt n, higher unemployment rates or disruptrr the banking
sector.

The current macroeconomic environment and resulting uncertainty and volatility have had, and could
continue to have, several effeff cts on our business and results of operations, including, among other things:

• a decrease in loan origination volume;

• a reduction in loan fundiff ng from lending partners and instituttt ional investors;

• a reduction in liquidity in the capital markets;

• lower approvabia lity of, and acceptance of loan offerff s by, applicants;

• increased utilization of our balance sheet to fund Upstart-powered loans;

• delays in the adoption of our AI lending marketplt ace by new lending partners;

• increased delinquencies and default rates for Upstart-powered loans; and

• reducd tions in workforce.

The current macroeconomic environment has had, and may continue to have, a material adverse effecff t
on our business by affecting the supplu y of capital to our marketplt ace from institutional investors and lending
partners. For more information, see the risk factors titled “—If— we are unable to maintain diverserr and resilient
loan funding to our marketkk pltt acl e froff m institutional investors,rr our growth prospes cts,tt business, financial
condition and results ott f oo peo rations could bll e adverserr ly affeff cted” add nd “—If— our existii ing lending partners crr ease
or limit their participati ion in our marketkk pltt ace or if wi e are unable to attract new lending partners trr o our
marketkk pltt ace, our business, financial condition and results ott f oo peo rations will be adverserr ly affeff cted”.dd

We offeff r consumer loans, such as personal and auto loans, on our marketplt ace, and many consumers
that come to our marketplt ace have poor, limited or no credit history.rr Such consumers have historically been,
and may in the futff urt e be, disproportionately affeff cted by adverse macroeconomic conditions. Inflaff tion, higher
interest rates, availabia lity of welfare programs, unemployment, bankruptrr cy, government interventions, such as
stimulus measures, major medical expenses, divorce or death may affeff ct borrowers’ abia lity or willingness to
borrow or make payments on loans. The recent macroeconomic trends have negatively impacted borrowers’
ability and willingness to borrow and make repayments. Such trends also have led to higher costs of borrowing
on loans offerff ed on our marketpltt ace. While the costs of borrowing and risks associated with consumer lending
have increased, the maximum annual percentage rate of Upstart-powered loans has been set and always has
been less than 35.99% due to regulatory rrr easons. As a result, the pool of applicants that would qualify for a loan
offeff r has become smaller, and fewff er applicants have received or accepted loan offers than they have in the past.
In a high interest rate environment, potential borrowers may also prefer to deferff loans as they wait forff interest
rates to stabia lize. These facff tors have and could continue to lower our loan origination volume.

During an economic down cycle, there is a greater risk that borrowers will not make payments on
loans. Borrowers may not prioritize repayment of unsecured personal loans over loans that are secured by
necessities, for example, mortgages or auto loans. Higher interest rates ofteff n lead to higher payment obligations,
which may reduce the ability of borrowers to remain current on their obligations. These factors lead to increased
delinquencies, defaults and bankruptrr cies declared by borrowers, resulting in more charge-offsff and less
recoveries, all of which have had, and could continue to have, a material adverse effect on the credit
performance of loans facilitated on our marketplt ace and our business. For example, the vintages of core
personal loans that originated in the firff st quarter of 2021 through the second quarter of 2023 are forff ecasted to
underperform relative to the target returt ns set at the time of loan origination. When a borrower defauff lts on a
loan, it increases our costs to service the loan. Because default rates have been higher than expected, it has
negatively impacted, and may continue to negatively impact, demand by our lending partners to originate, and
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institutional investors to fund,ff loans faciff litated through our marketplt ace. Any sustained decline in appla icant
approvabia lity or acceptance of loan offeff rs or loan origination volume, or any increase in delinquencies or
defaults by borrowers beyond our expectation, would harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If we are unable to maintain diverse and resilient loan funding to our marketplace from institutional
investors, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affeff cted.

Our business depends on sourcing and maintaining diverse and resilient loan funding from institutional
investors to our marketplt ace. The institutional investors provide loan funding to our marketplt ace by purchasing
whole loans, pass-through certificff ates and asset-backed securities. As of December 31, 2023, out of the total
principal of loan originations facilitated on our marketplt ace in 2023, 48% were purchased by institutional
investors. The availabia lity and capacity of loan funding from institutional investors depend on many factff ors that
are outside of our control, such as economic and market conditions, interest rates, liquidity in the capital
markets and regulatory rrr eforff ms. We cannot be sure that the existing fundiff ng sources will continue to be
availabla e, or any new funding source will become availabla e, on commercially reasonabla e terms or at all.

We have recently experienced reducd tions in capital to our marketplt ace due to the current
macroeconomic environment, including rapia dly rising interest rates, increased credit risk of consumers,
recessionary concerns, and stress on banks’ balance sheets driven by bank faiff lures in 2023. Our institutional
investors have decreased their loan purchase volumes in light of the recent macroeconomic environment and
have demanded a lower price and higher returt ns to cover the higher cost of fundsff and increased credit risks. A
reduction in loan purchase volume and sale price has negatively impacted, and could continue to negatively
impact, our revenue, operations and returtt ns. Decreased funding from institutional investors, together with lower
approvabia lity of loan applicants, reducd ed loan origination volume on our marketplt ace, which has had and could
continue to have a negative impact on our revenue. Any sustained decline in investor demand for Upstart-
powered loans or securities secured by such loans, or any increase in delinquencies, defaults or losses beyond
our expectation dued to adverse economic conditions, may also reduce the price we receive on future loan sales.

In response to fundiff ng constraints, we have utilized, and expect to continue to utilize, our balance sheet
to supporu t fundiff ng of loans that would otherwise be sold to institutional investors. The use of our balance sheet
to supporu t loan fundiff ng diverts capital resources, increases our exposure to the changes in the fair value of such
loans and has resulted in and could result in losses when such loans held on our balance sheet default or we sell
them at a loss. Furthermore, we have sought, and continue to seek, committed capital arrangements with
institutional investors. These arrangements may include terms that provide downside risk protection, subju ect to
certain limits and conditions. In particular, we have agreed to compensate, subju ect to a limit, the committed
capital investors if credit performance on the loans sold to them deviates from expectations. As of December 31,
2023, our capital at risk, which represents the maximum exposure to losses, under these arrangements was
$98.5 million. Risk sharing arrangements have negatively impacted our financial results through unfavff orable
fair value adjustments and may continue to do so in the futff urt e. We may also experience declines in revenue and
loan volume if the existing committed capital investors do not provide funding on the agreed upon terms or we
fail to secure additional committed capital arrangements in the future on commercially reasonabla e terms or at
all. Moreover, despite our effoff rts, we may continue to experience funding constraints and cannot be certain if
any measures we have taken, such as committed capital arrangements, or will take to address or mitigate the
effeff cts of fundiff ng constraints, will be sufficient or successfulff . In the event of continued fundiff ng constraints, we
may not be able to maintain our current loan origination volume without incurring subsu tantially higher funff ding
costs, agreeing to terms that are not favorable to us or further relying on our balance sheet to supporu t fundiff ng,
each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Due to the adverse economic conditions and bank faiff lures in 2023, the securitization markets in general
have been constrained. We have experienced less demand for our asset-backed securities secured by Upstart-
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powered loans. Events of default or breaches of finff ancial, performance or other covenants, or worse than
expected performance of certain pools of loans underpinning our asset-backed securitizations, debt faciff lities or
other strucrr tured and unstrucrr tured transactions, have limited in the past and could limit our access to fundiff ng
from institutt ional investors. For example, the loans originated in 2021 through mid-2022 that were included in
our asset-backed securitizations have underperformed relative to their expected target returns at the time of
origination, resulting in negative rating agency actions in several of our asset-based securitizations. We cannot
be certain if and when investor demand for securitizations will recover. Moreover, the fundiff ng arrangements
that we have recently entered into durd ing a high interest rate environment, such as the committed capital
arrangements, may become more costly if interest rates falff l and the terms of such arrangements remain through
a fulff l economic cycle.

If we are unable to continue to improve our AI models or if our AI models contain errors or are
otherwise ineffective, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations would
be adversely affected.

Our abia lity to attract potential borrowers, and thus increase loan originations on our marketplt ace,
depends in large part on our ability to effeff ctively evaluate the creditworthiness of borrowers and likelihood of
default and, based on that evaluation, offeff r competitively priced loans. Our overall operating efficiency and
margins furff ther depend in part on our ability to maintain a high degree of automation in our loan application
process and achieve incremental improvements in the degree of automation. If our AI models fail to adequately
predict the creditworthiness of borrowers and the likelihood of default dued to the design of our models or
programming or any other errors or inaccuracies, and our AI models do not detect or account for such errors or
inaccuracies, or any of the other components of our credit decision process faiff ls, we may experience higher than
forecasted losses on loans. Any of the forff egoing could result in sub-optimally priced loans or incorrect
approvals or denials of loans, any of which may lead to lower demand by borrowers and reducd e loan
originations. Moreover, in addition to reducdd ed borrower demand, higher than expected losses on Upstart-
powered loans could furff ther harm our ability to attract capital to our marketpltt ace. Our lending partners and
institutional investors may decide to limit their fundiff ng or reduce the number of loans or types of loans they
fund if they experience higher than expected losses on their cost of funds due to underperformance of the loans.
It may also hinder our ability to increase the size of, off r enter into new, debt facilities or other financing
arrangements.

Our AI models also target and optimize other aspects of the lending process, such as borrower
acquisition, fraud detection, default timing, loan stacking and prepayment timing. Our continued improvements
to such models have allowed us to faciff litate loans inexpensively and virtuat lly instantly, with a high degree of
consumer satisfaction while maintaining loan performance. However, such applications of our AI models may
prove to be less predictive than we expect, or than they have been in the past, for a variety of reasons, including
inaccurate assumptions or other errors made in construcrr ting such models, incorrect interpretations of the results
of such models and faiff lure to update model assumptions and parameters in a timely manner. Additionally, such
models may not be able to effeff ctively account for matters that are inherently difficult to predict and beyond our
control, such as macroeconomic conditions, credit market volatility and interest rate fluff ctuat tions, which ofteff n
involve complex interactions between a number of dependent and independent variables and factors. Material
errors or inaccuracies in such AI models could lead us to make inaccurate or sub-u optimal operational or
strategic decisions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Continuing to improve the accuracy of our AI models is central to our business strategy. However,
such improvements could negatively impact transaction volume, such as by lowering approval or conversion
rates. For example, in the third quarter of 2021, we made changes to our AI models in response to an increase in
fraudulent activity on our platform. These changes, while effective at preventing fraff udulent loans from being
transacted, have resulted in a decrease in our Conversion Rate. While we believe that continuing to improve the
accuracy of our AI models is key to our long-term success, those improvements have led us in the past and
could, from time to time, lead us in the futff urt e to reevaluate our credit decisioning process, including the risks
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associated with certain borrowers. This has resulted, and could in the future result, in lower appra oval rates or
higher interest rates for any borrowers identified as a higher risk, either of which could negatively impact our
growth and results of operations in the short term.

If our AI models do not accurately refleff ct the impact of economic conditions on borrowers’ credit risk in
a timely manner, the performance of Upstart-powered loans may be worse than anticipated and our AI
models may be perceived as ineffeff ctive.

The performance of loans faciff litated through our marketpltt ace is significantly dependent on the
effeff ctiveness of our proprietary AI models used to evaluate a borrower’s credit profileff and likelihood of default.
Our AI models have not been extensively tested during economic downturtt n or recession. Even if credit
decisions take into account macroeconomic conditions, there is no assurance that our AI models can accurately
predict loan performance during periods of adverse economic conditions or quickly respond to changing
economic conditions. If our AI models are unabla e to accurately reflect the credit risk of loans under such
economic conditions, we, our lending partners and our institutt ional investors would experience greater than
expected losses on such loans, which would harm our reputation and erode the trust we have built with our
lending partners and institutional investors. We have experienced and may continue to experience high
delinquency rates and underperformance of loans originated using our AI models in recent periods. For
example, the quarterly vintages of core personal loans that originated in the firff st quarter of 2021 through the
second quarter of 2023 are forff ecasted to underperform relative to the target returt ns set at the time of loan
origination. The faiff r value of the loans on our balance sheet has declined and may continue to decline. Our
business, financial condition and results of operations can continue to be adversely affected if our AI models are
not able to accurately and timely assess the impact of macroeconomic conditions on the performance and
default rates of loans facff ilitated through our marketpltt ace.

If our existing lending partners cease or limit their participation in our marketplace or if we are unable
to attract new lending partners to our marketplace, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affectff ed.

Our success depends in significant part on the participation of our lending partners in our marketplt ace.
In the year ended December 31, 2023, 86% of our total revenue was generated from platforff m, referral and
servicing feeff s that we receive from our lending partners. Our lending partners also provide loan funding to our
marketplt ace by retaining a significant portion of the loans facilitated through our marketpltt ace. As of
December 31, 2023, out of the total principal of loan originations facilitated on our marketplt ace in 2023, 32%
were retained by our lending partners. If we are unabla e to keep existing lending partners or attract new lending
partners to our marketplt ace, or if we are unabla e to maintain or increase the portion of loans retained by the
lending partners, our financial performance could suffeff r.

Our lending partners may suspend, limit or cease their participation in our marketpltt ace for a number of
reasons. Several of our lending partners have paused or reduced loan origination in order to limit their exposure
to consumer loans in the current macroeconomic environment. In connection with disruptrr ions in the banking
sector, lending partners are managing their balance sheets conservatively and are focff used on liquidity, all of
which have limited, and may continue to limit, our ability to attract new lending partners and maintain or
increase loan originations on our marketpltt ace. If our lending partners continue to suspend, limit or cease their
operations or terminate their relationships with us, the number of loans facilitated through our marketplt ace will
decrease and our revenue will be adversely affected. Moreover, new lending partners may finff d our sales and
onboarding process to be long and unpredictabla e. If we are unabla e to timely onboard our lending partners, or if
our lending partners are not willing to work with us to complete an onboarding process, our results of operations
could be adversely affected.

We enter into a separate agreement with each of our lending partners. Our agreements with our lending
partners are nonexclusive and may contain minimum feeff amounts. Our lending partners could decide to stop
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working with us, ask to modify their agreement terms in a cost prohibitive manner when their agreement is upu
for renewal or enter into exclusive or more favorable relationships with our competitors. In addition, their
regulators may require that they terminate or otherwise limit their business with us, or impose regulatoryrr
pressure limiting their ability to do business with us. See the risk factors titled “—Our business is sii ubject to a
wide range of laws and regule ations, many of which are evolving, and failure or perceived failure to comply with
such laws and regule ations could hll arm our business, financial condition and results of operations” and “—The
CFPBFF has sometimes takenkk expansx ive views of its authortt ity ttt o regulate consumer financial services, creating
uncertainty as to how the agency’c s actions or the actions of any othett r agency cc ould ill mpact our business” forff
more information. Moreover, we could in the future have disagreements or disputes with any of our lending
partners, which could negatively impact or threaten our relationship with them. In our agreements with lending
partners, we make certain representations and warranties and covenants concerning our compliance with
specific policies of a lending partner, certain procedurd es and guidelines related to laws and regulations
applicable to our lending partners, as well as the services to be provided by us. If those representations and
warranties were not accurate when made or if we faiff l to perform a covenant, we may be liabla e forff any resulting
damages, including potentially any losses associated with impacted loans, and our reputation and ability to
continue to attract new lending partners would be adversely affected. Additionally, our lending partners may
engage in mergers, acquisitions or consolidations with each other, our competitors or with third parties, any of
which could be disruptu ive to our existing and prospective relationships with our lending partners. If we faiff l to
maintain or grow the number of lending partners, our business, financial condition and results of operation
could be adversely affected.

We have a relatively limited operating history, which may result in increased risks, uncertainties,
expenses and diffiff culties, and makes it difficff ult to evaluate our futff ure prospects.

We were founded in 2012 and have been a publicly traded company forff a limited number of years. Our
limited operating history mrr ay make it difficult to make accurate predictions about our future performance.
Assessing our business and future prospects may also be difficult because of the risks and diffiff culties we facff e.
These risks and diffiff culties include our ability to:

• successfulff ly mitigate any adverse effecff ts of economic conditions such as high interest rates, inflation,
unemployment levels, personal savings rates and other macroeconomic factors on our business;

• improve the effectiveness and predictiveness of our AI models, including successfulff ly adjud sting our
proprietary AI models, products and services in a timely manner in response to changing
macroeconomic conditions and fluff ctuatt tions in the credit market;

• maintain and increase the volume of loans facilitated through our AI lending marketplt ace;

• successfulff ly maintain diverse and resilient loan fundiff ng to our marketplt ace from institutional investors;

• attract new lending partners to our marketpltt ace and maintain existing lending partnerships;

• successfulff ly meet our borrower demand with competitive products and terms;

• offer competitive interest rates to borrowers on our marketplt ace, while enabling our lending partners
and institutt ional investors to achieve an adequate return over their cost of funds;

• successfulff ly build our brand and protect our reputation froff m negative publicity;

• increase the effeff ctiveness of our marketing strategies;

• continue to expand the number of potential borrowers;

• comply with and successfulff ly adapt to complex and evolving regulatory err nvironments;

• protect against increasingly sophisticated fraff udulent borrowing and online theft;
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• successfulff ly compete with companies that are currently in, or may in the futff urt e enter, the business of
providing online lending services to financial instituttt ions or consumer financial services to borrowers;

• enter into new markets and introduce new products and services;

• effectively secure and maintain the confidff entiality of the information received, accessed, stored,
provided and used across our systems;

• successfulff ly obtain and maintain corporate funff ding and liquidity to supporu t growth and for general
corporate purposrr es;

• attract, integrate and retain qualifieff d employees; and

• effectively manage and expand the capabilities of our operations teams, outsourcing relationships and
other business operations.

If we are not able to timely and effeff ctively address these risks and difficulties as well as those
described elsewhere in this “Riskii Factorsrr ” section, our business and results of operations may be harmed.

If we are unable to manage the risks associated with the Upstart Macro Index (UMI), which is at an early
research and development stage with an unproven track record, our credibility, reputation, business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

UMI is our effoff rt to quantify tff he level of macroeconomic risks in terms of the losses or defauff lts within
Upstart-powered loan portfolff ios. UMI is at an early stage of its development and does not have a long history orr r
track record. Since it is a relatively new initiative, UMI remains unproven and, thereforff e, may not perform as
expected. We intend to continue our research and development efforts to improve UMI. In light of such effortff s,
we have revised our previously published UMI values, including to remove seasonal patterns, and may further
change or revise the current or past UMI values in the future. Any significant changes or revisions could harm
our reputation and credibility with our lending partners and institutional investors, which in turt n could adversely
affeff ct our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the correlation between UMI and the level of macroeconomic risks in terms of losses or
defaults within Upstart-powered loan portfolff ios may not be as significant or meaningfulff as we expect. If the
correlation between UMI and the level of macroeconomic risks is misaligned or skewed in a way that is
unacceptabla e to our lending partners or institutional investors, or UMI faiff ls to accurately or adequately quantifyff
the level of macroeconomic risks, this lack of a meaningfulff correlation may result in distrust or disregard of
UMI. This outcome could adversely affecff t our reputation and credibility with our lending partners and
institutional investors and thus, negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

UMI is based on our analysis of the losses within Upstart-powered loan portfolff ios and is specific to our
borrower base. UMI is not intended to measure the macroeconomic risks in terms of losses of loan portfolff ios or
assets that are not Upstart-powered loans, including loans held by other segments of the U.S. population. It is
not designed to measure the current state of the overall economy or to measure or predict future macroeconomic
conditions, trends or risks. It is also not designed to measure or predict Upstart’s futff urtt e loan performance,
results of operations or stock price. Investors, lending partners and analysts may improperly use or rely on UMI
for these or other unintended purposrr es, or otherwise misunderstand or misinterpret UMI. If UMI is
misunderstood or misinterprrr eted in these ways, it could harm our reputation and credibility with our lending
partners and institutional investors and impair our ability to retain and attract them to our lending marketplt ace.
This could furff ther reduce the number or types of loan products that our lending partners and institutional
investors are willing to fund.ff Any faiff lure to manage the forff egoing risks could adversely affect our ability to
maintain diverse and resilient loan fundiff ng to our marketplt ace, which in turtt n would negatively impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We have incurred net losses, and we may not be able to achieve profitff ability in the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred a net loss of $240.1 million. We have expended,
and intend to continue to expend, significant funff ds to develop and improve our proprietary AI models, attract
additional borrowers to our marketplt ace, enhance the featurtt es and overall user experience on our platform,
expand loan product offerings and otherwise continue to grow our business, and we may not be able to increase
our revenue enough to offsff et these significant expenditures. We have incurred, and expect to incur in the future,
significant losses forff a number of reasons, including the other risks described in this section, and unforff eseen
expenses, diffiff culties, complications and delays, macroeconomic conditions and other unknown events. Any
failure to increase our revenue sufficiently to keep pace with our investments and other expenses would prevent
us from being profitff able. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly address these risks and challenges as we encounter
them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we are unable to manage risks associated with the loans on our balance sheet, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be adversely affecff ted.

We have held more Upstart-powered loans on our balance sheet in recent years and may continue to do
so in the futff urt e. We have used, and may continue to use, our balance sheet to supporu t our research and
development activities forff new loan products and borrower segments. In addition to research and development
activities, we have used and may continue to use our balance sheet to purchase loans from lending partners to
address fluff ctuatt tions in supplu y and demand in our marketpltt ace and periodically sell these loans to institutional
investors prior to their maturtt ity. As of December 31, 2023, out of the total principal of loan originations
facilitated on our marketplt ace in 2023, 16% were held on our balance sheet, excluding loans held in
consolidated securitization. As of December 31, 2023, we held $977.3 million of loans on our balance sheet,
excluding loans held in consolidated securitization. We hold loans on our balance sheet at fair value and
estimate fair value using a discounted cash floff w methodology. An increase in the market interest rates reducdd es
the faiff r value of loans held on our balance sheet by increasing the discount rate used to determine faiff r value
under the discounted cash floff w methodology. Currently, we are in a high interest rate environment. The high
interest rates have negatively affecff ted the fair value of loans held on our balance sheet and may continue to do
so in the futff urtt e. In addition, for these loans and any futff urt e loans to be held on our balance sheet, we bear the
credit risk in the event of borrower defauff lt. Our exposure to rising borrower defauff lt rates and their volatility has
increased, and may continue to increase, as we hold more Upstart-powered loans on our balance sheet. The
R&D loans make up a substantial portion of the loans held on our balance sheet and are generally more riskykk
and more likely to defauff lt than the core personal loans. Recently, the default rates and charge-offsff for these
loans have been higher than expected for certain loan categories, and consequently, we had to make unfavff orable
fair value adjustments to the loans on our balance sheet. These unfavff orable fair value adjustments have
negatively impacted our revenue, and if we continue to experience higher than expected default rates or the
loans otherwise fail to perform as expected, we would need to make additional unfavff orable fair value
adjud stments in the future, which would negatively impact our revenue. It is also possible that we may recognize
a loss if we sell the loans held on our balance sheet, such as the R&D loans, at an unfavff orable price. From a
liquidity perspective, the growing amount of loans on our balance sheet increases our liquidity risk. We cannot
be certain whether we will be abla e to sell these loans, or any futff urt e loans to be put on our balance sheet, on
commercially reasonabla e terms or at all. If we are unabla e to do so, it is possible that our ability to meet our
operational needs and obligations may be disruptu ed. Moreover, the use of our balance sheet diverts finff ancial
resources from other uses, such as improving our producd ts and services, which could have an adverse effect on
our results of operations.

Our revenue growth rate and finff ancial perforff mance in the past may not be indicative of future
perforff mance.

We grew rapidly in the past, and our historical revenue growth rate and finff ancial performance may not
be indicative of our future performance. Our revenue for any previous quarterly or annual periods should not be
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relied uponu as any indication of our revenue or revenue growth in future. In factff , our revenue declined during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Our revenue may continue to decline in the future for a number of reasons,
which may include: adverse macroeconomic conditions, changing interest rates, slowing demand forff or reduced
funding through our lending marketplt ace, sales of loans held on our balance sheet at a loss, increasing
competition, credit market volatility, increasing regulatory crr osts and challenges and our failure to capitalize on
growth opportunities.

We believe our growth was driven in large part by our AI models and our continued improvements to
our AI models. Futurt e incremental improvements to our AI models may not lead to the same level of growth as
they did in the past. In addition, we believe our past growth was driven in part by our ability to rapia dly
streamline and automate the loan appla ication and origination process on our platform. We expect the Percentage
of Loans Fully Automated to level off aff nd remain relatively stable in the long term. However, the expansion of
our loan offeff rings beyond unsecured personal loans, such as auto loans and home equity lines of credit, may
cause fluctuations of such percentage from period to period depending on the loan offering mix. As a result of
these factff ors, our revenue may furff ther decline, and our financial performance may continue to be adversely
affeff cted.

Our quarterly results are likely to fluff ctuate and as a result may adversely affect the trading price of our
common stock.

Our quarterly results of operations, including our revenue, net income (loss) and other key metrics, are
likely to vary srr ignificantly in the futff urt e, and period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations may not
be meaningfulff . Accordingly, the results for any one quarter are not necessarily an accurate indication of futff urt e
performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluff ctuat te due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside
of our control. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results include but are not limited
to:

• general economic conditions, including economic slowdowns, recessions, interest rate changes,
inflation, tightening of credit markets and disruptu ions in the banking sector;

• our cost of borrowing money and access to loan funding sources;

• our ability to improve the effectiveness and predictiveness of our AI models, including improvements
that negatively impact transaction volume, such as lower appra oval rates;

• our ability to attract new lending partners and instituttt ional investors to our marketplt ace;

• our ability to maintain relationships with existing lending partners and institutional investors;

• our ability to maintain or increase loan volumes, and improve loan mix and the channels through which
the loans, lending partners and loan fundiff ng are sourced;

• our ability to maintain effeff ctive relationships with loan aggregators froff m which prospective borrowers
access our website;

• our ability to identify aff nd prevent fraff udulent activity and the impact of fraud prevention measures;

• changes in the fair value of assets and liabia lities on our balance sheet;

• the timing and success of new products and services;

• the effeff ctiveness of our direct marketing and other marketing channels;

• the amount and timing of operating expenses related to maintaining and expanding our business,
operations and infraff structurt e, including acquiring new and maintaining existing lending partners and
institutional investors and attracting borrowers to our marketplt ace;

• the number and extent of prepayments of loans facilitated on our platform;

35



• network outages or actual or perceived security breaches or incidents;

• our involvement in litigation or regulatory err nforff cement effoff rts (or the threat thereof) or those that
impact our industry grr enerally;

• the length of the onboarding process related to acquisitions of new lending partners;

• changes in laws and regulations that impact our business; and

• changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry,rr including consolidation among competitors or the
development of competitive producd ts by larger well-funded incumbents.

In addition, we typically experience seasonality in the demand forff Upstart-powered loans, which is
generally lower in the first quarter. This seasonal slowdown is primarily attributable to high loan demand
around the holidays in the fourth quarter and the general increase in borrowers’ availabla e cash floff ws in the firff st
quarter, including cash received froff m tax refunds, which temporarily reduces borrowing needs. Such seasonality
and other fluctuations in our quarterly results may also adversely affect and, increase the volatility of, tff he
trading price of our common stock.

Our loan funding arrangements with institutional investors, securitizations and warehouse credit
facilities expose us to certain risks, and if we fail to successfulff ly manage such risks, it may result in the
reduced supply of loan funding capital or require us to seek more costly or less effiff cient finff ancing for our
marketplace.

We have facff ilitated securitizations, and may in the future facilitate additional securitizations, of
Upstart-powered loans to allow our institutional investors, certain lending partners and/or ourselves to liquidate
or finance such loans through the asset-backed securities markets or through other capital markets products. In
asset-backed securities transactions, we sell and convey pools of loans to a special purposrr e entity, or SPE. We
likewise funff d certain loans on our balance sheet by selling loans to warehouse trust SPEs and drawing on the
associated warehouse credit facff ilities. Each securitization SPE issues notes and/or certificff ates pursuant to the
terms of indenturt es and trust agreements, or in the case of the warehouse credit faciff lities, the warehouse trust
SPE borrows money froff m banks pursuant to credit and security agreements. The securities issued by the SPEs
in asset-backed securitization transactions and the lines of credit borrowed by the warehouse SPEs are each
secured by the pool of loans owned by the appla icable SPE. We, our institutional investors who have purchased
whole loans or pass-through certificff ates, and/or our lending partners contribute loans to the SPE and in
exchange, receive cash and/or securities representing debt and/or equity interests in such SPE.

When we are the sole sponsor of securitizations, we are required under Regulation RR to retain at least
five percent of the credit risk in such transactions for a specific period of time, depending on the type of asset
that is securitized. We have in the past and may choose to retain additional securities, such as notes or
certificff ates, issued in asset-backed securitization transactions we sponsor or facilitate. The certificff ates represent
residual equity interests in the SPEs and are subordinated to the notes and thus are exposed to greater credit risk.
In 2023, we acted as a sole retaining sponsor to asset-backed securitizations and, in one instance, retained not
only the securities required forff risk retention purposrr es under Regulation RR, but also additional residuadd l equity
interests, exposing us to greater credit risk. The securities we retain may lose value, including becoming
worthless. In the futff urt e, we may retain securities issued as part of our securitizations beyond risk retention
requirements again. In addition, other matters, such as capital and leverage requirements appla icable to banks and
other regulated financial institutions holding asset-backed securities or increasing competition froff m other
issuers of asset-backed securities, could negatively impact our business by decreasing institutional investor
demand for securities issued through our securitization transactions. In addition, compliance with certain
regulatory rrr equirements, including the Dodd-Frank Act, the Investment Company Act and the so-called
“Volcker Rule,” may affect the type of securitizations that we are abla e to complete.
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If it is not possible or economical for us to securitize loans in the futff urt e, we may need to seek
alternative finff ancing to provide loan funding to our marketplt ace and to meet our existing debt obligations. Such
funding may not be availabla e on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If the cost of such loan fundiff ng
mechanisms were to be higher than that of our securitizations it would negatively impact our results of
operations. If we are unabla e to access such finff ancing, our ability to originate loans and our results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity may be materially adversely affectff ed.

The servicing fees generated by our loan servicing activities for the loans sold to institutional investors
and contributed to asset-based securitizations and pass-through certificff ate transactions also represent a material
portion of our earnings. There is no assurance that our institutt ional investors will continue to purchase loans or
securities (either through whole loan sales, asset-backed securities, pass-through certificff ate issuances or other
direct or indirect purchase arrangements) or that they will continue to purchase loans in transactions that
generate the same spreads and/or fees that we have historically obtained. During the year ended December 31,
2023, we sold loans that had been originated in an earlier, lower interest rate environment. We recognized
losses on these sales which reduced our revenue. As we hold more loans on our balance sheet, our business,
financial condition and results of operation could be adversely affected, including further reducdd tions in revenue.
Factors that may affeff ct demand by institutional investors forff Upstart-powered loans include:

• competition in the whole loan sales markets where we compete with loan originators who can sell
either larger loan portfolff ios or loans that have characteristics, pricing and terms that may be perceived
to be more desirabla e to certain instituttt ional investors than those offered in Upstart-powered loans that
comprise our whole loan sales;

• competition in the securitization markets where we compete with loan originators and other issuers
who can securitize or sell pools of loans (which such pools may include Upstart-powered loans, on a
commingled basis or otherwise) with characteristics, pricing and terms that may be perceived to be
more desirabla e to certain institutt ional investors than those offerff ed in Upstart-powered loans contributed
to asset-based securitization transactions that we facilitate;

• the extent to which servicing fees and other expenses may reducd e overall net returt n on purchased pools
of loans;

• the actual or perceived credit performance of loan products offeff red on our marketplt ace;

• economic conditions such as high interest rates, inflation, economic volatility and other
macroeconomic factors;

• risk appea tite of our institutional investors;

• the loan grade and term mix of the portfolff ios of loans offeff red forff sale;

• institutional investors’ sector and company investment diversificff ation requirements and strategies;

• higher yielding investment opportunities at a risk profile deemed similar to our sold loan portfolff ios;

• borrower prepayment behavior within the underlying pools;

• regulatory orr r investment practices related to maintaining net asset value, mark-to-market and similar
metrics surrounding pools of purchased loans; and

• the ability of our institutt ional investors to access funding and liquidity channels, including warehouse
financing and securitization markets, on terms they find acceptable to deliver an appropriate return net
of funding costs, as well as general economic conditions and market trends, such as increasing interest
rates, that affeff ct the appea tite forff loan financing investments.

In connection with our committed capital arrangements, we have agreed to compensate, subject to a
limit, the committed capia tal investors if credit performance on the loans sold to them deviates from
expectations. As of December 31, 2023, our capia tal at risk, which represents the maximum exposure to losses,
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under these arrangements was $98.5 million. See “No“ te 5. Benefie cial Intereststt ” forff more information. Risk
sharing arrangements could negatively impact our financial results. We may also experience declines in revenue
and loan volume if the existing committed capital investors do not provide funding on the agreed upon terms or
we fail to secure additional committed capital arrangements on commercially reasonabla e terms, or at all.

We are also subju ect to risk that arises from our derivative instruments, beneficial interests, warehouse
facilities, and third-party custodians. These activities generally involve an exchange of obligations with
unaffiliated lenders or other individuad ls or entities, referred to in such transactions as “counterparr rties”. If a
counterparr rty were to defauff lt or otherwise faiff l to perform, we could potentially be exposed to loss if such
counterparr rty were unabla e to meet its obligations to us, which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our top three lending partners account for a significff ant portion of loan originations on our marketplace
and our revenue.

Our top three lending partners originate a significant portion of loans on our marketplt ace. In the year
ended December 31, 2023, our top three lending partners collectively originated 80% of the Transaction
Volume, Number of Loans and accounted for 63% of our total revenue. There are no minimum commitments to
originate any loans under the agreements we have with our lending partners. If our top three lending partners
were to suspend, limit or cease their operations or otherwise terminate their relationship with us, our business,
financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected. As of December 31, 2023, we had
more than 100 lending partners participating on our marketpltt ace, and we continue to expand our lending
partnerships to new participants. If we are unabla e to continue to increase the participation by other lending
partners on our marketplt ace, we will continue to be reliant on a small number of lending partners for a
significant portion of loan originations and revenue, which could harm our business.

Our reputation and brand are important to our success, and if we are unable to continue developing our
reputation and brand, our ability to retain existing and attract new lending partners, our ability to
attract borrowers to our marketplace, our ability to maintain diverse and resilient loan funding and our
ability to maintain and improve our relationship with regulators of our industry could be adversely
affeff cted.

We believe maintaining a strong brand and trusrr tworthy reputation is critical to our success and our
ability to attract borrowers to our marketplt ace, attract new lending partners, maintain diverse and resilient loan
funding and sustain good relations with regulators. Factors that affect our brand and reputation include:
perceptions of artificial intelligence, our industry arr nd our company, including the quality and reliabia lity of our
AI lending marketpltt ace; the accuracy of our AI models; characterizations of our company as a traditional
lending company dued to the amount of loans held on our balance sheet; perceptions regarding the application of
artificff ial intelligence to consumer lending specificff ally and that algorithmic lending is inherently biased; the
reputation of the vehicle dealerships with which we partner; loan fundiff ng to our marketplt ace; changes to the
Upstart marketplace; our ability to effectively manage and resolve borrower complaints; collection practices;
privacy and security practices; litigation, such as class action and shareholder derivative lawsuits described in
“Legal” section under “Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies”; regulatory arr ctivity; and the overall user
experience of our platform. Negative publicity or negative public perception of these factors, even if inaccurate,
could adversely affect our brand and reputation.

For example, consumer advocacy groupsu , politicians and certain government and media reports have,
in the past, advocated governmental action to prohibit or severely restrict consumer loan arrangements where
banks contract with a third-party platform such as ours to provide origination assistance services to bank
customers. These arrangements have sometimes been criticized as “renting-a-bank charter” or “rent-a-bank”.
Such criticism has frequently been levied in the context of payday loan marketers, though other entities
operating programs through which loans similar to Upstart-powered loans are originated have also faced
criticism. The perceived improper use of a bank charter by these entities has been challenged by both
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governmental authorities and private litigants, in part because of the high rates and fees charged to consumers in
certain payday and high-rate, small-dollar lending programs. Bank regulators have even required banks to exit
third-party programs that the regulators determined involved unsafe aff nd unsound practices. The payday loans
that have been subju ect to more freff quent criticism and challenge are fundaff mentally different from Upstart-
powered loans in many ways, including that Upstart-powered loans typically have lower interest rates and
longer terms, and Upstart-powered loans do not renew. In particular, interest rates of Upstart-powered loans
have always been and are currently less than 36%, as compared to the triple-digit interest rates of many payday
or small dollar loans that have been subju ect to such criticism. However, states that are addressing their rent-a-
bank concerns through legislation may inadvertently capture Upstart’s AI marketplace, and if that were to
happea n, our lending partners may need to scale back lending on our marketplt ace to comply with state laws or
terminate their participation in our marketplt ace, leading to a reduction in origination volume. It could also
negatively impact demand for Upstart-powered loans, our ability to attract new lending partners, our ability to
attract loan funding to our marketpltt ace or reduce the number of potential borrowers to our marketplt ace. Any of
the forff egoing could adversely affect our results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Any negative publicity or public perception of Upstart-powered loans or other similar consumer loans
or the consumer lending service we provide may also result in us being subju ect to more restrictive laws and
regulations and potential investigations and enforff cement actions. For example, some unfaiff r or deceptive
practices by vehicle dealerships can be attributed to us as a purchaser of retail installment contracts under the
FTC Holder RulRR e, which allows a vehicle purchaser to bring any claim against the dealership to the holder of a
retail installment contract. In addition, regulators may decide they are no longer supportive of our AI lending
marketplt ace if there is enough negative perception surrounding such practices. We may also become subju ect to
lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, or other challenges such as government enforcement or arbitration,
against our lending partners or us for loans originated by our lending partners on our marketplt ace, loans we
service or have serviced, or retail installment contracts we have purchased. If there are changes in the laws or in
the interprrr etation or enforff cement of existing laws affecting consumer loans similar to those offered on our
marketplt ace, or our marketing and servicing of such loans, or if we become subju ect to such lawsuits, our
business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Artificial intelligence and related technologies are subject to public debate and heightened regulatoryrr
scrutiny. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) recently indicated that artificff ial intelligence
remains a regulatory hrr ot topic forff the agency including the use of complex credit scoring models as part of the
loan underwriting process. The agency has taken several steps to increase regulatory srr crutrr iny of finff ancial
technology companies that rely on artificff ial intelligence. In April 2023, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”),
the Department of Justice (“DOJ”), the CFPB, and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”)
released a joint statement on artificff ial intelligence demonstrating their interest in monitoring the development
and use of automated systems and enforff cement of their respective laws and regulations, and in October 2023,
President Biden signed an Executive Order aimed at protecting consumers against harms caused by artificff ial
intelligence. Any negative publicity or negative public perception of artificff ial intelligence could negatively
impact demand for our AI lending marketpltt ace, hinder our ability to attract new lending partners or slow the
rate at which lending partners adopt our AI lending marketplt ace. From time to time, certain advocacy groupsu
have made claims that unlawful or unethical discriminatory effeff cts may result from the use of AI technology by
various companies, including ours. Such claims, whether or not accurate, and whether or not concerning us or
our AI lending marketplt ace, may harm our ability to attract prospective borrowers to our marketplt ace, retain
existing and attract new lending partners and achieve regulatory arr cceptance of our business.

In 2020, we entered into an agreement with the NAACP Legal Defense Education Fund, the LDF, and
the Student Borrower Protection Center, the SBPC, to participate in faiff r lending reviews of our AI underwriting
models by an independent third-party firff m, Relman Colfaxff LLC, or Relman. The faiff r lending testing was
designed to determine if our AI underwriting models have caused or resulted in a disparate impact on any
protected class, and if so, whether there are any alternative, less discriminatory prr ractices without sacrificff ing the
models’ predictiveness. Following a number of quantitative assessments, Relman has published three periodic
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reports and plans to publish a fourth and finff al report that summarizes the development durd ing the monitorship as
well as industry rrr ecommendations. While we have input on Relman’s reports and the agreement provides that
Relman and the parties to the agreement will collabora ate to reach agreement on any recommendations, we may
disagree with Relman, the LDF or the SBPC regarding the contents of the reports or particular
recommendations that were made, the manner in which they should be implemented, if at all, or whether they
would maintain the predictiveness of our AI models or meet any other legitimate business needs of Upstart. If
we do not implement Relman’s recommendations, the LDF and/or the SBPC could terminate the agreement
with us. If Relman’s reports are viewed negatively forff any reason, or Relman terminates its agreement with us
and/or the agreement with the LDF and/or the SBPC is terminated for any reason, our brand and reputation and
the overall market acceptance of, aff nd trusrr t in, our AI lending marketpltt ace could suffeff r, and we could be subject
to increased regulatory arr nd litigation risk. In addition, the publication of inforff mation arising from our agreement
with the LDF or the SBPC, including the reports published by Relman, could lead to additional regulatoryrr
scrutiny forff our lending partners.

We have been subju ect to other governmental inquiries on this topic. See the risk factor titled “—WeWW
have been in the past and may ia n thett future be subject to fedff erdd al and state regulatory irr nquiries regare ding our
business” forff more information. Negative public perception, actions by advocacy groups or legislative and
regulatory irr nterest groups could lead to lobbying for and enactment of more restrictive laws and regulations that
impact the use of AI technology in general, AI technology as applied to lending operations generally or as used
in our applications more specificff ally. Any of the forff egoing could negatively impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Harm to our reputation can also arise froff m many other sources, including inaccurate or unfavff orable
statements made by securities analysts or others, faiff lure by us or our lending partners to meet minimum
standards of service and quality, loan underperformance, inadequate protection of borrower inforff mation and
compliance faiff lures and claims, and employee or forff mer employee misconduct, misconduct by outsourced
service providers or other counterparr rties, as further described below. If we are unabla e to protect our reputation,
our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations, many of which are evolving, and failure
or perceived faiff lure to comply with such laws and regulations could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The legal and regulatory err nvironment surrounding our AI lending marketpltt ace is relatively new,
susceptible to change and may require clarificff ation or interprrr etive guidance with respect to existing laws and
regulations. The body of laws and regulations applicable to our business are complex and subju ect to varying
interpretations, in many cases due to the lack of specificity regarding the application of AI and related
technologies to the already highly regulated consumer lending industry.rr As a result, the appla ication of such laws
and regulations in practice may change or develop over time as more products are offered on our marketplt ace,
and through judicial decisions or as new guidance or interprrr etations are provided by regulatory arr nd governing
bodies, such as fedff eral, state and local administrative agencies.

New laws and regulations and changes to existing laws and regulations continue to be adopted,
implemented and interpreted in response to our industry arr nd the emergence of AI and related technologies.
Recent financial, political and other events, including disruptrr ions in the banking sector, may increase the level
of regulatory srr crutrr iny on finff ancial technology companies. As we expand our business into new markets,
introduce new loan products and continue to improve and evolve our AI models, regulatory brr odies or courts
may claim that we are subject to additional requirements. Such regulatory brr odies could reject our applications
for licenses or deny renewals, delay or impede our ability to operate, charge us feesff or levy fines or penalties,
commence investigations or inquiries into our business practices, or otherwise disruptrr our ability to operate our
AI lending marketplt ace, any of which could adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of
operations. For example, in April 2022, the CFPB announced that it intends to examine non-bank financial
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companies that pose risks to consumers, and in November 2022, the Treasury Drr epartment issued a report
encouraging the CFPB to increase its supeu rvisory arr ctivity with respect to larger non-bank lenders. In July 2023,
the CFPB announced that the agency had already begun supeu rvision of at least three non-bank fintech
companies. If the CFPB decides to subject us to its supervisory prr rocess, it could significantly increase the level
of regulatory srr crutrr iny of our business practices. Related to automotive lending, in January 2023, the CFPB and
the New York Attorney General fileff d a complaint against an auto lender that criticized the profit-driven model
in auto lending. The CFPB then entered into consent orders with several auto lenders as the year progressed,
related to unfaiff r or deceptive feesff and servicing practices. With regulators actively scrutrr inizing the auto lending
space, we may be subject to heightened scrutiny of the retail installment contracts we purchase and service. In
addition, the Biden Administration recently announced a government-wide effort to eliminate “ju“ nk fees” which
could subject our business practices to even further scrutrr iny. While what constitutes a “junk fee” remains
undefined, the CFPB has called out certain ancillary prr roducts and pay-to-pay feesff charged by debt collectors,
and FTC issued a finff al rule on junk fees. These effoff rts signal that the “junk fee” initiative is likely to continue to
broaden in scope. We may be subju ect to scrutiny should the “junk fee” initiative expand to include fees directly
associated with consumer lending products.

Moreover, the CFPB has issued several interprrr etive statements and guidance documents that could
impact our business practices including, but not limited to, a May 2022 statement on compliance obligations
under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”) forff companies that rely on complex algorithms when
making credit decisions and the fall 2023 statements on junk fees and, with the DOJ, on faiff r lending for non-
citizens. The CFPB also issued an interpretive rule expanding states’ authority to enforce requirements of
federal consumer finff ancial laws, including the ECOA. State regulators have also increased the level of
regulatory srr crutrr iny on finff ancial technology companies and the bank partnership model. For example, the State
of Maryland initiated an enforff cement action against a finff ancial technology company and its bank partner forff
unlicensed lending within the state, and Colorado opted out of the fedff eral law that allows out-of-state banks to
export their rates to Colorado. Some states have codified in their laws a test to determine who is the true lender
for certain loans. Moreover, the OCC has also indicated that it intends to use its supeu rvisory arr uthority to review
bank third-party relationships with financial technology companies including a review of third-party business
practices that could pose a risk of potential consumer harm that could impact the safetff y and soundness of the
banks subju ect to agency supervision. Should the agency examine any of our lending partners, such examinations
may involve a review of our business practices to determine whether they pose a risk to the safety and
soundness of those lending partners.

While we have been proactively working with the fedff eral government and regulatory brr odies to ensure
that our AI lending marketpltt ace and other services are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we
can provide no assurance that we will not be subju ect to any regulatory arr ctions. For example, the CFPB issued
Upstart the no-action letters, which provided that the CFPB would not take supeu rvisory orr r enforff cement action
against Upstart for a violation of the ECOA. However, in June 2022, at our request, the no-action letter was
terminated so that we can keep our models accurate and updau ted durdd ing a period of significant economic
change. As a result, we can provide no assurance that the CFPB or any other federal or state regulator will not
take supeu rvisory orr r enforff cement action against us in the futff urt e.

We have been subju ect to governmental inquiries as well. See the risk factor titled “—We have been in
the past and may ia n thett future be subject to federal and state regulatory irr nquiries regare ding our business” forff
more information. Any government investigations or inquiries, whether or not accurate or warranted, or whether
concerning us or one of our competitors, could negatively affect our brand and reputation and the overall market
acceptance of and trusrr t in our AI lending marketplt ace. Any of the foregoing could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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If we are unable to manage the risks related to our loan servicing and collections obligations, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our loan servicing and collection efforts. In the year ended December
31, 2023, 28% of our revenue was generated from loan servicing feesff . The vast majoa rity of Upstart-powered
loans are not secured by any collateral, guaranteed or insured by any third party or backed by any governmental
authority. As a result, we are limited in our ability to collect on such loans on behalf of our lending partners and
institutional investors if a borrower is unwilling or unabla e to repay them. Where the loan is secured by an
automobile, we could still be limited in our ability to collect on the loan if we cannot secure the automobile. The
ability to collect on the loans is largely dependent on the borrower’s continuing financial stabia lity, and
consequently, collections can be adversely affected by a number of factff ors, including, but not limited to,
unemployment, divorce, death, illness, bankruptrr cy or the economic or social factors beyond personal
circumstances of a borrower. In addition, the appla ication of various federal and state laws, including federal and
state bankruptrr cy and insolvency laws, may limit the amount that can be recovered on these loans. It is possible
that a higher percentage of consumers will seek protection under bankruptrr cy or debtor relief laws as a result of
the current inflationary environment, the possibility of a recession and market volatility. Federal, state, or other
restrictions could impair our ability to collect amounts owed and due on the loans facilitated through our
marketplt ace, reducd e income received froff m the loans facff ilitated through our marketpltt ace, or negatively affecff t
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We began conducting firff st-party collection activities for our lending partners in the fourff th quarter of
2022 for loans facilitated through our marketplt ace. We have no prior experience conducting firff st-party or in-
house collection activities, and we cannot be certain that we will be able to effeff ctively manage risks associated
with such activities. In addition to first-party collection activities, we partner with third-party collection
agencies for loans we service. If such third-party collection agencies do not perform as expected under our
agreements with them or if we or these collection agents act unprofesff sionally and otherwise harm the user
experience for borrowers of Upstart-powered loans, our brand and reputation could be harmed and our ability to
attract potential borrowers to our marketplt ace could be negatively impacted. For example, during periods of
increased delinquencies caused by economic downturt ns or otherwise, it is important that we and the collection
agents are proactive and consistent in contacting a borrower to bring a delinquent balance current and ultimately
avoid the related loan becoming charged off.ff If we or the collection agents are unabla e to maintain a high quality
of service, or fulfilff l the servicing obligations at all dued to resource constraints, it could result in increased
delinquencies and charge-offs on the loans, which could decrease feesff payabla e to us, cause our lending partners
to decrease the volume of Upstart-powered loans kept on their balance sheets, erode trusrr t in our lending
marketplt ace or increase the costs of loan funding for our marketplt ace. If we fail to successfulff ly address any of
the forff egoing risks associated with our collection activities, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

We are the loan servicer forff most loans faciff litated through our marketplt ace, including the loans that are
sold as part of whole loan sales, contributed to asset-backed securitizations and pass-through certificff ate
transactions, and pledged in connection with warehouse credit faciff lities. Loan servicing is a highly manual
process and an intensely regulated activity. Errors in our servicing activities, including payment collection and
charge-off processes, or failures to comply with our servicing obligations, have in the past and could in the
future affeff ct our internal and external reporting of the loans that we service, adversely affect our business and
reputation and expose us to liabia lity to borrowers, lending partners or institutional investors. In addition, we
charge our loan holders a fixff ed percentage servicing feeff based on the outstanding balance of loans serviced. If
we fail to effiff ciently service or collect on such loans and the costs incurred exceed the servicing fee charged, our
results of operations would be adversely affected. Moreover, the laws and regulations governing these activities
are subject to change. If we are unabla e to comply with such laws and regulations, we could lose one or more of
our licenses or authorizations, become subju ect to greater scrutiny by regulatory arr gencies or become subju ect to
sanctions or litigation, which may have an adverse effecff t on our ability to perform our servicing obligations or
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make our marketplt ace availabla e to borrowers in particular states. Any of the forff egoing could adversely affecff t
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

While auto loans issued through our lending marketplt ace are secured by collateral, auto loans are
inherently risky,kk as they are often secured by assets that may be diffiff cult to locate and can depreciate rapidly.
We generally begin the repossession process forff auto loans that become 60 days past due. We have engaged a
third-party auto repossession vendor to handle all repossession activity. Following a repossession, if a borrower
fails to redeem their vehicle or reinstate their loan agreement, the repossessed vehicle is sold at an auction and
the proceeds are applied to the unpaid balance of the loan and related expenses. If the proceeds do not cover the
unpaid balance of the loan and any related expenses and we are unabla e to recover the deficiency balance froff m
the borrower, where permitted, the deficiency would be charged-off. Further, if a vehicle cannot be located,
repossession and sale of the vehicle would not be possible, which could also lead to delinquencies and charge-
offsff . A significant number of delinquencies and charge-offs could decrease feesff payabla e to us, cause our lending
partners to reduce loan originations, erode trusrr t in our lending marketplt ace and increase the costs of loan
funding for our marketplt ace.

Additionally, if such repossession vendors do not perforff m consistent with agreements entered into with
us, or if vendors act unprofesff sionally or otherwise harm the user experience for borrowers of Upstart-powered
loans, our brand and reputation could be harmed and our ability to attract potential borrowers to our
marketplt ace could be negatively impacted. We may also become subju ect to regulatory srr crutrr iny and potential
litigation based on the conduct of our repossession vendors.

Substantially all of our revenue is derived from a single loan product, and we are thus particularly
susceptible to fluff ctuations in the unsecured personal loan market. We also do not currently offer a broad
suite of products that lending partners or institutional investors may finff d desirable.

The vast majority of loan originations currently faciff litated through our marketplt ace are unsecured
personal loans. While the market forff unsecured personal loans has grown rapia dly in recent years, it is unclear to
what extent such market will continue to grow, if at all. A wide variety of factff ors could impact the market forff
unsecured personal loans, including macroeconomic conditions, competition, regulatory drr evelopments and
other developments in the credit market. Our success will depend in part on the continued growth of the
unsecured personal loan market, and if such market does not further grow or grows more slowly than we expect,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, lending partners and institutional investors may find it desirabla e to partner with
competitors that are abla e to offer them a broader array of credit products. In order to preserve and expand our
relationships with our existing lending partners and institutional investors, and enter into new lending
partnerships and arrangements with institutional investors, it may become important for us to be abla e to offerff a
wider variety of products than we currently provide. We are also susceptible to competitors that may
intentionally underprice their loan products, even if such pricing practices lead to losses. Such practices by
competitors would negatively affect the overall demand for loans facilitated through our marketplt ace.

Further, because such personal loans are unsecured, there is a risk that borrowers will not prioritize
repayment of such loans, particularly in any economic downcycle. To the extent borrowers have or incur other
indebtedness that is secured, such as a mortgage, a home equity line of credit or an auto loan, borrowers may
choose to repay obligations under such secured indebtedness before repaying their Upstart-powered personal
loans. In addition, borrowers may not view Upstart-powered loans, which were originated through an online
lending marketpltt ace, as having the same significance as other credit obligations arising under more traditional
circumstances, such as loans from banks or other commercial finff ancial institutions. Any of the forff egoing could
lead to higher defauff lt rates and decreased demand by our lending partners and institutional investors to fundff
loans faciff litated through our marketplt ace, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We are also more susceptible to the risks of changing and increased regulations and other legal and
regulatory arr ctions targeted towards the unsecured personal loan market. It is possible that regulators may view
unsecured personal loans as high risk for a variety of reasons, including that borrowers will not prioritize
repayment of such loans due to the unsecured naturtt e of such loans or because existing laws and regulations may
not sufficiently address the benefits and corresponding risks related to financial technology as applied to
consumer lending. If we are unabla e to manage the risks associated with the unsecured personal loan product, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The sales and onboarding process of new lending partners could take longer than expected, leading to
fluff ctuations or variability in expected revenues and results of operations.

Our sales and onboarding process with new lending partners can be long, vary widely and generally
takes appra oximately two to twelve months. As a result, revenues and results of operations may varyrr
significantly from period to period. Prospective lending partners are often cautious in making decisions to
implement our platform and related services because of the risk management alignment and regulatoryrr
uncertainties related to their use of our AI models, including their oversight, model governance and faiff r lending
compliance obligations associated with using such models. In addition, prospective lending partners undertake
an extensive diligence review of our platform, compliance and servicing activities beforff e choosing to partner
with us. Further, the implementation of our AI lending model often involves shifts by the lending partner to a
new softwff are platforff m or changes in their operational procedurd es, which may involve significant time and
expense to implement. Delays in onboarding new lending partners can also arise while prospective lending
partners complete their internal procedurd es to approve expenditures and test and accept our applications.
Consequently, we facff e diffiff culty predicting the quarter in which new lending partners will begin using our
platform and the volume of feeff s we will receive, which can lead to fluctuations in our revenues and results of
operations.

We are continuing to introduce and develop new loan products and services offeff rings, and if these
products are not successfulff or we are unable to manage the related risks, our growth prospects, business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We have introduced auto loan, small dollar loan, and home equity lines of credit products and are
continuing to invest in developing these products and other new loan products and service offeff rings. New
initiatives are inherently risky,kk as each involves unproven business strategies, new regulatory rrr equirements and
new finff ancial products and services with which we, and in some cases our lending partners, have limited or no
prior development or operating experience.

We cannot be sure that we will be able to develop, commercially market and achieve market
acceptance of any new products and services. In addition, our investment of resources to develop new products
and services may either be insufficient or result in expenses that are excessive in light of revenue actuat lly
derived froff m these new products and services. It is also possible that such investment of resources may need to
be delayed or deferff red, as was the case with respect to the small business loan product when we decided to
suspend its development in January 2023 due to the adverse macroeconomic conditions affeff cting our business at
that time. We may also have difficulty with securing adequate loan funding for new loan products and services,
and if we are unabla e to do so, our ability to develop and grow these new offeff rings and services will be impaired.
If the profile of borrowers using any new products and services is different from that of those currently served
by the existing loan products offeff red on our marketpltt ace, our AI models may not be able to accurately evaluate
the credit risk of such borrowers, and we may not be able to obtain loan fundiff ng for new products and services
on commercially reasonabla e terms, or at all. Moreover, it is possible that a new product in its development stage
has a higher level of delinquencies or defauff lts than a more established product as our AI models calibrate to a
potentially different set of data. Failure to accurately predict demand or growth with respect to our new products
and services could have an adverse impact on our reputation and business, and there is always risk that new
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products and services will be unprofitaff bla e, will increase our costs, decrease operating margins or take longer
than anticipated to achieve target margins. In addition, any new products or services may raise new and
potentially complex regulatory crr ompliance obligations, which would increase our costs and may cause us to
change our business in unexpected ways. Further, our development efforts with respect to these initiatives could
distract management from current operations and will divert capital and other resources from our existing
business. If we are unabla e to effectively manage the foregoing risks, our growth prospects, business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Misconduct and errors by our employees, forff mer employees, vendors, or service providers could harm
our reputation and subject us to significant legal liability.

We operate in an industry irr n which integrity and the confidff ence of our borrowers and lending partners
is of critical importance. Our business depends on our employees, vendors, and service providers to process a
large number of increasingly complex transactions, including transactions that involve significant dollar
amounts and loan transactions that involve the use and disclosure of personal and business inforff mation. We are
thus exposed to the risk of misconduct and errors by our employees, vendors, and other service providers that
could adversely affect our business, including employees, vendors, or service providers taking, converting, or
misusing fundsff , documents, or data, or failing to folff low appla icable laws and regulations or our internal policies
or protocol when interacting with consumers and borrowers. It is not always possible to identify aff nd deter
misconduct or errors by employees, vendors, or service providers, and the precautions we take to detect and
prevent this activity may not be effeff ctive in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses. There have been
numerous highly-publicized cases of fraff ud and other misconduct by finff ancial services industry err mployees. We
have experienced employee misconduct and may continue to do so in the futff urt e. Depending on the severity, any
illegal, improper, or suspicious activity or other misconduct by our employees, vendors or service providers
could result in serious harm to our reputation, financial condition, relationships with lending partners and
borrowers, and our ability to attract new lending partners or borrowers. We could also be perceived to have
facilitated or participated in the illegal misappropriation of funds, documents, or data, or the faiff lure to follow
protocol, and thereforff e be subject to civil or criminal liabia lity. Any of these occurrences could result in our
diminished abia lity to operate our business, inability to attract future borrowers or lending partners, reputational
damage, regulatory irr ntervention, and finff ancial harm, which could negatively impact our business, results of
operations, finff ancial condition, and futff urt e prospects.

If we do not compete effeff ctively in our target markets, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be harmed.

The consumer lending market is highly competitive and increasingly dynamic as emerging
technologies continue to enter the marketpltt ace. With the introduction of new technologies and the influx of new
entrants, competition may persist and intensify iff n the future, which could have an adverse effect on our
operations or business.

Our inabia lity to compete effeff ctively could result in reducd ed loan volumes, reducd ed average size of
loans faciff litated on our marketplt ace, reduced fees, increased marketing and borrower acquisition costs or the
failure of the Upstart marketpltt ace to achieve or maintain more widespread market acceptance, any of which
could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Consumer lending is a vast and competitive market, and we compete to varying degrees with all other
sources of unsecured consumer credit. This can include banks, non-bank lenders including retail-based lenders
and other financial technology lending platforms. Because personal loans ofteff n serve as a replacement forff credit
cards, we also compete with the convenience and ubiu quity that credit cards represent. Many of our competitors
operate with different business models, such as lending-as-a-service, have different funding sources, have
different cost structurt es or regulatory orr bligations, or participate selectively in diffeff rent market segments. They
may ultimately prove more successfulff or more adaptabla e to new regulatory,rr economic, technological and other
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developments, including utilizing new data sources or credit models. We may also face competition froff m banks
or companies that have not previously competed in the consumer lending market, including companies with
access to vast amounts of consumer-related inforff mation that could be used in the development of their own
credit risk models. Our current or potential competitors may be better at developing new products due to their
large and experienced data science and engineering teams, who are abla e to respond more quickly to new
technologies. Many of our current or potential competitors have significantly more resources, such as finff ancial,
technical and marketing resources, than we do and may be abla e to devote greater resources to the development,
promotion, sale and support of their platforms and distribution channels. We faceff competition in areas such as
compliance capabilities, commercial finff ancing terms and costs of capital, interest rates and fees (and other
financing terms) available to consumers froff m our lending partners, appra oval rates, model efficiency, speed and
simplicity of loan origination, ease-of-uff se, marketing expertise, service levels, products and services,
technological capabilities and integration, borrower experience, brand and reputation, and terms availabla e to our
loan funding institutional investor base. Our competitors may also have longer operating histories, lower
commercial finff ancing costs or costs of capital, more extensive borrower bases, more diversified products and
borrower bases, operational efficff iencies, more versatile or extensive technology platforms, greater brand
recognition and brand loyalty, broader borrower and partner relationships, more extensive and/or more
diversifieff d loan fundiff ng instituttt ional investor bases than we have, greater capacity to fund loans through their
balance sheets, and more extensive product and service offerff ings than we have. Furthermore, our existing and
potential competitors may decide to modify their pricing and business models to compete more directly with us.
Our abia lity to compete will also be affeff cted by our ability to provide our lending partners with a commensurate
or more extensive suite of loan products than those offerff ed by our competitors. In addition, current or potential
competitors, including financial technology lending platforms and existing or potential lending partners, may
also acquire or form strategic alliances with one another, which could result in our competitors being abla e to
offeff r more competitive loan terms dued to their access to lower-cost capital. Such acquisitions or strategic
alliances among our competitors or potential competitors could also make our competitors more adaptabla e to a
rapia dly evolving regulatory err nvironment. To stay competitive, we may need to increase our regulatoryrr
compliance expenditures or our ability to compete may be adversely affected.

Our industry irr s driven by constant innovation. We utilize artificial intelligence and machine learning,
which is characterized by extensive research effoff rts and rapia d technological progress. If we fail to anticipate or
respond adequately to technological developments, our ability to operate profitaff bla y could suffeff r. There can be
no assurance that research, data accumulation and development by other companies will not result in AI models
that are superior to our AI models or result in producd ts supeu rior to those we develop or that any technologies,
products or services we develop will be preferff red to any existing or newly-developed technologies, products or
services. If we are unabla e to compete with such companies or faiff l to meet the need for innovation in our
industry,rr the use of our technology could stagnate or subsu tantially decline, or our AI lending marketplt ace could
fail to maintain or achieve more widespread market acceptance, which could harm our business, results of
operations and finff ancial condition.

Our business is heavily concentrated in U.S. consumer credit, and thereforff e our results are more
susceptible to fluff ctuations in that market than a more diversifieff d company.

Our business is heavily concentrated in U.S. consumer credit. As a result, we are more susceptible to
fluctuations and risks particular to U.S. consumer credit than a more diversified company. For example, our
business is particularly sensitive to macroeconomic conditions that affeff ct the U.S. economy and consumer
spending and consumer credit, such as rising interest rates and changes in monetary policy. We are also more
susceptible to the risks of increased regulations and legal and other regulatory arr ctions that are targeted at
consumer credit. Our business concentration could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, finff ancial condition, and futff urt e prospects.
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If we are unable to manage the risks associated with fraudulent activity, our brand and reputation,
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Fraud is prevalent in the finff ancial services industry arr nd is likely to increase as perperr trators become
more sophisticated. We are subju ect to the risk of fraff udulent activity associated with borrowers and third parties
handling borrower inforff mation and, in limited situations, we cover certain fraud losses of our lending partners
and institutional investors. For example, in the third quarter of 2021 and the first quarter of 2022, we
experienced temporary irr ncreases in fraudulent activity. Fraud rates could also increase in a down-cycle
economy. We are also subju ect to risk of fraudulent activity associated with our own employees. We use several
identity and fraff ud detection tools, including tools provided by third-party vendors and our proprietary AI
models, to predict and otherwise validate or authenticate appla icant-reported data and data derived froff m third-
party sources. If such effoff rts are insufficient to accurately detect and prevent fraud, the level of fraud-related
losses of Upstart-powered loans could increase, which would decrease confidff ence in our AI lending
marketplt ace. In addition, our lending partners, institutt ional investors or we may not be able to recover amounts
disbursed on loans made in connection with inaccurate statements, omissions of fact or fraud, which could
erode the trust in our brand and negatively impact our ability to attract new lending partners and institutional
investors to our marketplt ace.

High profileff fraudulent activity also could negatively impact our brand and reputation. In addition,
significant increases in fraudulent activity could lead to regulatory irr ntervention, which could increase our costs
and also negatively impact our brand and reputation. Further, if there is any increase in fraff udulent activity that
increases the need forff human intervention in screening loan appla ication data, the level of automation on our
platform could decline and negatively affect our unit economics. If we are unabla e to manage these risks, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend on our key personnel and other highly skilled personnel, and if we faiff l to attract, retain and
motivate our personnel, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affeff cted.

Our success significantly depends on the continued service of our senior management team and other
highly skilled personnel. Our success also depends on our ability to identify,ff hire, develop, motivate and retain
highly qualifieff d personnel forff all areas of our organization.

Competition is high forff skilled personnel, including engineering and data analytics personnel,
particularly in the San Francisco Bay Area where one of our headquarters is located. While we have transitioned
to a Digital First work model which allows us to recruirr t nationwide, we have experienced, and expect to
continue to face, some diffiff culty identifyiff ng and hiring qualifieff d personnel, especially as we pursue our growth
strategy. We may not be able to hire or retain such personnel at compensation or fleff xibility levels consistent
with our existing compensation and salary structurtt e and policies. We periodically review our compensation
levels to ensure they remain competitive and have increased them when we believe market conditions warrant
it. However, we may need to furff ther increase our existing compensation levels in response to competition, rising
inflation or labor shortages, which would increase our operating costs and reduce our margins. Many of the
companies with which we compete forff experienced employees have greater resources than we have and may be
able to offeff r more attractive terms of employment. In particular, candidates making employment decisions,
specifically in high-technology industries, ofteff n consider the value of any equity they may receive in connection
with their employment. The recent significant volatility in the price of our stock may have adversely contributed
to, and in the futff urt e may affeff ct, our ability to attract or retain highly skilled technical, finff ancial and marketing
personnel.

In addition, we invest significant time and expense in training our employees, which increases their
value to competitors who may seek to recruirr t them. If we fail to retain our employees, we could incur significant
expenses in hiring and training their replacements. While we are in the process of training their replacements,
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the quality of our services and our ability to serve our lending partners, institutional investors and borrowers
whose loans we service may suffer, resulting in an adverse effect on our business.

Furthermore, we have reduced our workforce in November 2022 and January 2023 and may further
reduce our workforce in the future to lower our operating costs and streamline operations. These reductions in
our workforce may adversely affect employee morale, our culture and our ability to attract and retain personnel
who are critical to our business. It may also negatively impact our ability to pursue new initiatives due to
insufficient resources and personnel. We may be unsuccessfulff in distributing dutd ies and obligations of impacted
employees among the remaining employees. We also may not realize the anticipated benefits and cost savings
and may suffer unintended consequences, such as the loss of institutional knowledge, higher than expected
employee turt nover and significant disruptu ions in our day-to-day operations. If we are unabla e to realize the
expected operational efficiencies or cost savings from the reducd tions in our workforce, or if we experience
significant adverse consequences as a result, our business, financial conditions and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

If we fail to effeff ctively manage the fluff ctuations in our business, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our growth in the past placed significant demands on our management, processes and operational,
technological and financial resources. More recently, economic headwinds in 2022 led to us announcing
reductions in our workforce in November 2022 and January 2023 which were intended to help us achieve a
more cost-efficient organization. These fluff ctuat tions in the momentum of our business challenge our ability to
manage our growth effeff ctively and to integrate new employees and technologies into our existing business. Our
success as a business continues to require us to retain, attract, train, motivate and manage employees and invest
strategically to refine our operational, technological and financial infraff structurt e. See also the risk factor titled
“—We depee nd on our key pe ersorr nnel and othett r highlgg y sll killed personnel, and if we fail to attract, retain and
motivate our personnel, our business, financial condition and results of operations could bll e adverserr ly affeff cted.”
As part of that effoff rt and froff m time to time, we rely on temporary irr ndependent contractor programs to scale our
operations team. Failure to effeff ctively implement and manage such programs could result in misclassification or
other employment related claims or inquiries by governmental agencies. Continued fluff ctuat tions in the
momentumtt of our business will strain our ability to develop and improve our operational policies and
procedurdd es, AI models and technology, disclosure controls and procedurdd es, internal control over finff ancial
reporting, management oversight, loan fundiff ng and relationships with borrowers, lending partners and
institutional investors. For example, there are certain aspects of our information technology and our operations,
such as servicing activities, that have required, and still require, manual processes which are prone to errors and
that we have not yet fulff ly automated with new technologies. Some of the foregoing factors, like the manual
processes, have negatively affected, and could continue to negatively affect, our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Security breaches and incidents compromising borrowers’ confidff ential information that we store may
harm our reputation, adversely affect our results of operations and expose us to liability.

We are increasingly dependent on information systems, services and infraff structurtt e to operate our
business. In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we collect, process, transmit and store large amounts of
sensitive information, including personal inforff mation, credit information and other sensitive data of borrowers
and potential borrowers. It is critical that we do so in a manner designed to maintain the confidff entiality,
integrity and availabia lity of such sensitive inforff mation. We also have arrangements in place with certain of our
third-party vendors that require us to share consumer information. We have outsourced elements of our
operations (including elements of our information technology infrastructurtt e) to third parties, and as a result, we
manage a number of third-party vendors who may have access to our computer networks and sensitive or
confidff ential inforff mation. In addition, many of those third parties may in turn subcu ontract or outsource some of
their responsibilities to other third parties. As a result, our information technology systems, including the
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functions of third parties that are involved or have access to those systems, are large and complex, with many
points of entry and access. While all information technology operations are inherently vulnerabla e to inadvertent
or intentional security breaches, incidents, attacks and exposures, the size, complexity, accessibility and
distributed nature of our information technology systems, and the large amounts of sensitive inforff mation stored
on those systems, make such systems potentially vulnerabla e to unintentional or malicious, internal and external
attacks. Any vulnerabia lities can be exploited froff m inadvertent or intentional actions of our employees, third-
party vendors, lending partners, institutional investors, or by malicious threat actors. While we continuously
refine our security controls to address the evolving threat landscapea , attacks of this naturt e are increasing in their
frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and
organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives (including, but not limited to, industrial
espionage) and expertise, including organized criminal groupsu , “hacktivists,” nation states and others. These
risks may be heightened in connection with geopolitical conflicff ts. In addition to the extraction of sensitive
information, such attacks could include the deployment of harmfulff malware, ransomware, denial-of-sff ervice
attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliabia lity and threaten the confidff entiality, integrity
and availabia lity of information and systems. In addition, the prevalent use of mobile devices increases the risk
of data security incidents. Further, our Digital First working environment could increase the risks of security
breaches and incidents as more of our employees are accessing our servers remotely through home or other
networks, reducdd ing physical and social security controls on employee monitoring. Significant disruptu ions to
information technology systems or other security incidents within our company, our lending partners and third-
party vendors and/or other business partners could adversely affect our business operations and result in the
loss, misappropriation, or unauthorized access, use or disclosure of, or the prevention of access to, sensitive
information, which could result in finff ancial, legal, regulatory,rr business and reputational harm to us. Our use of
AI technology may create additional cybersecurity risks or increase cybersecurity risks, including risks of
security breaches and incidents. Further, AI technology may be used in connection with certain types of
cybersecurity attacks, resulting in heightened risks of security breaches and incidents.

Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabota age systems change frequently and
generally are not recognized until they are launched against a target, we and our vendors may be unabla e to
anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. In addition, many governments
have enacted laws requiring companies to notify iff ndividuals of data security breaches involving their personal
data. These mandatory disclosures regarding a security breach are costly to implement and often lead to
widespread negative publicity following a breach, which may cause borrowers and potential borrowers to lose
confidff ence in the effectiveness of our data security measures on our platform. Any security breach or incident,
whether actuat l or perceived, would harm our reputation and ability to attract new borrowers to our marketplt ace.

We also facff e indirect technology, cybersecurity and operational risks relating to the borrowers, lending
partners, institutional investors, vendors and other third parties with whom we do business or uponu whom we
rely on to facilitate or enable our business activities, including vendors, payment processors, and other parties
who have access to confidff ential inforff mation due to our agreements with them. In addition, any security
compromise in our industry,rr whether actuat l or perceived, or information technology system disruptrr ions,
whether froff m attacks on our technology environment or froff m computer malware, natural disasters, terrorism,
war, geopolitical confliff cts, or telecommunication or electrical failures, could interruptu our business or
operations, harm our reputation, erode borrower confidff ence, negatively affect our ability to attract new
borrowers, or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory frr inff es or other action or liabia lity, which could
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Like other finff ancial and technology services firms, we have been and continue to be the subject of
actuat l or attempted unauthorized access, mishandling or misuse of inforff mation, computer viruses or malware,
and cyber-attacks that could obtain confidff ential information, destroy data, disruptrr or degrade service, sabota age
systems or cause other damage, distributed denial of service attacks, data breaches and other infiltration,
exfiltration or other similar events.
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While we regularly monitor data floff w inside and outside the company, attackers have become very
sophisticated in the way they conceal access to systems, and we may not be aware that we have been attacked.
Any event that leads to unauthorized access, use or disclosure of personal inforff mation or other sensitive
information that we or our vendors maintain, including our own proprietary business inforff mation and sensitive
information such as personal inforff mation regarding borrowers, loan appla icants or employees, could disruptu our
business, harm our reputation, compel us to comply with applicable federal and/or state breach notificff ation laws
and forff eign law equivalents, subju ect us to time consuming, distracting and expensive litigation, regulatoryrr
investigation and oversight, mandatory corrective action, require us to verify the correctness of data, or
otherwise subject us to liability under laws, regulations and contractuatt l obligations, including those that protect
the privacy and security of personal inforff mation. This could result in increased costs to us and result in
significant legal and finff ancial exposure and/or reputational harm. In addition, any faiff lure or perceived faiff lure by
us or our vendors to comply with our privacy, confidff entiality or data security-related legal or other obligations
to our lending partners or other third parties, actuat l or perceived security breaches, or any security incidents or
other events that result in the unauthorized access, release or transfer of sensitive inforff mation, which could
include personally identifiaff bla e inforff mation, may result in governmental investigations, enforff cement actions,
regulatory frr inff es, litigation, or public statements against us by advocacy groups or others, and could cause our
lending partners and other third parties to lose trust in us or we could be subject to claims by our lending
partners and other third parties that we have breached our privacy- or confidff entiality-related obligations, which
could harm our business and prospects. Moreover, data security incidents and other inappra opriate access can be
difficult to detect, and any delay in identifyiff ng them may lead to increased harm of the type described abovea .
There can be no assurance that our security measures intended to protect our information technology systems
and infraff structurt e will successfulff ly prevent service interruprr tions or security incidents. For example, in April
2020, we were made aware of a software error which allowed access to certain consumers’ accounts through the
Upstart website without providing such consumers’ passwords. As a result, certain of such consumers’ personal
information, such as their name, address and job inforff mation (but not full social security information), could
have been accessed by a third party. We promptly deployed an updau te to our software to address such
vulnerabia lity and conducted an internal investigation. We are not aware of any information being compromised
as a result of this error. We cannot provide any assurance that similar vulnerabia lities will not arise in the futurt e
as we continue to expand the featff urt es and funff ctionalities of our platform and introduce new loan products on
our platform, and we expect to continue investing substantially to protect against security vulnerabia lities and
incidents.

We maintain errors, omissions, and cyber liabia lity insurance policies covering certain security and
privacy damages. However, we cannot be certain that our coverage will continue to be availabla e on
economically reasonabla e terms or will be availabla e in suffiff cient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or
that an insurer will not deny coverage as to any futff urt e claim, or that any insurer will be adequately covered by
reinsurance or other risk mitigants or that any insurer will offeff r to renew policies at an affordable rate or offeff r
such coverage at all in the future. The successfulff assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed
availabla e insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium
increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our proprietary AI models rely in part on the use of loan applicant and borrower data and other third-
party data, and if we lose the ability to use such data, or if such data contain inaccuracies, our business
could be adversely affected.

We rely on our proprietary AI models, which are statistical models built using a variety of data-sets.
Our AI models rely on a wide variety of data sources, including data collected from appla icants and borrowers,
credit bureau data and our credit experience gained through monitoring the payment performance of borrowers
over time. Under our agreements with our lending partners, we receive licenses to use data collected from loan
applicants and borrowers. The CFPB has proposed rules on “open banking” that would give consumers certain
rights in deciding how companies like us can use their personal finff ancial data, and also proposed additional
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restrictions and requirements on companies that use such data. If we are unabla e to access and use data collected
from appla icants and borrowers, data received froff m credit bureaus, repayment data collected as part of our loan
servicing activities, or any other data forff our AI models, or our access to such data is limited, our ability to
accurately evaluate potential borrowers, detect fraff ud and verify aff ppla icant data would be compromised. Any of
the forff egoing could negatively impact the accuracy of our pricing decisions, the degree of automation in our
loan application process and the volume of loans facilitated on our marketplt ace.

Third-party data sources on which we rely include the consumer reporting agencies regulated by the
CFPB and other alternative data sources. Such data is electronically obtained froff m third parties and used in our
AI models to price appla icants and in our fraud models to verify the accuracy of applicant-reported inforff mation.
Data from national credit bureaus and other consumer reporting agencies, as well as other inforff mation that we
receive from third parties abouta an applicant or borrower, may be inaccurate or may not accurately reflect the
applicant or borrower’s creditworthiness for a variety of reasons, including inaccurate reporting by creditors to
the credit bureaus, errors, staleness or incompleteness. For example, loan applicants’ credit scores may not
reflect such applicants’ actuat l creditworthiness because the credit scores may be based on outdated, incomplete
or inaccurate consumer reporting data, including, as a consequence of us utilizing credit reports for a specific
period of time after issuance before such reports are deemed to be outdated. Similarly, the data taken from an
applicant’s credit report may also be based on outdated, incomplete or inaccurate consumer reporting data.
Although regulatory prr rotections are in place to affoff rd consumers the right to dispute inaccuracies and despite
the factff that we use numerous third-party data sources and multiple credit factors within our proprietary models,
which helps mitigate this risk, it does not eliminate the risk of an inaccurate individual report.

Further, although we attempt to verify tff he income, employment and educdd ation inforff mation provided by
certain selected applicants, we cannot guarantee the accuracy of applicant inforff mation. Our fraff ud models rely in
part on data we receive froff m a number of third-party verification vendors, data collected from appla icants, and
our experience gained through monitoring the performance of borrowers over time. Inforff mation provided by
borrowers may be incomplete, inaccurate or intentionally false. Applicants may also misrepresent their
intentions for the use of loan proceeds. We do not verify or confirff m any statements by applicants as to how loan
proceeds are to be used after loan funding. If an applicant supplied falff se, misleading or inaccurate information
and our fraud detection processes do not flag the appla ication, repayments on the corresponding loan may be
lower, in some cases significantly lower, than expected, leading to losses forff the lending partner or institutional
investor.

In addition, if any data used to train and improve our AI models is inaccurate or otherwise unreliabla e,
or access to third-party data is limited or becomes unavailabla e to us, our ability to continue to improve our AI
models would be adversely affected. Any of the forff egoing could result in sub-optimally and inefficiently priced
loans, incorrect approvals or denials of loans, or higher than expected loan losses, which in turt n could adversely
affeff ct our ability to attract new borrowers, lending partners and institutional investors to our marketplt ace or
increase the number of Upstart-powered loans and adversely affectff our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

In connection with asset-backed securitizations, pass-through certificff ate transactions, warehouse credit
facilities and whole loan sales, we make representations and warranties concerning the loans transferred,
and if such representations and warranties are not accurate when made, we could be required to
repurchase the applicable loans.

In our asset-backed securitizations, pass-through certificate transactions, warehouse credit faciff lities and
whole loan sale arrangements, we make numerous representations and warranties concerning the characteristics
of the Upstart-powered loans sold and transferff red in connection with such transactions, including
representations and warranties that the loans meet the eligibility requirements of those faciff lities and of
institutional investors. If those representations and warranties were not accurate when made and are not timely
cured or incurable, we may be required to repurchase the underlying loans. Failure to repurchase such loans
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could constitute a defauff lt, an event of defauff lt or termination event under the agreements governing our various
arrangements or transactions and could require us to indemnify cff ertain financing parties. Through December 31,
2023, the number of repurchased Upstart-powered loans as a result of inaccurate representations and warranties
represents less than 1% of all Upstart-powered loans. While only a small number of Upstart-powered loans have
been historically repurchased by us, there can be no assurance that we would have adequate cash or other
qualifyiff ng assets availabla e to make such repurchases if and when required. Such repurchases could be limited in
scope, relating to small pools of loans, or significant in scope, across multiple pools of loans. If we were
required to make such repurchases and if we do not have adequate liquidity to fund such repurchases, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, a high volume of
repurchases dued to a breach of such representations and warranties could have an adverse impact on our
reputation as a loan seller and servicer.

Borrowers may prepay a loan at any time without penalty, which could reduce our servicing feesff and
deter our lending partners and institutional investors froff m investing in loans facff ilitated through our
lending marketplace.

A borrower may decide to prepay all or a portion of the remaining principal amount on a loan at any
time without penalty. If the entire or a significant portion of the remaining unpaid principal amount of a loan is
prepaid, we would not receive a servicing fee, or we would receive a significantly lower servicing fee associated
with such prepaid loan. Prepayments may occur forff a variety of reasons, including if interest rates decrease after
a loan is made. If a significant volume of prepayments occurs, the amount of our servicing feesff would decline,
which could harm our business and results of operations. Our AI models are designed to predict prepayment
rates. However, if a significant volume of prepayments occur that our AI models do not accurately predict,
returns targeted by our lending partners and institutional investors would be adversely affected and our ability to
attract new lending partners and institutional investors would be negatively affected.

Our marketing effoff rts and brand promotion activities may not be effeff ctive.

Promoting awareness of our AI lending marketplt ace is important to our ability to grow our business,
attract new lending partners, increase the number of potential borrowers on our marketplt ace and attract
institutional investors to our marketplt ace. We believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as
competition in the consumer lending industry err xpands. However, because our lending partners are increasingly
adopting our lending partner-branded version of our AI lending marketplt ace through their own websites,
potential borrowers may not be aware they are experiencing our AI lending marketpltt ace, which may hinder
recognition of our brand. Successfulff promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effeff ctiveness of
marketing efforts and the overall user experience of our lending partners and potential borrowers on the Upstart
marketplt ace, which factors are outside our control. The marketing channels that we employ may also become
more crowded and saturated by other lending platforms, which may decrease the effeff ctiveness of our marketing
campaigns and increase borrower acquisition costs. Also, the methodologies, policies and regulations applicable
to marketing channels may change. For example, internet search engines could revise their methodologies,
which could adversely affect borrower volume froff m organic ranking and paid search. Search engines may also
implement policies that restrict the ability of companies such as us to advertise their services and products,
which could prevent us from appea aring in a favorable location or any location in the organic rankings or paid
search results when certain search terms are used by the consumer.

Our brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenues. If we fail to successfulff ly build trusrr t
in our AI lending marketplt ace and the performance and predictability of Upstart-powered loans, we may lose
existing lending partners and institutional investors to our competitors or be unabla e to attract new lending
partners and institutional investors, which in turt n would harm our business, results of operations and finff ancial
condition. Even if our marketing efforts result in increased revenue, we may be unabla e to recover our marketing
costs through increases in loan volume, which could result in a higher borrower acquisition cost per account.
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Any incremental increases in loan servicing costs, such as increases due to greater marketing expenditures,
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unfavorable outcomes in legal proceedings may harm our business and results of operations.

We are, and may in the future become, subjeb ct to litigation, claims, examinations, investigations,
enforcement actions, legal and administrative cases and proceedings, whether civil or criminal, or lawsuits by
governmental agencies or private parties, which may affeff ct our results of operations. These claims, lawsuits,
and proceedings could involve, and in some cases have involved, labora and employment, discrimination and
harassment, commercial disputes, intellectuat l property rights (including patent, trademark, copyright, trade
secret, and other proprietary rights), class actions, general contract, tort, defamation, data privacy rights,
antitrusrr t, common law fraud, government regulation, or compliance, alleged fedff eral and state securities and
“blue sky” law violations or other investor claims, and other matters. For example, we are a defenff dant in a
number of securities class action and other related lawsuits. See the “Le“ gale ” section under “No“ te 12.
Commitments and Contingencies” and the risk facff tor titled “—The tratt ding price of oo ur common stock may ba e
volatile, and you could lll ose all or part of yo our investment” forff more information.

Due to the consumer-oriented naturt e of our business and the appla ication of certain laws and
regulations, participants in our industry arr re regularly named as defenff dants in litigation alleging violations of
federal and state laws and regulations and consumer law torts, including fraud. Many of these legal proceedings
involve alleged violations of consumer protection laws. In addition, we have been in the past and may in the
future be subju ect to litigation, claims, examinations, investigations, legal and administrative cases and
proceedings related to the offeff r and sale of Upstart-powered loans.

In particular, lending programs that involve originations by a bank in reliance on origination-related
services being provided by non-bank lending platforms and/or program managers are subject to potential
litigation and government enforcement claims based on “rent-a-bank” or “true lender” theories, particularly
where such programs involve the subsequent sale of such loans or interests therein through the lending
marketplt ace. See the risk facff tor titled “—If— loans facilitated thrtt ough our marketkk pltt acl e forff one or more lending
partners wrr ere subject to successfulff challenge that the lending partner was not the “true lender,” such loans
may ba e unenforff ceable, subject to rescission or othett rwise impaired, we or othett r program participants mtt ay be
subject to penalties, and/or// our commercial relationshipsi may sa uffeff r, each which would all dverserr ly affeff ct our
business and results ott f oo peo rations” forff more information. In addition, loans originated by lending partners
(which are exempt from certain state requirements under fedff eral banking laws), followed by the sale,
assignment, or other transfer to non-banks of such loans are subju ect to potential litigation and government
enforcement claims based on the theory that transferff s of loans from banks to non-banks do not transferff the
ability to enforff ce contractuat l terms such as interest rates and fees from which only banks benefit under fedff eral
preemption principles. See the risk factors titled “—If— loans originated by our lending partners wrr ere foundff to
violate thett laws of one or more states, whether at origination or aftea r sale by tb hett lending partner, lr oans
facilitated thrtt ough our marketkk pltt ace may be unenforff ceable or otherwiseii impaim red, we or othett r program
participants mtt ay be subject to, among othett r thitt ngs, finff es and penalties, and/or// our commercial relationshipsi
may sa uffeff r, each of which would all dverserr ly affeff ct our business and results of operations” and “—We have been
in the past and may ia n thett future be subject to federal and state regulatory irr nquiries regare ding our business” forff
more information. If we were subju ect to such litigation or enforff cement, then any unfavff orable results of pending
or future legal proceedings may result in contractuat l damages, usury related claims, finff es, penalties, injun nctions,
the unenforff ceability, rescission or other impairment of loans originated on our marketplt ace or other censure that
could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition. Even if we
adequately address the issues raised by an investigation or proceeding or successfulff ly defend a third-party
lawsuit or counterclaim, we may have to devote significant financial and management resources to address these
issues, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

53



We have a limited history of operating with a Digital First workforff ce, and the long-term impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations is uncertain.

Since our announcement of a Digital First work model in June 2021, remote work with less time in the
offiff ce has been the primary err xperience for most of our employees. Our workforce is currently distributed across
the U.S., and we expect this to continue. We have a limited history orr f operating with a Digital First workforce.
Although we anticipate that this Digital First model will have a long-term positive impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations, there is no guarantee that we will realize any anticipated benefits to
our business froff m this model, including cost savings, operational efficiencies, or productivity.

Our Digital First model could lead to a negative long-term impact on our operations, the execution of
our business plans and sales and marketing efforff ts, our company culture, or the productivity and retention of
key personnel and other employees necessary to conduct our business, or otherwise cause operational faiff lures
due to changes in our past business practices. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue, or other
event were to occur that impacted our employees’ abia lity to work remotely, it may be difficult or, in certain
cases, impossible, for us to continue our business forff a substantial period of time. The increase in remote
working may also result in increased exposure to consumer privacy and data security incidents, or fraudulent
activity. Furthermore, our understanding of applicable legal and regulatory rrr equirements related to a remote
workforce may be subju ect to legal or regulatory crr hallenge, particularly as regulatory grr uidance evolves in
response to futff urtt e developments. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly address the foregoing risks and challenges as
we encounter them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may evaluate and potentially consummate acquisitions or investments in complementary business
and technologies, which could require significff ant management attention, consume our financial
resources, disrupt our business and adversely affecff t our results of operations, and we may fail to realize
the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business. In some circumstances, we may
determine to do so through the acquisition of, or investments in, complementary brr usinesses and technologies
rather than through internal development. For example, in 2021, we completed the acquisition of Prodigy. The
identificff ation of suitabla e acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and we may not be
able to successfulff ly complete identifieff d acquisitions. In the future, we may acquire assets or businesses. The
risks we facff e in connection with acquisitions include:

• diversion of management time and focff us from operating our business to addressing acquisition
integration challenges;

• utilization of our financial resources for acquisitions or investments that may fail to realize the
anticipated benefits;

• inabia lity of the acquired technologies, products or businesses to achieve expected levels of revenue,
profitff ability, productivity or other benefitff s;

• coordination of technology, producd t development and sales and marketing funcff tions and integration of
administrative systems;

• transition of the acquired company’s borrowers to our systems;

• retention of employees from the acquired company;

• regulatory rrr isks, including maintaining good standing with existing regulatory brr odies or receiving any
necessary approvals, as well as being subju ect to new regulators with oversight over an acquired
business;

• attracting financing;
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• cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our
organization;

• the need to implement or improve controls, procedurdd es and policies at a business that prior to the
acquisition may have lacked effeff ctive controls, procedurd es and policies;

• potential write-offs of loans or intangibles or other assets acquired in such transactions that may have
an adverse effect on our results of operations in a given period;

• liabia lity for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark
infringement claims, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabia lities and other known and
unknown liabia lities;

• assumption of contractuatt l obligations that contain terms that are not beneficial to us, require us to
license or waive intellectual property or increase our risk for liabia lity; and

• litigation, claims or other liabia lities in connection with the acquired company.

Our faiff lure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with any futff urt e
acquisitions and strategic investments could cause us to faiff l to realize the anticipated benefits of these
acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally. Futurt e
acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent
liabia lities, amortization expenses or the write-off of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition.

Strategic investments in which we have a minority ownership stake and that we do not control may
from time to time have economic, business, or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with our goals. As a
result, business decisions or other actions or omissions of controlling shareholders, management, or other
persons or entities who control companies in which we invest may adversely affect the value of our investment,
result in litigation or regulatory arr ction against us, or otherwise damage our reputation and brand.

Our business is subject to the risks of natural disasters and other catastrophic events, many of which are
becoming more acute and frequent due to climate change, and to interruption by human-induced
problems.

Significant natural disasters or other catastrophic events, such as earthquakes, fires, hurricanes,
blizzards, or floff ods (many of which are becoming more acute and freff quent as a result of climate change), or
interruptu ions by strikes, crime, terrorism, epidemics, pandemics, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, internal or
external system failures, telecommunications failures, a failure of banking or other finff ancial institutions, power
outages or increased risk of cybersecurity breaches due to a swift transition to remote work brought about by a
catastrophic event, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

The long-term effeff cts of climate change on the global economy and our industry irr n particular are
unclear; however, we recognize that there are inherent climate-related risks wherever business is conducted.
Either of our headquarters may be vulnerabla e to the adverse effectff s of climate change. One of our headquarters
is located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region that is prone to seismic activity and has experienced and may
continue to experience, climate-related events and at an increasing rate. Examples include but are not limited to
drought and water scarcity, warmer temperatures, wildfires and air quality impacts and power shut-offs
associated with wildfire prevention. The increasing intensity of drought throughout Califorff nia and annual
periods of wildfire danger increase the probabia lity of planned power outages. Our other headquarters in
Columbus, Ohio is a region at higher risk forff extreme winter weather, including blizzards. Although we
maintain a disaster response plan and insurance, such events could disruptu our business, the business of our
lending partners or third-party suppliers, and may cause us to experience losses and additional costs to maintain
and resume operations. We may not maintain sufficient business interruptu ion or property insurance to
compensate us for potentially significant losses, including potential harm to our business that may result from
interruptu ions in our ability to provide our financial products and services.
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In addition, acts of war and other armed conflicff ts, disruptu ions in global trade, travel restrictions and
quarantines, terrorism and other civil, political and geopolitical conflicff ts, could cause disruptrr ions in our
business and lead to interruptu ions, delays or loss of critical data. Any of the forff egoing risks may be further
increased if our business continuity plans prove to be inadequate and there can be no assurance that both
personnel and non-mission critical applications can be fully operational after a declared disaster within a
defined recovery time. If our personnel, systems or data centers are impacted, we may suffer interruptu ions and
delays in our business operations. In addition, to the extent these events impact the abia lity of borrowers to
timely repay their loans, our business could be negatively affected.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect or financial
reporting standards or interpretations change, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conforff mity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that
affeff ct the amounts reported and disclosed in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We
base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other data points that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates forff m the basis forff making judgments
about the carrying values of assets, liabia lities, and equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Significant estimates and assumptions which we believe are critical in
understanding and evaluating our financial results include: (i) fair value determinations; (ii) stock-based
compensation; (iii) consolidation of VIEs; and (iv) the evaluation forff impairment of goodwill and acquired
intangible assets. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actuat l
circumstances differ froff m those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below
the expectations of industry orr r finff ancial analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our
common stock.

Additionally, we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and
review new pronouncements and drafts thereof that are relevant to us. As a result of new standards, or changes
to existing standards, and changes in their interpretation, we might be required to change our accounting
policies, alter our operational policies and implement new or enhance existing systems so that they reflect new
or amended finff ancial reporting standards, or we may be required to restate our published finff ancial statements.
Such changes to existing standards or changes in their interpretation may have an adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial condition, and profit and loss, or cause an adverse deviation froff m our revenue
and operating profit and loss target, which may negatively impact our results of operations.

If we fail to maintain an effeff ctive system of disclosure controls and internal control over finff ancial
reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable
regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, or the Exchange Act, the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act, and the rulrr es and
regulations of the appla icable listing standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. We expect that the
requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and finff ancial
compliance costs, make some activities more diffiff cult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant strain
on our personnel, systems, and resources.

The Sarbar nes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls
and procedurd es and internal controls over finff ancial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our
disclosure controls and other procedurd es that are designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be disclosed by
us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specifieff d in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the

56



Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also
continuing to improve our internal controls over finff ancial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the
effeff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es and internal controls over finff ancial reporting, we have
expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend significant resources, including accounting-related
costs, and significant management oversight. Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business.

Weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over finff ancial reporting have been
discovered in the past and may be discovered in the future. We cannot assure you that the measures we have
taken to date, or any measures we may take in the futff urt e, will be sufficient to identify off r prevent future material
weaknesses or deficff iencies. The naturt e of our business is such that our financial statements involve a number of
complex accounting policies, many of which involve significant elements of judgment, including
determinations regarding the consolidation of variabla e interest entities, determinations regarding the fair value
of financial assets and liabia lities (including loans, notes receivabla e, payabla e to securitization note holders and
residual certificate holders, servicing assets and liabia lities, and trailing feeff liabia lities) and the appropriate
classification of various items within our financial statements. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements for more inforff mation abouta our significant accounting policies. The inherent complexity of these
accounting matters and the nature and variety of transactions in which we are involved require that we have
sufficient qualifieff d accounting personnel with an appra opriate level of experience and controls in our financial
reporting process commensurate with the complexity of our business. While we believe we have sufficff ient
internal accounting personnel and external resources and appropriate controls to address the demands of our
business, we expect that the growth and development of our business will place significant additional demands
on our accounting resources. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any diffiff culties
encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to
meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements forff prior periods. Any
failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over finff ancial reporting could also adversely affectff
the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firff m
attestation reports regarding the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting that we will
eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over finff ancial reporting could also cause investors to lose
confidff ence in our reported finff ancial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the
trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unabla e to continue to meet these requirements, we may
not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. As a public company, we are required to
provide an annual management report on the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting. There
can be no assurance that we will maintain internal control over finff ancial reporting suffiff cient to enabla e us to
identify off r avoid material weaknesses in the future.

Any faiff lure to maintain effeff ctive disclosure controls and internal control over finff ancial reporting could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition and could cause a
decline in the trading price of our common stock.

Some of our estimates, including our key metrics in this report, are subject to inherent challenges in
measurement, and any real or perceived inaccuracies may harm our reputation and negatively affect our
business.

Certain estimates and forecasts included in this report, including those we have generated ourselves,
are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be
accurate. The estimates and forff ecasts in this report relating to the size and expected growth of our target market
may prove to be inaccurate. It is impossible to offer every loan product, term or featurtt e that every customer
wants or that any given lending partner is necessarily capaa bla e of supporting, and our competitors may develop
and offer loan products, terms or featurt es that we do not offeff r. Even if the markets in which we compete meet
the size estimates and growth forecasted in this report, we may be unabla e to address these markets successfulff ly
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and our business could faiff l to grow forff a variety of reasons outside of our control, including competition in our
industry.rr We regularly review and may adjud st our processes forff calculating our key metrics to improve their
accuracy. For example, in the third quarter of 2021, we adjud sted our process forff calculating Conversion Rate to
account for an increase in fraff udulent appla ications. Our key metrics may diffeff r froff m estimates published by third
parties or froff m similarly titled metrics of our competitors due to differences in methodology. If investors or
analysts do not perceive our metrics to be accurate representations of our business, or if we discover material
inaccuracies in our metrics, our reputation, business, results of operations, and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We maintain cash deposits in excess of fedff erally insured limits. Adverse developments affecting finff ancial
institutions, including bank failures, could adversely affecff t our liquidity and finff ancial perforff mance.

We regularly maintain domestic cash deposits in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporrr ation (“FDIC”)
insured banks that exceed the FDIC insurance limits. Bank faiff lures, events involving limited liquidity, defauff lts,
non-performance or other adverse developments that affeff ct financial institutions, or concerns or rumors about
such events, may lead to liquidity constraints. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank faiff led and
was taken into receivership by the FDIC. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capia tal
Corp. were each swept into receivership. The faiff lure of a bank, or other adverse conditions in the finff ancial or
credit markets impacting financial institutions at which we maintain balances, could adversely impact our
liquidity and finff ancial performance. There can be no assurance that our deposits in excess of the FDIC or other
comparable insurance limits will be backstopped by the U.S. treasury,rr or that any bank or finff ancial institution
with which we do business will be abla e to obtain needed liquidity from other banks, government institutions or
by acquisition in the event of a faiff lure or liquidity crisis.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PLATFORM
DEVELOPMENT

It may be diffiff cult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we may not be able to ensure
their protection.

Our abia lity to operate our platform depends, in part, upon our proprietary technology. We may be
unabla e to protect our proprietary technology effeff ctively which would allow competitors to duplicate our AI
models or AI lending marketplt ace and adversely affecff t our ability to compete with them. We rely on a
combination of copyright, trade secret, patent, trademark laws and other rights, as well as confidff entiality
procedurdd es, contractuat l provisions and our information security infrastructurt e to protect our proprietary
technology, processes and other intellectuat l property. While we have two patents issued and three patent
applications pending, we have limited patent protection and our patent application may not be successfulff . A
third party may attempt to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary technology without our
consent. The pursuit of a claim against a third party for infriff ngement of our intellectuat l property could be costly,
and there can be no guarantee that any such efforts would be successfulff . Our failure to secure, protect and
enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and adversely impact our business.

Our proprietary technology, including our AI models, may actuatt lly or may be alleged to infriff nge upon
third-party intellectuat l property, and we may face intellectuat l property challenges froff m such other parties. We
may not be successfulff in defending against any such challenges or in obtaining licenses to avoid or resolve any
intellectuat l property disputes. If we are unsuccessfulff , such claims or litigation could result in a requirement that
we pay significant damages or licensing fees, or we could in some circumstances be required to make changes
to our business to avoid such infriff ngement, which would negatively impact our financial performance. We may
also be obligated to indemnify pff arties or pay subsu tantial settlement costs, including royalty payments, in
connection with any such claim or litigation and to modify applications or refund fees, which could be costly.
Even if we were to prevail in such a dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectuat l property could be costly
and time consuming and divert the attention of our management and key personnel froff m our business
operations.
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Moreover, it has become common in recent years forff individuals and groups to purchase intellectuat l
property assets for the sole purporr se of making claims of infringement and attempting to extract settlements froff m
companies such as ours. Even in instances where we believe that claims and allegations of intellectuat l property
infringement against us are without merit, defending against such claims is time consuming and expensive and
could result in the diversion of time and attention of our management and employees. In addition, although in
some cases a third party may have agreed to indemnify uff s forff such costs, such indemnifyiff ng party may refuse or
be unabla e to upholu d its contractuat l obligations. In other cases, our insurance may not cover potential claims of
this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

Furthermore, our technology may become obsolete or inadequate, and there is no guarantee that we
will be able to successfulff ly develop, obtain or use new technologies to adapt our models and systems to
compete with other technologies as they develop. If we cannot protect our proprietary technology from
intellectuat l property challenges, or if our technology becomes obsolete or inadequate, our ability to maintain our
model and systems, facilitate loans or perform our servicing obligations on the loans could be adversely
affeff cted.

Any significant disruption in our AI lending platform could prevent us froff m processing loan applicants
and servicing loans, reduce the effeff ctiveness of our AI models and result in a loss of lending partners,
institutional investors, applicants or borrowers.

In the event of a system outage or other event resulting in data loss or corruptu ion, our ability to process
loan applications, service loans or otherwise facilitate loans on our marketplt ace would be adversely affected.
We also rely on facilities, components, and services supplied by third parties, including data center faciff lities,
cloud storage services and national consumer reporting agencies. We host our AI lending platform using
Amazon Web Services, or AWS, a provider of cloud infrastructurt e services. In the event that our AWS service
agreements are terminated, or there is a lapsa e of service, interruptu ion of internet service provider connectivity or
damage to AWS data centers, we could experience interruprr tions in access to our platform as well as delays and
additional expense in the event we must secure alternative cloud infrastructurt e services. For a large portion of
borrowers’ data used in our AI lending marketplt ace, we obtain borrowers’ data froff m national consumer
reporting agencies, such as TransUnion, and rely on their services in order to process loan appla ications. Any
interference or disruptu ion of our technology and underlying infrastructurt e or our use of third-party services
could adversely affect our relationships with our lending partners and institutional investors, and the overall
user experience of our marketplt ace. Depending on the type and severity of any such disruptu ion, we could be
exposed to litigation and regulatory rrr isk. For example, a cybersecurity incident could result in the exposure of
consumer data triggering remedial measures, notificff ation requirements, as well as litigation and regulatoryrr
exposure. Also, as our business grows, we may be required to expand and improve the capacity, capability and
reliabia lity of our infrastructurt e. If we are not able to effeff ctively address capacity constraints, upgrade our
systems as needed and continually develop our technology and infraff structurt e to reliabla y support our business,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Additionally, in the event of damage or interruptu ion, our insurance policies may not adequately
compensate us for any losses incurred. Our disaster recovery plan has not been tested under actuat l disaster
conditions, and we may not have sufficient capacity to recover all data and services in the event of an outage or
other event resulting in data loss or corruptu ion. These factff ors could prevent us from processing or posting
payments on the loans, damage our brand and reputation, divert our employees’ attention, subju ect us to liabia lity
and cause borrowers to abandon our business, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and finff ancial condition.
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Our platform and internal systems rely on softwff are that is highly technical, and if our software contains
undetected errors, our business could be adversely affecff ted.

Our platforff m and internal systems rely on softwff are that is highly technical and complex. In addition,
our platform and internal systems depend on the abia lity of such softwff are to store, retrieve, process and manage
high volumes of data. The software on which we rely has contained, and may now or in the futff urtt e contain,
undetected errors or bugs. Some errors may only be discovered after the code has been released for external or
internal use. Errors or other design defectff s within the software on which we rely may result in failure to
accurately predict a loan applicant’s creditworthiness, failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations,
approval of sub-optimally priced loans, incorrectly displayed interest rates to applicants or borrowers, or
incorrectly charged interest to borrowers or fees to lending partners or institutional investors, failure to present
or properly display regulatory drr isclosures to applicants for an extended period of time, faiff lure to detect
fraudulent activity on our platform, a negative experience for consumers or lending partners, delayed
introductions of new feaff tures or enhancements, or faiff lure to protect borrower data or our intellectuat l property.
Any errors, bugs or defects discovered in the software on which we rely could result in harm to our reputation,
loss of consumers or lending partners, increased regulatory srr crutrr iny, fines or penalties, loss of revenue or
liabia lity for damages, any of which could adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Furthermore, updau tes made to our software to remediate any errors discovered may prove to be
ineffeff ctive, resulting in repeated issues and furff ther harm to our business.

Some aspects of our business processes include open source software, and any faiff lure to comply with
the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could negatively affect our business.

We incorporate open source software into processes supporting our business. Such open source
software may include software covered by licenses like the GNU General Public License and the Apache
License. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk
that such licenses could be construerr d in a manner that limits our use of the software, inhibits certain aspects of
our systems and negatively affects our business operations.

Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make source code availabla e at no cost forff
modifications or derivative works we create based upon the type of open source software we use.

We may facff e claims from third parties demanding the release or license of, sff uch modifications or
derivative works (which could include our proprietary srr ource code or AI models) or otherwise seeking to
enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. If portions of our proprietary AI models are determined
to be subju ect to an open source license, or if the license terms for the open source software that we incorporate
change, we could be required to publicly release the affeff cted portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a
portion of our model or change our business activities, any of which could negatively affect our business
operations and potentially our intellectuat l property rights. If we were required to publicly disclose any portion
of our proprietary models, it is possible we could lose the benefit of trade secret protection forff our models.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, the use of open source software can lead to greater
risks than the use of third-party commercial softwff are, as open source licensors generally do not provide
warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Use of open source software may also present additional
security risks because the public availabia lity of such softwff are may make it easier forff hackers and other third
parties to determine how to breach our website and systems that rely on open source software. Many of the risks
associated with the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

60



The use of generative AI technologies by our employees or contractors could expose us to unexpected
liability.

Our employees and contractors use generative AI technologies in connection with their performance of
services and, as with many developing technologies, generative AI presents risks and challenges that could
affeff ct its further development, adoption, and use, and thereforff e our business. We face the risk of security threats
from employee or contractor errors (such as unauthorized use of third party generative AI technologies in job
functions, our products, or in the operation of our business) or malfeasff ance in connection with generative AI
technologies. Even authorized use of generative AI technologies by our employees or contractors may generate
content, including software code, that appea ars faciff ally correct but is factuat lly inaccurate or flawed or contains
security vulnerabia lities. Our customers, employees, or others may rely on or use such factff uat lly incorrect or
flawed content to their detriment, which may expose us to brand or reputational harm, competitive harm, and/or
legal liabia lity. Further, security vulnerabia lities introduced by generative AI technologies into our software could
expose us to cybersecurity risks. Questions surrounding license rights and liabia lity for infriff ngement in AI
technology generally, and generative AI technology specificff ally, have not been fully addressed by competent
legal tribunals or applicable laws or regulations. The use or adoption of third-party AI technology, including
generative AI technology, into our products and services and our internal business operations may result in
exposure to claims of copyright infringement, other intellectual property-related causes of action, or other
potential reputational harms.

While we have policies governing our personnel’s use of third party generative AI technologies, we
cannot guarantee that the policies will be adhered to by all of our employees and contractors and we cannot
guarantee that the policies will protect us from all potential liability relating to our adoption of generative AI
technologies.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEPENDENCE ON THIRD PARTIES

We rely on strategic relationships with loan aggregators to attract applicants to our marketplace, and if
we cannot maintain effective relationships with loan aggregators or successfulff ly replace their services, or
if loan aggregators begin offeff ring competing products, our business could be adversely affected.

A significant number of consumers that appla y forff a loan on Upstart.com learn abouta and access
Upstart.com through the website of a loan aggregator, typically with a hyperlink froff m such loan aggregator’s
website to a landing page on our website. While we are continuing to expand our direct acquisition channels, we
anticipate that we will continue to depend in significant part on relationships with loan aggregators to maintain
and grow our business. For example, a significant amount of our loan originations was derived from traffic froff m
Credit Karma, one of the loan aggregators with whom we partner. The loan aggregators, including Credit
Karma, are not required to display offeff rs from our lending partners on Upstart.com nor are they prohibited fromff
working with our competitors or adding our competitors to their platforff ms. If traffic froff m Credit Karma or other
loan aggregators decreases in the futff urtt e forff any reason, our loan originations and results of operations would be
adversely affected. There is also no assurance that Credit Karma or other loan aggregators will continue to
partner with us on commercially reasonabla e terms or at all. Our competitors may be effective in providing
incentives to loan aggregators to favff or their products or services or in reducing the volume of loans facilitated
through our marketplt ace. Loan aggregators may not perforff m as expected under our agreements with them, and
we may have disagreements or disputes with them, which could adversely affect our brand and reputation. If we
cannot successfulff ly enter into and maintain effeff ctive strategic relationships with loan aggregators, our business
could be adversely affected.

Such loan aggregators also facff e litigation and regulatory srr crutrr iny forff their part in the consumer lending
ecosystem, and as a result, their business models may require fundamental change or may not be sustainabla e in
the futff urt e. For example, loan aggregators are increasingly required to be licensed as loan brokers or lead
generators in many states, subjecting them to increased regulatory srr upervision and more stringent business
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requirements. While we require loan aggregators to make certain disclosures in connection with our lending
partners’ offers and restrict how loan aggregators may display such loan offers, loan aggregators may
nevertheless alter or even remove these required disclosures without notifyiff ng us, which may result in liabia lity
to us. Further, we do not have control over any content on loan aggregator websites, and it is possible that our
brand and reputation may be adversely affecff ted by being associated with such content. An unsatisfied borrower
could also seek to bring claims against us based on the content presented on a loan aggregator’s website. Such
claims could be costly and time consuming to defenff d and could distract management’s attention froff m the
operation of the business.

We rely on third-party vendors and if such third parties do not perforff m adequately or terminate their
relationships with us, our costs may increase and our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our relationships with third-party vendors. In some cases, third-party
vendors are one of a limited number of sources. For example, we rely on national consumer reporting agencies,
such as TransUnion, for a large portion of the data used in our AI models. In addition, we rely on third-party
verification technologies and services that are critical to our ability to maintain a high level of automation on
our platform. In addition, because we are not a bank, we cannot belong to or directly access the ACH payment
network. As a result, we rely on one or more banks with access to the ACH payment network to process
collections on Upstart-powered loans. Many of our vendor agreements are terminable by either party without
penalty and with little notice. If any of our third-party vendors terminates its relationship with us or refuses to
renew its agreement with us on commercially reasonabla e terms, we would need to find an alternate provider,
and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such providers in an acceptabla e time frame. We also rely
on other softwff are and services supplu ied by vendors, such as communications, analytics and internal software,
and our business may be adversely affected to the extent such softwff are and services do not meet our
expectations, contain errors or vulnerabia lities, are compromised or experience outages. Any of these risks could
increase our costs and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, any
negative publicity related to any of our third-party partners, including any publicity related to quality standards
or safety concerns, could adversely affect our reputation and brand, and could potentially lead to increased
regulatory orr r litigation exposure.

We incorporate technology from third parties into our platform. We cannot be certain that our licensors
are not infringing the intellectuat l property rights of others or that the supplu iers and licensors have sufficient
rights to the technology in all jurisdictions in which we may operate. Some of our license agreements may be
terminated by our licensors forff convenience. If we are unabla e to obtain or maintain rights to any of this
technology because of intellectuatt l property infriff ngement claims brought by third parties against our supplu iers
and licensors or against us, or if we are unabla e to continue to obtain the technology or enter into new
agreements on commercially reasonabla e terms, our ability to develop our platform containing that technology
could be severely limited and our business could be harmed. Additionally, if we are unabla e to obtain necessary
technology from third parties, we may be forff ced to acquire or develop alternate technology, which may require
significant time and effoff rt and may be of lower quality or perforff mance standards. This would limit and delay
our ability to provide new or competitive loan products or service offerings and increase our costs. If alternate
technology cannot be obtained or developed, we may not be able to offeff r certain functionality as part of our
platform and service offeff rings, which could adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Failure by our third-party vendors or our failure to comply with legal or regulatory requirements or
other contractual requirements could have an adverse effecff t on our business.

We have significant vendors that provide us with a number of services to supporu t our platform. If any
third-party vendors faiff l to comply with applicable laws and regulations or comply with their contractuat l
requirements, including failure to maintain adequate systems addressing privacy and data protection and
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security, we could be subject to regulatory err nforff cement actions and suffeff r economic and reputational harm that
could harm our business. Further, we may incur significant costs to resolve any such disruptu ions in service or
failure to provide contracted services, which could adversely affectff our business.

The CFPB and each of the prudential bank regulators that supervise our lending partners have issued
guidance stating that institutions under their supeu rvision may be held responsible for the actions of the
companies with which they contract. As a service provider to those supervised entities, we must ensure we have
implemented an adequate vendor management program. We or our lending partners could be adversely
impacted to the extent we faiff l to implement a vendor management system that is satisfactory trr o the CFPB and
other regulators or our vendors faiff l to comply with the legal requirements appla icable to the particular products
or services being offered. Our use of third-party vendors is subject to increasing regulatory arr ttention.

The CFPB and other regulators have also issued regulatory grr uidance that has focused on the need for
financial institutions to perform increased due diligence and ongoing monitoring of third-party vendor
relationships, including, for example, the June 2023 interagency guidance on third party risk management. Such
guidance increases the scope of management involvement in connection with using third-party vendors.
Moreover, if regulators conclude that we or our lending partners have not met the heightened standards forff
oversight of our third-party vendors, we or our lending partners could be subject to enforcement actions, civil
monetary penalties, supervisory orr rders to cease and desist or other remedial actions, which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If loans originated by our lending partners were found to violate the laws of one or more states, whether
at origination or after sale by the lending partner, loans facff ilitated through our marketplace may be
unenforff ceable or otherwise impaired, we or our lending partners or institutional investors may be subject
to, among other things, fines and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffeff r, each of
which would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

When establishing the interest rates and strucrr tures (and the amounts and structurt es of certain fees
constitutt ing interest under fedff eral banking law, such as origination feesff , late feesff and non-sufficient fundsff fees)
that are charged to borrowers on loans originated on our marketpltt ace, our lending partners rely on certain
authority under fedff eral law to export the interest rate requirements of the state where each lending partner is
located to borrowers in all other states. Further, we, our securitization vehicles and our institutional investors
that purchase Upstart-powered loans originated by our lending partners rely on the abia lity, as subsequent
holders of the loans, to continue charging the interest rates and feeff structurtt es and enforff ce other contractuatt l
terms agreed to between the lending partners and the borrowers, as permitted under fedff eral banking laws. The
current maximum annual percentage rate of the loans facff ilitated through our marketplt ace is 35.99%. In some
states, the interest rates of certain Upstart-powered loans exceed the maximum interest rate permitted forff
consumer loans appla icable to non-bank lenders to borrowers residing in, or that have nexus to, such states. In
addition, the rate strucrr tures forff Upstart-powered loans may not be permissible in all states for non-bank
purchasers and/or the amount or structurt es of certain feeff s charged in connection with Upstart-powered loans
may not be permissible in all states for non-bank purchasers. Furthermore, other states have proposed or enacted
additional limitations on interest rates and fees, such as laws in Illinois, Maine and New Mexico that cap interest
rates on certain loans at an “all-in” 36% APR.

Usury,rr fee, and disclosure related claims involving Upstart-powered loans may be raised in multiple
ways. We or the participants in our marketplt ace, including lending partners and institutional investors, may faceff
litigation, government enforcement or other challenges, for example, based on claims that our lending partners
did not establa ish loan terms that were permissible in the state they were located or did not correctly identify the
home or host state in which they were located for purposrr es of interest exportation authority under fedff eral law.
Alternatively, we or our institutional investors may face litigation, government enforcement or other challenge,
for example, based on claims that rates and fees were lawfulff at origination and through any period durd ing which
the lending partner retained the loan and interests therein, but following the sale of loans, we or other purchasers
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of the loans, including our institutional investors, are not permitted to enforff ce the loans pursuant to their
contracted-for terms, or that while certain disclosures were not required at origination because the loans were
originated by banks, they may be required folff lowing the sale of such loans.

In Madden v. Midland Funding, LLC, 786 F.3d 246 (2d Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S.Ct. 2505 (June
27, 2016), forff example, the United States Court of Appeals forff the Second Circuit held that the non-bank
purchaser of defaulted credit card debt could not rely on preemption standards under the National Bank Act
applicable to the originator of such debt in defenff se of usury crr laims. Madden addressed circumstances under
which a defaulted extension of credit under a consumer credit card account was assigned, following default, to a
non-bank debt buyer that then attempted to collect the loan and to continue charging interest at the contracted-
for rate. The debtor filff ed a suit claiming, among other claims, that the rate charged by the non-bank collection
entity exceeded the usury rates allowabla e forff such entities under New York usury lrr aw. Reversing a lower court
decision, the Second Circuit held that preemption standards under the National Bank Act applicable to the bank
that issued the credit card were not availabla e to the non-bank debt buyer as a defense to usury claims. Following
denial of a petition forff rehearing by the Second Circuit, the defenff dant sought review by the United States
Supru eme Court. The Supreme Court denied certiorari on June 27, 2016, and therefore, the Second Circuit’s
decision remains binding on federal courts in the Second Circuit (which include all fedff eral courts in New York,
Connecticut, and Vermont). Upon remand to the District Court forff consideration of additional issues, the parties
settled the matter in 2019.

The scope and validity of the Second Circuit’s Madden decision remain subject to challenge and
clarificff ation. For example, the Colorado Administrator of the Colorado Uniform Consumer Credit Code, or the
UCCC, reached a settlement with respect to complaints against two online lending platforms whose operations
share certain commonalities with ours, including with respect to the role of lending partners originating loans
and non-bank purchasers of such loans. The complaints included, among other claims, allegations, grounded in
the Second Circuit’s Madden decision, that the rates and feeff s forff certain loans could not be enforced lawfulff ly by
non-bank purchasers of bank-originated loans. Under the settlement, the banks and non-bank purchasers
committed to, among other things, limit the annual percentage rates, or APR, on loans to Colorado consumers to
36% and take other actions to ensure that the banks were in fact the true lenders. The non-bank purchasers also
agreed to obtain and maintain a Colorado lending license. In Colorado, this settlement created a helpfulff model
for what constitutes an acceptabla e bank partnership model; however, Colorado opted out of the fedff eral law that
allows state-chartered banks to export their rates, with such law becoming effective July 1, 2024 and putting the
settlement model in jeopardy. Regardless, the settlement may also invite other states to initiate their own
actions, and set their own regulatory srr tandards through enforcement.

In addition, in June 2019, private plaintiffsff filed class action complaints against multiple traditional
credit card securitization programs, including, Petersen, et al. v. Chase Card Funding, LLC, et al., (No. 1:19-
cv-00741-LJV-JJM (W.D.N.Y. June 6, 2019)) and Cohen, et al. v. Capital One Funding, LLC et al., (No.
19-03479 (E.D.N.Y. June 12, 2019)). In Petersen, the plaintiffsff sought class action status against certain
defendants affiliated with a national bank that have acted as special purposrr e entities in securitization
transactions sponsored by the bank. The complaint alleges that the defendants’ acquisition, collection and
enforcement of the bank’s credit card receivabla es violated New York’s civil usury lrr aw and that, as in Madden,
the defenff dants, as non-bank entities, are not entitled to the benefitff of federal preemption of state usury lrr aw. The
complaint sought a judgment declaring the receivables unenforff ceable, monetary damages and other legal and
equitabla e remedies, such as disgorgement of all sums paid in excess of the usury lrr imit. Cohen was a materially
similar claim against another national bank. On January 22, 2020, the magistrate judge in Petersen issued a
report and recommendation responding to the defenff dants’ motion to dismiss. The magistrate recommended that
the motion to dismiss be granted as to both of the plaintiffsff ’ claims (usury and unjust enrichment). On
September 21, 2020, the District Court accepted the magistrate’s recommendation and dismissed all claims. The
District Court foundff that the usury claims were expressly preempted by the National Bank Act and referff enced
the OCC’s recent rulrr emaking (discussed furff ther below) that “[i]nterest on a loan that is permissible under [the
National Bank Act] shall not be affeff cted by the sale, assignment, or other transfer of the loan.” Among other
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things, the Court deferff red to the “OCC’s reasoned judgment that enforff cing New York’s usury laws against the
Chase defenff dants would significantly interferff e with [the bank’s] exercise of its [National Bank Act] powers.”
The Cohen case was dismissed on September 29, 2020. The plaintiffsff in both Cohen and Petersen filed, but
ultimately dropped, their appea als of the decision to the second circuit.

As noted above, fedff eral pruderr ntial regulators have also taken actions to address the Madden decision.
On May 29, 2020, the OCC issued a finff al rule clarifyiff ng that, when a national bank or savings association sells,
assigns, or otherwise transferff s a loan, interest permissible beforff e the transferff continues to be permissible after
the transfer. That rule took effeff ct on August 3, 2020. Similarly, the FDIC finff alized on June 25, 2020 its 2019
proposal declaring that the interest rate for a loan is determined when the loan is made, and will not be affeff cted
by subsu equent events. On July 29, 2020, California, New York and Illinois fileff d suit in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of Califorff nia to enjoin enforff cement of the OCC rule (Case No. 20-CV-5200) and,
similarly in the same court, on August 20, 2020 Califorff nia, Illinois, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey,
New York, North Carolina, and the District of Columbia sought to enjon in enforcement of the FDIC rule (Case
No. 20-CV-5860), in each case related to permissible interest rates post-loan transferff on the grounds that the
OCC and FDIC exceeded their authority when promulgating those rulrr es. While the court rulrr ed in favor of the
OCC and FDIC holding that the agencies did not exceed their statutory authorities when promulgating their
“valid when made” rulrr es, there is risk that the OCC and FDIC rulrr es continue to be challenged or are repealed in
the futff urtt e through legislation.

There are factuatt l distinctions between our program and the circumstances addressed in the Second
Circuit’s Madden decision, as well as the circumstances in the Colorado UCCC settlement, credit card
securitization litigation, and similar cases. As noted above, there are also bases on which the Madden decision’s
validity might be subju ect to challenge or the Madden decision may be addressed by fedff eral regulation or
legislation. Nevertheless, there can be no guarantee that a Madden-like claim will not be brought successfulff ly
against us, our lending partners or our institutional investors.

Effeff ctive October 2021, Maine updau ted its Consumer Credit Code to include a statutory “true lender”
test, providing that an entity is a “lender” subju ect to certain requirements of the Consumer Credit Code if the
person, among other things: (i) has the predominant economic interest in a loan; (ii) brokers, arranges, or
facilitates a loan and has the right to purchase the loan; or (iii) based on the totality of the circumstances,
appears to be the lender, and the transaction is strucrr tured to evade certain statutt ory rrr equirements. Me. Rev. Stat.
§ 2-702. Connecticut and Minnesota codified a “truerr lender” test into their laws in 2023, which similarly focff us
on the totality of the circumstances or who has the “predominant economic interest” in the loans. More states
may also institute similar statutory “true lender” tests. The statutory “true lender” tests may increase the risk of
truerr lender litigation in certain jurisdictions and impact how the tests are appla ied by courts and regulators in
determining the truerr lender. They may also result in increased usury arr nd licensing risk. Other states may take
different paths to promulgate similar “truerr lender” restrictions, and if not through a legislative path, impacted
parties may have little to no advance notice of new restrictions and compliance obligations.

If a borrower or any state agency were to successfulff ly bring a claim against us, our lending partners,
our securitization vehicles and/or the trustees of such vehicles or our institutional investors forff a state usury lrr aw
or fee restriction violation and the rate or fee at issue on the loan was impermissible under appla icable state law,
we, our lending partners, securitization vehicles and/or trusrr tees or institutional investors may face various
commercial and legal repercussions, including that such parties would not receive the total amount of interest
expected, and in some cases, may not receive any interest or principal, may hold loans that are void, voidabla e,
rescindabla e, or otherwise impaired or may be subju ect to monetary, injunctive or criminal penalties. Were such
repercussions to apply to us, we may suffeff r direct monetary loss or may be a less attractive candidate for
lending partners, securitization trustees or institutt ional investors to enter into or renew relationships; and were
such repercussions to apply to our lending partners or institutt ional investors, such parties could be discouraged
from using our marketplt ace. We may also be subju ect to payment of damages in situations where we agreed to
provide indemnificff ation, as well as fines and penalties assessed by state and fedff eral regulatory arr gencies.
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If loans facff ilitated through our marketplace forff one or more lending partners were subject to successfulff
challenge that the lending partner was not the “true lender,” such loans may be unenforff ceable, subject to
rescission or otherwise impaired, we or other program participants may be subject to penalties, and/or
our commercial relationships may suffeff r, each which would adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Upstart-powered loans are originated in reliance on the factff that our lending partners are the “true
lenders” forff such loans. That truerr lender status determines various Upstart-powered loan program details, and
Upstart-powered loans may involve interest rates and structurt es (and certain fees and feesff structurtt es)
permissible at origination only because the loan terms and lending practices are permissible only when the
lender is a bank, and/or the disclosures provided to borrowers would be accurate and compliant only if the
lender is a bank. Because the loans faciff litated by our marketplt ace are originated by our lending partners, many
state consumer financial regulatory rrr equirements, including usury rrr estrictions (other than the restrictions of the
state in which a lending partner originating a particular loan is located) and many licensing requirements and
subsu tantive requirements under state consumer credit laws, are treated as inapplicable based on principles of
federal preemption or express exemptions provided in relevant state laws forff certain types of finff ancial
institutions or loans they originate.

Certain recent litigation and regulatory err nforff cement has challenged, or is currently challenging, the
characterization of bank partners as the “true lender” in connection with programs involving origination and/or
servicing relationships between a bank partner and non-bank lending platform or program manager. As noted
above, the Colorado Administrator has entered into a settlement agreement with certain banks and non-banks
that addresses this true lender issue. Specificff ally, the settlement agreement sets forff th a safe hff arborr indicating
that a bank is the truerr lender if certain specificff terms and conditions are met. However, other states could also
bring lawsuits based on these types of relationships. For example, in June 2020, the Washington, DC Attorney
General filff ed a lawsuit against online lender Elevate for allegedly deceptively marketing high-cost loans with
interest rates abovea the Washington, DC usury crr ap. The usury crr laim is based on an allegation that Elevate,
which was not licensed in Washington, DC, and not its partner bank, originated these loans, and was therefore
in violation of the state’s usury laws. This case ultimately settled, with Elevate agreeing to charge rates only upu
to 24% and to refundff consumers who were charged rates over what is allowed under Washington, DC law. A
similar complaint against an online lender, Opportunity Financial, LLC, was filed in early 2021, alleging that it
rather than a bank originated these loans and the loans were thereforff e in violation of Washington, DC usuryrr
laws. The parties settled this case in November 2021. Also in April 2021, the Marylrr and Office of the
Commissioner of Financial Regulation also alleged in the context of a civil suit that a state-chartered bank and
its fintech partners engaged in a bank partnership program that violated various state licensing and credit
statuttt es. The case is pending before the Office of the Commissioner of Financial Regulation forff administrative
adjud dication. In June 2021, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the online lender Marlette Funding
LLC in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, alleging that the company, doing
business as Best Egg, was the truerr lender of usurious loans, with a rate of interest farff in excess of the 6% rate
permitted to be charged in Pennsylvania by unlicensed non-banks, originated through a partnership with Cross
River Bank (Case No. 21-CV-985). Furthermore, in April 2022, the Califorff nia Department of Financial
Protection and Innovation filff ed a complaint in Los Angeles Superior Court alleging that Opportunity Financial,
LLC is the “truerr lender” of several loans to California residents that exceeded the appla icable Califorff nia usury
limit forff small dollar loans. While Opportunity Financial received a favorable decision in October 2023 that
denied Califorff nia’s motion forff preliminary irr njunction, in Califorff nia and other states, there is an ongoing risk
that government agencies and private plaintiffsff will seek to challenge these types of relationships that are
similar to our business model.

We note that the OCC issued on October 27, 2020, a finff al rule to address the “true lender” issue forff
lending transactions involving a national bank. For certain purposrr es related to fedff eral banking law, including
the abia lity of a national bank to “export” interest-related requirements froff m the state froff m which they lend, the
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rule would treat a national bank as the “true lender” if it is named as the lender in the loan agreement or fundsff
the loan. However, the rulrr e was subsu equently challenged by the Attorneys General from seven states and
ultimately repealed by Congress pursuant to the Congressional Review Act on June 30, 2021. No similar rulrr e
applicable to state-chartered banks was issued by the FDIC, and thus there is no longer a clear federal standard.

While we have taken steps to comply with the safe hff arborr in the Colorado settlement and other laws,
regulations and guidance, we, lending partners, institutional investors, securitization vehicles and other similarly
situated parties could become subju ect to challenges like those presented by the Colorado settlement and, if so,
we could facff e penalties and/or Upstart-powered loans may be void, voidabla e or otherwise impaired in a manner
that may have adverse effects on our operations (directly, or as a result of adverse impact on our relationships
with our lending partners, institutional investors or other commercial counterparr rties). There have been no
formal proceedings against us or indication of any proceedings against us to date, but there can be no assurance
that the Colorado Administrator or any other regulator will not make assertions similar to those made in its
present actions with respect to the loans facff ilitated by our marketplt ace in the futff urtt e.

It is also possible that other state agencies or regulators could make similar assertions. If a court, or a
state or fedff eral enforcement agency, were to deem Upstart, rather than our lending partners, the “true lender” for
loans originated on our marketplt ace, and if forff this reason (or any other reason) the loans were deemed subju ect
to and in violation of certain state consumer finance laws, we could be subject to fines, damages, injun nctive
relief (including required modification or discontinuation of our business in certain areas) and other penalties or
consequences, and the loans could be rendered void or unenforff ceable in whole or in part, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business (directly, or as a result of adverse impact on our relationships
with our lending partners, institutional investors or other commercial counterparr rties).

We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions.

The counterparr rties to the cappea d call transactions entered into in connection with the offering of the
Notes (as defined below) are financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that one or more of the
counterparr rties may default or otherwise fail to perform, or may exercise certain rights to terminate, their
obligations under the capped call transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the counterparr rties will not be
secured by any collateral. Global economic conditions have in the past resulted in the actuat l or perceived faiff lure
or financial diffiff culties of many finff ancial instituttt ions. If a counterparr rty to one or more capped call transactions
becomes subject to bankruptrr cy or other insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those
proceedings with a claim equal to our exposure at the time under such transactions. Our exposure will depend
on many factors but, generally, our exposure will increase if the market price or the volatility of our common
stock increases. In addition, upon a defauff lt or other faiff lure to perform, or a termination of obligations, by a
counterparr rty, the counterparr rty may fail to deliver the shares of our common stock or cash required to be
delivered to us under the capped call transactions and we may suffer adverse tax consequences or experience
more dilution than we currently anticipate with respect to our common stock. We can provide no assurances as
to the finff ancial stability or viability of the counterparr rties.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significff ant finff es, penalties,
judgments, remediation costs and/or requirements resulting in increased expenses.

In the ordinary crr ourse of business, we have been named as a defendant in various legal actions,
including a class action lawsuit and other litigation. Generally, this litigation arises froff m the dissatisfaction of a
consumer with the products or services offeff red on our marketplt ace; some of this litigation, however, has arisen
from other matters, including claims of violation of laws related to credit reporting, collections and do-not-call.
All such legal actions are inherently unpredictabla e and, regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation is often
expensive, time-consuming, disruptrr ive to our operations and resources, and distracting to management. In

67



addition, certain actions may include claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. Our involvement in any
such matter also could cause significant harm to our or our lending partners’ reputations and divert management
attention froff m the operation of our business, even if the matters are ultimately determined in our favor. If
resolved against us, legal actions could result in excessive verdicts and judgments, injunctive relief, equitabla e
relief, and other adverse consequences that may affect our financial condition and how we operate our business.

In addition, a number of participants in the consumer financial services industry hrr ave been the subject
of putative class action lawsuits, state attorney general actions and other state regulatory arr ctions, fedff eral
regulatory err nforff cement actions, including actions relating to alleged unfaiff r, deceptive or abusa ive acts or
practices, violations of state licensing and lending laws, including state usury and disclosure laws, actions
alleging discrimination on the basis of race, ethnicity, gender or other prohibited bases, and allegations of
noncompliance with various state and federal laws and regulations relating to originating, servicing, and
collecting consumer finance loans and other consumer financial services and products. The current regulatoryrr
environment, increased regulatory crr ompliance efforff ts and enhanced regulatory err nforff cement have resulted in us
undertaking significant time-consuming and expensive operational and compliance efforts to operate in
accordance with relevant laws, which may delay or preclude our or our lending partners’ abia lity to provide
certain new products and services. There is no assurance that these regulatory mrr atters or other factff ors will not,
in the futff urt e, affeff ct how we conduct our business and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business. In
particular, legal proceedings brought under state consumer protection statutes or under several of the various
federal consumer finff ancial services statutt es may result in a separate fine assessed forff each statutt ory arr nd
regulatory vrr iolation or substantial damages from class action lawsuits, potentially in excess of the amounts we
earned froff m the underlying activities.

Some of our agreements used in the course of our business include arbir tration clauses. If our arbir tration
agreements were to become unenforff ceable for any reason, we could experience an increase to our consumer
litigation costs and exposure to potentially damaging class action lawsuits, with a potential material adverse
effeff ct on our business and results of operations.

We contest our liability and the amount of damages, as appropriate, in each pending matter. The
outcome of pending and futff urt e matters could be material to our results of operations, finff ancial condition and
cash floff ws, and could materially adversely affect our business.

In addition, from time to time, through our operational and compliance controls, we identifyff
compliance issues that require us to make operational changes and, depending on the naturtt e of the issue, result
in financial remediation to impacted borrowers. These self-iff dentifieff d issues and voluntary rrr emediation
payments could be significant, depending on the issue and the number of borrowers impacted, and could
generate litigation or regulatory irr nvestigations that subju ect us to additional risk.

We are subject to or facilitate compliance with a variety of federal, state, and local laws, including those
related to consumer protection and loan financings.

We must comply with regulatory rrr egimes or facilitate compliance with regulatory rrr egimes on behalf of
our lending partners that are independently subju ect to federal and/or state oversight by bank regulators,
including those appla icable to our referral and marketing services, consumer credit transactions, loan servicing
and collection activities and the purchase and sale of whole loans and other related transactions. The current
presidential administration has brought an increased focus on enforff cement of fedff eral consumer protection laws,
notably those related to artificial intelligence, and has appointed consumer-oriented regulators at fedff eral
agencies such as the CFPB and the OCC. It is possible that regulators in the current or future presidential
administration could promulgate rulrr emakings and bring enforcement actions that materially impact our business
and the business of our lending partners. These regulators may augment requirements that appla y to loans
facilitated by our marketpltt ace, or impose new programs and restrictions, and could otherwise revise or create
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new regulatory rrr equirements that appla y to us (or our lending partners), impacting our business, operations, and
profitaff bia lity.

Certain state laws generally regulate interest rates and other charges and require certain disclosures. In
addition, other fedff eral and state laws may appla y to the origination, servicing and collection of loans originated
on our marketpltt ace, and the purchase and sale of whole loans or asset-backed securitizations. In particular,
certain laws, regulations and rulrr es we or our lending partners are subject to include:

• state lending laws and regulations that require certain parties to hold licenses or other government
approvals or filings in connection with specified activities, and impose requirements related to loan
disclosures and terms, fees and interest rates, credit discrimination, credit reporting, servicemember
relief, debt collection, repossession, unfaiff r or deceptive business practices and consumer protection, as
well as other state laws relating to privacy, inforff mation security, conduct in connection with data
breaches and money transmission;

• the Trutrr h-in-Lending Act and Regulation Z promulgated thereunder, and similar state laws, which
require certain disclosures to borrowers regarding the terms and conditions of their loans and credit
transactions, require creditors to comply with certain lending practice restrictions, limit the abia lity of a
creditor to impose certain loan terms and impose disclosure requirements in connection with credit
card origination;

• the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B promulgated thereunder, and similar state fair
lending laws, which prohibit creditors from discouraging or discriminating against credit applicants on
a prohibited basis, including race, color, sex, age, religion, national origin, marital status, the facff t that
all or part of the applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program or the factff that the
applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the federal Consumer Credit Protection Act;

• the Fair Credit Reporting Act and Regulation V promulgated thereunder, imposes certain obligations
on users of consumer reports and those that furff nish information to consumer reporting agencies,
including obligations relating to obtaining consumer reports, marketing using consumer reports, taking
adverse action on the basis of inforff mation from consumer reports, addressing risks of identity theft aff nd
fraud and protecting the privacy and security of consumer reports and consumer report inforff mation;

• Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, which prohibits unfaiff r and deceptive acts or practices
in or affeff cting commerce, and Section 1031 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which prohibits unfaiff r, deceptive
or abusive acts or practices in connection with any consumer financial product or service, and
analogous state laws prohibiting unfaiff r, deceptive or abusa ive acts or practices;

• the Credit Practices RulRR e which (i) prohibits lenders from using certain contract provisions that the
Federal Trade Commission has foundff to be unfaiff r to consumers; (ii) requires lenders to advise
consumers who co-sign obligations about their potential liabia lity if the primary obligor fails to pay; and
(iii) prohibits certain late charges;

• the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Regulation F, and similar state debt collection laws, which
provide guidelines and limitations on the conduct of third-party debt collectors (and some limitation on
creditors collecting their own debts) in connection with the collection of consumer debts;

• the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, and Regulation P promulgated thereunder, which includes
limitations on financial institutions’ disclosure of nonpublic personal inforff mation abouta a consumer to
nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances requires finff ancial institutions to limit the use and
further disclosure of nonpublic personal inforff mation by nonaffiliated third parties to whom they
disclose such information and requires finff ancial instituttt ions to disclose certain privacy notices and
practices with respect to information sharing with affiff liated and unaffiliated entities as well as to
safeguard personal borrower inforff mation, and other state privacy laws and regulations;
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• the Bankruptrr cy Code, which limits the extent to which creditors may seek to enforce debts against
parties who have filed forff bankruptrr cy protection;

• the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, which allows military mrr embers to suspend or postpone certain
civil obligations, requires creditors to reduce the interest rate to 6% on loans to military members under
certain circumstances, and imposes restrictions on enforcement of loans to servicemembers, so that the
military member can devote his or her fulff l attention to military drr utd ies;

• the Military Lending Act, which requires those who lend to “covered borrowers”, including members
of the military arr nd their dependents, to only offerff Military Arr PRs (a specific measure of all-in-cost-of-ff
credit) under 36%, prohibits arbir tration clauses in loan agreements, and prohibits certain other loan
agreement terms and lending practices in connection with loans to military servicemembers, among
other requirements, and forff which violations may result in penalties including voiding of the loan
agreement;

• the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, which provide guidelines
and restrictions on the electronic transfer of fundsff from consumers’ bank accounts, including a
prohibition on a creditor requiring a consumer to repay a credit agreement in preauthorized (recurring)
electronic fundff transferff s and disclosure and authorization requirements in connection with such
transferff s;

• the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, which impose
various consumer consent requirements and other restrictions in connection with telemarketing activity
and other communication with consumers by phone, faxff or text message, and which provide guidelines
designed to safegff uard consumer privacy in connection with such communications;

• the Federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 and the
Telemarketing Sales Rule and analogous state laws, which impose various restrictions on marketing
conducted use of email, telephone, faxff or text message;

• the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act and similar state laws, particularly the
Uniforff m Electronic Transactions Act, which authorize the creation of legally binding and enforff ceable
agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures and which require creditors and loan servicers to
obtain a consumer’s consent to electronically receive disclosures required under fedff eral and state laws
and regulations;

• the Right to Financial Privacy Act and similar state laws enacted to provide the finff ancial records of
financial institutt ion customers a reasonabla e amount of privacy froff m government scrutiny;

• the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act, which relate to compliance with anti-money
laundering, borrower dued diligence and record-keeping policies and procedurd es;

• the regulations promulgated by the Offiff ce of Foreign Assets Control under the U.S. Treasuryrr
Department related to the administration and enforff cement of sanctions against forff eign jurisdictions and
persons that threaten U.S. foreign policy and national security goals, primarily to prevent targeted
jurisdictions and persons from accessing the U.S. finff ancial system;

• fedff eral and state securities laws, including, among others, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or the IAA,
and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the Investment Company Act, rulrr es and
regulations adopted under those laws, and similar state laws and regulations, which govern how we
offeff r, sell and transact in our loan financing products; and

• other state-specific and local laws and regulations.

We may not always have been, and may not always be, in compliance with these and other appla icable
laws, regulations and rulrr es. And while compliance with these requirements is a business priority for us, it is also
costly, time-consuming and limits our operational fleff xibility. Additionally, Congress, the states and regulatoryrr
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agencies, as well as local municipalities, could furff ther regulate the consumer financial services industry irr n ways
that make it more difficult or costly for us to offer our AI lending marketplt ace and related services or facilitate
the origination of loans for our lending partners. These laws also are often subju ect to changes that could severely
limit the operations of our business model. Further, changes in the regulatory arr ppla ication or judicial
interpretation of the laws and regulations applicable to financial institutions also could impact the manner in
which we conduct our business. The regulatory err nvironment in which financial institutions operate has become
increasingly complex, and following the financial crisis that began in 2008, supeu rvisory err fforts to appla y relevant
laws, regulations and policies have become more intense. Additionally, states are increasingly introducing and,
in some cases, passing laws that restrict interest rates and APRs on loans similar to the loans made on our
marketplt ace. For example, Illinois, Maine and New Mexico enacted laws that cap interest rates on certain loans
at an “all-in” 36% APR. Further, in late 2020, California created a “mini-CFPB,” which could increase its
oversight over bank partnership relationships and strengthen state consumer protection authority of state
regulators to police debt collections and unfaiff r, deceptive or abusa ive acts and practices. Voter referendums also
have been introduced and, in some cases, passed, restrictions on interest rates and/or APRs. If such legislation
or bills were to be propagated, or state or fedff eral regulators seek to restrict regulated financial institutions such
as our lending partners from engaging in business with Upstart in certain ways, our lending partners’ abia lity to
originate loans in certain states could be greatly reduced, and as a result, our business, financial condition and
results of operations would be adversely affected.

Where applicable, we seek to comply with state broker, credit service organization, small loan, finance
lender, servicing, collection, money transmitter and similar statutes. Nevertheless, if we are foundff to not comply
with applicable laws, we could lose one or more of our licenses or authorizations, become subju ect to greater
scrutiny by other state regulatory arr gencies, face other sanctions or be required to obtain a license in such
jurisdiction, which may have an adverse effecff t on our ability to continue to facilitate loans, perform our
servicing obligations or make our marketplace availabla e to consumers in particular states, which may harm our
business. Further, failure to comply with the laws and regulatory rrr equirements appla icable to our business and
operations may, among other things, limit our ability to collect all or part of the principal of or interest on
Upstart-powered loans. In addition, non-compliance could subject us to damages, revocation of required
licenses, class action lawsuits, administrative enforff cement actions, rescission rights held by investors in
securities offerings and civil and criminal liability, all of which would harm our business.

Internet-based loan origination processes may give rise to greater risks than paper-based processes and
may not always be allowed under state law.

We use the internet to obtain appla ication inforff mation and distribute certain legally required notices to
applicants and borrowers, and to obtain electronically signed loan documents in lieu of paper documents with
actuat l borrower signatures. These processes may entail greater risks than would paper-based loan origination
processes, including risks regarding the suffiff ciency of notice forff compliance with consumer protection laws,
risks that borrowers may challenge the authenticity of loan documents, and risks that despite internal controls,
unauthorized changes are made to the electronic loan documents. In addition, our software could contain “bugs”
that result in incorrect calculations or disclosures or other non-compliance with federal or state laws or
regulations. If any of those facff tors were to cause any loans, or any of the terms of the loans, to be unenforff ceable
against the borrowers, or impair our ability to service loans, the performance of the underlying promissory notes
could be adversely affected.

For auto loans issued through our auto lending marketplt ace, certain state laws may not allow forff
electronic lien and title transfer, which would require us to use a paper-based title process to secure title to the
underlying collateral. While this process may help mitigate some of the risks associated with online processes,
because it is highly manual and outside of our usual practices and titling rulrr es can vary by state, we may be
prone to errors and encounter greater difficulty complying with the proper procedurdd es. If we faiff l to effectively
follow such procedures we may, among other things, be limited in our ability to secure the collateral associated
with loans issued through our auto lending marketplt ace.
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If we are fouff nd to be operating without having obtained necessary state or local licenses, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Certain states have adopted laws regulating and requiring licensing by parties that engage in certain
activities regarding consumer finance transactions, including facilitating and assisting such transactions in
certain circumstances. Furthermore, certain states and localities have also adopted laws requiring licensing for
consumer debt collection or servicing and/or purchasing or selling consumer loans. While we believe we have
obtained or are in the process of obtaining all necessary licenses, the application of some consumer finance
licensing laws to our AI lending marketplt ace and the related activities we perform, as well as to our lending
partners, is unclear. In addition, state licensing requirements may evolve over time, including, in particular,
recent trends toward increased licensing requirements and regulation of parties engaged in loan solicitation and
studet nt loan servicing activities. States also maintain licensing requirements pertaining to the transmission of
money, and certain states may broadly interpret such licensing requirements to cover loan servicing and the
transmission of funds to investors. If we or one of our lending partners were foundff to be in violation of
applicable state licensing requirements by a court or a state, federal, or local enforcement agency, we could be
subju ect to fines, damages, injun nctive relief (including required modification or discontinuation of our business
in certain areas), criminal penalties and other penalties or consequences, and the loans originated by our lending
partners on our marketplt ace could be rendered void or unenforff ceable in whole or in part, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

The CFPB has sometimes taken expansive views of its authority to regulate consumer finff ancial services,
creating uncertainty as to how the agency’s actions or the actions of any other agency could impact our
business.

The CFPB, which commenced operations in July 2011, has broad authority to create and modify
regulations under fedff eral consumer financial protection laws and regulations, such as the Trutrr h in Lending Act
and Regulation Z, ECOA and Regulation B, the Fair Credit Reporting Act and Regulation V, the Electronic
Funds Transferff Act and Regulation E, among other regulations, and to enforce compliance with those laws. The
CFPB supeu rvises banks, thriftsff and credit unions with assets over $10 billion and examines certain of our
lending partners. Further, the CFPB is charged with the examination and supeu rvision of certain participants in
the consumer financial services market, including short-term, small dollar lenders, non-bank mortgage
originators and servicers, and larger participants in other areas of financial services. The CFPB is also
authorized to prevent “unfaiff r, deceptive or abusa ive acts or practices” through its rulemaking, supeu rvisory arr nd
enforcement authority. To assist in its enforcement, the CFPB maintains an online complaint system that allows
consumers to log complaints with respect to various consumer finance products, including the loan products
offeff red on our marketplt ace. This system could inforff m futff urt e CFPB decisions with respect to its regulatory,rr
enforcement or examination focff us. The CFPB may also request reports concerning our organization, business
conduct, markets and activities and conduct on-site examinations of our business on a periodic basis if the
CFPB were to determine, through its complaint system, that we were engaging in activities that pose risks to
consumers.

There continues to be uncertainty about the futff urt e of the CFPB and as to how its strategies and
priorities, including in both its examination and enforcement processes, will impact our business and our results
of operations going forward. This uncertainty is increased in light of the factff that the new director of the CFPB
has new examination and enforcement priorities, including safeguarding against algorithmic bias. In April 2022,
the CFPB announced that it intends to examine non-bank financial companies that pose risks to consumers. If
the CFPB decides to subject us to its supeu rvisory prr rocess, it could significantly increase the level of regulatoryrr
scrutiny of our business practices. See the risk factff or titled “—Our business is sii ubject to a wide rdd ange of laws
and regule atl ions, many of which are evolving, and failure or perceived failure to comply with such laws and
regule ations could hll arm our business, financial condition and results of operations” for more inforff mation.
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In addition, evolving views regarding the use of alternative variabla es and machine learning in assessing
credit risk could result in the CFPB taking actions that result in requirements to alter or cease offering affeff cted
financial products and services, making them less attractive and restricting our ability to offeff r them. See the risk
factor titled “—Our reputation and brand are important to our success, and if we are unable to continue
developing our repute ation and brand, our ability ttt o retain exiee stii ing and attract new bank partners,rr our ability ttt o
attract borrowers to our marketkk pltt ace, our ability to maintain diverserr and resilient loan funding and our ability
to maintain and imprm ove our relationship wi ith regule atl ors orr f oo ur industry crr ould bll e adverserr ly affeff cted” for more
information. The CFPB could also implement rules that restrict our effeff ctiveness in servicing our financial
products and services.

Although we have committed resources to enhancing our compliance programs, future actions by the
CFPB (or other regulators) against us, our lending partners or our competitors could discourage the use of our
services or those of our lending partners, which could result in reputational harm, a loss of lending partners,
borrowers or institutional investors, or discourage the use of our or their services and adversely affect our
business. If the CFPB changes regulations that were adopted in the past by other regulators and transferff red to
the CFPB by the Dodd-Frank Act, or modifies through supeu rvision or enforff cement past regulatory grr uidance or
interprets existing regulations in a diffeff rent or stricter manner than they have been interpreted in the past by us,
the industry orr r other regulators, our compliance costs and litigation exposure could increase materially. This is
particularly truerr with respect to the application of ECOA and Regulation B to credit risk models that rely upon
alternative variabla es and machine learning, an area of law where regulatory grr uidance is currently uncertain and
still evolving, and forff which there are not well-establa ished regulatory nrr orms for establishing compliance.

The current presidential administration has appointed and is expected to continue to appoint consumer-
oriented regulators at fedff eral agencies such as the CFPB, the FTC, the OCC and the FDIC and the government’s
focff us on enforcement of fedff eral consumer protection laws is expected to increase. It is possible that these
regulators could promulgate rulrr emakings and bring enforcement actions that materially impact our business and
the business of our lending partners. If futff urt e regulatory orr r legislative restrictions or prohibitions are imposed
that affeff ct our ability to offer certain of our products or that require us to make significant changes to our
business practices, and if we are unabla e to develop compliant alternatives with acceptabla e returt ns, these
restrictions or prohibitions could have a material adverse effectff on our business. If the CFPB, or another
regulator, were to issue a consent decree or other similar order against us, this could also directly or indirectly
affeff ct our results of operations.

Our compliance and operational costs and litigation exposure could increase if and when the CFPB or
another agency amends or finalizes any proposed regulations, including the regulations discussed abovea or if the
CFPB or other regulators enact new regulations, change regulations that were previously adopted, modify,
through supeu rvision or enforff cement, past regulatory grr uidance, or interpret existing regulations in a manner
different or stricter than have been previously interpreted.

We have been in the past and may in the future be subject to federal and state regulatory inquiries
regarding our business.

We have, froff m time to time in the normal course of our business, received, and may in the futff urt e
receive or be subju ect to, inquiries or investigations by state and federal regulatory arr gencies and bodies such as
the CFPB, the FTC, state Attorneys General, the SEC, state financial regulatory arr gencies and other state or
federal agencies or bodies regarding the Upstart marketplace, including the marketing of loans for lenders,
underwriting and pricing of consumer loans forff our lending partners, our fair lending compliance program and
licensing and registration requirements. While we expect to address inquiries or investigations and engage in
open dialogue with regulators, we cannot guarantee that a fedff eral or state regulator will not take supeu rvisory orr r
enforcement action against us in the futff urt e. Since the no-action letter with the CFPB was terminated in June
2022, we no longer enjoy the protection of the no-action letter which had provided that the CFPB would not
take supeu rvisory orr r enforff cement action against us for a violation of ECOA. We intend to continue to pursue a
transparent and cooperative relationship with the CFPB, which could involve sharing inforff mation abouta our
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models and other aspects of our business. It is also possible the CFPB may take supervisory orr r enforff cement
action against us in the futff urt e.

We have also received inquiries from state regulatory arr gencies regarding requirements to obtain
licenses froff m or register with those states, including in states where we have determined that we are not
required to obtain such a license or be registered with the state, and we expect to continue to receive such
inquiries. Any such inquiries or investigations could involve subsu tantial time and expense to analyze and
respond to, could divert management’s attention and other resources froff m runnirr ng our business, and could lead
to public enforcement actions or lawsuits and finff es, penalties, injun nctive relief, and the need to obtain additional
licenses that we do not currently possess. Our involvement in any such matters, whether tangential or otherwise
and even if the matters are ultimately determined in our favor, could also cause significant harm to our
reputation, lead to additional investigations and enforff cement actions from other agencies or litigants, and further
divert management attention and resources from the operation of our business. Formal enforcement actions are
generally made public, which carries reputational risk. The market price of our common stock could decline as a
result of the initiation of a CFPB investigation of Upstart or even the perception that such an investigation could
occur, even in the absa ence of any finff ding by the CFPB that we have violated any state or federal law. As a
result, the outcome of legal and regulatory arr ctions arising out of any state or federal inquiries we receive could
be material to our business, results of operations, finff ancial condition and cash floff ws and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

For non-bank financial institutions, the FTC is also a primary rrr egulator, and in recent years the FTC
has been focused on practices of financial technology companies. Based on publicly availabla e actions, the
FTC’s primary focus has been with respect to financial technology company marketing and disclosure practices.
For instance, in October 2018 the FTC took action against studett nt loan refinance lender SoFi, claiming that the
company made prominent false statements regarding the average savings a consumer would realize over the
lifetff ime of the loan if they refinff anced with SoFi. In addition, SoFi allegedly exaggerated claims of anticipated
borrower savings by excluding certain customer populations from the analysis. In addition, in July 2021 the
FTC settled litigation with LendingClub ru egarding, among other things, the adequacy of its disclosures of an
origination feeff associated with the product. Moreover, the FTC recently issued a staff report on digital “dark
patterns,” sophisticated design practices that can trick or manipulate consumers into buying products or services
or giving up their private information, that, among other things, highlighted marketing and disclosure practices
by some financial technology companies that the FTC claimed were deceptive because of their use of dark
patterns. Based uponu prior enforff cement actions, staff reports, and statements by FTC officials, we believe this
scrutiny of finff ancial technology company marketing and disclosure practices will continue in the near future.
While we maintain policies and procedurdd es that require our marketing and loan application and servicing
operations comply with UDAP standards, we may not be successfulff in our effoff rts to achieve compliance either
due to internal or external factors, such as resource allocation limitations or a lack of vendor cooperation.

The collection, processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a
result of existing or new governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements or differing views of
personal privacy rights.

We receive, transmit and store large volumes of personal inforff mation and other sensitive data, which
may potentially include biometric data as definff ed by state law, froff m appla icants and borrowers. Each lending
partner can access information abouta their respective borrowers and declined applicants via daily loan reports
and other reporting tools that are provided via the platforff m. For loan institutional investors, while we generally
limit access to personal inforff mation, we do share some personal inforff mation abouta borrowers with certain
institutional investors. There are federal, state and foreign laws regarding privacy and the storing, sharing, use,
disclosure and protection of personal inforff mation and sensitive data including those specific to biometric data.
Specifically, cybersecurity and data privacy issues, particularly with respect to personal inforff mation, are
increasingly subject to legislation and regulations to protect the privacy and security of personal inforff mation
that is collected, processed and transmitted. For example, the GLBA includes limitations on financial
institutions’ disclosure of nonpublic personal information abouta a consumer to non-affiff liated third parties, in
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certain circumstances requires finff ancial institutions to limit the use and furff ther disclosure of nonpublic personal
information by non-affiff liated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires finff ancial
institutions to disclose certain privacy notices and practices with respect to information sharing with affiff liated
and unaffiliated entities as well as to safegff uard personal borrower inforff mation. Privacy requirements under the
GLBA are enforff ced by the CFPB, as well as the FTC, and under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission
Act, we and our lending partners are prohibited froff m engaging in unfaiff r and deceptive acts and practices, or
UDAP. For example, both the FTC and CFPB have relied on UDAP/UDAAP principles to increase
enforcement of “dark patterns”, the definition of which varies but has been defined as “design featurt es used to
deceive, steer, or manipulate users into behavior that is profitaff bla e forff an online service, but ofteff n harmfulff to
users or contrary to their intent.”

At the state level, the Califorff nia Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which went into effect on
January 1, 2020, requires, among other things, that covered companies provide disclosures to Californiff a
residents and affoff rd such persons new abia lities to opt-out of certain sales or retention of their personal
information by us. Aspects of the CCPA and its interprrr etation remain unclear. In addition, Califorff nia voters
approved Proposition 24 in the November 2020 election to create the Califorff nia Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA,RR
which amends and purporrr ts to strengthen the CCPA and created a state agency, the Califorff nia Privacy
Protection Agency, to enforce privacy laws. The CPRA amendments create obligations relating to consumer
data as of January 1, 2023 (with a one-year lookback), and enforff cement beginning March 29, 2024. Following
the enactment of the CCPA, certain states, including but not limited to Texas, Virginia, Colorado and Utah,
have enacted, and other states are proposing to enact, laws and regulations that impose obligations similar to the
CCPA or that otherwise involve significant obligations and restrictions. While many of these laws include
exemptions for inforff mation covered by the GLBA, and we thereforff e may be exempt from all or most
obligations under many of these state privacy laws, some states may not provide for such exemptions, and such
exemptions may not fully exempt us froff m compliance with state laws.

Many privacy and data security laws, such as the CCPA, appla y to biometric data. However, some states
have passed or are considering legislation that are biometric specific. For instance, in Illinois, the Biometric
Information Privacy Act, or BIPA, specifically governs the collection, possession, and disclosure of biometric
information or biometric identifieff rs. There has been a corresponding increase in litigation related specifically to
state biometric privacy laws. Whether information we receive from borrowers is subju ect to state laws expressly
governing biometric data depends on how such laws define “biometric data” or other similar terms of art.

Compliance with current and futff urt e borrower privacy data protection and information security laws
and regulations could result in higher compliance, technical or operating costs. We cannot fully predict the
impact of the CCPA, BIPA, or other privacy and data security state laws on our business or operations, but it
may require us to further modify our data infrastructurtt e and data processing practices and policies and to incur
additional costs and expenses in an effoff rt to continue to comply. Further, any actuat l or perceived violations of
these laws and regulations may require us to change our business practices, data infraff structurt e or operational
structurtt e, address legal claims and regulatory irr nvestigations and proceedings and sustain monetary penalties
and/or other harms to our business. We could also be adversely affected if new legislation or regulations are
adopted or if existing legislation or regulations are modified such that we are required to alter our systems or
change our business practices or privacy policies.

As the regulatory fraff mework for artificff ial intelligence and machine learning technology evolves, our
business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

The regulatory frr raff mework for artificff ial intelligence and machine learning technology is evolving and
remains uncertain. For example, in April 2023, the FTC, DOJ, EEOC and CFPB released a joint statement on
potential “threats” posed by artificff ial intelligence, such as contributing to discriminatory orr utcomes.
Additionally, the CFPB published statements in May 2022 and September 2023 on the appla icability of ECOA to
artificff ial intelligence and machine learning underwriting models when generating adverse action notices.
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However, the language of ECOA remains unaltered. Therefore, it is possible that new laws and regulations will
be adopted in the United States, or existing laws and regulations may be interprrr eted in new ways, that would
affeff ct the operation of our marketplt ace and the way in which we use artificff ial intelligence and machine learning
technology, including with respect to fair lending laws. Further, the cost to comply with such laws or
regulations could be significant and would increase our operating expenses, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are required to register under the Investment Company Act, our ability to conduct business could
be materially adversely affected.

The Investment Company Act contains subsu tantive legal requirements that regulate the manner in
which “investment companies” are permitted to conduct their business activities. In general, an “investment
company” is a company that holds itself out as an investment company or holds more than 40% of the total
value of its assets (minus cash and government securities) in “investment securities.” We believe we are not an
investment company. Our business involves developing and operating an online lending marketplt ace that
provides our lending partners with access to technology, including proprietary AI models, and related services,
so lending partners can assess the credit risk of potential borrowers and offer loans online, and our revenue
derives primarily from feeff s based on the platforff m and referral services provided to our lending partners and loan
servicing. We do not hold ourselves out as an investment company. We understand, however, that the loans held
on our balance sheet could be viewed by the SEC or its staff aff s “securities,” which could in turtt n cause the SEC
or its staff tff o view Upstart Holdings, Inc., Upstart Network, Inc., or an affiff liate as an “investment company”
subju ect to regulation under the Investment Company Act. We believe that we have never been an investment
company because, among other reasons, we are primarily engaged in the business of providing an AI-based
lending marketplt ace, and thereforff e can reasonabla y rely on exemptions from investment company status.

If we are not able to rely on exemptions from investment company status, we could be deemed an
investment company and may be required to institutt e burdensome compliance requirements, restricting our
activities in a way that could adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of operations. For
example, among other things, we could be subject to investment company governance requirements; restricted
as to future borrowings and in our transactions with affiff liates; and be more limited in availabla e corporrr ate
financing alternatives and compensation arrangements. If we were ever deemed to be in non-compliance with
the Investment Company Act, we could also be subject to various penalties, including administrative or judicial
proceedings that might result in censure, finff e, civil penalties, cease-and-desist orders or other adverse
consequences, as well as private rights of action, any of which could materially adversely affect our business.

If we are required to register under the Investment Advisers Act, our ability to conduct business could be
materially adversely affected.

The IAA contains subsu tantive legal requirements that regulate the manner in which “investment
advisers” are permitted to conduct their business activities. We do not believe that we or our affiff liates are
required to register as an investment adviser with either the SEC or any of the various states, because our
business consists of providing a marketplace for consumer lending and loan finff ancing for which investment
adviser registration and regulation does not apply under appla icable federal or state law. However, one of our
affiff liates, Upstart Network, Inc., has notice filff ed as an exempt reporting adviser with the state of Califorff nia
based on its limited activities advising a fund.ff

While we believe our current practices do not require us or any of our other affiliates or subsidiaries to
register or notice filff e as an investment adviser, or require us to extend regulations related to Upstart Network,
Inc.’s statustt as an exempt reporting adviser to our other operations, if a regulator were to disagree with our
analysis with respect to any portion of our business, we or a subsidiary may be required to register or notice fileff
as an investment adviser and to comply with applicable law. Registering as an investment adviser could
adversely affect our method of operation and revenues. For example, the IAA requires that an investment
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adviser act in a fidff ucd iary capaa city for its clients. Among other things, this fidff ucd iary obligation requires that an
investment adviser manage a client’s portfolff io in the best interests of the client, have a reasonabla e basis for its
recommendations, fulff ly disclose to its client any material conflicff ts of interest that may affect its conduct and
seek best execution forff transactions undertaken on behalf of its client. The IAA also limits the ways in which a
company can market its services and offerings. It could be diffiff cult for us to comply with these obligations
without meaningfulff changes to our business operations, and there is no guarantee that we could do so
successfulff ly. If we were ever deemed to be in non-compliance with applicable investment adviser regulations,
we could also be subject to various penalties, including administrative or judicial proceedings that might result
in censure, finff e, civil penalties, cease-and-desist orders or other adverse consequences, as well as private rights
of action, any of which could materially adversely affect our business.

If our transactions involving institutional investors who provide loan funding to our marketpltt ace are
found to have been conducted in violation of the Securities Act or similar state law, or we have generally
violated any appla icable law, our ability to obtain finff ancing for loans facilitated through our marketpltt ace could
be materially adversely affected, and we could be subject to private or regulatory arr ctions.

Certain transactions involving instituttt ional investors or related to acquisitions may rely or have relied
on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided forff in Regulation D or Section
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. If any of these transactions were found to not be in compliance with the
requirements necessary to qualify fff orff these exemptions from Securities Act registration, or otherwise foundff to
be in violation of the federal or state securities laws, our business could be materially adversely affected. The
SEC or state securities regulators could bring enforcement actions against us, or we could be subject to private
litigation risks as a result of any violation of the federal or state securities laws, which could result in civil
penalties, injun nctions and cease and desist orders from furff ther violations, as well as monetary penalties of
disgorgement, pre-judgment interest, rescission of securities sales, or civil penalties, any of which could
materially adversely affect our business.

If we are foundff to be in violation of state or federal law generally, we also may be limited in our ability
to conduct futff urt e transactions. For example, we could in the future become ineligible to sell securities under
Regulation D if we become subju ect to “bad actor” disqualificff ation pursuant to RulRR e 506(d) of Regulation D.
Under RulRR e 506(d), issuers are ineligible “bad actors” if they or certain related persons, including directors and
certain affiff liates, are subject to disqualifyiff ng events, including certain cease-and-desist orders obtained by the
SEC. If we were subju ect to this or other “bad actor” provisions of the securities laws, we may not be able to
continue sales of whole loans, fraff ctional interests in loans, or asset-backed securities, or we could be subject to
significant additional expense associated with making our offeff rings, which would adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

If we are required to register with the SEC or under state securities laws as a broker-dealer, our ability
to conduct business could be materially adversely affecff ted.

We are not currently registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act or any
comparable state law. The SEC heavily regulates the manner in which broker-dealers are permitted to conduct
their business activities. We believe we have conducted, and we intend to continue to conduct, our business in a
manner that does not result in our being characterized as a broker-dealer, based on guidance published by the
SEC and its staff. Among other reasons, this is because we do not believe we take any compensation that would
be viewed as being based on any transactions in securities in any of our business lines. To the extent that the
SEC or its staff pff ublishes new or different guidance with respect to these matters, we may be required to adjust
our business operations accordingly. Any additional guidance froff m the SEC staff could provide additional
flexibility to us, or it could inhibit our ability to conduct our business operations. There can be no assurance that
the laws and regulations governing our broker-dealer status or that SEC guidance will not change in a manner
that adversely affects our operations. If we are deemed to be a broker-dealer, we may be required to instituttt e
burdensome compliance requirements and our activities may be restricted, which would adversely affect our
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business, financial condition and results of operations. We may also be subju ect to private litigation and potential
rescission of certain investments investors in our loan financing products have made, which would harm our
operations as well.

Similarly, we do not believe that our sales of whole loans and asset-backed securities will subju ect us to
broker-dealer registration in any state in which we operate, primarily because we do not accept compensation
that we believe could be viewed as transaction-based. However, if we were deemed to be a broker-dealer under
a state’s securities laws, we could face civil penalties, or costly registration requirements, that could adversely
affeff ct our business.

Anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism financing, anti-corruption and economic sanctions laws could
have adverse consequences for us.

We maintain a compliance program designed to enabla e us to comply with all appla icable anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA
PATRIOT Act and U.S. economic sanctions laws administered by the Offiff ce of Foreign Assets Control. This
program includes policies, procedurd es, processes and other internal controls designed to identify,ff monitor,
manage and mitigate the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing and engaging in transactions involving
sanctioned countries, persons and entities. These controls include procedurd es and processes to detect and report
suspicious transactions, perform borrower duedd diligence, respond to requests froff m law enforcement, and meet
all recordkeeping and reporting requirements related to particular transactions involving currency or monetary
instruments. During 2020, we failed to fileff timely reports of suspicious transactions as required with appropriate
regulatory arr gencies. We remediated the faiff lure to file and have added additional resources to supporu t our
compliance with these reporting requirements. We are also subject to anti-corruptu ion and anti-bribery arr nd
similar laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corruptu Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, the U.S.
domestic bribery srr tatute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, and the U.S. Travel Act, which prohibit companies and
their employees and agents froff m promising, authorizing, making, or offeff ring improper payments or other
benefits to government offiff cials and others in the private sector in order to influff ence offiff cial action, direct
business to any person, gain any improper advantage, or obtain or retain business. We have implemented an
anti-corruptu ion policy to ensure compliance with these anti-corruptu ion and anti-bribery lrr aws. No assurance is
given that our programs and controls will be effeff ctive to ensure compliance with all appla icable anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorism financing and anti-corruptu ion laws and regulations, and our failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could subject us to significant sanctions, finff es, penalties, contractuat l liabia lity to our
lending partners or institutional investors, and reputational harm, all of which could harm our business.

Our securitizations are subject to regulation under fedff eral law, and failure to comply with those laws
could adversely affeff ct our business.

Our loan securitizations and sales of asset-backed securities are subju ect to regulation under fedff eral law,
and banks and other regulated financial instituttt ions acquiring and holding asset-based securities, including
asset-backed securities sponsored by us, are subju ect to capital and leverage requirements. These requirements,
which are costly to comply with, could decrease investor demand for securities issued through our securitization
transactions. For example, the Credit Risk Retention rulrr e, codified as Regulation RR under the Exchange Act,
was jointly adopted by the SEC, the Department of the Treasury,rr the Federal Reserve System, the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporrr ation, the Federal Housing Finance Agency, and the Department of Housing and
Urbar n Development in 2014. Regulation RR generally requires the sponsor of asset-backed securities to retain
not less than five percent of the credit risk of the assets collateralizing the securities, and generally prohibits the
sponsor or its affiff liate froff m directly or indirectly hedging or otherwise selling or transferring the retained credit
risk for a specifieff d period of time, depending on the type of asset that is securitized. Some aspects of these risk
retention rulrr es have not been the subject of significant separate guidance. We believe, but cannot be certain, that
we have conducted our business, and will continue to conduct our business, in such a way that we are compliant
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with these risk retention rulrr es. However, if we have faiff led to comply, or should falff l out of compliance with
these rulrr es, it could adversely affect our source of funding and our business.

We may also facff e regulatory rrr isks related to compliance with Section 13 of the Bank Holding
Company Act, commonly known as the “Volcker Rule,” which prohibits banking entities froff m acquiring an
ownership interest in entities that are investment companies forff purposrr es of the Investment Company Act, or
would be investment companies but for Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, which are
generally known as “private fundsff .” This means that in order for a banking entity regulated under the Volcker
Rule to purchase certain asset-backed securities issued by our affiff liates, such affiff liates may need to rely on
another exemption or exception froff m being deemed “investment companies” if they wish to continue selling to
banking entities. Currently, those affiff liates generally rely on Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act,
which provides an exclusion to the definff ition of an investment company forff issuers that pool income-producing
assets and issue securities backed by those assets. However, if a regulator or other third party were to finff d or
assert that our analysis under RulRR e 3a-7 (or, where applicable, some other exemption or exemption) is incorrect,
banks that have purchased asset-backed securities may be able to rescind those sales, which would adversely
affeff ct our business. We believe, but cannot guarantee, that we have conducted our business, and will continue to
conduct our business, in such a way that enables our applicable banking entity investors to be compliant with
the Volcker Rule.

RISKS RELATED TO INDEBTEDNESS

We rely on borrowings under our warehouse credit facilities to fund certain aspects of our operations,
and any inability to meet our obligations as they come due or to comply with various covenants or
representations contained in our warehouse credit facff ilities could harm our business.

We, through our warehouse trust special purposrr e entities, have entered into warehouse credit faciff lities
to partially finance the purchase of loans from certain lending partners that originate loans through our
marketplt ace, which credit facilities are secured by the purchased loans.

Under our warehouse credit facff ility forff unsecured personal loans (the “ULT Warehouse Credit
Facility”), we may borrow froff m an aggregate of $250.0 million finff ancing capaa city, $75.0 million of which is
availabla e to us at the discretion of the lender, until the earlier of June 2025 and an accelerated amortization
event. Any outstanding principal, together with any accrued and unpaid interest, are due and payable by the
warehouse trust special purposrr e entity in June 2026. As of December 31, 2023, the amount borrowed under the
ULT Warehouse Credit Facility was $247.9 million, and $350.4 million of aggregated fair value of loans
purchased were pledged as collateral. Under our warehouse facff ility for auto loans (the “UAWT Warehouse
Credit Facility”), we may borrow up tu o $200 million until June 14, 2024, and any outstanding principal,
together with any accruerr d and unpaid interest, are due and payable by the warehouse trust special purposrr e entity
twelve months afteff r the determined amortization date. As of December 31, 2023, the amount borrowed under
the UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility was $139.5 million, and $277.6 million of aggregated fair value of loans
purchased were pledged as collateral.

Our warehouse credit facff ilities impose operating and finff ancial covenants on the applicable warehouse
trusrr t special purposrr e entity, and under certain events of default, the appla icable lender could require that all or a
portion of our outstanding borrowings become immediately dued and payable or terminate their respective
agreement with us. We have in the past, and may in the futff urt e, fail to comply with certain operating or finff ancial
covenants in our warehouse credit faciff lities, requiring a waiver froff m our lenders. If we are unabla e to repay our
obligations at maturity or in the event of default, the appla icable borrowing warehouse trust special purposrr e
entity may have to liquidate the loans held as collateral at an inopportune time or price or, if the lender
liquidated the loans, such warehouse trust would have to pay any amount by which the original purchase price
exceeded their sale price. An event of default would negatively impact our ability to purchase loans from our
marketplt ace and require us to rely on alternative funff ding sources, which might increase our costs or which
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might not be availabla e when needed. If we were unabla e to arrange new or alternative methods of financing on
favorable terms, we might have to limit our loan funding, which could have an adverse effect on our lending
partners’ abia lity or willingness to originate new loans or our ability to use leverage forff the loans we hold, which
in turn would have an adverse effecff t on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Corporate and asset-backed debt ratings could adversely affectff our ability to support loan funding for
our marketplace at attractive rates, which could negatively affect our results of operations, financial
condition and liquidity.

Our unsecured senior corporate debt currently has no rating. Asset-backed securities sponsored or co-
sponsored by us are currently rated by a limited number of credit rating agencies. Structurt ed finance ratings
reflect these rating agencies’ opinions of our receivabla es credit performance and abia lity of the receivabla es cash
flows to pay interest on a timely basis and repay the principal of such asset-backed securitizations, as well as
our ability to service the receivables and comply with other obligations under such programs, such as the
obligation to repurchase loans subju ect to breaches of loan-level representations and warranties. Such ratings also
reflect the rating agencies’ opinions of other service providers in such transactions, such as trustees, back-up
servicers, charged-off lff oan purchasers and others.

Our asset-backed securities have been subject to downgrades in the past, and any future downgrade or
non-publication of ratings may increase the interest rates that are required to attract investment in such asset-
backed securities, adversely impacting our ability to provide liquidity or financing to our lending partners and
institutional investors. Our lack of parent debt rating and any furff ther downgrades to the ratings of our asset-
backed securities could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may need to raise additional funds in the futff ure, including through equity, debt or convertible debt
financings, to support business growth and those funds may not be available on acceptable terms, or at
all.

We may continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional
funds to respond to business challenges, including the need to develop new loan products, enhance our AI
models, supplement loan fundiff ng, improve our operating infrastructurtt e, acquire complementary brr usinesses and
technologies, or make strategic investments. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity, debt or convertible
debt financings to secure additional fundsff . If we raise additional fundsff by issuing equity securities or securities
convertible into equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. For example, if we elect to deliver
shares of our common stock to settle the conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional
share) of the Notes (as definff ed below), it may have a dilutive effect on our stockholders’ equity holdings.
Further, debt financing, if availabla e, may involve covenants restricting our operations or our ability to incur
additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to
us or our stockholders.

If we are unabla e to obtain adequate finff ancing or on terms satisfactory trr o us when we require it, we may
pursue alternate transactions or be unabla e to pursue certain business opportunities and our ability to continue to
supporu t our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be impaired and our business may be
harmed.

In addition, in August 2021, we issued $661.3 million aggregate principal amount of 0.25%
convertible senior notes due 2026, or Notes (including the exercise in fulff l of the initial purchasers’ option to
purchase an additional $86.3 million aggregate principal of additional Notes). Holders of the Notes may require
us to purchase all or a portion of their Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change before the maturt ity
date at a fundaff mental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Additionally, uponu conversion of the Notes, unless we
elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of
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delivering any fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the Notes being
converted. Moreover, we will be required to pay the Notes in cash at their maturity unless earlier converted,
redeemed or repurchased. However, we may not have enough availabla e cash or be abla e to obtain finff ancing at
the time we are required to make repurchases of the Notes or pay cash forff Notes being converted or at their
maturity. In addition, our ability to repurchase the Notes or to pay cash uponu conversions of the Notes may be
limited by law, by regulatory arr uthority or by agreements governing our future indebtedness at the time. Our
failure to repurchase Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the indenturt e or to pay any cash
payabla e on futff urt e conversions of the Notes as required by the indenturt e would constitute a defauff lt under the
indenturt e. A defauff lt under the indenturt e or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a defauff lt under
agreements governing our other existing or futff urtt e indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness
were to be accelerated after any appla icable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient fundsff to repay
the indebtedness and repurchase the Notes or pay cash with respect to Notes being converted or at maturity of
the Notes.

Provisions in the indenture forff the Notes may deter or prevent a business combination that may be
favorable to you.

If a fundaff mental change occurs prior to the maturity date of the Notes, holders of the Notes will have
the right, at their option, to require us to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes. In addition, if a make-whole
fundamental change occurs prior to the maturity date of the Notes, we will in some cases be required to increase
the conversion rate for a holder that elects to convert its Notes in connection with such make-whole
fundamental change in the manner specified in the indenturt e. Furthermore, the indenturt e will prohibit us fromff
engaging in certain mergers or acquisitions unless, among other things, the surviving entity assumes our
obligations under the Notes. These and other provisions in the indenturt e could deter or prevent a third party
from acquiring us even when the acquisition may be favorable to you.

RISKS RELATED TO TAXES

Our ability to use our deferff red tax assets to offsff et future taxable income may be subject to certain
limitations, which may have a material impact on our result of operations.

As of December 31, 2023, a valuation allowance has been recorded to recognize only deferff red tax
assets that are more likely than not to be realized in the United States fedff eral, state and local tax jurisdictions.
We assess the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient futff urt e taxable income will be
generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. Certain of our deferred tax assets may expire unutilized or
underutilized, which could prevent us from offseff tting future taxabla e income.

We may also be limited in the portion of NOLs that we can use in the future to offsff et taxabla e income
for U.S. fedff eral and state income tax purposrr es. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act made broad and
complex changes to U.S. tax law, including changes to the uses and limitations of NOLs. A lack of futurt e
taxabla e income would adversely affect our ability to utilize NOLs. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is
subju ect to limitations on its abia lity to utilize its NOLs to offset future taxabla e income. Future changes in our
stock ownership, including future offeff rings, as well as other changes that may be outside of our control, could
result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs may also be limited under
similar provisions of state and local law.

We continue to assess the realizability of our deferred tax assets in the futff urtt e. Future adjud stments in
our valuation allowance may be required, which may have a material impact on our quarterly and annual
operating results.
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Changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We are subject to taxes in the United States under fedff eral, state and local jurisdictions in which we
operate. The governing tax laws and appla icable tax rates vary by jurisdiction and are subject to interpretation
and macroeconomic, political or other factff ors. For example, the results of U.S Presidential and Congressional
elections may lead to tax law changes. We may be subject to examination in the future by federal, state and
local authorities on income, employment, sales and other tax matters. While we regularly assess the likelihood
of adverse outcomes froff m such examinations and the adequacy of our provision for taxes, there can be no
assurance that such provision is sufficient and that a determination by a tax authority would not have an adverse
effeff ct on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Various tax authorities may disagree with
tax positions we take and if any such tax authorities were to successfulff ly challenge one or more of our tax
positions, the results could adversely affect our financial condition. Further, the ultimate amount of tax payable
in a given financial statement period may be impacted by sudden or unforff eseen changes in tax laws, changes in
the mix and level of earnings by taxing jurisdictions, or changes to existing accounting rulrr es or regulations. For
example, the Inflaff tion Reducd tion Act of 2022, enacted on August 16, 2022, imposes a one-percent non-
deductible excise tax on repurchases of stock that are made by U.S. publicly traded corporations on or afteff r
January 1, 2023, which may affeff ct our share repurchase program. In addition, effeff ctive as of January 1, 2022,
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act requires research and experimental expenditures attributable to research conducted
within the United States to be capitalized and amortized ratabla y over a five-year period. Any such expenditures
attributable to research conducted outside the United States must be capitalized and amortized over a 15-year
period. Accordingly, the determination of our overall provision for income and other taxes is inherently
uncertain as it requires significant judgment around complex transactions and calculations. As a result,
fluctuations in our ultimate tax obligations may diffeff r materially from amounts recorded in our financial
statements and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in the periods
for which such determination is made.

Taxing authorities may successfulff ly assert that we should have collected or in the futff ure should collect
sales and use, gross receipts, value added or similar taxes and may successfulff ly impose additional
obligations on us, and any such assessments or obligations could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The appla ication of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, digital services tax, digital
advertising tax, business tax, gross receipts tax, and other similar tax to platform and finff ancial technology
businesses is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundaff mental statutt es and regulations that impose these
taxes were established before the adoption and growth of the Internet and e-commerce. Significant judgment is
required on an ongoing basis to evaluate appla icable tax obligations and as a result amounts recorded are
estimates and are subject to adjustments. In many cases, the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is
not clear how new and existing statutt es might apply to our business. In addition, proposed or newly enacted
laws regarding indirect tax could increase our compliance obligation. Any faiff lure by us to prepare forff and to
comply with the reporting and record-keeping obligations could result in penalties and other sanctions, and
could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We have faced, and may facff e in the future, various indirect tax audits in various U.S. jurisdictions. Tax
authorities may raise questions about or challenge or disagree with our calculation, reporting or collection of
taxes and may require us to collect taxes in jurisdictions in which we do not currently do so or to remit
additional taxes and interest, and could impose associated penalties and fees. Although we have reserved for
potential payments of past tax liabia lities on our financial statements, a successfulff assertion by one or more tax
authorities could result in substantial tax liabilities in excess of such reserves as well as penalties and interest,
and could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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As a result of these and other factors, the ultimate amount of tax obligations owed may diffeff r froff m the
amounts recorded in our financial statements and any such diffeff rence may adversely impact our results of
operations in future years in which we change our estimates of our tax obligations or in which the ultimate tax
outcome is determined.

RISKS RELATED TO OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK

The trading price of our common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

The trading price of our common stock may be volatile and could be subject to fluctuations in response
to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These fluff ctuatt tions could cause you to lose all or part
of your investment in our common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our
common stock include:

• price and volume fluff ctuatt tions in the overall stock market froff m time to time;

• volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of financial technology stocks;

• general economic conditions, including economic slowdowns, recessions, rising interest and inflation
rates, tightening of credit markets and disruptu ions in the banking sector;

• a reduction in the availabia lity of loan funding and liquidity from lending partners and institutional
investors;

• quarterly fluctuations in demand for the loans we facff ilitate through our marketplt ace;

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other finff ancial technology companies
and technology companies that offer services to finff ancial institutt ions;

• sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including sales to cover tax
withholding obligations upon vesting of RSUs issued to our employees;

• issuance of shares of our common stock, whether in connection with an acquisition or uponu conversion
of some or all of the outstanding Notes;

• faiff lure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in finff ancial estimates or other
statements made by securities analysts or others, or our failure to meet these estimates or the
expectations of investors;

• the financial projeo ctions we may provide to the public, any changes in those projeo ctions, or our failure
to meet those projeo ctions;

• announcements by us or our competitors of new products, featff urtt es, or services;

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

• rumrr ors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;rr

• actuat l or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our results of operations;

• fluff ctuat tions in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

• actuat l or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive
landscapea generally;

• litigation involving us, our industry,rr or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or
those of our competitors;

• compliance with government policies or regulations;

• the issuance of any cease-and-desist orders from regulatory arr gencies that we are subju ect to;
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• developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

• market perception of the accuracy of our AI models;

• actuat l or perceived data security breaches or other data security incidents;

• announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, producd ts, services, or technologies by us or our
competitors;

• new laws or regulations or new interprrr etations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our
business;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interprrr etations, or principles;

• recruitment or departurt e of key personnel; and

• other events or facff tors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, political unrest,
natural disasters, pandemics or responses to these events.

The stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluff ctuat tions that have ofteff n
been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of listed companies. Broad market and industryrr
factors may seriously affeff ct the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actuatt l operating
performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of particular
companies’ securities, securities class action litigation has ofteff n been instituted against these companies. For
example, in May 2022, June 2022 and July 2022, we and certain of our offiff cers were sued in purporrr ted class
action lawsuits alleging violations of the fedff eral securities laws forff allegedly making materially false and
misleading statements abouta our business, operations, and prospects. This litigation could result in substantial
costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business. We may be
the target of additional litigation of this type in the futff urtt e as well.

We cannot guarantee that our share repurchase program will be fully consummated or that it will
enhance long-term shareholder value. Share repurchases could also affect the trading price of our stock,
increase volatility of our stock and diminish our cash reserves.

Although our Board of Directors has authorized a share repurchase program that does not have an
expiration date, the program does not obligate us to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any
specific number of shares of our common stock. We cannot guarantee that the program will be fully
consummated or that it will enhance long-term stockholder value. The timing and number of shares repurchased
under the program will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, trading volume, and general
business and market conditions. The program could affecff t the trading price of our stock, increase volatility and
diminish our cash reserves. Our Board of Directors will review the program periodically and may authorize
adjud stments of its terms if appra opriate. Any announcement of a suspension or termination of this program may
result in a decrease in the trading price of our stock.

The capped call transactions may affeff ct the price of our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call
transactions with certain finff ancial institutions as counterparr rties. The capped call transactions initially cover,
subju ect to customary arr djustments, the number of shares of our common stock initially underlying the Notes. The
capped call transactions are intended to offset the potential dilution and/or offsff et any cash payments we make in
excess of the aggregate principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, as a result of conversion of the
Notes.

From time to time, the counterparr rties or their respective affilff iates may modify their hedge positions by
entering into or unwinding various derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling
our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the Notes
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(and are likely to do so durdd ing any observation period related to a conversion of the Notes or folff lowing any
repurchase of the Notes). This activity could also cause or prevent an increase or a decrease in the market price
of our common stock.

Certain insiders have significant voting power, which could limit your ability to influff ence the outcome of
key transactions, including a change of control.

Our directors, officers, and each of our stockholders who own greater than 5% of our outstanding
capital stock and their affiff liates, in the aggregate, beneficially own a significant portion of the outstanding
shares of our capia tal stock. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together, are able to influence matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the appra oval of mergers,
acquisitions, or other extraordinary trr ransactions. They may also have interests that diffeff r froff m yours and may
vote in a way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control, could deprive our
stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale, and might
ultimately affeff ct the trading price of our common stock.

The large number of shares of our capital stock eligible for public sale or subject to rights requiring us to
register them forff public sale could depress the market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of
our common stock in the market, and the perception that these sales could occur may also depress the market
price of our common stock. Certain stockholders are entitled, under our investors’ rights agreement, to require
us to register shares owned by them forff public sale in the United States. In addition, we may fileff a registration
statement to register shares reserved forff future issuance under our equity compensation plans. As a result,
subju ect to the satisfaction of appla icable exercise periods, the shares issued upon exercise of outstanding stock
options will be availabla e forff immediate resale in the United States in the open market.

Sales of our shares may make it more diffiff cult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and
at a price that we deem appropriate. These sales also could cause the trading price of our common stock to fall
and make it more diffiff cult for you to sell shares of our common stock.

Our common stock does not provide any rights directly related to the loans we hold.

Investors in our common stock own a forff m of equity that may provide returns based on either an
increase in the value of the stock or any distributions made to common stockholders. Investors will not,
however, receive any interest in or fees based on the loans or other assets we hold on our balance sheet. In
particular, investors in our common stock will not receive any distributions directly based on principal or
interest payments made by borrowers on the loans we hold. Those loans are not directly related in any way to
the common stock investors’ purchase.

You may be diluted by the future issuance of additional common stock in connection with our equity
incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise.

Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporrr ation authorizes us to issue 613,669,697 shares of
authorized but unissued common stock and rights relating to common stock for the consideration and on the
terms and conditions establa ished by our Board of Directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with
acquisitions or otherwise. We have reserved 6,420,703 shares for issuance under our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
subju ect to adjud stment in certain events. Any common stock that we issue, including under our 2020 Equity
Incentive Plan or other equity incentive plans that we may adopt in the futff urt e, could dilute the percentage
ownership held by the investors in our common stock.
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To the extent a large number of shares of our common stock are sold in connection with any “sell to
cover” transactions upon vesting of restricted stock units (RSUs) issued to our employees, our stock price
may fluff ctuate.

Under U.S. tax laws, employment tax withholding and remittance obligations for RSUs arise in
connection with their vesting. To fund the tax withholding and remittance obligations arising in connection with
the vesting of RSUs, we use the “sell-to-cover” method, under which shares with a market value equivalent to
the tax withholding obligation are sold by a broker on behalf of the holder of the RSUs upon vesting to cover
the tax withholding liability and the cash proceeds froff m such sales are subsequently remitted by us to the taxing
authorities. The tax withholding due in connection with such RSU vesting is based on the then-current value of
the underlying shares of our common stock. Such sales do not result in the expenditure of additional cash by us
to satisfy the tax withholding obligations for RSUs. To the extent a large number of shares are sold in
connection with any vesting event, such sales volume may cause our stock price to fluctuate.

Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offerff , or proxy contest diffiff cult, thereby depressing the
market price of our common stock.

Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us froff m engaging in a
business combination with an interested stockholder forff a period of three years after the person becomes an
interested stockholder unless certain conditions are met, even if a change of control would be beneficff ial to our
existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporrr ation and amended and
restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more diffiff cult, including the
following:

• our Board of Directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms and
directors are only abla e to be removed froff m officff e forff cause;

• vacancies and newly-created seats on our Board of Directors will be able to be filled only by our Board
of Directors and not by stockholders;

• only the Chair of our Board of Directors, our Chief Executive Offiff cer, our president, or a majority of
our entire Board of Directors are authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;

• certain litigation against us or our directors, stockholders, officff ers or employees can only be brought in
Delaware;

• advance notice procedures apply forff stockholders to nominate candidates forff election as directors or to
bring matters before an annual meeting of stockholders; and

• any amendment of the above anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificff ate of
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws will require the appra oval of at least 66 2/3% of the
combined voting power of our then-outstanding shares of our capia tal stock.

These anti-takeover defenff ses could discourage, delay, or prevent a transaction involving a change in
control of our company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more diffiff cult for
stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions they desire, any
of which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium forff
their shares of our capital stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our
common stock.
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Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware
(or any federal district court, forff Securities Act claims) as the exclusive forum forff substantially all
disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the
judicial forum forff disputes with us or our directors, officff ers or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forff umrr , to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum forff (i) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ff ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fidff ucd iary duty owed
by any of our directors, stockholders, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action
arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated
certificff ate of incorporrr ation, or our amended and restated bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is
governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery orr f the State of Delaware (or, if the
Court of Chancery drr oes not have jurisdiction, another state court in Delaware or the federal district court forff the
District of Delaware), in all cases subju ect to the court having jurisdiction over the claims at issue and the
indispensabla e parties; provided that the exclusive forff umrr provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any
liabia lity or duty created by the Exchange Act.

Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction forff federal and state courts over all such
Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and fedff eral courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To
prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by
different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated bylaws also provide that, unless we
consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forff umrr , the federal district courts of the United States of
America are the sole and exclusive forff umrr for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under
the Securities Act. We note, however, that investors cannot waive compliance with the fedff eral securities laws
and the rules and regulations thereunder, and that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforff ce this
exclusive forff umrr provision. Further, the enforff ceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’
governing documents has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could finff d these
types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforff ceable. For example, in December 2018, the Court of Chanceryrr
of the State of Delaware determined that a provision stating that U.S. fedff eral district courts are the exclusive
forum forff resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act is not enforceable.
Although this decision was reversed by the Delaware Supru eme Court in March 2020, other courts may still find
these provisions to be inapplicable or unenforff ceabla e.

Any person or entity purchasing, holding or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities
shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision. This exclusive-forum provision may limit a
stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing forff disputes with us or our directors,
offiff cers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, offiff cers, and other
employees. This exclusive forum provision does not apply to any causes of action arising under the Exchange
Act or any other claim for which the fedff eral or other courts have exclusive jurisdiction. If a court were to finff d
either of the exclusive-forum provisions in our amended and restated bylaws to be inappla icable or unenforff ceable
in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which
could harm our results of operations.

Our common stock market price and trading volume could decline if equity or industry analysts do not
publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorff able research about our business.

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that equity or
industry arr nalysts publish abouta us or our business. The analysts’ estimates are based uponu their own opinions
and are ofteff n diffeff rent from our estimates or expectations. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavff orable research about our business, the price of our
securities would likely decline. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or if one or more of these
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analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our securities could decrease,
which might cause the price and trading volume of our common stock to decline.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention
and affect our ability to attract and retain qualifieff d board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbar nes-
Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market and other
applicable securities rulrr es and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal
and finff ancial compliance costs, make some activities more diffiff cult, time-consuming or costly and increase
demand on our systems and resources, especially once we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” The
Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we fileff annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our
business and results of operations. In addition, we expect that our management and other personnel will need to
divert attention froff m operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to these public company
requirements. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur as a result of
becoming a public company or the timing of such costs.

Being a public company also makes it more expensive forff us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage, incur subsu tantially higher costs to obtain
coverage or only obtain coverage with a significant deductible. These factors could also make it more diffiff cult
for us to attract and retain qualifieff d executive officff ers and qualifieff d members of our Board of Directors,
particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporrr ate governance and public
disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and
making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subju ect to varying
interpretations in many cases dued to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their appla ication in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory arr nd governing bodies. This could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to
disclosure and governance practices. We invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and
standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of
management’s time and attention froff m revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If,
notwithstanding our effoff rts, we fail to comply with new laws, regulations and standards or our effoff rts diffeff r
frff om the activities intended by regulatory orr r governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their appla ication and
practice, regulatory arr uthorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be adversely
affeff cted.

We do not intend to pay dividends forff the forff eseeable futff ure.

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capia tal stock. We currently intend to retain any
future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, as well as to fund our share repurchase
program, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the forff eseeable future. In addition, the terms
of our existing corporrr ate debt agreements do, and any future debt agreements may, preclude us from paying
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation of our common stock, if any, will be the only way for stockholders to
realize any future gains on their investment for the foreseeabla e futff urtt e.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not appla icable.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

We have establa ished policies and processes forff identifyiff ng, assessing, and managing material risk froff m
cybersecurity threats, and have integrated these processes into our overall risk management systems and
processes. We routinely assess material risks froff m cybersecurity threats, including any potential unauthorized
occurrence on or conducted through our information systems that may result in adverse effects on the
confidff entiality, integrity, or availability of our information systems or any inforff mation residing therein.

We conduct risk assessments to identify cybersecurity threats annually as well as in the event of a
material change in our business practices that may affecff t inforff mation systems that are vulnerabla e to such
cybersecurity threats. These risk assessments include identification of reasonabla y forff eseeable internal and
external risks, the likelihood and potential damage that could result froff m such risks, and the suffiff ciency of
existing policies, procedurd es, systems, and safeguards in place to manage such risks.

Following these risk assessments, we re-design, implement, and maintain reasonabla e safegff uards to
mitigate identifieff d risks; reasonabla y address any identifieff d gaps in existing safegff uards; and monitor the
effeff ctiveness of our safeguards. We devote resources and designate high-level personnel, including our Chief
Information Security Officer who reports to our Chief Risk Officer, to manage the risk assessment and
mitigation process. Our Chief Information Security Offiff cer works closely with a team of cybersecurity
profesff sionals with extensive experience and expertise in cybersecurity threat assessments and detection,
incident response and mitigation.

As part of our overall risk management system, we assess our safeguards in collabora ation with various
functional teams, including Information Security, Inforff mation Technology, Risk and Legal, and train our
employees on these safegff uards. Personnel at all levels and teams are required to receive periodic security
awareness training to ensure that they understand our cybersecurity policies and their roles in protecting our
information systems or any inforff mation residing therein.

We have a set of company-wide policies and procedurdd es concerning cybersecurity matters that include
security risk assessment, identity and access control, vendor security and network security. There are other
policies related to cybersecurity involving employees' use of company equipment and resources, generative AI,
remote work and workplace security and safetff y. These policies are reviewed periodically and appra oved by
appropriate members of management.

We engage assessors, consultants, auditors, or other third parties in connection with our risk
assessment processes. These service providers assist us to design and implement our cybersecurity policies and
procedurdd es, as well as to monitor and test our safeguards. These services include Web Application Penetration
Testing, Infrastructurt e security testing, NIST assessments, third party partner due diligence audits, consultant
engagements, incident response preparedness, and vendor security review. We require each third-party service
provider to certify that it has the ability to implement and maintain appropriate security measures, consistent
with all appla icable laws, in connection with the services they provide to us, and to promptly report any
suspected breach of its security measures that may affect us.

For additional inforff mation regarding whether any risks froff m cybersecurity threats, including as a result
of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially affeff cted or are reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct our
company, including our business strategy, results of operations, or finff ancial condition, please see Item 1.A.
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“Riskii Factorsrr ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risk factff ors titled “—SecuSS rity breaches and
incidents ctt omprm omising borrowers’ confidff endd tial infon rmation thatt t we store may ha arm our repute ation, adverserr ly
affeff ct our results ott f oo peo rations and expose us to liability”.

Governance

One of the key funcff tions of our Board of Directors is informed oversight of our risk management
process, including risks froff m cybersecurity threats. Our Board of Directors is responsible for oversight of our
risk management framework, which is designed to monitor and manage strategic and operational risks.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day identification, assessment and management of risks in our
operations, including cybersecurity risks. Our Board of Directors administers its cybersecurity risk oversight
function directly as a whole, as well as through the audit committee.

Our Chief Information Security Officer has more than 20 years of inforff mation security expertise and is
primarily responsible to identify,ff assess and manage our material risks froff m cybersecurity threats. Our Chief
Information Security Offiff cer started his career as a security engineer and has held various leadership positions
in the security function at Microsoft, Netflix, Bridgewater Associates and, most recently, Robinhood. He
received a bachelor degree in management information systems and holds an industry crr ertificff ation.

Our Chief Information Security Officer oversees our cybersecurity policies and processes, including
those described in “Riskii Management and StrS ategygg ” abovea . The processes by which our Chief Inforff mation
Security Offiff cer is inforff med abouta and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of
cybersecurity incidents include the folff lowing: tabla etop exercises, vulnerabia lity management programs, internal
& external security risk assessments, threat modeling processes of new services, third party security risk
functions, incident response processes, phishing awareness programs, and additional control validation services.

Our Chief Risk Offiff cer reports to our CEO, and our Chief Risk Officer and/or Chief Inforff mation
Security Offiff cer provide quarterly briefings to the audit committee regarding our company’s cybersecurity risks
and activities, including any recent cybersecurity incidents and related responses, cybersecurity systems testing
and activities of third parties. Our audit committee provides updates to the Board of Directors on such reports.
We also have an establa ished incident response plan led by our Chief Inforff mation Security Offiff cer that lays out
the process for the assessment, response and notificff ations internally and externally upon the occurrence of a
cybersecurity incident. Depending on the naturt e and severity of an incident, our process, including those set
forth in the incident response plan, provides forff escalation and notificff ation to management, the audit committee
and the Board of Directors and/or external parties, as appropriate.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporrr ate headquarters are located in San Mateo, Califorff nia and Columbus, Ohio and consist of
108,015 square feet and 54,870 square feet of space, respectively, under leases that expire in Februarr ry 2028 and
June 2027, respectively. In addition to our headquarters, we lease 146,024 square feet of offiff ce space forff
origination and servicing operations in Columbus, Ohio expiring in August 2029 and we lease 12,493 square
feet of offiff ce space in Austin, Texas expiring in Februarr ry 2028.

We lease all of our facilities and do not own any real property. We believe our facilities are adequate
and suitabla e forff our current needs and that, should it be needed, suitabla e additional or alternative space will be
availabla e to accommodate our operations.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, please see “No“ te 13. Commitments and
Contingencies” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and “Riskii Factorsrr ” in Part I, Item 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporrr ated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not appla icable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTR ’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information forff Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol
“UPST” since December 16, 2020. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market forff our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of Februarr ry 8, 2024, we had 160 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our
shares of common stock are held in street name by brokers and other nominees on behalf of stockholders, we
are unabla e to estimate the total number of beneficff ial owners of our common stock represented by these holders
of record.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capia tal stock and we do not expect to declare
or pay any dividends in the forff eseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made
at the discretion of our Board of Directors, subju ect to appla icable laws, and will depend on a number of facff tors,
including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractuat l restrictions, general
business conditions, and other facff tors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of the Company’s common stock during the three months ended December
31, 2023.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The inforff mation required by this item with respect to our equity compensation plans is incorporated by
reference to our Proxy Statement forff the 2024 Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
of the year ended December 31, 2023.

Stock Performance Graph

The folff lowing graph compares the cumulative total returtt n to stockholders on our common stock
relative to the cumulative total returns of the Nasdaq Global Select Index and the S&P Information Technology
Index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our
common stock and in each index on December 16, 2020, the date our common stock began trading on the
Nasdaq Global Select Market, and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2023. The returtt ns
shown are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance.
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This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filff ed” with the SEC forff
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise
subju ect to the liabia lities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of Upstart Holdings, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]R

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

The folff lowing discii ussion and analysll is of our financial condition and results of operations should bell
read in conjunction with the consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd related notes thereto included elsewhere in
this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. This discii ussion contains forward-looking statements ttt hattt involve risks and
uncertainties. FacFF tors that could cll ause or contritt bute to such differences include those identified below and
those discussed in thett section titled “Ri“ skii Factors”rr and other parts of this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. Our
histii orical results are not necessarily indicative of to hett results that may be ea xpectedee for any period in the futff ure.
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Overview

Upstart appla ies artificff ial intelligence models and cloud applications to the process of underwriting
consumer credit. Our AI marketplt ace connects consumers with our lending partners. Consumers can access
Upstart-powered loans via Upstart.com, through a lender-branded product on our lending partners’ own
websites, and through auto dealerships that use our Upstart Auto Retail softwff are. We enable our lending
partners to provide an exceptional digital-first experience to consumers and originate valuabla e credit products.
As our technology continues to improve and additional lending partners adopt our platform, consumers benefitff
from improved access to affordable and friff ctionless credit.

We believe that banks and other traditional lenders will continue to be at the forff efroff nt of consumer
lending in the United States. We believe AI lending will become increasingly critical as this industry crr ontinues
to undergo a broad digital transformation. Our strategy is to partner with banks and credit unions and provide
them with access to an AI lending marketplt ace that they can configff ure as they originate consumer loans under
their own brand, according to their own business and regulatory rrr equirements.

Loans issued through our marketpltt ace are retained by our lending partners, purchased by our network
of institutional investors, or funded by Upstart’s balance sheet. Investors may also invest in Upstart-powered
loans through our pass-through and securitization programs.

As of December 31, 2023, out of the total principal of loans transacted on our marketplt ace in 2023,
48% were purchased by institutt ional investors, 32% were retained by our lending partners, 16% were held on
our balance sheet, and the remaining 4% were contributed as collateral to the securitization transaction we
completed in July 2023, which we have consolidated in our financial statements. Starting in 2022, we increased
the utilization of our balance sheet to fund loans to filff l gaps in investor demand, to aid in price discovery, and to
hold loans on our balance sheet for research and development purposrr es (“R&D Loans”), including to test and
evaluate our AI models for these loans. R&D Loans are primarily our auto refinance and auto retail loan
products, personal loan products issued to new categories of borrowers, and other new loan products. R&D
Loans are not yet part of our establa ished capital markets programs or other loan funding programs with
institutional investors. The remainder of loans on our balance sheet represent core personal loans, which Upstart
would sell to institutt ional investors.

To improve the loan fundiff ng capaa city for our marketpltt ace across business and macroeconomic cycles,
we secured multiple committed capital arrangements with institutional investors in 2023, which delivered a
significant amount of loan funding to the Upstart marketplt ace. We continue our work on expanding committed
capital arrangements forff our marketpltt ace.

Our Economic Model

Upstart’s revenues are primarily earned in exchange for the use of our platform and forff borrower
referral services provided to our lending partners through our lending marketplt ace. Fees for these services can
be either fixed or based on a variabla e price per unit, depending on the contractuat l arrangement. Platformff
services result in loan originations by our lending partners using our platform and referff ral services result in a
referral of a borrower obtaining a loan froff m our lending partners. These fees are combined forff accounting
purposrr es as they represent a single performance obligation. We do not charge the borrowers on our platform
any referff ral, platform or other similar feesff for our loan matching services.

We also charge the holder of the loan (either a lending partner or institutional investor) a servicing feeff
based on the outstanding principal over the lifetff ime of the loan for ongoing servicing of the loan. In addition, we
earn a smaller portion of our revenue from interest income forff loans held on our balance sheet and gain or (loss)
generated through our capital markets programs.

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Loans on our platform today are predominantly sourced from Upstart.com. For these loans, we incur
variable costs in the form of borrower acquisition costs and borrower verificff ation and servicing costs. Borrower
acquisition, verification and servicing costs are highly correlated with Transaction Volume, which fluff ctuat tes on
a quarter by quarter basis. We continue to focus on improvements to our level of automation and Conversion
Rate (as definff ed below) through our increasingly sophisticated risk models and our evolving channel mix which
have contributed to improving our loan unit economics over time.

Credit Perforff mance

While the credit performance of Upstart-powered loans can be impacted by a variety of
macroeconomic and other factors, we consider credit performance to be one of the most important measures of
the effectiveness of our AI models. We evaluate the credit performance of core personal loans by comparing the
target returns expected at the time of origination to the returns received by our lending partners and institutional
investors. The target returt n, a critical component of our loan pricing, is calculated using estimated cash floff ws,
which are developed based on a number of factff ors, including credit losses and prepayment rates. While target
returns across our lending partners and institutional investors vary drr epending on their programs’ objectives and
risk tolerance, overall performance is calculated based on the variance between the initially expected returns and
the actuat l returtt n on capital invested in Upstart-powered loans.

Lending is a cyclical industry,rr and we believe it is important to take a long-term view of credit
performance. An equal investment in all vintages of Upstart-powered core personal loans that originated in the
first quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2023 is currently expected to deliver returns in line with a
blended target of 9.0%. At a more granular level, all quarterly vintages of core personal loans that originated in
2018 through the fourff th quarter of 2020 are currently forecasted to meet or exceed the target returt ns set at the
time of loan origination. The quarterly vintages of core personal loans that originated in the firff st quarter 2021
through the second quarter 2023 are currently forecasted to underperform relative to their target returns. The
core personal loans that originated in the third quarter of 2023 or later are currently forecasted to deliver returns
in line with target yields. This reversion in performance was driven by a combination of factff ors including
increased conservatism in underwriting and the relative stabia lization of macroeconomic conditions, as refleff cted
in UMI. Refer to section “Factors Arr ffA ectff ing Our Perforff mance - Impacm t of Mo acMM roeconomic Environment” for
additional details.

We have included similar disclosures in our Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended
December 31, 2022, and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q starting froff m the quarter that ended June 30,
2022. We recently identifieff d an error in the calculations that supporu ted some of these statements. This resulted
in an overstatement of the expected returt n of an equal investment in all vintages of Upstart-powered core
personal loans that originated in the firff st quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2023 by 0.9 - 1.3% for
each disclosure. The error also impacted our forecasts of the performance of certain quarterly loan vintages
relative to target returtt ns in the aforementioned reports. After correcting forff the error, vintages retained by the
hypothetical lending partner that we forff ecasted to meet or exceed target returns still include those originated
from mid-2018 through mid-2021, but no longer include vintages from mid-2021 through mid-2022. Loans
purchased by the hypothetical institutional investor would have been expected to experience underperformance
relative to target returt ns through mid-2023 vintages, not through mid-2022 vintages. Importantly, the error did
not impact any of our financial statements, any forff ecasts prepared for our actuat l lending partners or institutional
investors, or the overall expected performance trend.

For the core personal loans held on our balance sheet, target returt ns are set similar to those of our
institutional investors. We purchase core personal loans to address fluff ctuatt tions of supplu y and demand in our
marketplt ace and periodically sell these loans to institutional investors prior to their maturt ity. Demonstrated
credit performance significantly influences sale prices in these transactions and impacts our overall financial
results.

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
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We measure credit performance of R&D loans, which are a subsu tantial part of the loan portfolff io held
on our balance sheet (refer to section “Li“ quidity and Capia tal Resources - ComCC posm ition of Ro etained Loan
Portfot lio”), using an approach similar to the core personal loans held on our balance sheet. Variances between
targeted and actual returns forff these loans are expected to be higher, as the underlying risk models are in the
early phases of their development cycle. The initial target returns forff these products are also generally lower
than comparative market benchmarks. The combination of these factff ors decreases the value of R&D loans on
our balance sheet, which negatively impacts our overall financial results. However, this is a required part of our
product development cycle, and should be considered alongside other product development costs, such as data
science and engineering. These costs collectively are managed as part of overall investment in product
development. As our R&D models improve, we expect the diffeff rence between target and delivered returns will
decrease and converge to market returtt ns. This will allow us to launch these products for our lending partners
and institutional investors, at which point they become part of our core product offerings.

Factors Affecting Our Perforff mance

Contintt ued ImpII rovements ttt o Ott ur AI Models

Much of our historical growth has been driven by improvements to our AI models. These models
benefit over time froff m a flywheel effeff ct that is characteristic of machine learning systems: accumulation of
repayment data leads to improved accuracy of risk and fraff ud predictions, which generally results in higher
approval rates and lower interest rates, leading to increased volume, and consequently greater accumulation of
repayment data. This virtuoust cycle describes an important mechanism by which our business grows simply
through model learning and recalibration. We expect to continue to invest significantly in the development of
our AI models and platforff m funcff tionalities.

Beyond the ongoing accumulation of repayment data used to train our models, we also freff quently make
discrete improvements to model accuracy by upgrading algorithms and incorporating new variables, both of
which have historically resulted in higher appra oval rates, more competitive loan offers, increased automation,
and fasff ter growth. As a second order effect, the impact of these improvements on our conversion funneff l also
allows us to unlock new marketing channels over time that have previously been unprofitaff bla e.

We believe that ongoing improvements to our technology in this manner will allow us to furtff her
expand access and lower rates forff creditworthy borrowers, which will continue to fuel our growth. Should the
pace of these improvements slow down or cease, or should we discover forff ms of model upgru ades which
improve accuracy at the expense of volume, our growth rates could be adversely affected.

Impacm t of Mo acMM roeconomic Enviroii nment

In an economic downturt n, we believe consumer lending will generally contract. Lending partners and
institutional investors will generally require higher rates of return, which in turn increases the interest rates
offeff red to borrowers, leading to lower borrower demand. Macroeconomic factors can also cause fluctuations of
availabla e capital in our lending marketplt ace dued to shiftsff in the risk preferences of our lending partners and
institutional investors. We expect these dynamics would generally invert in an economic upswing.

Loan fundiff ng provided by institutional investors started to become constrained in the second quarter of
2022 and hhas rem iainedd constr iainedd, largely dued to concerns about the macroeconomic environment. In response
to inflationary pressure, the U.S. Federal Reserve has raised, and may continue to raise, interest rates, leading to
more expensive loan offers across borrower categories. At the same time, macroeconomic uncertainty had
generally made institutional investors more cautious and caused them to reducd e the amount of capital available
to fund Upstart-powered loans.
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In response to this challenging macroeconomic environment where many lenders and credit investors
have significantly reduced or paused investments in Upstart-powered loans, we announced reductions in
workforce in November 2022 (“November 2022 Plan”) and January 2023 (“January 2023 Plan”) that resulted in
the termination of appra oximately 7% and 20% of our workforce, respectively. These steps were designed to
reduce operating costs, streamline operations and returt n Upstart to profitaff bia lity in the futff urt e. As of
December 31, 2023, we have completed both the November 2022 Plan andd Janua yry 2023 lPlan. Referff to “N“NotNN e
16. Reorganir zaii tion Expex nses” for mor ie inforff ma ition.

Further, several of our lending partners have paused or reduced loan originations in order to limit their
exposure in the current macroeconomic environment. Further disruptu ion in finff ancial markets could impair our
lending partners and result in furff ther constrained funff ding, which would adversely impact our business, financial
condition and operating results. In order to create greater stability for our business, in 2023 we secured several
committed capital arrangements with institutt ional investors that contribute loan fundiff ng over longer durdd ations.
We continue our work on expanding committed capia tal arrangements and in the interim period, we have utilized
and may continue to utilize our balance sheet to supporu t loan fundiff ng. While our goal remains to operate as a
capital-light marketpltt ace forff credit, we will continue to leverage our balance sheet in the short term as we
evaluate opportunities to implement a committed capital structurt e.

Our credit decisioning process takes into account macroeconomic conditions, such as unemployment
levels and personal savings rates, that we receive from third party sources. To respond to macroeconomic
changes and provide relevant and up-u to-date inforff mation to our lending partners, we introduced a new metric,
UMI, in 2023. UMI is designed to quantify tff he level of underlying macroeconomic risk, specific to our
borrower base, relative to a benign credit environment. A UMI of 1.0 reflects loan losses at this baseline rate.
We subsu equently launched an updau te to UMI which removes seasonal patterns to better describe the underlying
macroeconomic effeff cts. As of December 31, 2023, UMI was measured at approximately ###, meaning that
current macroeconomic conditions contributed an incremental risk of appra oximately ### to the repayment
performance of an Upstart-powered loan, compared to the baseline.

UMI impacts interest rates forff loans offered on our marketplt ace and, as a result, affeff cts the pool of
qualifieff d potential borrowers and consumer demand for the loans. The elevated level of UMI resulted in higher
interest rates forff the loans offeff red on our marketplt ace and in turn, decreased the size of the pool of qualifieff d
potential borrowers and the borrower acceptance rates of such loans. With our investment in UMI, we focus on
our ability to better separate risk among borrowers in our credit decisioning process in changing
macroeconomic conditions.

We continuously monitor the direct and indirect impacts of the current macroeconomic conditions on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Lendindd g ParPP tner and MarMM kerr t Adoptiott n

Lending partners play two key roles in Upstart’s ecosystem: funding loans and acquiring new
customers. Traditional lenders, such as banks, tend to enjoy effiff cient sources of funding due to their expansive
base of deposits. As they adopt our technology and fundff a growing proportion of our marketpltt ace transactions,
offeff rs made to borrowers will typically improve, generally leading to higher conversion rates and fasff ter growth
for our platform.

New lending partners also represent additional acquisition channels through which we can reach and
source prospective new borrowers, as these lending partners develop and implement their own digital and in-
branch campaigns to drive traffic froff m their existing customer base to our platform. We view this emerging
growth channel to be additive to the marketing acquisition programs we currently run at Upstart.
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To provide funding supporu t beyond our lending partners, we have built, and continue to expand, a
broad network of institutional investors that can fund Upstart-powered loans through secondary loan purchasing
and issuance of pass-through certificff ates and asset-backed securitizations. This diverse network of capital helps
to minimize our reliance on any one funding source. However, any trend towards reducdd ed participation by
lending partners will generally erode the overall competitiveness of the offeff rs on our platform, and any
declining trend in the participation of broader instituttt ional investment markets with respect to funding
availabia lity for Upstart-powered loans will adversely affect our business.

We believe that disruptu ions in the banking sector may limit our ability to attract new lending partners
and may cause existing lending partners to reduce loan originations on our platform. In order to address recent
funding constraints forff our personal loans, Upstart has utilized its balance sheet to supporu t short-term funding
requirements of loans that would otherwise be purchased and held by institutional investors or securitized. In
2023, we secured several committed capital arrangements with institutional investors, which have delivered, and
are expected to deliver, a significant amount of loan funding to the Upstart marketplt ace.

We believe that continued focff us on improving our AI models and demonstrating strong performance of
Upstart-powered loans over time will allow us to furff ther diversify off ur sources of capital forff our lending
marketplt ace and mitigate the volatility in our loan funding supplu y.

Product Expanxx sion and InnoII vation

We believe that significant growth opportunities exist to appla y our evolving AI technology to
additional segments of credit, and we continue to invest in research and development of our products. In 2022,
we introduced a new offeff ring of personal loans for borrowers interested in small dollar loans, and in the third
quarter of 2023, we launched a HELOC product on our platform. We may incur expenses to supporu t the launch
of new products and fundff early loan originations. Monetization prospects forff new products are uncertain, and
costs associated with integrating, developing and marketing new products might not be recovered, which could
weigh on our top-line growth and profitabia lity.

In 2020, we announced our entry irr nto the auto lending market and in April 2021, we acquired Prodigy
Software, Inc. (“Prodigy”), a leader in automotive commerce softwff are solutions. Prodigy provided a modern
multi-channel car buying experience, helping dealerships serve consumers with a holistic software solution that
integrates legacy systems. The acquisition enabla ed the launch of Upstart Auto Retail software, a cloud-based
solution that enabla es dealerships across the country, where the vast majority of auto loans are transacted, to
provide consumers with access to Upstart-powered auto loans.

As part of the January 2023 Plan, we suspended development work forff small business loans to focus
our resources on acceleration of furff ther development of our personal loan, auto loan, and HELOC products.
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Key Operating and Non-GAAP Financial Metrics

We focus on several key operating and Non-GAAP financial metrics to measure the performance of
our business and help determine strategic direction. The folff lowing presents our key operating and financial
metrics:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Transaction Volume, Dollars $ 11,751,762 $ 11,204,274 $ 4,645,669
Transaction Volume, Number of Loans(1) 1,314,591 1,129,672 437,659
Conversion Rate 23.7% 14.1% 9.7%
Percentage of Loans Fully Automated 69% 75% 87%

Contribution Profit(2) $ 397,880 $ 446,751 $ 353,294
Contritt bution MarMM gir n(2)2 50% 49% 63%

Adjud sted EBITDA(2) $ 231,946 $ 37,161 $ (17,217)
Adjudd sted EBITDII A MDD arMM gir n(2)2 27% 4% (3)%

Adjud sted Net Income (Loss)(2) $ 224,141 $ 19,373 $ (46,933)
Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) Per Share:
Basic(2) $ 2.87 $ 0.23 $ (0.56)
Diluted(2) $ 2.37 $ 0.21 $ (0.56)

_______
(1) Transaction Volume, Number of Loans is shown in ones forff the years presented.
(2) Represents a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section titled “Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial ConCC dition

and Results of Operations—Reconciliation of No on-NN GAAP Financial MeaMM sures” forff further inforff mation.

Transactiott n VolVV ume

We define Transaction Volume, Dollars as the total principal of loan originations facilitated on our
marketplt ace during the years presented. We definff e Transaction Volume, Number of Loans as the number of
loan originations facilitated on our marketpltt ace during the years presented. Increases in Transaction Volume are
dependent on our loan funding programs having suffiff cient access to capital. Decreases in the availabia lity of
funding due to factors such as volatility in the capital markets and macroeconomic conditions will generally
cause a decline in Transaction Volume. Transaction Volume is driven by improvements in our AI models and
technology, including our ability to streamline and automate the loan application and origination process.
Transaction Volume can also be driven by borrower acceptance rates and their sensitivity to the interest rates
offeff red through our platform. We believe these metrics are good proxies for our overall scale and reach as a
marketplt ace. Transaction Volume, Dollars decreased by 59% in the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to
the prior year and Transaction Volume, Number of Loans decreased by 61% over the same year. This
contraction was driven by a reducd tion in fundiff ng availabia lity caused by macroeconomic uncertainty and by
elevated consumer risk and cost of fundsff . These changing macroeconomic conditions required adjustments to
our models which resulted in our loans becoming more expensive and decreasing both the pool of qualifieff d
potential borrowers and overall consumer demand.

Conversirr on Rate

We define Conversion Rate as the Transaction Volume, Number of Loans in a period divided by the
number of rate inquiries received that we estimate to be legitimate, which we record when a borrower requests a
loan offeff r on our platform. We track this metric to understand the impact of improvements to the effiff ciency of
our borrower funneff l on our overall growth. Historically, our Conversion Rate has benefited froff m improvements
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to our technology, which have made our evaluation of risk more accurate and our verification process more
automated, or from the addition of lending partners that have made our offeff rs more competitive. However, our
Conversion Rate can be impacted by a variety of internal factors such as changes in the amount of origination
fees that we charge or changes in the rate of returns we target forff our lending partners and institutional
investors. External factors, including shiftsff in macroeconomic conditions, also impact our Conversion Rate. For
example, as the U.S. Federal Reserve raises interest rates, the average interest rates charged to borrowers for
Upstart-powered loans also increase, which results in decreases to our Conversion Rate. Our abia lity to continue
to improve our Conversion Rate depends in part on our ability to continue to improve our AI models and
Percentage of Loans Fully Automated and the mix of marketing channels in any given period. Our Conversion
Rate decreased to 9.7% in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 14.1% in the year ended December 31, 2022
primarily driven by lower appra oval rates folff lowing the significant increase in interest rates, which were in turn
driven by elevated risk and cost of capital. The impact of these factff ors was partially offsff et by an increased
portion of repeat borrowers on our platform.

Percentagea of Loans FulFF lyll Automated

A driver of our Contribution Margin and operating effiff ciency is the Percentage of Loans Fully
Automated, which is definff ed as the total number of loans in a given period originated end-to-end (from initial
rate request to final fundiff ng for personal loans and small dollar loans and froff m initial rate request to signing of
the loan agreement for auto loans) with no human involvement required divided by the Transaction Volume,
Number of Loans in the same period. We have been successfulff in increasing the level of loan automation on the
platform over the past fewff years while simultaneously holding fraud rates constant and at very lrr ow levels. We
believe our growth over the last several years has been driven in part by our ability to rapia dly streamline and
automate the loan appla ication and origination process on our platform. We expect growth of the percentage of
loans fulff ly automated to subside in the near term. However, the expansion of our loan offeff rings may cause it to
fluctuate froff m period to period depending on the loan offering mix and other external factors. Our Percentage of
Loans Fully Automated increased to 87% in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 75% in the year ended
December 31, 2022 , driven primarily by increasing the accuracy of our models, by eliminating previously
manual processes, and by an increased portion of repeat borrowers on our platform.

Contritt bui tion Profitff and ConCC tributiott n MarMM gir nii

To derive Contribution Profit, we subtu ract from revenue from fees, net our borrower acquisition costs
as well as our borrower verificff ation and servicing costs. To calculate Contribution Margin we divide
Contribution Profit by revenue from feesff , net.

The following table provides a calculation of Contribution Profit and Contribution Margin:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Revenue from feeff s, net $ 801,275 $ 907,272 $ 560,431
Borrower acquisition costs(1) (307,613) (302,713) (90,517)
Borrower verificff ation and servicing costs(2) (95,782) (157,808) (116,620)
Total direct expenses (403,395) (460,521) (207,137)
Contribution Profit $ 397,880 $ 446,751 $ 353,294
Contritt bution MarMM gir n 50 % 49 % 63 %

_______
(1) Borrower acquisition costs consist of our sales and marketing expenses adjud sted to exclude costs not directly attributable to

attracting a new borrower, such as payroll-related expenses for our business development and marketing teams, as well as other
operational, brand awareness and marketing activities. These costs do not include reorganization expenses associated with the
January 2023 Plan.
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(2) Borrower verificff ation and servicing costs consist of payroll and other personnel-related expenses for personnel engaged in loan
onboarding, verification and servicing, as well as servicing system costs. It excludes payroll and personnel-related expenses and
stock-based compensation forff certain members of our customer operations team whose work is not directly attributable to
onboarding and servicing loans. These costs do not include reorganization expenses associated with the January 2023 Plan.

See the section titled “Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results ott fo
Operations—Reconciliation of No on-NN GAAP Financial MeaMM sures” forff a reconciliation of income froff m operations
to Contribution Profit.

Adjudd stedtt EBITDA aDD nd Adjudd stedtt EBITDA MDD arMM gir nii

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) adjud sted to exclude stock-based compensation
expense and certain payroll tax expenses, depreciation and amortization, expense on convertible notes, net gain
on a lease modification, provision for income taxes, and reorganization expenses. We calculate Adjud sted
EBITDA Margin as Adjud sted EBITDA divided by total revenue. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA
Margin includes interest expense froff m corporr rate debt and warehouse credit faciff lities which is incurred in the
course of earning corresponding interest income. See the section titled “Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is
of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations—Reconciliation of No on-NN GAAP Financial MeaMM sures” forff a
reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjud sted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

Adjudd stedtt Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss) and Adjusted NetNN Income (Loss) Per Share

We define Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) as net income (loss) exclusive of stock-based compensation
expense and certain payroll tax expenses as well as certain items that are not related to core business and
ongoing operations, such as reorganization expenses and net gain on a lease modification. Adjud sted Net Income
(Loss) Per Share is calculated by dividing Adjusted Net Income (Loss) Per Share by the weighted-average
common shares outstanding. See the section titled “Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial
Condition and Results ott f Oo peO rations—Reconciliation of No on-NN GAAP Financial MeaMM sures” forff a reconciliation of
net income (loss) to Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) and Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) per Share.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue from Fees, Ns etNN

Platll fott rm and Referff ral FeesFF , Ns etNN

We charge our lending partners platform fees in exchange for usage of our AI lending marketplt ace,
which includes collection of loan appla ication data, underwriting of credit risk, verificff ation and fraud detection,
and the delivery of electronic loan offers and associated documentation. We also charge referral feesff to our
lending partners in exchange for the referral of borrowers from Upstart.com. Referral feesff are charged to
lending partners on a per borrower basis upon origination of a loan. These fees are charged net of any fees the
lending partner charges Upstart. Upstart pays these lending partners a one-time loan premium feeff upon
completion of the minimum holding periods. Upstart also pays lending partners monthly loan trailing feesff based
on the amount and timing of principal and interest payments made by borrowers of the underlying loans.

The Company also recognizes fees in relation to contracts with auto dealers forff the use of Upstart Auto
Retail software, a cloud-based solution that faciff litates dealership operations and enabla es them to provide
consumers with access to Upstart-powered auto loans. Refer to “No“ te 2. Revenue” to our consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff more information.

Servicing and Othett r FeeFF s, Net

Servicing feeff s are calculated as a percentage of outstanding principal and are charged monthly to any
entities holding loans facff ilitated through our marketplt ace, to compensate us for activities we perform
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throughout the loan term, including collection, processing and reconciliations of payments received,
institutional investor reporting and borrower customer support. Servicing feesff are recorded net of any gains,
losses or changes to faiff r value recognized in the underlying servicing rights and obligations, which are carried
as assets and liabia lities on our consolidated balance sheets. Upstart currently acts as loan servicer forff
subsu tantially all outstanding loans faciff litated through the Upstart marketpltt ace. Borrower payment collections for
loans that are more than 30 days past due or charged off are generally outsourced to third-party collection
agencies. Upstart charges lending partners and institutional investors forff collection agency feesff related to their
outstanding loan portfolff io. Upstart also receives certain ancillary frr eesff on a per transaction basis inclusive of late
payment feesff and ACH fail fees.

Interest Income, Ie ntII ertt est ExpeEE nse, and FaiFF r Vii alVV ue Adjudd stmett nts,tt Net

Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments, net is comprised of interest income,
interest expense and net changes in the fair value of finff ancial instruments held on our consolidated balance
sheets as part of our ongoing operating activities, excluding loan servicing assets and liabia lities. Interest income,
interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments, net also includes realized gain (loss) on the sale of loans. Interest
income, interest expense, and fair value adjustments, net can fluctuate based on the faiff r value of financial
instruments held on our consolidated balance sheets. This amount has historically been a small percentage of
our total revenue, and we do not manage our business with a focus on growing this component of revenue.

Sales and Marketintt g

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of costs incurred across various advertising channels,
including expenses for partnerships with third parties providing borrower referff rals, direct mail and digital
advertising campaigns, as well as other expenses associated with building overall brand awareness and
experiential marketing costs. Sales and marketing expenses also include payroll and other personnel-related
costs, including stock-based compensation expense. These costs are recognized in the period incurred. We
expect that our sales and marketing expenses will generally fluff ctuat te as a percentage of our total revenue from
period to period and may increase as we hire additional sales and marketing personnel, increase our marketing
activities and build greater brand awareness.

Customtt er Operatiott ns

Customer operations expenses include payroll and other personnel-related expenses, including stock-
based compensation expense, for personnel engaged in borrower onboarding, loan servicing, customer supporu t
and other operational teams. These costs also include systems, third-party services and tools we use as part of
loan servicing, information verificff ation, fraud detection and payment processing activities. These costs are
recognized in the period incurred. We expect that our customer operations expenses will generally fluctuate as a
percentage of our total revenue from period to period, and may increase in absa olute dollars as we expand our
portfolff io.

Engineii ering and Product Developmo ent

Engineering and product development expenses primarily consist of payroll and other personnel-
related expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, for the engineering and product development
teams as well as the costs of systems and tools used by these teams. These costs are recognized in the period
incurred. We expect that our engineering and product development expenses will generally fluctuate as a
percentage of our total revenue from period to period, and may increase in absa olute dollars as we expand our
engineering and product development team to continue to improve our AI models and develop new products
and product enhancements.
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General, Admidd niii stii ratt tive and Other

General, administrative and other expenses consist primarily of payroll and other personnel-related
expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, for legal and compliance, finance and accounting,
human resources and facilities teams, as well as depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, software,
and intangibles, professional services fees, faciff lities and travel expenses. These costs are recognized in the
period incurred. We expect to increase the size of our general and administrative funcff tion to support the further
growth of our business. As a result, we expect that our general, administrative and other expenses will increase
in absolute dollars but may fluff ctuat te as a percentage of our total revenue from period to period.

Othett r IncII ome (Ex(( pexx nse), NetNN

For the year ended December 31, 2021, other income (expense), net primarily consists of our
voluntarily repayment of proceeds received in the previous year under the Paycheck Protection Program plus
related accruerr d interest. In the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, other income (expense), net primarily
consists of dividend income earned by the Company on its unrestricted cash balances.

Expexx nse on ConCC vertibtt le Notes

Expense on convertible notes is comprised of coupon interest expense and amortization of the debt
discount on our convertible notes.
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Results of Operations

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our historical consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Revenue:
Revenue from feeff s, net $ 801,275 $ 907,272 $ 560,431
Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net:
Interest income 20,634 105,580 168,996
Interest expense (3,274) (10,843) (34,894)
Fair value and other adjustments 29,954 (159,565) (180,971)

Interest income, expense, and faiff r value adjud stments, net 47,314 (64,828) (46,869)
Total revenue 848,589 842,444 513,562

Operating expenses(1):
Sales and marketing 333,453 345,776 127,143
Customer operations 117,579 187,994 150,418
Engineering and product development 133,999 237,247 280,138
General, administrative, and other 122,677 185,290 212,388

Total operating expenses 707,708 956,307 770,087
Income (loss) from operations 140,881 (113,863) (256,525)
Other income (expense), net (5,174) 9,473 21,206
Expense on convertible notes (1,976) (4,684) (4,706)
Net income (loss) before income taxes 133,731 (109,074) (240,025)
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (1,712) (409) 107
Net income (loss) $ 135,443 $ (108,665) $ (240,132)
________
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Sales and marketing $ 6,059 $ 11,354 $ 8,166
Customer operations 6,251 9,355 10,683
Engineering and product development 39,191 72,169 110,381
General, administrative, and other 21,685 33,067 45,809
Total stock-based compensation $ 73,186 $ 125,945 $ 175,039
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Revenue

Revenue from Fees, Ns etNN

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th our revenue from fees, net in the years presented:

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Platform and referff ral feeff s, net $ 732,237 $ 414,120 $ (318,117) (43)%
Servicing and other feesff , net 175,035 146,311 (28,724) (16)%
Total revenue from feeff s, net $ 907,272 $ 560,431 $ (346,841) (38)%

Revenue from feesff , net decreased $346.8 million, or 38%, in the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to the prior year, duedd to a $318.1 million decrease in revenue from platform and referff ral feeff s, net and
a $28.7 million decrease in servicing and other fees, net. The decrease of the platform and referff ral feesff , net was
primarily driven by a 61% decrease in the Transaction Volume, Number of Loans froff m 1,129,672 in the year
ended December 31, 2022 to 437,659 in the year ended December 31, 2023, which was partially offset by
increases in prices of our services. The decrease in servicing fees was primarily due to a decrease in the
outstanding principal of serviced loans, as well as a decrease in net gain related to loan servicing rights uponu
loan sales.

Interest Income, Ie ntII ertt est ExpeEE nse, and FaiFF r Vii alVV ue Adjudd stmett nts,tt Net
Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Operating entities(1):
Interest income $ 105,580 $ 149,299 $ 43,719 41 %
Interest expense (10,843) (28,161) (17,318) (160)%
Fair value adjustments, net (159,565) (175,475) (15,910) (10)%
Consolidated securitization entities:
Interest income $ — $ 19,697 $ 19,697 100 %
Interest expense — (6,733) (6,733) (100)%
Fair value adjustments, net — (5,496) (5,496) 100 %
Total Company:
Interest income $ 105,580 $ 168,996 $ 63,416 60 %
Interest expense (10,843) (34,894) (24,051) (222)%
Fair value adjustments, net (159,565) (180,971) (21,406) (13)%
Total interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net $ (64,828) $ (46,869) $ 17,959 28 %
_________
(1) Consists of balances recognized by entities participating in ongoing operating activities of the Company, excluding entities

associated with the UPST 2023-2 consolidated securitization.

Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments, net increased $18.0 million, or 28%, in
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily driven by a $63.4
million increase in interest income, including a $19.7 million increase in interest income recognized by
consolidated securitization entities, due to an increase in unpaid principal balance of loans held on the
consolidated balance sheets. The increase was partially offsff et by a $24.1 million increase in interest expense dued
to an increase in borrowings compared to the prior year, including $6.7 million of interest expense recognized
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by consolidated securitization entities. The increase in unfavff orable fair value adjustments, net is primarily
attributable to a $29.0 million net impact of increased loan charge-offs and the impact of mark-to-market fair
value adjustments, including $5.5 million recognized by consolidated securitization entities, and fair value
adjud stments related to the beneficff ial interests of $26.5 million. This net impact was partially offseff t by a $34.1
million decrease in realized loss on loan sales durd ing the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior
year.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketintt g
Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Sales and marketing $ 345,776 $ 127,143 $ (218,633) (63)%
% of ro evenue 41 % 25 %

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $218.6 million, or 63%, in the year ended December 31,
2023 compared to the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to a $212.2 million decrease in advertising
and other traffiff c acquisition cost. As a percentage of total revenue, sales and marketing expenses decreased from
41% to 25%.

Customtt er Operatiott ns

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Customer operations $ 187,994 $ 150,418 $ (37,576) (20)%
% of ro evenue 22 % 29 %

Customer operations expenses decreased by $37.6 million, or 20%, in the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the prior year. The decrease was primarily duedd to a $35.6 million decrease in payroll and
other personnel-related expenses due to a decrease in headcount and Transaction Volume. As a percentage of
total revenue, customer operations expenses increased froff m 22% to 29%.

Engineii ering and Product Developmo ent

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Engineering and product development $ 237,247 $ 280,138 $ 42,891 18 %
% of ro evenue 28 % 55 %

Engineering and product development expenses increased by $42.9 million, or 18%, forff the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a $45.8 million increase in
payroll and other personnel-related expenses, primarily driven by a $39.0 million expense related to the one
time cancellation of PRSUs forff our CTO. The increase was offsff et by a $2.9 million decrease on engineering
infrastructurt e, supporu t services, and consultants. As a percentage of total revenue, engineering and product
development expenses increased froff m 28% to 55%.
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General, Admidd niii stii ratt tive, and Other

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

General, administrative, and other $ 185,290 $ 212,388 $ 27,098 15 %
% of ro evenue 22 % 41 %

General, administrative, and other expenses increased by $27.1 million, or 15%, forff the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $22.9 million
in payroll and personnel-related costs as a result of increased stock-based compensation expense and severance
payments under the January 2023 Plan and an increase of $11.4 million in depreciation and amortization
expense. The increase was partially offsff et by a decrease of $6.0 million in other personnel-related expenses
driven by a decrease in headcount and a $3.1 million decrease in insurance expense. As a percentage of total
revenue, general, administrative, and other expenses increased froff m 22% to 41%.

Othett r IncII ome (Ex(( pexx nse), NetNN

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Other income (expense), net $ 9,473 $ 21,206 $ 11,733 124 %

In the year ended December 31, 2023, other income (expense), net increased by $11.7 million, or
124%, compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $11.7 million in dividend
income as yields on sweep investments have increased due to rising interest rates.

Expexx nse on ConCC vertibli e Nll otNN estt

Year Ended December 31, Change
2022 2023 $ %

Expense on convertible notes $ 4,684 $ 4,706 $ 22 — %

For the year ended December 31, 2023 the expense on convertible notes remained relatively consistent
compared to the prior year.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplu ement our consolidated financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with
GAAP, we use the non-GAAP financial measures of Contribution Profit, Contribution Margin, Adjud sted
EBITDA, Adjud sted EBITDA Margin, and Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) Per
Share to provide investors with additional inforff mation about our financial performance and to enhance the
overall understanding of our past performance and futff urt e prospects. We are presenting these non-GAAP
financial measures because we believe they provide an additional tool for investors to use in comparing our core
financial performance over multiple years with the performance of other companies.

However, non-GAAP financial measures have limitations in their usefulness to investors because they
have no standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are not prepared under any comprehensive set of
accounting rulrr es or principles. In addition, non-GAAP financial measures may be calculated diffeff rently from,
and therefore may not be directly comparable to, similarly titled measures used by other companies. As a result,
non-GAAP financial measures should be viewed as supplementing, and not as an alternative or substitute for,
our consolidated financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP.

To address these limitations, we provide a reconciliation of Contribution Profit, Contribution Margin,
Adjud sted EBITDA, Adjud sted EBITDA Margin, and Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income
(Loss) Per Share to loss from operations and net income (loss), respectively. We encourage investors and others
to review our financial inforff mation in its entirety, not to rely on any single finff ancial measure and to view
Contribution Profit, Contribution Margin, Adjud sted EBITDA, Adjud sted EBITDA Margin, Adjusted Net Income
(Loss), and Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) Per Share in conjunction with their respective related GAAP financial
measures.

Contritt bui tion ProPP fio t aii nd Contritt bui tion Margin

We use Contribution Profit and Contribution Margin as part of our overall assessment of performance,
including the preparation of our annual operating budget and quarterly forecasts, to evaluate the effeff ctiveness of
our business strategies, and to communicate with our Board of Directors concerning our financial performance.
We believe Contribution Profit and Contribution Margin are usefulff to investors forff year-to-year comparisons of
our business and in evaluating and understanding our operating results and abia lity to scale. Contribution Profit
and Contribution Margin are also usefulff to investors because our management uses Contribution Profit and
Contribution Margin, in conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, to evaluate
our operating results and financial performance and the effeff ctiveness of our strategies.

Contribution Profit and Contribution Margin have limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be
considered in isolation or as a subsu titute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Contribution Profit
and Contribution Margin are not GAAP financial measures of, nff or do they imply profitaff bia lity. Even if our
revenue exceeds variabla e expenses over time, we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitaff bia lity, and the
relationship of revenue to variable expenses is not necessarily indicative of futff urtt e performance. Contribution
Profitff and Contribution Margin do not reflect all of our variable expenses and involve some judgment and
discretion around what costs vary directly with loan volume. Other companies that present Contribution Profit
and Contribution Margin may calculate it diffeff rently and, thereforff e, similarly titled measures presented by other
companies may not be directly comparable to ours.
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The folff lowing tabla e presents a reconciliation of income (loss) from operations to Contribution Profit
and Contribution Margin. We define Operating Margin as our income (loss) from operations divided by revenue
from feesff , net.

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Revenue from feeff s, net $ 801,275 $ 907,272 $ 560,431
Income (loss) from operations 140,881 (113,863) (256,525)
Operating MarMM gir n 18 % (13)% (46)%

Sales and marketing, net of borrower acquisition costs(1) $ 25,840 $ 43,063 $ 36,626
Customer operations, net of borrower verificff ation and
servicing costs(2) 21,797 30,186 33,798
Engineering and product development 133,999 237,247 280,138
General, administrative, and other 122,677 185,290 212,388
Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments,
net (47,314) 64,828 46,869
Contribution Profit $ 397,880 $ 446,751 $ 353,294
Contritt bution MarMM gir n 50 % 49 % 63 %

_________
(1) Borrower acquisition costs were $307.6 million, $302.7 million, and $90.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and

2023, respectively. Borrower acquisition costs consist of our sales and marketing expenses adjud sted to exclude costs not directly
attributable to attracting a new borrower, such as payroll-related expenses for our business development and marketing teams, as
well as other operational, brand awareness and marketing activities. These costs do not include reorganization expenses associated
with the January 2023 Plan.

(2) Borrower verificff ation and servicing costs were $95.8 million, $157.8 million, and $116.6 million forff the year ended December 31,
2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively. Borrower verificff ation and servicing costs consist of payroll and other personnel-related
expenses for personnel engaged in loan onboarding, verification and servicing, as well as servicing system costs. It excludes payroll
and personnel-related expenses and stock-based compensation forff certain members of our customer operations team whose work is
not directly attributable to onboarding and servicing loans. These costs do not include reorganization expenses associated with the
January 2023 Plan.

Adjudd stedtt EBITDA aDD nd Adjudd stedtt EBITDA MDD arMM gir nii

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin are useful forff investors to use in
comparing our financial performance with the performance of other companies for the following reasons:

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin are widely used by investors and securities
analysts to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items such as
depreciation, and interest expense, that can vary srr ubstantially from company to company
depending upon their finff ancing and capital strucrr tures, and the method by which assets were
acquired; and

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin eliminate the impact of certain items such as
stock-based compensation expense and certain payroll tax expense, expense on convertible notes,
acquisition-related costs, reorganization expenses, and net gain on lease modification that may
obscure trends in the underlying performance of our business; and

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin provide consistency and comparability with our
past financial performance, and faciff litate comparisons with other companies, many of which use
similar non-GAAP financial measures to supplement their GAAP results.

Our use of Adjud sted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin has limitations as an analytical tool, and
these measures should not be considered in isolation or as a subsu titute for analysis of our financial results as
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are as folff lows:
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• Although depreciation expense is a non-cash charge, the assets being depreciated may have to be
replaced in the futff urt e, and Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin does not reflect cash
capia tal expenditure requirements forff such replacements or for new capital expenditure
requirements;

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin exclude stock-based compensation expense and
certain employer payroll taxes on employee stock transactions. Stock-based compensation expense
has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeabla e futff urt e, a significant recurring expense forff our
business and an important part of our compensation strategy. The amount of employer payroll tax-
related expense on employee stock transactions is dependent on our stock price and other factors
that are beyond our control and do not correlate to the operation of the business;

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin do not reflect: (1) changes in, or cash
requirements forff , our working capital needs; (2) interest expense, or the cash requirements
necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt, which reduces cash availabla e to us;
or (3) tax payments that may represent a reducd tion in cash available to us; and

• the expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjud sted EBITDA Margin may diffeff r froff m the expenses and other items, if any, that other
companies may exclude from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin when they report
their operating results.

Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EBITDA Margin should be considered
along with other operating and finff ancial performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP. The
following tabla e provides a reconciliation of net income (loss) and Net Income (Loss) Margin to Adjud sted
EBITDA Margin. We definff e Net Income (Loss) Margin as net income (loss) divided by total revenue.

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Total revenue $ 848,589 $ 842,444 $ 513,562
Net income (loss) 135,443 (108,665) (240,132)
Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss) Margin 16 % (13)% (47)%

Adjud sted to exclude the folff lowing:
Stock-based compensation and certain payroll tax expenses(1) $ 87,461 $ 128,038 $ 178,400
Depreciation and amortization 7,541 13,513 24,903
Reorganization expenses — — 15,536
Expense on convertible notes 1,976 4,684 4,706
Net gain on lease modification — — (737)
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (1,712) (409) 107
Acquisition-related costs 1,237 — —
Adjud sted EBITDA $ 231,946 $ 37,161 $ (17,217)
Adjudd sted EBITDII A MDD arMM gir n 27 % 4 % (3)%

_________
(1) Payroll tax expenses include the employer payroll tax-related expense on employee stock transactions, as the amount is dependent

on our stock price and other factors that are beyond our control and do not correlate to the operation of our business.

Adjudd stedtt Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss) and Adjusted NetNN Income (Loss) Per Share

We define Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) as net income (loss) exclusive of stock-based compensation
expense and certain payroll tax expense, reorganization expenses, and net gain on lease modification. Adjud sted
Net Income (Loss) Per Share is calculated by dividing Adjusted Net Income (Loss) Per Share by the weighted-
average common shares outstanding. We believe Adjusted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss)
Per Share are useful measures forff investors in evaluating our ability to generate earnings, more readily compare
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between past and futff urt e years, and provide comparability of our performance with the performance of other
companies.

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Net income (loss) $ 135,443 $ (108,665) $ (240,132)
Adjud sted to exclude the folff lowing:
Stock-based compensation and certain payroll tax
expenses(1) 87,461 128,038 178,400
Reorganization expenses — — 15,536
Net gain on lease modification — — (737)
Acquisition-related costs 1,237 — —

Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) $ 224,141 $ 19,373 $ (46,933)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 1.73 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)
Diluted $ 1.43 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)

Adjud sted Net Income (Loss) per Share:
Basic $ 2.87 $ 0.23 $ (0.56)
Diluted $ 2.37 $ 0.21 $ (0.56)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 78,106,359 82,771,268 83,765,896
Diluted 94,772,641 92,023,924 83,765,896
_________
(1) Payroll tax expenses include the amount of employer payroll tax-related expense on employee stock transactions, as the amount is

dependent on our stock price and other factors that are beyond our control and do not correlate to the operation of our business.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

As of December 31, 2023, our primary srr ource of liquidity was cash of $368.4 million. We also held
$5.0 million of investments in certificates of deposit with maturities greater than three months as of
December 31, 2023. Certificff ates of deposit provide a secondary source of liquidity since they can be converted
into cash in a timely manner. Changes in the balance of cash are generally a result of working capia tal
fluctuations and the timing of purchases and sales of loans facff ilitated through our marketplt ace. To finance
purchases of certain loans facff ilitated through our lending marketplt ace, we rely on our warehouse credit facff ilities
through the special-purposrr e trusts and corporate cash.

Our convertible senior notes have a principal balance of $661.3 million and bear interest at a rate of
0.25% per year, payable semiannually in arrears on February 1rr 5 and August 15 of each year. The Notes maturt e
on August 15, 2026 unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased in accordance with their terms. Referff to
“No“ te 10. Borrowings” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff further details on our Notes.

Our ULT Warehouse Credit Facility, which maturt es in June 2026, allows us to borrow up tu o
$250.0 million to purchase unsecured personal loans. Our UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility, which matures in
June 2025, allows us to borrow up tu o $200.0 million to purchase secured auto loans. As of December 31, 2023,
we have drawn an aggregate of $387.4 million on our warehouse credit faciff lities. Refer to “No“ te 10.
Borrowings” in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K forff further details on our warehouse credit facff ilities.
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We lease office facilities under operating lease agreements which expire between 2027 and 2029. Our
cash requirements related to these lease agreements are $70.8 million, of which $15.0 million is expected to be
paid within the next 12 months. Referff to “No“ te 12. Leases” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K forff further details on our operating lease obligations.

We have committed to purchase loans from certain lending partners at the conclusion of the required
holding period, which is generally equal to three business days. As of December 31, 2023, the total loan
purchase commitment was $36.6 million. See “No“ te 13. Commitments and Contingencies” in Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff further details on our loan purchase obligations.

In connection with our committed capital arrangements, we have agreed to risk sharing arrangements
whereby we are obligated to put a certain amount of our capital at risk in relation to the credit performance of
the loans. As of December 31, 2023, the amount of our capia tal at risk is $98.5 million. Refer to “No“ te 5.
Benefice ial IntII erests” forff additional inforff mation.

As of December 31, 2023, the potential value of these risk sharing arrangements, to be realized over
time, ranges between $0 to $205.2 million, depending on the actuat l futff urt e performance of the loans sold under
these arrangements. The estimated value of our risk sharing arrangements is $95.0 million, which represents the
undiscounted value of the capia tal at risk and is based on the actuat l and expected future performance of the
underlying loans.

Additionally, our cash requirements forff the next 12 months for the committed capital arrangements are
expected to be $21.5 million.

While we believe that our cash on hand will be suffiff cient to meet our liquidity needs forff at least the
next 12 months, our future capital requirements will depend on multiple factors, including our revenue growth,
working capital requirements, volume of loan purchases for product development purposrr es or during market
downturt ns, and our capia tal expenditures. We may decide to raise additional capital through the sale of equity,
equity-linked or debt securities or other debt financing arrangements. If we raise additional fundsff by issuing
equity or equity-linked securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Future debt financing, if availabla e,
may involve covenants restricting our operations or our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or equity
financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. Further, if we are
unabla e to raise additional capital when our cash balances and cash generated by operations are insuffiff cient to
satisfy liquidity needs, our results of operations and finff ancial condition would be materially and adversely
impacted.

Cash Flowll sw

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our cash floff ws during the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023

Net cash used in operating activities $ (674,681) $ (160,493)
Net cash used in investing activities (114,125) (118,455)
Net cash provided by finff ancing activities 130,032 214,268
Change in cash and restricted cash $ (658,774) $ (64,680)
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Net CasCC h froff m OpeOO ratingii Activitieii s

Our main sources of cash provided by operating activities are our revenue from feesff earned under
contracts with lending partners and institutional investors and interest income we receive for loans held on our
balance sheet.

Our main uses of cash in our operating activities include payments to marketing partners, vendor
payments, payroll and other personnel-related expenses, payments forff facilities, and other general business
expenditures.

Net cash used in operating activities was $160.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which
primarily consisted of adjustments for non-cash items of $420.2 million, net loss of $240.1 million, and $340.6
million in net changes in operating assets and liabia lities. The increase in non-cash adjud stments was primarily
related to $234.8 million of changes in faiff r value of financial instrumrr ents held on the Company’s balance sheet,
$175.0 million of stock-based compensation, and $24.9 million of depreciation and amortization, partially offset
by $13.7 million gain on loan servicing rights. The decrease in net changes in operating assets and liabia lities
was primarily related to $491.9 million in net purchases of loans held-for-sale, a $43.0 million decrease in
amounts payable to investors, a $8.9 million increase in other assets, a $6.8 million decrease in operating lease
liabia lities and right-of-use assets, and a $6.1 million decrease in accounts payable partially offsff et by $189.7
million in principal payments received for loans held-forff -sale, $24.8 million in principal payments received forff
loans held in consolidated securitization and a $2.2 million increase in accruerr d expenses.

Net CasCC h froff m InvII estingii Activitieii s

Net cash used in investing activities was $118.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as a
result of $157.2 million purchases and originations of loans held-for-investment, $56.9 million acquisition of
beneficial interest assets, $10.6 million of capitalized software costs, partially offsff et by $102.4 million in
principal payments received forff loans held-for-investment and $4.3 million of principal payments received forff
notes receivabla e and repayments of residual certificates.

Net CasCC h froff m FinFF ancingii Activitieii s

Net cash provided by finff ancing activities was $214.3 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as
a result of $626.9 million proceeds froff m borrowings, $165.3 million proceeds froff m the issuance of
securitization notes, $8.4 million in proceeds from issuance of common stock under ESPP, and $12.9 million
proceeds froff m exercise of stock options, partially offseff t by $575.9 million repayments of borrowings and $23.3
million in principal payments made on securitization notes.

Composition of Bo alanll ce Sheet Loan Portfott lio

As of December 31, 2023, we held $1,156.4 million of loans on our consolidated balance sheet.
$411.1 million of these loans were originated forff research and development purposrr es, primarily in supporu t of
our auto lending products and expansion of our unsecured personal loan product to new categories of borrowers.
We also held $566.2 million of core personal loans which would otherwise be immediately purchased by
institutional investors and $179.1 million of core personal loans held by the consolidated securitization. We will
continue to utilize our capia tal to support research and development activities and, at times, as a fundiff ng source
for core personal loans during periods of marketplt ace funff ding constraints. The extent and timing of utilizing our
capital as a funding source for loans will largely depend on the availabia lity of capital in our marketplt ace relative
to the demand froff m qualifieff d borrowers and our business priorities. We plan to sell loans held on our balance
sheet to institutional investors over time in the forff m of secondary sales or securitizations.
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Off-Bff alanll ce Sheet Arrangements

In the ordinary crr ourse of business, we engage in activities that are not reflected on our consolidated
balance sheets, generally referred to as off-bff alance sheet arrangements. These activities involve transactions
with unconsolidated VIEs, including sale of whole loans and sponsored and co-sponsored securitization
transactions, which we contractuat lly service. We use these transactions to provide a source of liquidity to
finance our business and to diversify off ur institutt ional investor base. If we are the retaining sponsor of a
securitization transaction, we are required by law to retain at least 5% of the credit risk of the securities issued
in these securitizations. We provide additional inforff mation regarding transactions with unconsolidated VIEs in
“No“ te 3. Variable IntII erest EntEE ities” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, revenue, costs and expenses and related
disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to
be reasonabla e under the circumstances. Actuat l results could diffeff r significantly from our estimates. To the
extent that there are differences between our estimates and actuat l results, our future financial statement
presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws will be affeff cted. Our significant
accounting policies are described in “No“ te 1. Descripti ion of Bo usiness and Signii fici ant Accounting Policies” in
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Fair Value

Financial instrumrr ents measured at fair value on a recurring basis include, loans, beneficff ial interest
assets and liabia lities, notes receivabla e and residual certificates, and payable to securitization note holders. We
believe the estimate of faiff r value of these finff ancial instruments requires significant judgment. We use a
discounted cash floff w model to estimate the faiff r value of these finff ancial instruments based on the present value
of estimated futff urt e cash floff ws. This model uses both observabla e and unobservabla e inputs and reflects our best
estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to calculate fair value. Primary inputs that require
significant judgment include discount rates, credit risk rates and expected prepayment rates. These inputs are
based on historical performance of loans facff ilitated through our platform, as well as the consideration of market
participant requirements.

We have also elected the fair value option forff servicing assets and liabia lities. We record servicing
assets and liabia lities at estimated faiff r value when we transferff loans which qualify aff s sales under Topic 860,
Transfes rs and Servicing. We use a discounted cash floff w model to estimate the faiff r value of loan servicing assets
and liabia lities. The cash floff ws in the valuation model represent the diffeff rence between the servicing fees
charged to instituttt ional investors and an estimated market servicing fee. Since servicing fees are generally based
on the monthly unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans, the expected cash floff ws in the model
incorporate estimated credit risk and expected prepayments on the loans. For furff ther information on faiff r value
measurement referff to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, which primarily relate to
fluctuations in market discount rates, credit risks, and interest rates. We are exposed to market risk directly
through loans and securities held on our consolidated balance sheets, access to the securitization markets,
institutional investor demand for loans facilitated through our marketplt ace, and availabia lity of funding under our
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current credit facilities and term loans. Our inabia lity or faiff lure to manage market risks could harm our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Discii ount Rate Riskii

Discount rate sensitivity refers to the risk of loss to futff urt e earnings, values or futff urt e cash floff ws that may
result from changes in market discount rates.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we were exposed to market discount rate risk on $1,010.4 million
and $977.3 million, respectively, of loans held on our consolidated balance sheets, excluding loans held in
consolidated securitization. The faiff r value of these loans is estimated using a discounted cash floff w
methodology, where the discount rate represents an estimate of the required rate of returtt n by market
participants. The changes in the discount rates forff loans held on our balance sheet reflect the expected returns of
similar finff ancial instruments availabla e in the market and can be caused by changes in the market interest rates,
expected loan performance, and other factff ors. Any gains and losses froff m discount rate changes are recorded in
earnings. A hypothetical 100 basis point and 200 basis point increase in the discount rate would result in a $12.0
million and $23.7 million decrease, respectively, in the faiff r value of loans held on our consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2022 and a $11.7 million and $23.1 million decrease, respectively, as of December 31,
2023.

Loans held in the consolidated securitization are included in loans, at faiff r value on the consolidated
balance sheets. The faiff r value of these loans is determined by the sum of the faiff r value of the related
securitization notes and residual certificff ates issued as part of the consolidated securitization, and uses the same
projected net cash floff ws as the underlying collateral loan pool. As the Company retained all residual certificff ates
issued by the consolidated securitization, their value is eliminated as part of the consolidation process. A
hypothetical 100 basis point and 200 basis point increase in the discount rate would result in a $2.4 million and
$4.8 million decrease, respectively, in the fair value of loans held in the consolidated securitization on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, we were also exposed to market discount rate risk on payabla e to
securitization note holders of $141.4 million. A hypothetical 100 basis point and 200 basis point increase in the
discount rate would result in a $1.9 million and $3.7 million decrease, respectively, in the faiff r value of payabla e
to securitization note holders on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, we were also exposed to market discount rate risk on other finff ancial
instruments, including $41.0 million of beneficff ial interest assets. Beneficff ial interest assets are estimated at faiff r
value using a discounted cash flow model which considers projeo cted defaults, losses and recoveries to project
future losses and net cash flows on the underlying loans. We use two different discount rates forff expected cash
flows associated with demonstrated to-date credit performance and those associated with future credit
performance. Any gains and losses froff m discount rate changes are recorded in earnings. A hypothetical 100
basis point and 200 basis point increase in the discount rate would result in a $1.2 million and $2.4 million
decrease, respectively, in the fair value of beneficff ial interest assets held on our consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023.

Creditdd Riskii

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss of the loans on our consolidated balance sheets arising from
individual borrower defauff lt due to inability or unwillingness to meet their finff ancial obligations. The
performance of certain financial instrumrr ents, including loans, beneficial interests, securitization notes and
residual certificates, and payable to securitization note holders on our consolidated balance sheets are dependent
on the credit performance of loans faciff litated by us. To manage this risk, we monitor borrower payment
performance through our lending marketplt ace and utilize our AI capabilities to price loans in a manner that we
believe is reflective of their credit risk.
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The faiff r values of these loans, beneficial interests, securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates, and
payabla e to securitization note holders are estimated based on a discounted cash floff w model which involves the
use of significant unobservabla e inputs and assumptions. These instruments are sensitive to changes in credit
risk.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we were exposed to credit risk on $1,010.4 million and $977.3
million, respectively, of loans held on our consolidated balance sheet excluding loans held in consolidated
securitization. Loans bear fixed interest rates and are carried on our consolidated balance sheets at faiff r value. As
of December 31, 2022, a hypothetical 10% and 20% increase in credit risk would result in a $11.9 million and
$23.9 million decrease, and as of December 31, 2023, a hypothetical 10% and 20% increase in credit risk would
result in a $12.5 million and $25.0 million decrease in the fair value of loans held on our consolidated balance
sheets, respectively.

Loans held in the consolidated securitization are included in loans, at faiff r value on the consolidated
balance sheets. The faiff r value of these loans is determined by the sum of the faiff r value of the related
securitization notes and residuadd l certificff ates issued by the consolidated entities, and uses the same projected net
cash floff ws as the underlying collateral loan pool. As the Company retained all residual certificff ates issued by the
consolidated securitization, the residuad l certificates value is eliminated as part of the consolidation process. A
hypothetical 100 and 200 basis point increase in the credit risk would result in a $2.7 million and $5.2 million
decrease, respectively, in the fair value of loans held in consolidated securitization on the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2023.

We are also exposed to credit risk on $41.0 million of beneficial interest assets and $4.2 million of
beneficial interest liabia lities held on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. A hypothetical
10% and 20% increase in credit risk spread would result in a $9.1 million and $16.7 million decrease,
respectively, in the faiff r value of beneficial interest assets held on our consolidated balance sheet, and would
result in a $5.6 million and $11.2 million increase in the fair value of beneficff ial interest liabia lities on our
consolidated balance sheet, respectively, as of December 31, 2023.

Countertt parrr ty Riskii

We are subju ect to risk that arises froff m our derivative finff ancial instruments, beneficial interests,
warehouse facff ilities, and third-party custodians. These activities generally involve an exchange of obligations
with unaffiliated lenders or other individuals or entities, referff red to in such transactions as “counterparr rties”. If a
counterparr rty were to defauff lt or otherwise faiff l to perform, we could potentially be exposed to loss if such
counterparr rty were unabla e to meet its obligations to us. We manage this risk by selecting only counterparr rties that
we believe to be financially strong, spreading the risk among multiple such counterparr rties, and placing
contractuatt l limits on the amount of dependence on any single counterparr rty.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we held $532.5 million and $467.8 million, respectively, related
to cash and restricted cash in business checking accounts and interest-bearing deposit accounts at various
financial institutions in the United States. We are exposed to credit risk in the event of default by these financial
institutions to the extent the amount recorded on our consolidated balance sheets exceeds the insured amounts
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporrr ation, or FDIC. We reducd e credit risk by placing our cash and restricted
cash in reputable institutions.

Interest Rate Riskii

An increase in interest rates typically results in an increase in the rate of return required by lending
partners and institutional investors, and therefore leads to a decrease in borrower demand. Higher interest rates
also correspond with higher payment obligations for borrowers, which may reducd e the ability of individual
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borrowers to remain current on their obligations, leading to increased delinquencies, defaults, customer
bankruptrr cies and charge-offsff , and decreasing recoveries, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business. We expect these outcomes would generally invert in an environment of decreasing interest rates.

An increase or decrease in interest rates may also impact our exposure to interest rate risk on our
warehouse credit facff ilities. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we were exposed to interest rate risk on $336.5
million and $387.4 million, respectively, under our warehouse credit facff ilities, which bear floating interest rates.
Changes in interest rates may impact our cost of borrowing. During the year ended December 31, 2023 we
entered into interest rate cap agreements in connection with our warehouse credit faciff lities with an aggregate
notional amount of $299.6 million. The interest rate caps provide protection to the credit facilities against
exposure to changes in cash floff ws to the extent the 1-month SOFR exceeds the strike rate. The UAWT interest
rate cap matures in April 2029 and the ULT interest rate cap matures June 2025. Refer to “NotNN e 4. Derivative
Financial InsII truments” for furff ther details.

Equityii Investmett nt Riskii

Our non-marketable equity securities are subject to a wide variety of market-related risks that could
subsu tantially reduce or increase the carrying value of our investments.

Our non-marketable equity investments are in equity securities of privately-held companies without
readily determinable fair values. We elected to account for each such investment using the measurement
alternative which is cost less impairment, if any, and adjusted forff changes resulting froff m observabla e price
changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment in the same issuer. The determination of
whether an orderly transaction is forff an identical or similar investment requires significant management
judgment and is inherently complex dued to the lack of readily availabla e market data. We consider factors such
as differences in the rights and preferff ences of the investments and the extent to which those diffeff rences would
affeff ct the faiff r values of each investment. We also assess our non-marketable equity securities forff impairment on
a quarterly basis. Our impairment analysis encompasses an assessment of both qualitative and quantitative
factors including the investee's financial metrics, market acceptance of the investee's product or technology,
general market conditions and liquidity considerations. Adjustments and impairments are recorded in other
expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) upon recognition of
such adjud stments or impairments. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the carrying value of our non-marketable
equity securities, which do not have readily determinable fair values, totaled $41.3 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Upstart Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Upstart Holdings, Inc. and
subsu idiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash floff ws for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referff red to as the “finff ancial
statements”). In our opinion, the finff ancial statements present faiff rly, in all material respects, the finff ancial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conforff mity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31,
2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated Februarr ry 15, 2024, expressed
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Basis forff Opinion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether dued to error or fraff ud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and performing
procedurdd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the finff ancial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising froff m the current-period audit of the
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1)
relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subju ective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in
any way our opinion on the finff ancial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or
disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities (“level 3 financial instruments”) and Unobservable
Inputs Therein

– Loans at Fair Value – See Notes 1 and 6

– Loan Servicing Assets and Liabia lities at Fair Value – See Notes 1 and 6

– Beneficff ial Interest Assets at Fair Value – See Notes 1, 5 and 6
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Critical Audit MatMM ter Description

The Company has elected the faiff r value option forff loans, which are valued using unobservabla e inputs
significant to the fair value measurement. The Company estimates the fair value of these loans using a
discounted cash floff w model based on the present value of estimated future cash floff ws. This model uses both
observabla e and unobservabla e inputs and reflects the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market
participant would use to calculate the fair value. The faiff r value methodology considers historical defaults, losses
and recoveries to project future losses and net cash floff ws on loans that are discounted using an estimate of
market rates of returt n. Primary irr nputs that require significant judgment include discount rates and credit risk
rates. These inputs are based on historical perforff mance of loans facilitated through the Company’s platforff m, as
well as management’s consideration of assumptions a market participant would use.

The Company has elected the faiff r value option forff loan servicing assets and liabia lities, which are
valued using unobservabla e inputs significant to the fair value measurement. The Company estimates the fair
value of its loan servicing assets and liabia lities using a discounted cash floff w model based on the diffeff rence
between the servicing fees charged to institutional investors and an estimated market servicing fee on the
monthly unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans.

The Company has elected the faiff r value option forff beneficial interest assets, and estimates the fair
value of its beneficial interest assets using a discounted cash floff w model based on projected defaults, losses and
recoveries to project futff urt e losses and net cash floff ws on the underlying loans. Net cash floff ws are discounted
using an estimate of market rates of return that reflect the risk premium related to those cash floff ws. The model
uses discount rates that are inherently judgmental and reflect the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a
market participant would use to determine faiff r value of its beneficial interest assets.

Given the significant judgments made by management in selecting the unobservabla e inputs used in
estimating the fair value of these level 3 financial instrumrr ents, performing audit procedurd es to evaluate the
reasonabla eness of management’s judgments related to the selection of the discount rates and credit risk rates forff
loans, market servicing feeff for loan servicing assets and liabia lities, and discount rates forff beneficial interest
assets required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effoff rt, including the need to
involve our fair value specialists.

How thett Critical Audit MatMM ter WasWW Addrdd essed in thett Audit

Our audit procedures related to the unobservabla e inputs used by management to estimate the faiff r value
of these level 3 finff ancial instruments, included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of management’s internal controls relating to estimation of the fair value of
these level 3 finff ancial instruments, including controls related to management’s selection of the
discount rates and credit risk rates forff loans, market servicing feeff for loan servicing assets and
liabilities, and discount rates forff beneficial interest assets.

• We evaluated the accuracy and completeness of the data used in estimation of the fair value of these
level 3 financial instrumrr ents.

• With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we developed independent estimates of the fair value
of these level 3 finff ancial instruments, and compared our estimates to the Company’s estimates.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, Califorff nia
Februarr ry 15, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
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December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Assets
Cash $ 422,411 $ 368,405
Restricted cash 110,056 99,382
Loans (at fair value)(1) 1,010,421 1,156,413
Property, equipment, and softwff are, net 44,168 42,655
Operating lease right of use assets 86,335 54,694
Beneficial interest assets (at faiff r value) — 41,012
Non-marketable equity securities 41,250 41,250
Goodwill 67,062 67,062
Other assets (includes $42,648 and $48,897 at fair value as of December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2023, respectively) 154,351 146,227

Total assets(2) $ 1,936,054 $ 2,017,100
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 18,715 $ 12,613
Payabla e to investors 90,777 53,580
Borrowings 986,394 1,040,424
Payabla e to securitization note holders (at faiff r value) — 141,416
Accruerr d expenses and other liabilities (includes $8,820 and $10,510 at fair
value as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, respectively) 66,946 71,438
Operating lease liabia lities 100,787 62,324
Total liabia lities(2) 1,263,619 1,381,795

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 700,000,000 shares authorized; 81,259,676
and 86,330,303 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2023, respectively 8 9
Additional paid-in capital 714,871 917,872
Accumulated deficff it (42,444) (282,576)

Total stockholders’ equity 672,435 635,305
Total liabia lities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,936,054 $ 2,017,100

____________

(1) As of December 31, 2023, includes $179.1 million of loans, at faiff r value, contributed as collateral forff the consolidated
securitization. No such loans were held as of December 31, 2022. Refer to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff details.

(2) The following tabla e presents inforff mation on assets and liabia lities related to variable interest entities (“VIEs”) that are consolidated
by Upstart Holdings, Inc. at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023. The assets in the table below may only be used to settle
obligations of consolidated VIEs and are in excess of those obligations. The liabia lities in the tabla e below include liabia lities forff
which creditors do not have recourse to the general credit of Upstart Holdings, Inc. The assets and liabia lities in the tabla e below
include third-party assets and liabia lities of consolidated VIEs and exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation.

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
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December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Assets
Cash $ 838 $ 1,603
Restricted cash 13,147 23,450
Loans (at fair value) 958,822 1,147,423
Other assets (includes $2,244 and $5,958 at fair value as of December 31, 2022
and December 31, 2023, respectively) 11,674 22,917

Total assets $ 984,481 $ 1,195,393

Liabilities
Payabla e to investors $ — $ 121
Borrowings 336,452 387,440
Payabla e to securitization note holders (at faiff r value) — 141,416
Accruerr d expenses and other liabilities 1,378 1,975

Total liabia lities 337,830 530,952
Total net assets $ 646,651 $ 664,441

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Revenue:
Revenue from feeff s, net $ 801,275 $ 907,272 $ 560,431
Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net:
Interest income(1) 20,634 105,580 168,996
Interest expense(1) (3,274) (10,843) (34,894)
Fair value and other adjustments(1) 29,954 (159,565) (180,971)

Total interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net 47,314 (64,828) (46,869)

Total revenue 848,589 842,444 513,562
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 333,453 345,776 127,143
Customer operations 117,579 187,994 150,418
Engineering and product development 133,999 237,247 280,138
General, administrative, and other 122,677 185,290 212,388

Total operating expenses 707,708 956,307 770,087
Income (loss) from operations 140,881 (113,863) (256,525)
Other income (expense), net (5,174) 9,473 21,206
Expense on convertible notes (1,976) (4,684) (4,706)
Net income (loss) before income taxes 133,731 (109,074) (240,025)
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (1,712) (409) 107
Net income (loss) $ 135,443 $ (108,665) $ (240,132)

Net income (loss) per share, basic $ 1.73 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)
Net income (loss) per share, diluted $ 1.43 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in
computing net income (loss) per share, basic 78,106,359 82,771,268 83,765,896
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in
computing net income (loss) per share, diluted 94,772,641 82,771,268 83,765,896
____________

(1) Balances for year ended December 31, 2023 include amounts related to the consolidated securitization. Refer to “No“ te 2. Revenue”
for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance as of December 31, 2020 73,314,026 $ 7 $ 369,467 $ (69,222) $ 300,252
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options 7,047,722 — 14,736 — 14,736
Issuance of common stock upon settlement
of restricted stock units 32,775 — — — —
Exercise of common stock warrants 72,407 — — — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — 76,327 — 76,327
Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of restricted stock units (1,730) — (236) — (236)
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisition 650,740 — 71,003 — 71,003
Issuance of common stock in connection
with follow-on offeff ring, net of underwriting
discounts, commissions, and offeff ring costs 2,300,000 1 263,930 — 263,931
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 243,725 — 4,145 — 4,145
Purchase of cappea d calls — — (58,523) — (58,523)
Net income — — — 135,443 135,443
Balance as of December 30, 2021 83,659,665 $ 8 $ 740,849 $ 66,221 $ 807,078
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options 2,464,572 1 12,353 — 12,354
Issuance of common stock upon settlement
of restricted stock units 866,717 — — — —
Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of restricted stock units (619) — (16) — (16)
Repurchase and retirement of restricted
stock (10,279) — — — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — 131,905 — 131,905
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 162,796 — 7,662 — 7,662
Repurchases of stock (5,883,176) (1) (177,882) — (177,883)
Net loss — — — (108,665) (108,665)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 81,259,676 $ 8 $ 714,871 $ (42,444) $ 672,435
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options 1,441,787 1 12,880 — 12,881
Issuance of common stock upon settlement
of restricted stock units 3,170,158 — — — —
Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of restricted stock units (777) — (15) — (15)
Stock-based compensation expense — — 181,705 — 181,705
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 459,459 — 8,431 — 8,431
Net loss — — — (240,132) (240,132)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 86,330,303 $ 9 $ 917,872 $ (282,576) $ 635,305

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Total
Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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sh flows froff m operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 135,443 $ (108,665) $ (240,132)
Adjud stments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Change in fair value of finff ancial instruments (228) 168,878 234,822
Stock-based compensation 73,186 125,945 175,039
Gain on loan servicing rights, net (6,916) (28,739) (13,713)
Depreciation and amortization 7,541 13,513 24,903
Non-cash interest expense 1,983 3,047 3,057
Other — — (3,869)
Net changes in operating assets and liabia lities:
Purchases of loans held-for-sale (8,932,604) (7,807,429) (3,006,510)
Proceeds froff m sale of loans held-for-sale 8,826,045 6,828,617 2,514,627
Principal payments received forff loans held-for-sale 8,659 152,018 189,746
Principal payments received forff loans held by consolidated
securitization — — 24,832
Settlements of beneficff ial interest liabia lities — — (596)
Other assets (62,042) 4,173 (8,932)
Operating lease liabia lity and right-of-use asset 3,126 10,204 (6,822)
Accounts payable (7,513) 11,878 (6,127)
Payabla e to investors 62,097 (16,821) (42,989)
Accruerr d expenses and other liabilities 59,576 (31,300) 2,171
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 168,353 (674,681) (160,493)

Cash flows froff m investing activities
Purchases and originations of loans held-for-investment (159,398) (149,298) (157,223)
Proceeds froff m sale of loans held-for-investment 51,403 14,289 972
Principal payments received forff loans held-for-investment 24,532 43,311 102,446
Principal payments received forff notes receivable and
repayments of residual certificates 11,458 6,736 4,328
Purchases of property and equipment (8,427) (8,825) (1,527)
Capia talized software costs (6,688) (14,088) (10,559)
Acquisition of beneficff ial interest assets — — (56,892)
Purchases of non-marketable equity securities (40,000) (1,250) —
Purchase of certificff ates of deposit — (5,000) —
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (16,757) — —
Net cash used in investing activities (143,877) (114,125) (118,455)

Cash flows froff m finff ancing activities
Proceeds froff m borrowings 718,422 688,813 626,910
Repayments of borrowings (71,316) (400,898) (575,937)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Principal payments made on securitization notes — — (23,320)
Proceeds froff m issuance of securitization notes — — 165,318
Proceeds froff m secondary offeff ring, net of underwriting
discounts, commissions, and offeff ring costs 263,931 — —
Payment of debt issuance costs (15,727) — —
Purchase of cappea d calls (58,523) — —
Proceeds froff m issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 4,145 7,662 8,431
Proceeds froff m exercise of stock options 14,736 12,354 12,881
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (236) (16) (15)
Repurchases of common stock — (177,883) —
Net cash provided by finff ancing activities 855,432 130,032 214,268

Change in cash and restricted cash 879,908 (658,774) (64,680)
Cash and restricted cash
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 311,333 1,191,241 532,467
Cash and restricted cash at end of year $ 1,191,241 $ 532,467 $ 467,787

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 3,274 $ 12,473 $ 36,547
Cash (received) paid for income taxes, net 2,300 328 (658)

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and
financing activities
Securities retained under consolidated securitization transaction $ — $ — $ 44,763
Residual certificates retained under unconsolidated securitization — 4,680 13,172
Beneficial interest assets included in payable to investors — — 5,792
Capia talized stock-based compensation expense 3,141 5,960 6,666
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition 80,256 — —

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

The folff lowing presents cash and restricted cash by category wrr ithin the consolidated balance sheets:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Cash $ 422,411 $ 368,405
Restricted cash 110,056 99,382
Total cash and restricted cash $ 532,467 $ 467,787

hThe accompanyinyi gng notes are a in int gegrall part of thhese cons lolididat ded fifinanciiall statements.
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1. Description of Business and Significff ant Accounting Policies

Descriptii iott n of Bo usiness

Upstart Holdings, Inc. and its subsu idiaries (together “Upstart”, the “Company”, “management”, “we”,
or “our”) appla y modern data science and technology to the process of originating consumer credit. The
Company helps originate credit, including personal and auto loans, by providing lending partners with access to
a proprietary, cloud-based, artificial intelligence lending marketpltt ace. As the Company’s technology continues
to improve and additional lending partners adopt the Upstart platform, consumers benefitff from improved access
to affoff rdable and friff ctionless credit. The Company currently operates in the United States and is headquartered
in San Mateo, Califorff nia and Columbus, Ohio. The Company’s fisff cal year ends on December 31.

Basis oii f Po rePP sentattt iott n and Consolidll atdd iott n

The Company has one reportabla e segment. The Company’s chief operating decision maker, the Chief
Executive Officer, reviews financial inforff mation presented on a consolidated basis forff purposrr es of allocating
resources and evaluating finff ancial performance. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsu idiaries, and consolidated VIEs. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The Company’s funcff tional and reporting
currency is the U.S. dollar.

Followll -on OffeO ringii

On April 13, 2021, the Company completed a follow-on offeff ring, in which 2,300,000 shares of
common stock (including the exercise in fulff l of the underwriters’ option to purchase 300,000 additional shares)
were issued and sold at $120.00 per share. The Company received net proceeds of $263.9 million after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $11.0 million and offeff ring expenses of $1.0 million.
Offeff ring expenses consisted of incremental accounting, legal, and other fees incurred related to the folff low-on
offeff ring.

Use of Eo stEE imatt tes

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conforff mity with GAAP requires that
management make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.

Significant estimates and assumptions made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements,
which management believes are critical in understanding and evaluating the Company’s reported finff ancial
results include: (i) fair value determinations; (ii) stock-based compensation; (iii) consolidation of VIEs; and (iv)
the evaluation forff impairment of goodwill and acquired intangible assets. The Company bases its estimates on
various factors it believes to be reasonabla e under the circumstances. Actuat l results could diffeff r froff m those
estimates and such differences could affect the results of operations reported in futff urt e years.

Cash and Restricted CasCC h

Cash consists of bank deposits held in business checking and interest-bearing deposit accounts. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company did not have any cash equivalent balances, definff ed as highly liquid
financial instrumrr ents purchased with original maturities of three months or less.

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Restricted cash primarily consists of deposit accounts that are held in our custody but restricted for
regulatory orr r legal purposrr es. This balance includes amounts that are: (i) received froff m borrowers for interest
and principal applied to loans as part of loan servicing, but not yet distributed to institutional investors; (ii)
provided by institutt ional investors in relation to loan purchases; (iii) collateral forff letters of credit the Company
as required to maintain under its operating lease agreements; (iv) received froff m borrowers for interest and
principal appla ied to loans pledged as part of our Company’s warehouse credit faciff lities, but not yet distributed
to the Company, and (v) cash balances restricted in connection with the Company’s risk sharing arrangements.

Fair Value MeaMM surement

Assets and liabia lities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis on the consolidated balance sheets are
categorized based uponu the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair values. Fair
value is definff ed as the exchange price that would be received forff an asset or an exit price that would be paid to
transferff a liabia lity in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liabia lity in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. The price used to measure faiff r value is not adjud sted for
transaction costs. The principal market is the market in which the Company would sell or transfer the asset with
the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset. In determining the principal market forff an asset or
liabia lity, it is assumed that the Company has access to the market as of the measurement date. If no market for
the asset exists, or if the Company does not have access to the principal market, a hypothetical market is used.

The authoritative guidance on faiff r value measurements establa ishes a three-tier faiff r value hierarchy forff
disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets forff identical assets or liabia lities;

Level 2— Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly
observabla e forff the asset or liabia lity. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabia lities in active markets
and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and

Level 3— Unobservabla e inputs that are supporu ted by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the faiff r value of the assets or liabilities.

Assets and liabia lities measured at faiff r value on a recurring basis include loans, notes receivabla e and
residual certificates, loan servicing assets and liabia lities, derivatives, beneficff ial interests, payable to
securitization note holders, and trailing feeff liabilities. When developing fair value measurements, the Company
maximizes the use of observabla e inputs and minimizes the use of unobservabla e inputs.

However, for certain instruments, the Company must utilize unobservabla e inputs in determining faiff r
value dued to the lack of observabla e inputs in the market, which requires greater judgment in measuring faiff r
value. In instances where there is limited or no observabla e market data, fair value measurements for assets and
liabia lities are based primarily upon the Company’s own estimates, and the measurements reflect information
and assumptions that management believes a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liabia lity.

Finaii ncial InsII truments not MeaMM sured at FaiFF r Vii alVV ue

The Company’s finff ancial instruments not measured at fair value consist primarily of cash, restricted
cash, and other assets (excluding certain financial instrumrr ents, which are measured at fair value, such as loan
servicing assets, interest rate caps, notes receivable and residuad l certificff ates), accounts payable, payable to
investors, and other liabilities (excluding certain financial instrumrr ents, such as loan servicing liabia lities,
beneficial interest liabia lities, and trailing feeff liabia lities which are measured at fair value). Payable to investors
includes amounts of loan repayments not yet distributed to institutional investors, as well as amounts received

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
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from institutional investors but not yet invested directly in whole loans. The carrying values of these financial
instruments are approximates of their respective faiff r values dued to their short-term nature.

Borrowings are presented at par, net of debt issuance costs and amortized over the contractuat l term
using the effeff ctive interest method, with accrued interest included as part of accruerr d expenses and other
liabia lities on the consolidated balance sheets. The carrying value of borrowings associated with the warehouse
credit facilities appra oximates the fair value dued to their relatively short maturt ities.

Variable Ill ntII ertt est EntEE ititt es

A legal entity is considered a VIE if it has either a total equity investment that is insufficient to finff ance
its operations without additional subordinated finff ancial supporu t or whose equity holders lack the characteristics
of a controlling financial interest. The Company’s variabla e interests arise froff m contractuat l, ownership, or other
monetary interests in the entity. The Company consolidates a VIE when it is deemed to be the primary
beneficiary.rr The Company determines it is the primary beneficiary irr f it has the power to direct activities that
most significantly impact the VIE’s economic perforff mance and has the obligation to absa orb lr osses or the right
to receive benefits of the VIE that could be potentially significant to the VIE. The Company assesses whether or
not it is the primary beneficiary orr f a VIE on an ongoing basis.

Consolidll atdd edtt Securitizii atiott n

The Company elected the measurement alternative under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
810, Consolidatdd ion, and maximizes the use of observabla e inputs to estimate the faiff r value of the finff ancial assets
and liabia lities of a consolidated securitization entity. Under the measurement alternative, the Company
determined that the faiff r value of the liabia lities, which consists of securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates
issued by the entity, is based on more observable inputs than inputs used to determine the fair value of the
assets, which consists of held-for-sale loans. Thus, the fair value of these loans is determined by the sum of the
fair value of the related securitization notes and residuadd l certificff ates. Changes in the fair value of these assets
and liabia lities are included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Transferff of Finaii ncial Assets

Upstart-powered loans originated by lending partners are either retained by the lending partners,
purchased by the Company and immediately sold to institutional investors under loan sale agreements, or
purchased and held by the Company forff a period of time beforff e being sold to third-party investors, or held to
maturity by the Company for the primary purposrr e of product research and development. Loans held on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets are classified as either held-for-investment or held-for-sale, and loans
purchased for immediate resale to third-party investors are classified as held-for-sale. Immediate loan resales to
institutional investors are accounted for as transfers of financial assets when the Company surrenders control of
these loan assets. These sales typically occur shortly afteff r the origination of the loans by the lending partner and
the Company’s subsequent acquisition of the loans froff m the originating lending partner. Loans sold to
institutional investors are derecognized from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets at the time of sale in
accordance with the ASC 860, Transfes rs and Servicing. The Company records an asset or a liabia lity at faiff r value
for its estimated post-sale servicing arrangements. The Company also records liabia lities net of fair value forff
contingent obligations to repurchase loans that do not conforff m to the representations and warranties made to the
loan purchaser at the time of sale. These liabia lities are included within other liabia lities on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

Loan Servicing Assets and Liabilitii iett s

Loan servicing assets and liabia lities are recognized at fair value when the Company transfers loans,
which qualify as sales under ASC 860 with servicing rights retained or when the Company enters into servicing
agreements with lending partners who retain Upstart-powered loans. A loan servicing asset or liabia lity exists
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depending on whether the revenue from servicing is expected to more than adequately compensate the
Company forff carrying out its servicing obligations.

Loan servicing assets and liabia lities are recorded in other assets and accruerr d expenses and other
liabia lities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets, with changes in faiff r value recorded in servicing
revenue, net, which is part of revenue from fees, net in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). Referff to “No“ te 2. Revenue” forff further details.

Property,tt Equipmii ent, and SofSS twff are, Net

Property, equipment, and softwff are are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which are generally three years forff internally developed softwff are, computer and networking
equipment, and furff niture and fixff tures. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the
remaining lease term or the estimated usefulff life.

Internally developed softwff are is capitalized upon completion of the preliminary prr rojeo ct stage, when it
becomes probabla e that the project will be completed, and the software will be used as intended. Capia talized
costs primarily consist of salaries and payroll related costs forff employees directly involved in development
effoff rts. Costs related to the preliminary prr rojeo ct stage and activities occurring afteff r the implementation of the
software are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred forff software upgrades are capitalized if they result in
additional funcff tionalities or substantial enhancements.

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for potential impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverabla e. When such an event
occurs the carrying amount of the asset is reducd ed to its estimated faiff r value.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Operating leases are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets with right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
asset and lease liabia lities representing the obligation to make lease payments. Right-of-use assets (“ROU”) and
lease liabia lities are recognized at lease commencement primarily based on the present value of lease payments
over the lease term, and as necessary, at modification. The operating lease ROU assets also include any initial
direct costs, lease payments made prior to lease commencement, and lease incentives received. Variable lease
payments are expensed as incurred and are not included within the ROU asset and lease liabia lity calculation.
Variable lease payments primarily include reimbursements of costs incurred by lessors for common area
maintenance and utilities. The Company’s lease terms are the non-cancelable period including any rent-free
periods provided by the lessor and may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonabla y
certain that it will exercise that option. At lease inception, and in subsequent periods as necessary, the Company
estimates the lease term based on its assessment of extension and termination options that are reasonabla y certain
to be exercised. Lease costs for lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. As
the rate implicit on the Company’s leases is not readily determinable, the Company uses its secured incremental
borrowing rate to determine the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of
interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a
collateralized basis over a similar term and in a similar economic environment.

The Company has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components forff any leases within its
existing classes of assets and, as a result, accounts forff any lease and non-lease components as a single lease
component. The Company has immaterial leases with a term of 12 months or less.
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Derivative Finaii ncial InsII truments

The Company evaluates its contracts and financial instrumrr ents to determine if these contracts and
instruments or their parts meet the definition of derivatives in accordance with the requirements of ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. Derivatives are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at faiff r value with changes
in the value recorded in earnings on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss),
and are reported within the net cash used in operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash floff ws.
The Company uses derivative finff ancial instruments to manage risks related to our ongoing business operations,
including managing interest rates on our warehouse faciff lities. The Company does not employ derivatives for
trading or speculative purposrr es and has no derivatives classified as accounting hedges.

Benefie cial Intereststt

Beneficial interests represent the Company’s right to receive or an obligation to make cash payments to
certain loan buyers based on the credit performance of the underlying loan portfolff ios. The Company evaluates
these arrangements to determine if they or their components meet the characteristics of derivative finff ancial
instruments. Beneficial interests that meet such characteristics are reported in accordance with the derivative
financial instrumrr ents policy. For other beneficial interests that meet the criteria of a debt security, the Company
has elected to record the arrangement at fair value and recognize the changes in faiff r value and other adjud stments
on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Referff to “No“ te 5. Benefice ial
Intereststt ” forff additional inforff mation.

Non-marketabltt e Ell quity Stt ecuSS ritieii s

The Company’s strategic investments consists of non-marketable equity securities on the consolidated
balance sheets which are investments in privately held companies. Non-marketable equity securities do not have
a readily determinable fair value and are measured by the Company at cost less impairment, if any, and adjusted
for changes resulting froff m observabla e price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar
investment in the same issuer (the “measurement alternative”). Gains and losses on the investment, realized and
unrealized, are recognized in other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) and a new carrying value is establa ished forff the investment upon such recognition
of the gains and losses. There have been no unrealized or realized gains and losses or impairments related to the
non-marketable equity securities accounted for under the measurement alternative forff the years presented. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2023, the carrying value of our non-marketable equity securities was $41.3 million.

The determination of whether an orderly transaction is forff an identical or similar investment requires
significant management judgment. In its evaluation, the Company considers factff ors such as diffeff rences in the
rights and preferff ences of the investment and the extent to which those diffeff rences would affect the faiff r value of
the investment. In the event the Company identifieff s an observabla e price change from an orderly transaction forff
an identical or similar investment of the same issuer, the Company must estimate the faiff r value of its strategic
investments using the most recent data available. The Company’s impairment analysis encompasses an
assessment of both qualitative and quantitative factors.

Busineii ss Combinatiott ns

The Company accounts forff business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting which
requires the fair values of assets acquired and liabia lities assumed to be recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. Assets acquired and liabia lities assumed in a business combination are recognized at their estimated
fair value as of the acquisition date. The excess purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and
liabia lities assumed is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of faiff r values may be subju ect to adjud stment afteff r the
initial allocation forff up to a one-year period, with the corresponding offsff et to goodwill. Acquisition-related
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costs, such as legal and consulting feesff , are recognized separately from the business combination and are
expensed as incurred.

Goodwill all nd Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiaff bla e net assets
acquired. Goodwill is reviewed forff impairment annually, or more frequently if an event or a change in
circumstances indicates that goodwill may be impaired. We first assess qualitative factff ors to determine if it is
more likely than not that the faiff r value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. Examples of
qualitative facff tors include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factff ors or in the business
climate, a significant decline in our stock price, a significant decline in our projected revenue or cash floff ws, or
the presence of other indicators that would indicate a reducd tion in the faiff r value of a reporting unit. If the
Company concludes that it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
value, a quantitative test is performed. We perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test by determining the
fair value of the reporting unit and comparing it to the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the faiff r value of
the reporting unit is greater than the reporting unit’s carrying value, then the carrying value of the reporting unit
is deemed to be recoverabla e. If the carrying value of the reporting unit is greater than the reporting unit’s faiff r
value, goodwill is impaired and written down to the reporting unit’s faiff r value.

Acquired intangible assets are recorded at faiff r value on the date of acquisition and amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Acquired intangible assets are presented net of accumulated
amortization on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of intangible
assets for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount of the
assets may not be recoverabla e. We measure the recoverabia lity of intangible assets by comparing the carrying
amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows we expect the asset to generate. Impairment is
measured by the amount in which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. In addition, we
periodically evaluate the estimated remaining useful lives of long-lived intangible assets to determine whether
events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.

Revenue Recogno itiott n

The Company’s revenue consists of two components: revenue from fees, net and interest income,
interest expense, and fair value adjustments, net. The revenue from feesff , net line item on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) is primarily comprised of platforff m and referral feeff s,
net, which are recognized in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contratt cts wtt ith Ctt usCC tomers, and servicing
and other fees, net, which are accounted for under ASC 860, Transferff s arr nd Servicing. Refer to “No“ te 2.
Revenue” forff further inforff mation.

Operatintt g ExpeEE nses

Sales and Marketkk ing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of costs incurred across various advertising channels,
including expenses for partnerships with third-parties providing borrower referff rals, direct mail and digital
advertising campaigns, as well as other expenses associated with building overall brand awareness and
experiential marketing costs. Sales and marketing expenses also include payroll and other personnel-related
costs, including stock-based compensation expense, for related teams. These costs are recognized in the period
incurred.
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Customer Operations

Customer operations expenses include payroll and other personnel-related expenses, including stock-
based compensation expense, for personnel engaged in onboarding, loan servicing, customer supporu t and other
related operational teams. These costs also include costs of third-party collection agencies and other systems
and tools the Company uses as part of inforff mation verification, fraud detection, and payment processing
activities. These costs are recognized in the period incurred.

Engineering and Product Developmo ent

Engineering and product development expenses primarily consist of payroll and other employee-
related expenses, including stock-based compensation expenses, forff the engineering and product development
teams as well as the costs of systems and tools used by these teams. These costs are recognized in the period
incurred.

General, Admidd nistii ratt tive, and Othett r

General, administrative, and other expenses consist primarily of payroll and other employee-related
expenses, including stock-based compensation expense forff legal and compliance, finance and accounting,
human resources and facilities teams, as well as depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and
software, professional services fees, faciff lities and travel expenses. These costs are recognized in the period
incurred.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n

The Company issues stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-based restricted stock
units (“PRSUs”), and restricted stock to employees and non-employees, including directors and third-party
service providers, and employee stock purchase rights granted under the Company’s employee stock purchase
plan (“ESPP”). Stock options and employee stock purchase rights granted under the ESPP are initially measured
at fair value at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. RSUs and restricted stock are
measured at the fair market value of our common stock at the grant date. PRSUs are initially measured at fair
value using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Stock-based compensation expenses are recognized based on their
respective grant-date faiff r values. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, as necessary, in
subsu equent periods if actual forfeitures diffeff r froff m initial estimates. Stock-based compensation expense is
recorded net of estimated forfeitures, such that the expense is recorded only forff those awards that are expected
to vest.

Othett r IncII ome (Ex(( pexx nse), NetNN

In 2021, the Company voluntarily repaid proceeds received under the Paycheck Protection Program
plus accruerr d interest totaling $5.3 million. The Company recognized the loan principal repayment as an other
expense. In the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, other income (expense), net primarily consists of
dividend income earned by the Company on its unrestricted cash balance which is recognized in the period
earned.

Income Taxeaa s

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liabia lity method. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabia lities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards. Deferff red tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
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apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary drr iffeff rences are expected to be recovered or
settled.

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabia lities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance may be establa ished to reducd e the deferred tax
asset to the level at which it is “more likely than not” that the tax asset or benefitsff will be realized. Realization
of tax benefitff s of deducdd tible temporary drr iffeff rences and operating loss carryforwards depends on having
sufficient taxable income of an appropriate character within the carryback or carryforward periods.

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than
not of being sustained upon review by the taxing authority. Recognized income tax positions are measured at
the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss) Per ShaSS re

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net income (loss) per common share
when shares are issued that meet the definff ition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net
income (loss) per common share for each class of common stock and participating securities according to
dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method
requires income available to common stockholders for the year to be allocated between common stock and
participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income forff the year had
been distributed.

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the year.

Diluted net income (loss) per share is the amount of net income (loss) availabla e to each share of
common stock outstanding during the reporting year, adjusted to include the effect of potentially dilutive
common shares. Potentially dilutive common shares include incremental shares issued for stock options,
unvested RSUs, purchase rights committed under the ESPP, and convertible debt. The calculation of diluted net
income (loss) per share excludes all anti-dilutive common shares. For years in which the Company reports net
losses, basic and diluted net loss per share are the same because potentially dilutive common shares are not
assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Recentlytt Adoptdd edtt Accountingii Pronouncements

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2021-08, Business
Combinations (TopTT ic 805): Accounting forff Contratt ct Assets and Contratt ct Liabilities froff m ContCC ratt cts wtt ith
Customers,rr which was issued by the FASB in October 2021. The new guidance requires contract assets and
contract liabia lities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the acquirer on the
acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contratt cts wtt ith Customersrr , as if it had originated
the contracts. Under the previous business combinations guidance, such assets and liabia lities are recognized by
the acquirer at faiff r value on the acquisition date. The ASU will be applied prospectively to business
combinations occurring afteff r the adoption date. The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.

Recentlytt Issued Accountingii Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segme ent Reporting (TopiTT c 280): ImpII rovements ttt o
Repore table SegSS megg nt Discii losures. The amendments in this update improve reportabla e segment disclosure
requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures abouta significant segment expenses. Specifically, the new
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guidance requires disclosure, on an annual and interim basis, of significant segment expenses that are regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker, and an amount for other segment items by reportabla e segment,
with a description of its composition. In addition, the amendments enhance interim disclosure requirements,
clarify cff ircumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profitff or loss, and provide
new segment disclosure requirements forff entities with a single reportabla e segment. This ASU is effeff ctive forff
fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning afteff r
December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
amendments to its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-08, Intangibles—Goodwill and Othett r—CryCC ptyy o Assets
(SubtSS opic 350-60): Accounting forff and Discii losure of Cryprr to Assets. The amendments in this update require
entities that hold certain cryptrr o assets to subsu equently measure them at faiff r value, with changes in faiff r value
recorded in net income. In addition, entities are required to provide additional disclosures about the holdings of
certain cryptrr o assets. This ASU is effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2024, including
interim periods within those fisff cal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the
adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements or related
disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxeaa s (To(( pio c 740): ImpII rovements to
Income Tax Daa isclosures. The amendments in this update require entities to disclose specific categories in the
effeff ctive tax rate reconciliation and provide additional inforff mation forff reconciling items where the effeff ct of
those reconciling items is equal to or greater than 5% of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income/
loss by the appla icable statutt ory irr ncome tax rate. In addition, entities are required to disclose the year-to-date
amount of income taxes paid (net of refundsff received) disaggregated by jurisdictions. This ASU is effeff ctive forff
annual periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2024 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

2. Revenue

Revenue from Fees, Ns etNN

The Company disaggregates revenue from fees by type of service forff the years presented as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Revenue from feeff s, net:
Platform and referff ral feeff s, net $ 726,161 $ 732,237 $ 414,120
Servicing and other feesff , net 75,114 175,035 146,311

Total revenue from feeff s, net $ 801,275 $ 907,272 $ 560,431

Platfot rm and Refee rral FeeFF s, Net

The Company enters into contracts with lending partners to provide access to a cloud-based artificff ial
intelligence lending marketpltt ace developed by the Company (the “Upstart platforff m”) to enabla e lending partners
to originate unsecured personal and secured auto loans. The Upstart platforff m includes a cloud-based appla ication
(through Upstart.com or a lending partner-branded program) forff submu itting loan appla ications, verifyiff ng
information provided within submitted appla ications, risk underwriting (through a series of proprietary
technology solutions), delivery of electronic loan offers, and if the offer is accepted by the borrower, electronic
loan documentation signed by the borrower. Lending partners can specify certain parameters of loans they are
willing to originate. Under these contracts, lending partners can choose to use Upstart’s referff ral services, which
allow them to access new borrowers through Upstart’s marketing channels.
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Afteff r origination, Upstart-powered loans are either retained by lending partners, purchased by the
Company forff immediate resale to institutional investors under loan sale agreements, or purchased and held by
the Company. For loans purchased by the Company, Upstart pays lending partners a one-time loan premium feeff
upon completion of the minimum contractuatt l holding period. Upstart also pays lending partners monthly loan
trailing feeff s based on the amount and timing of principal and interest payments made by borrowers of the
underlying loans. Both the loan premium feeff s and loan trailing fees are consideration payable to customers,
which are our lending partners, and are recorded as a reducd tion to platform and referff ral feesff , net, which is part
of revenue from feeff s, net, in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The
Company recognized $23.6 million, $27.7 million, and $8.1 million of loan premium fees and loan trailing fees
as contra-revenue within platform and referff ral feesff , net during the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022, and
2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company recognized $4.9 million and $4.3 million of loan
trailing feeff liabia lity, respectively, which is recorded at fair value and included within accruerr d expenses and
other liabia lities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Refer to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff
additional inforff mation on changes in faiff r value associated with trailing feeff liabia lities.

The Company’s arrangements forff platform and referff ral services typically consist of an obligation to
provide one or both of these services to customers, on a when and if needed basis (a stand-ready obligation),
and revenue is recognized as such services are performed. Additionally, the services have the same pattern and
period of transferff , and when provided individually or together, are accounted for as a single combined
performance obligation representing a series of distinct services.

Platform and referff ral services are typically provided under a fixed or variabla e price per unit based on a
percentage of the value of loans originated each period with certain lending partners subju ect to minimum feesff ;
however, pricing for these services may also be based on usage feesff , calculated as a percentage of each loan
originated. The nature of the Company’s promise is to stand-ready and provide continuous access to and process
transactions through the platforff m. Platform and referff ral feesff represent variabla e consideration as loan origination
volume is not known at contract inception. These feeff s are determined each time a loan is originated. Fees for
platform and referff ral services are typically billed and paid on either a daily or monthly basis. As such, the
Company’s contracts with customers do not include a significant finff ancing component.

The Company also enters into subsu cription agreements with auto dealerships to access Upstart Auto
Retail software, a cloud-based solution that faciff litates dealership operations and enabla es them to provide
consumers with access to Upstart-powered auto loans. Subsu cription agreements generally have a contractuat l
term of one to six months with evergreen monthly renewals. The Company bills customers on a monthly basis.
Subsu cription fees are recognized over the contract term as the performance obligation is satisfied, and is
included within platform and referff ral feesff , net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss). During the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022 the Company recognized immaterial
amounts of subscription fee revenue and recognized $3.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company had $31.1 million and $19.5 million of accounts receivabla e that are included in other
assets on the consolidated balance sheets related to contracts with customers as of December 31, 2022 and 2023,
respectively. The standard payment terms on accounts receivabla e are 30 days. The Company’s allowance forff
bad debt and bad debt expense were immaterial forff the years presented.

The Company capia talizes incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer, which are certain
sales commissions paid to employees in connection with the acquisition of lending partners. Capitalized costs
are amortized over the expected period of benefit, which we have determined, based on an analysis, to be three
years. The Company applies the practical expedient to expense costs to obtain contracts with customers if the
amortization period is one year or less. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company had $2.6 million and
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$2.7 million of contract costs, respectively, capia talized within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Company amortized an immaterial amount,
$2.8 million, and $3.2 million, respectively, of capitalized contracts costs to sales and marketing in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the years presented.

Customers accounting forff greater than 10% of total revenue were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Customer A 56% 45% 29%
Customer B 27% 28% 23%
Customer C * * 11%

* Less than 10%

Customers accounting forff greater than 10% of accounts receivabla e were as folff lows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Customer C 23% 15%
Customer A * 11%

* Less than 10%

Servicing and Othett r FeesFF , NetNN

The Company also enters into contracts with lending partners and institutional investors to provide
loan servicing forff the life off f Upstart-powered loans. These services commence uponu origination of these loans
by lending partners and include collection, processing and reconciliations of payments received, institutional
investor reporting and borrower customer support as well as distribution of fundsff to the holders of the loans.
The Company charges the loan holder a monthly servicing fee calculated based on a predetermined percentage
of the outstanding principal balance. Servicing feesff also include certain ancillary fees charged on a per
transaction basis for processing late payments and payments declined due to insufficient fundsff . Servicing fees
are recognized in the period the services are provided. Loan servicing feesff are not within the scope of ASC 606,
Revenue from Contratt cts wtt ith Ctt usCC tomers, and are accounted for under ASC 860, Transfes rs and Servicing.

The Company charges lending partners and institutt ional investors forff collection agency feesff related to
their outstanding loan portfolff io. The Company either perforff ms borrower collection activities in-house, or
outsources to third-party collection agencies particularly forff loans that are more than 30 days past due or
charged off. Tff he Company has discretion in hiring the collection agencies and determining the scope of their
work. As the principal in the arrangement, the Company recognizes gross revenue from collection agency feeff s
in the period that the services are provided. Upstart also receives certain ancillary borrower feesff inclusive of late
payment feesff and ACH fail fees. The total feesff charged by collection agencies are recognized in the period
incurred and reported as part of customer operations expenses.

Servicing and other feeff s, net also includes gains and losses on assets and liabia lities recognized under
loan servicing arrangements forff loans retained by lending partners or loans sold to institutional investors. Such
gains or losses are recognized based on whether the benefitsff of servicing are expected to be more or less than
adequate compensation forff servicing obligations performed by the Company. Servicing feesff also include
changes in faiff r value of loan servicing assets and liabilities. Referff to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff
additional inforff mation on changes in faiff r value associated with servicing assets and liabia lities.
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The folff lowing tabla e presents the components of servicing and other fees, net as part of revenue from
fees, net in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Servicing feeff s $ 51,255 $ 115,742 $ 107,008
Borrower feeff s 7,289 25,208 29,139
Collection agency feeff s 4,473 10,519 15,865
Other feeff s 1,067 675 743
Net gain (loss) on servicing rights and fair value adjustments 11,030 22,891 (6,444)
Total servicing and other fees, net $ 75,114 $ 175,035 $ 146,311

Interest Income, Ie ntII ertt est ExpeEE nse, and FaiFF r Vii alVV ue Adjudd stmett nts,tt Net

Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments, net is comprised of interest income,
interest expense and net changes in the fair value of finff ancial instruments, held in the Company’s normal course
of business at faiff r value, including loans, derivatives, beneficial interests, notes receivable and residuadd l
certificff ates, trailing fee liabia lities, and payable to securitization note holders.

The folff lowing tabla e presents components of the interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net presented in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Interest income(1) $ 20,634 $ 105,580 $ 168,996
Interest expense(1) (3,274) (10,843) (34,894)
Fair value and other adjustments
Unrealized gain (loss) on loans, loan charge-offs,ff and other
fair value adjustments, net 1,894 (101,422) (130,440)
Realized gain (loss) on sale of loans, net 28,060 (58,143) (24,042)
Fair value losses on beneficff ial interests — — (26,489)

Total faiff r value and other adjud stments, net(1) 29,954 (159,565) (180,971)

Total interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net $ 47,314 $ (64,828) $ (46,869)
__________
(1) Includes interest income, interest expense and fair value and other adjustments, net related to the consolidated securitization as folff lows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value adjud stments,
net related to consolidated securitization:
Interest income $ — $ — $ 19,697
Interest expense — — (6,733)
Unrealized loss on loans, loan charge-offs, and other faiff r value
adjud stments, net — — (5,496)

Total interest income, interest expense, and faiff r value
adjud stments, net $ — $ — $ 7,468

Interest Income

Interest income is recognized based on the terms of the underlying agreements with borrowers for
loans held on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and is earned over the life off f a loan.

Interest income also includes accruerr d interest earned on outstanding loans but not collected. Loans that
have reached a delinquency of over 120 days are classified as non-accruarr l status and any accruerr d interest
recorded in relation to these loans is reversed in the respective period. The Company does not record an
allowance forff credit losses on accruerr d interest receivabla e. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company has
recorded $12.8 million and $14.2 million of accruerr d interest income in loans on the consolidated balance sheets,
respectively.

Interest Expex nse

Interest expense is primarily related to interest recorded on the Company’s borrowings on warehouse
credit facilities, and interest expense related to the consolidated securitization. Interest expense includes accruerr d
interest incurred but not paid. Accruerr d interest expenses were immaterial as of December 31, 2022 and 2023.
Interest expense also includes changes in faiff r value of the interest rate cap. Referff to “No“ te 4. Derivative
Financial InsII truments” forff additional inforff mation.

Fair Value and Othett r Adjustments, NetNN

Fair value and other adjustments, net include changes in faiff r value of financial instrumrr ents, other than
loan servicing assets and liabia lities and the interest rate cap. These adjud stments are recorded in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and include both realized and
unrealized changes to the value of related assets and liabia lities. Refer to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff
additional inforff mation.

Fair value and other adjustments, net also includes amounts received froff m borrowers for previously
charged-off lff oans held on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. These amounts are recognized in the
period when amounts are received. Amounts received froff m borrowers for previously charged-off lff oans were
immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, and $7.2 million forff the year ended December 31,
2023.
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3. Variable Interest Entities

Consolidll atdd edtt VIEsII

The Company consolidates VIEs in which the Company has a variabla e interest and is determined to be
the primary beneficiary.rr This determination is based on whether the Company has a variabla e interest (or
combination of variabla e interests) that provides the Company with (a) the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE’s economic perforff mance and (b) the obligation to absa orb lr osses or right to receive
benefits that could be potentially significant to the VIE. The Company continually reassesses whether it is the
primary beneficiary orr f a VIE throughout the entire period the Company is involved with the VIE.

The Company also determines whether decision-maker or service-provider feesff are variabla e interests.
Decision-maker or service-provider feesff are not considered variable interests when the arrangement does not
expose the Company to risks of loss that a potential VIE was designed to pass on to its variable interest holders,
the feesff are commensurate, the arrangement is at market, and the Company does not have any other interests
(including direct interests and certain indirect interests held through related parties) that absorb more than an
insignificant amount of a VIE’s potential variabia lity. This determination can have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidation analysis, as it could affecff t whether a legal entity is a VIE and whether the Company is
the primary beneficiary orr f a VIE. When the Company’s decision-maker or service-provider feeff is not a variabla e
interest, the Company is viewed as acting as a fiduciary for the potential VIE.

The folff lowing tabla es present a summary orr f finff ancial assets and liabia lities froff m the Company’s
involvement with consolidated VIEs:

Assets Liabilities Net Assets
December 31, 2022
Consolidated securitization $ — $ — $ —
Consolidated warehouse entities 488,337 337,269 151,068
Other consolidated VIEs 496,144 561 495,583
Total consolidated VIEs $ 984,481 $ 337,830 $ 646,651

Assets Liabilities Net Assets
December 31, 2023
Consolidated securitization $ 187,258 $ 141,420 $ 45,838
Consolidated warehouse entities 645,455 388,681 256,774
Other consolidated VIEs 362,680 851 361,829
Total consolidated VIEs $ 1,195,393 $ 530,952 $ 664,441

Consolidatdd ed Securitizaii tion

On July 6, 2023, the Company completed a private securitization securities offeff ring (“UPST 2023-2”).
As a retaining sponsor of the transaction, under risk retention requirements in Title 17 U.S. Code of Federal
Regule ations Part 246, Credit Risk Retention, promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
Company is required to retain at least 5% of the economic risk in UPST 2023-2. The Company elected to satisfyff
the risk retention requirements by holding eligible vertical retained interests in the form of a combination of
securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates. The Company has also retained the remainder of the residual
certificff ates issued as part of the transaction. The Company was the sole contributor of the collateral, which
included $204.7 million unpaid principal balance of Upstart-powered loans held by the Company. The
weighted-average coupon of the securitization notes issued was appra oximately 9.2%, and their sale generated
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approximately $165.3 million in gross cash proceeds. These proceeds and payments made on securitization
notes are classified as finff ancing activities in the statement of cash floff ws.

Upon closing of UPST 2023-2, the Company determined that servicing feesff represent a variable
interest due to the retained interests held by the Company. The retained interests held by the Company were
deemed to potentially absorb more than an insignificant amount of expected losses or expected returns at the
inception of the securitization transaction. The Company, as servicer, also has the power to direct the activities
that most significantly impact the economics of the entities associated with the UPST 2023-2 securitization, and
as such, the Company determined it was the primary beneficiary arr nd consolidated the entities associated with
UPST 2023-2.

The loans held in the consolidated securitization trust are classified as held-for-sale and included in
loans, at fair value, and the notes sold to third-party investors are recorded at fair value as payable to
securitization note holders on the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff
additional inforff mation on determination of faiff r value of these assets and liabia lities. The value of the residuadd l
certificff ates issued as part of the securitization and retained by the Company was eliminated as part of the
consolidation.

Warehouse EntEE ities

The Company establa ished Upstart Loan Trusrr t (“ULT”) and Upstart Auto Warehouse Trust (“UAWT”)
to enter into warehouse credit faciff lities forff the purposrr e of purchasing Upstart-powered loans. Refer to “No“ te 10.
Borrowings” forff additional inforff mation. These entities are Delaware statuttt ory trr rusts that are structurt ed to be
bankruptrr cy-remote, with third-party banks operating as trustees.

Othett r ConsCC olidatdd ed VIEII

The Company has forff med a number of VIEs forff the purposrr e of holding Upstart-powered loans that are
not pledged or eligible to be pledged to the Company’s warehouse credit faciff lities.

Unconsolidll atdd edtt VIEsII

The Company’s transactions with unconsolidated VIEs include securitizations of unsecured personal
whole loans and sales of whole loans to VIEs. While the Company continues to be involved with the
unconsolidated VIEs in its role as the sponsor and the servicer of securitization transactions, the Company does
not hold a significant economic interest in these entities and has determined that it is not the primary beneficiaryrr
of these entities. The Company’s unconsolidated VIEs include entities established as the issuers and grantor
trusrr ts for various securitization transactions.

In cases where the VIEs are not consolidated and the transferff of the loans from the Company to the
securitization trust meets sale accounting criteria, the Company recognizes a gain or loss on sales of loans. The
net proceeds of the sale represent the fair value of any assets obtained or liabia lities incurred as part of the
transaction. The assets are transferred into a trusrr t such that the assets are legally isolated from the creditors of
the Company and are not availabla e to satisfy obligations of the Company. These assets can only be used to settle
obligations of the underlying securitization trusts.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company exercised a clean up cu all related to two
unconsolidated VIEs and subsequently liquidated the associated entities. A clean up call option allows the
Company, as servicer, to repurchase the remaining transferred finff ancial asset once the collateral falff ls below a
predefinff ed level, which represents the point where servicing becomes administratively burdensome. The clean
up calls had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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The folff lowing tabla es summarize the aggregate value of assets and liabia lities of unconsolidated VIEs in
which the Company holds a variabla e interest but is not the primary beneficiary:rr

Assets Liabilities Net Assets

Maximum
Exposure to
Losses

December 31, 2022
Securitizations and other $ 364,013 $ 265,040 $ 98,973 $ 13,311

Assets Liabilities Net Assets

Maximum
Exposure to
Losses

December 31, 2023
Securitizations and other $ 445,929 $ 319,357 $ 126,572 $ 20,885

The Company’s maximum exposure to loss froff m its involvement with unconsolidated VIEs represents
the estimated loss that would be incurred under severe, hypothetical circumstances, forff which the Company
believes the possibility is remote. The carrying value of assets that relate to variable interests in unconsolidated
VIEs consists of $6.2 million and $14.8 million of securitization notes and residuad l certificates which are
included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. The
Company also had $7.1 million and $6.0 million of cash deposits held as reserve accounts forff related
securitizations, included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2023.

For securitization transactions where the Company is not the risk retaining sponsor, and servicing is
the only forff m of continuing involvement, the Company would only experience a loss if it were required to
repurchase such a loan due to a breach in representations and warranties and is not able to collect all
repayments, referff to “No“ te 13. Commitments and Contingencies” forff further inforff mation.

The investors and the securitization trusts have no direct recourse to the Company’s assets, and holders
of the securities issued by the securitization trusts can look only to the assets of the securitization trusts that
issued their securities forff payment. The interests held by the Company and its affiff liates are subju ect principally to
the credit and prepayment risk stemming froff m the underlying unsecured personal whole loans.

4. Derivative Financial Instruments

In Februarr ry 2023 and June 2023, UAWT and ULT entered into interest rate cap agreements with a
strike rate of 3.0% and 3.25%, respectively. The agreements were entered into in relation to the warehouse
credit facilities which bear floff ating interest rates, referff to “NotNN e 10. Borrowings” for furff ther information. The
interest rate capsa provide protection to the credit facilities against exposure to changes in cash floff ws to the
extent the underlying interest rate on the facff ility exceeds the strike rate. The UAWT interest rate cap matures in
April 2029 and the ULT interest rate cap matures June 2025. The interest rate cap agreements meet the
definition of a derivative and are reported at faiff r value. Referff to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff
additional inforff mation.

The folff lowing tabla e presents the notional amount as well as the faiff r value of interest rate caps, which is
reported as part of other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. There were no material derivative finff ancial
instruments held by the Company as of December 31, 2022.

Upstart Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular Amounts in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data and Ratios, or as Noted)

142



December 31, 2023
Notional Amount Fair Value

Interest rate capsa $ 299,578 $ 5,958

The Company recognizes changes in faiff r value of these instrumrr ents in earnings and reports them as
part of the interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The
Company recognized no gains or losses on interest rate caps durdd ing the year ended December 31, 2021 and
2022. The Company recognized an immaterial amount of fair value gains, net on interest rate capsa during the
year ended December 31, 2023.

5. Beneficial Interests

In connection with certain committed capital agreements, the Company has risk sharing arrangements
in which it is obligated to make payments to the loan buyer or is entitled to receive payments from the loan
buyer if credit performance on the underlying loans subject to the arrangements deviates froff m initial
expectations, subject to a dollar cap. The Company has beneficial interests in these arrangements which either
meet the definff ition of a derivative or that meet the criteria of a debt security. As of December 31, 2023 the
Company’s capital at risk, which represents the maximum exposure to losses, under these arrangements was
$98.5 million. The Company had no risk sharing arrangements as of December 31, 2022.

The folff lowing tabla e presents the aggregate unpaid principal balance of the underlying portfolff io as well
as the faiff r value of beneficial interest assets, which are presented as a separate asset line item on the
consolidated balance sheets and beneficial interest liabia lities which are included in other liabia lities on the
consolidated balance sheets. There were no beneficff ial interest assets or liabia lities held by the Company as of
December 31, 2022.

December 31, 2023
Unpaid Principal Balance Fair Value

Beneficial interest assets $ 958,870 $ 41,012
Beneficial interest liabia lities $ 769,102 $ 4,221

The Company recognizes beneficial interests at faiff r value with changes reported as part of the fair
value and other adjustments on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The
tabla e below presents losses recognized on beneficial interests durdd ing the year ended December 31, 2023 The
Company recognized no gains or losses on beneficff ial interest durd ing the year ended December 31, 2021 and
2022.

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Fair value losses on beneficff ial interests $ (26,489)

Refer to “No“ te 6. Fair Value MeaMM surement” forff additional inforff mation.
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6. Fair Value Measurement

The folff lowing tabla es presents assets and liabia lities measured at fair value and categorized in
accordance with the faiff r value hierarchy:

cember 31, December 31,
Level 2022 2023

Assets
Loans 3 $ 1,010,421 $ 1,156,413
Beneficial interests 3 — 41,012
Loan servicing assets 3 36,467 28,092
Notes receivabla e and residual certificates 3 6,181 14,847
Interest rate capsa (1) 2 — 5,958
Total assets $ 1,053,069 $ 1,246,322
Liabilities
Payabla e to securitization note holders 3 $ — $ 141,416
Trailing feeff liabia lities 3 4,852 4,251
Beneficial interest liabia lities 3 — 4,221
Loan servicing liabia lities 3 3,968 2,038
Total liabia lities $ 8,820 $ 151,926
__________
(1) The fair value of interest rate caps is determined based on the present value of the estimated futff urt e cash floff ws over the contract term
using observabla e market-based inputs as of the valuation date, including implied interest rates.

Financial instrumrr ents are categorized in the faiff r value hierarchy based on the significance of
unobservabla e inputs and assumptions in the overall fair value measurement. Financial instrumrr ents classified as
Level 3 within the faiff r value hierarchy do not trade in an active market with readily observable prices. The
Company uses significant unobservable inputs to measure the fair value of these assets and liabilities.

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the
years presented.

Loans

Loans included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets are classified as either held-for-sale or
held-for-investment based on the Company’s intent and ability to sell the loans prior to maturt ity. From time to
time, the Company transfers loans between the classification categories based on changes in the Company’s
intent and abia lity. Loans held in the consolidated securitization include loans contributed as collateral to and
held in the consolidated securitization (UPST 2023-2) and are classified as held-for-sale folff lowing their
classification uponu the contribution.
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The folff lowing tabla e presents the fair value of classes of loans included in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2023:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Loans held-for-sale $ 882,810 $ 830,574
Loans held-for-investment 127,611 146,768
Loans held in consolidated securitization — 179,071

Total $ 1,010,421 $ 1,156,413

Valuation MetMM hodoltt ogy

Loans held-for-sale and held-for-investment are measured at estimated faiff r value using a discounted
cash floff w model. The faiff r valuation methodology considers projeo cted prepayments and historical defaults,
losses and recoveries to project future losses and net cash floff ws on loans. Net cash floff ws are discounted using
an estimate of market rates of returt n. The faiff r value of these loans also includes accruerr d interest.

The Company elected the measurement alternative under Topic 810, Consolidatdd ion, and maximizes the
use of observabla e inputs to estimate the faiff r value of the finff ancial assets and liabia lities of UPST 2023-2. Under
the measurement alternative, the Company determined that inputs used to determine the value of UPST 2023-2
liabia lities, which consist of securitization notes and residuad l certificates issued as part of this securitization, are
more observabla e than those used to measure faiff r value of UPST 2023-2 finff ancial assets, which consist of held-
for-sale loans contributed as collateral. Thus, the loans are measured based on the sum of the fair value of the
UPST 2023-2 securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates, with changes in faiff r value included in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Signii fii cant Inputn s att nd Assumptions

The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation abouta the significant unobservabla e inputs used
for the Company’s Level 3 faiff r value measurements for loans held-for-investment and held-for-sale:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average (2) Minimum Maximum

Weighted-
Average (2)

Discount rate 6.36 % 22.28 % 11.87 % 9.63 % 23.22 % 12.06 %
Credit risk rate (1) 0.01 % 93.09 % 16.93 % 0.01 % 93.10 % 17.66 %
Prepayment rate (1) 0.08 % 93.43 % 40.49 % 0.13 % 95.80 % 36.52 %
_________
(1) Expressed as a percentage of the original principal balance of the loans.
(2) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.
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The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation about the significant unobservabla e inputs implied
for the Company’s Level 3 faiff r value measurements for loans held in consolidated securitization, which is
determined by the sum of the faiff r value of the related securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average (2) Minimum Maximum

Weighted-
Average (2)

Discount rate * * * 6.85 % 16.00 % 9.99 %
Credit risk rate (1) * * * 0.61 % 37.70 % 15.51 %
Prepayment rate (1) * * * 6.66 % 89.84 % 42.73 %
_________
(1) Expressed as a percentage of the original principal balance of the loans.
(2) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.
* Not applicable

Discii ount rates–The discount rates are rates of returt n used to discount future expected cash floff ws to
arrive at a present value, which represents the fair value. The discount rates used forff the projeo cted net cash
flows are the Company’s estimates of the rates of returtt n that market participants would require when investing
in these finff ancial instruments with cash floff ws dependent on credit quality of the related loan. A risk premium
component is implicitly included in the discount rates to refleff ct the amount of compensation market participants
require due to the uncertainty inherent in the instrumrr ents’ cash floff ws resulting froff m risks such as credit and
liquidity.

Credit riskii rates–The credit risk rates are an estimate of the net cumulative principal payments that will
not be repaid over the entire life of a finff ancial instrument. The credit risk rates are expressed as a percentage of
the original principal amount of the instrumrr ent. The estimated net cumulative loss represents the sum of the net
losses estimated to occur each month of the life off f the instrument, net of the average recovery expected to be
received.

Prepayment rates–Prepayment rates are an estimate of the cumulative principal prepayments that will
occur over the entire life off f a loan as a percentage of the original principal amount of the loan. The assumption
regarding cumulative prepayments impacts the projected balances and expected terms of the loans.
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Signii fii cant Recurring Level 3 Fair Value InpII ut Sensitivity

The folff lowing tabla e presents the sensitivity of the faiff r value of loans held-for-sale and held-for-
investment to adverse changes in key assumptions used in the valuation model as of December 31, 2022 and
2023, respectively.

December 31,
2022 2023

Fair value of loans held-for-sale and held-for-investment $ 1,010,421 $ 977,342
Discount rates
100 basis point increase (11,979) (11,680)
200 basis point increase (23,720) (23,127)

Expected credit loss rates on underlying loans
10% adverse change (11,927) (12,453)
20% adverse change (23,852) (24,979)

Expected prepayment rates
10% adverse change (2,284) (1,884)
20% adverse change (4,530) (3,756)

The folff lowing tabla e presents the sensitivity of the fair value of loans in consolidated securitization to
adverse changes in key assumptions used in the valuation model as of December 31, 2023. No loans were held
in consolidated securitization as of December 31, 2022.

December 31,
2023

Fair value of loans held in consolidated securitization $ 179,071
Discount rates
100 basis point increase (2,413)
200 basis point increase (4,785)

Expected credit loss rates on underlying loans
10% adverse change (2,669)
20% adverse change (5,227)

Expected prepayment rates
10% adverse change (1,625)
20% adverse change (3,234)
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Rollfol rward of Lo evel 3 Fair Values

The folff lowing tabla es include a rollforff ward of the loans classified within Level 3 of the faiff r value
hierarchy:

ans Held-
for-
Sale

Loans Held-
for-

Investment

Loans Held in
Consolidated
Securitization Total

Fair value at December 31, 2021 $ 142,685 $ 109,792 $ — $ 252,477
Reclassification of loans(1) 103,677 (103,677) — —
Purchases of loans(1) 1,807,787 149,344 — 1,957,131
Sale of loans(1) (914,369) — — (914,369)
Purchase of loans forff immediate resale(1) 5,992,148 — — 5,992,148
Immediate resale of loans(1) (5,992,148) — — (5,992,148)
Repayments received(1) (180,135) (15,194) — (195,329)
Charge-offs and changes in faiff r value
recorded in earnings (85,567) (14,215) — (99,782)
Other charges 8,732 1,561 — 10,293
Fair value at December 31, 2022 $ 882,810 $ 127,611 $ — $ 1,010,421
Transferff of loans to consolidated
securitization (2) (209,968) — 209,968 —
Purchases and originations of loans(1)(3) 1,676,146 157,223 — 1,833,369
Sale of loans(1) (1,241,233) — — (1,241,233)
Purchase of loans forff immediate resale(1) 1,330,364 — — 1,330,364
Immediate resale of loans(1) (1,330,364) — — (1,330,364)
Repayments received(1) (202,982) (89,210) (24,832) (317,024)
Charge-offs and changes in faiff r value
recorded in earnings (74,952) (53,304) (6,065) (134,321)
Other changes 753 4,448 — 5,201
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ 830,574 $ 146,768 $ 179,071 $ 1,156,413
_________
(1) Represents the principal balance.
(2) Transfer of loans to consolidated securitization at faiff r value.
(3) Purchase activity includes an immaterial unpaid principal balance related to securitization clean-up cu alls during the year ended

December 31, 2023.

The folff lowing tabla e presents the aggregate faiff r value and aggregate principal outstanding of all loans
and loans that were 90 days or more past due included in the consolidated balance sheets:

Loans Loans > 90 Days Past Due
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2022 2023 2022 2023
Outstanding principal balance $ 1,047,714 $ 1,182,577 $ 9,006 $ 15,310
Net faiff r value and accrued interest
adjud stments (37,293) (26,164) (7,006) (12,260)
Fair value(1) $ 1,010,421 $ 1,156,413 $ 2,000 $ 3,050
_________
(1) Includes $397.7 million and $343.1 million of auto loans at fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively, of which an

immaterial amount and $2.8 million is 90 days or more past dued as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.
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The Company places loans on non-accrual statust at 120 days past due. Any accruerr d interest recorded
in relation to these loans is reversed in the respective period. The Company charges-off lff oans no later than 120
days past due.

Assets and Liabiliii tiii es related to Stt ecuSS ritizii atiott n TraTT nsactions

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company held notes receivable and residuadd l certificates with
an aggregate faiff r value of $6.2 million and $14.8 million, respectively, within other assets on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. The balances consist of securitization notes and residuad l certificff ates retained from
securitization transactions.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company recognized payables to securitization note holders of $141.4
million at faiff r value. The balance represents the value of the securitization notes issued and owned by third-
party investors in connection with UPST 2023-2. Accruerr d interest on these financial instrumrr ents is immaterial
as of December 31, 2023. The value of the UPST 2023-2 securitization notes and residuadd l certificates retained
by the Company is eliminated in the consolidation process. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not
hold liabia lities related to the consolidated securitization transaction.

Valuation MetMM hodoltt ogy

The Company prioritizes the use of observabla e inputs in estimating the fair value of notes receivabla e
and residuad l certificates and payable to securitization note holders when availabla e. When market activity forff
these finff ancial instruments is not observabla e, the faiff r value is determined using a discounted cash floff w
methodology. This approach uses assumptions of projected cash floff ws of the underlying collateral loan pools
adjud sted for featff urtt es of these securities, which refleff ct the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market
participant would use to calculate faiff r value.

Signii fii cant Inputn s att nd Assumptions

The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation abouta the significant unobservabla e inputs used
for the Company’s Level 3 faiff r value measurements related to note receivabla e, residual certificff ates, and payabla e
to securitization note holders:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average (2) Minimum Maximum

Weighted-
Average (2)

Notes receivable and residual
certificff ates
Discount rate 8.42 % 22.27 % 12.79 % 9.99 % 23.22 % 12.74 %
Credit risk rate (1) 0.59 % 50.69 % 18.43 % 0.48 % 50.69 % 16.32 %
Prepayment rate (1) 10.90 % 88.73 % 42.66 % 6.36 % 89.46 % 43.14 %
Payable to securitization note
holders
Discount rate * * * 6.85 % 12.30 % 8.48 %
Credit risk rate (1) * * * 0.61 % 37.70 % 15.51 %
Prepayment rate (1) * * * 6.66 % 89.84 % 42.73 %
_________
(1) Expressed as a percentage of the original principal balance of the loans underlying the finff ancial instruments.
(2) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.
* Not applicable
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Signii fii cant Recurring Level 3 Fair Value InpII ut Sensitivity

Notes Receivable and Residual Certificates

Adverse changes in discount rates, credit risk rates, or prepayment rates do not result in a material
impact to the faiff r value of notes receivabla e and residual certificates as of December 31, 2022 and 2023.

Payaa ble to SecSS uritization NotNN e HolHH dell rs

The faiff r value of the payable to securitization note holders is sensitive to adverse changes in discount
rates, which represent estimates of the rates of returt n that institutt ional investors would require when investing in
financial instrumrr ents with similar risk and returt n characteristics. On average, a hypothetical 100 and 200 basis
point increase in discount rates results in a decrease in faiff r value of payabla e to securitization note holders of
$1.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2023. Adverse changes in credit risk rates and
expected prepayment rates do not result in a material impact to the faiff r value of payabla e to securitization note
holders as of December 31, 2023. The Company held no payable to securitization note holders as of December
31, 2022.

Rollfol rward of Lo evel 3 Fair Values

The folff lowing tabla es include a rollforff ward of the notes receivable and residuadd l certificff ates and payables
to securitization note holders related to securitization transactions classified by the Company within Level 3 of
the faiff r value hierarchy:

Notes Receivable
and Residual
Certificff ates

Payable to
Securitization Note

Holders
Fair value at December 31, 2021 $ 8,288 $ —
Additions 4,680 —
Repayments and settlements (6,736) —
Changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (51) —
Fair value at December 31, 2022 $ 6,181 $ —
Additions 13,172 165,318
Repayments and settlements (4,328) (23,320)
Changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (178) (582)
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ 14,847 $ 141,416

Loan Servicing Assets and Liabilitii iett s

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company’s loan servicing assets had a fair value of
$36.5 million and $28.1 million, respectively, recorded within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company’s loan servicing liabilities had a fair value of $4.0 million
and $2.0 million, respectively, recorded within other accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Valuation MetMM hodoltt ogy

Loan servicing assets and liabia lities are measured at estimated faiff r value using a discounted cash floff w
model. The cash floff ws in the valuation model represent the diffeff rence between the contractuat l servicing fees
charged to institutional investors and an estimated market servicing fee. Since contractuat l servicing fees are
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generally based on the monthly unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans, the expected cash floff ws in the
model incorporrr ate estimates of net losses and prepayments.

Signii fii cant Inputn s att nd Assumptions

The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation abouta the significant unobservabla e inputs used
for the Company’s Level 3 faiff r value measurements for loan servicing assets and liabia lities:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average (2) Minimum Maximum

Weighted-
Average (2)

Discount rate 13.00 % 20.00 % 17.20 % 13.00 % 20.00 % 16.89 %
Credit risk rate (1) 0.03 % 91.76 % 16.22 % 0.05 % 88.42 % 14.93 %
Market-servicing rate (3)(4) 0.62 % 3.72 % 0.62 % 0.62 % 3.72 % 0.62 %
Prepayment rate (1) 0.53 % 91.99 % 41.19 % 1.05 % 96.90 % 41.05 %
_________
(1) Expressed as a percentage of the original principal balance of the loans underlying the servicing arrangement.
(2) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.
(3) Excludes ancillary fees that would be passed on to a third-party servicer.
(4) Expressed as a percentage of the outstanding principal balance of personal loans and auto loans, of 0.62% and 3.72%, respectively.

Discii ount rates–The discount rates are the Company’s estimate of the rates of return that market
participants in servicing rights would require when investing in similar servicing rights. Discount rates forff
servicing rights on existing loans are adjusted to refleff ct the time value of money and a risk premium intended to
reflect the amount of compensation market participants would require due to the uncertainty associated with
these instrumrr ents’ cash floff ws.

Credit riskii rates–The credit risk rates are the Company’s estimate of the net cumulative principal
payments that will not be repaid over the entire life off f a loan expressed as a percentage of the original principal
amount of the loan. The assumption regarding net cumulative losses impacts the projected balances and
expected terms of the loans, which are used to project future servicing revenues.

Marketkk -servicing rates–Market-servicing rate is an estimated measure of adequate compensation forff a
market participant, if one was required. The rate is expressed as a fixed percentage of outstanding principal
balance per annum. The estimate considers the profitff that would be demanded in the marketpltt ace to service the
portfolff io of outstanding loans subject to the Company’s servicing agreements.

Prepayment rates–Prepayment rates are the Company’s estimate of the cumulative principal
prepayments that will occur over the entire life off f a loan as a percentage of the original principal amount of the
loan. The assumption regarding cumulative prepayments impacts the projected balances and expected terms of
the loans, which are used to projeo ct future servicing revenues.

Signii fii cant Recurring Level 3 Fair Value InpII ut Sensitivity

The table below presents the fair value sensitivity of loan servicing assets and liabia lities to adverse
changes in key assumptions. The fair value of loan servicing assets and liabia lities is not sensitive to adverse
changes in discount rates and prepayments rates as such changes would not result in a significant impact on the
fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.
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December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Fair value of loan servicing assets $ 36,467 $ 28,092
Expected market-servicing rates
10% market-servicing rates increase (9,989) (7,475)
20% market-servicing rates increase (19,950) (14,916)

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Fair value of loan servicing liabilities $ 3,968 $ 2,038
Expected market-servicing rates
10% market-servicing rates increase 2,303 1,100
20% market-servicing rates increase 4,640 2,235

Rollfol rward of Lo evel 3 Fair Values

The folff lowing tabla es present a rollforward of the loan servicing assets and liabia lities classified by the
Company within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Loan
Servicing
Assets

Loan
Servicing
Liabilities

Fair value at December 31, 2021 $ 18,388 $ 8,780
Sale of loans 31,041 2,302
Repayments and other changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (12,962) (7,114)
Fair value at December 31, 2022 $ 36,467 $ 3,968
Sale of loans 13,796 83
Repayments and other changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (22,171) (2,013)
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ 28,092 $ 2,038

Benefie cial Intereststt

In connection with certain loan sale agreements, the Company is obligated to make payments to the
loan buyer or is entitled to receive payments from the buyer if credit performance on personal loans subju ect to
the arrangement deviate froff m initial expectations, subject to a dollar cap. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company held beneficff ial interest assets related to these arrangements of $41.0 million and beneficial interest
liabia lities of $4.2 million. The Company held no beneficial interests as of December 31, 2022.

Valuation MetMM hodoltt ogy

Beneficial interests are measured at estimated fair value using a discounted cash floff w model. The faiff r
valuation methodology considers projeo cted defaults, losses and recoveries to project future losses and net cash
flows on the underlying loans. Net cash floff ws are discounted using an estimate of market rates of returtt n that
reflect the risk premium related to those cash floff ws. The models use inputs that are inherently judgmental and
reflect the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to determine faiff r value.
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Signii fii cant Inputn s att nd Assumptions

The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation abouta the significant unobservabla e inputs used
for the Company’s faiff r value measurements of beneficial interests as of December 31, 2023:

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average(1)

Beneficial interest assets
Discount rate 7.00 % 14.00 % 13.63 %
Credit risk rate spread (2) (0.85)% (0.85)% (0.85)%
Beneficial interest liabilities
Discount rate 14.00 % 14.00 % 14.00 %
Credit risk rate spread (2) 0.09 % 9.81 % 8.79 %
_________
(1) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.
(2) Expressed as a percentage of cumulative loss expectations as of the valuation date compared to the origination date.

Discii ount rates–The discount rates are rates of returt n used to discount future expected cash floff ws to
arrive at a present value, which represents the fair value. The discount rates used forff the projeo cted net cash
flows are the Company’s estimates of the rates of returtt n that market participants would require when investing
in these finff ancial instruments with cash floff ws dependent on credit performance of the underlying loan portfolff io.
A risk premium component is implicitly included in the discount rates to refleff ct the amount of compensation
market participants require due to the uncertainty inherent in the instrumrr ents’ cash floff ws resulting froff m risks
such as credit and liquidity. The Company uses two differff ent discount rates forff expected cash floff ws associated
with demonstrated to-date credit performance and those associated with future credit performance. The
difference in these rates refleff cts the level of uncertainty and, as a result, risk premium that would be required by
market participants when investing in these instruments.

Credit riskii rate spreads–Credit risk rates for beneficff ial interests are determined the same way as forff
underlying loan portfolff ios. Credit risk rates are an estimate of cumulative losses, net of average recoveries, of
the underlying portfolff io, which represent the amount of principal that will not be repaid over the entire life off f a
financial instrumrr ent. The credit risk rate spreads are the relative diffeff rence, expressed as a percentage, between
the expected credit risk rate on origination date and the estimated credit risk rate as of a valuation date.

The folff lowing tabla e presents the sensitivity of beneficial interest assets and liabia lities to adverse
changes in key assumptions used in the valuation model as of December 31, 2023. Adverse changes in discount
rates do not result in a material impact to the faiff r value of beneficial interest liabia lities as of December 31, 2023.
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Signii fii cant Recurring Level 3 Fair Value InpII ut Sensitivity

December 31,
2023

Fair value of beneficial interest assets $ 41,012
Discount rate
100 basis point increase (1,240)
200 basis point increase (2,431)
Expected credit rate spreads on underlying loans
10% adverse change (9,059)
20% adverse change (16,743)

Fair value of beneficial interest liabilities $ 4,221
Expected credit rate spreads on underlying loans
10% adverse change 5,606
20% adverse change 11,217

Rollfol rward of Lo evel 3 Fair Values

The folff lowing tabla es present a rollforward of beneficff ial interest assets and liabia lities:

Beneficial
Interest Assets

Beneficial
Interest
Liabilities

Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ — $ —
Additions 62,684 —
Settlements — (596)
Changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (21,672) 4,817
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ 41,012 $ 4,221

Trailinii g FeeFF Liabii litii iett s

The Company pays certain bank partners monthly trailing fees based on the amount and timing of
principal and interest payments made by borrowers of the underlying loans. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023,
the Company held trailing feeff liabia lities of $4.9 million and $4.3 million, respectively.

Valuation MetMM hodoltt ogy

The discounted cash flow methodology, which is used to estimate the faiff r value of trailing feeff
liabia lities, uses the same projected net cash floff ws as the underlying loans. The faiff r valuation methodology
considers projeo cted prepayments and historical defaults, losses and recoveries to project future losses and net
cash floff ws of the underlying loans. Net cash floff ws are discounted using an estimate of market rates of returt n.
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Signii fii cant Inputn s att nd Assumptions

The folff lowing tabla e presents quantitative inforff mation abouta the significant unobservabla e inputs used
for the Company’s Level 3 faiff r value measurements for trailing feeff liabia lities:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Minimum Maximum
Weighted-
Average (2) Minimum Maximum

Weighted-
Average (2)

Discount rate 6.36 % 22.28 % 12.80 % 9.63 % 23.22 % 12.88 %
Credit risk rate (1) 0.01 % 93.09 % 18.43 % 0.01 % 88.42 % 17.61 %
Prepayment rate (1) 0.53 % 93.43 % 39.89 % 1.05 % 94.68 % 39.94 %
_________
(1) Expressed as a percentage of the original principal balance of the loans.
(2) Unobservabla e inputs were weighted by relative faiff r value.

Signii fii cant Recurring Level 3 Fair Value InpII ut Sensitivity

The faiff r value sensitivity of trailing feeff liabia lities to adverse changes in key assumptions would not
result in a material impact on the Company’s finff ancial position or results of operations.

Rollfol rward of Lo evel 3 Fair Values

The folff lowing tabla es include a rollforff ward of trailing fee liabia lities classified by the Company within
Level 3 of the faiff r value hierarchy:

Trailing Fee
Liabilities

Fair value at December 31, 2021 $ 4,315
Issuances 3,898
Repayments and settlements (3,001)
Changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings (360)
Fair value at December 31, 2022 $ 4,852
Issuances 2,126
Repayments and settlements (2,757)
Changes in faiff r value recorded in earnings 30
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ 4,251

7. Acquisitions

In April 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Prodigy Software, Inc. (“Prodigy”). Prodigy
provided a modern multi-channel car buying experience, helping dealerships serve consumers with a holistic
software solution that integrates legacy systems. The acquisition enabla ed the launch of Upstart Auto Retail
software, a cloud-based solution that enabla es dealerships to provide consumers with access to Upstart-powered
auto loans by combining Prodigy Software and Upstart intellectuatt l property.
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The total consideration the Company provided forff Prodigy was $89.0 million, comprised of the
following:

April 8, 2021
Fair value of Upstart common stock issued to Prodigy stockholders(1) $ 70,121
Cash paid to common and preferred stockholders, warrant holders, and vested option
holders 17,151
Fair value of assumed Prodigy options attributable to pre-combination service period 889
Transactions costs paid by Upstart on behalf of Prodigy 883
Total purchase consideration $ 89,044
_________
(1) The fair value is based on 568,539 shares of Company common stock at $123.33 per share, the closing stock price on April 8, 2021,

and 87,339 shares are held in escrow as security for certain indemnificff ation obligations of former Prodigy stockholders.

Excluded froff m the total purchase consideration abovea are 82,201 shares of the Company’s restricted
common stock (“restricted stock”) with a faiff r value of $10.1 million issued to certain Prodigy employees. As of
the year ended December 31, 2023, all restricted stock was fully lapsa ed. Referff to “No“ te 11. Stockholdell rs'
Equity” forff further inforff mation.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The purchase consideration was
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired as of the acquisition date, with the excess
recorded to goodwill. The values assigned to the assets acquired and liabia lities assumed were based on estimates
of fair value availabla e to us as of the date of acquisition, and adjusted durdd ing the measurement period, which
ended on January 1, 2022. No material adjud stments to the fair value of assets and liabia lities were made durdd ing
the measurement period. Refer to “No“ te 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets” forff further inforff mation.

The Company recognized acquisition-related costs of $1.2 million in the year ended December 31,
2021, which are included in the general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations
and comprehensive income (loss). No acquisition-related costs were incurred during the year ended December
31, 2022 and 2023.

We have included the financial results of the acquired business in our consolidated financial statements
from the date of acquisition. These revenues and expenses were immaterial for the year ended December 31,
2021. Pro forff ma results of operations have not been presented because the effects of this acquisition were not
material to our financial results.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwillll

During the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were no changes in the carrying amount of
goodwill of $67.1 million on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets subju ect to amortization consist of developed technology and customer
relationships, and are recorded net of amortization and included within other assets on the consolidated balance
sheets. The gross and net carrying values and accumulated amortization are as follows:
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December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Developed technology $ 9,400 $ (5,483) $ 3,917 $ 9,400 $ (8,617) $ 783
Customer relationships 13,700 (1,998) 11,702 13,700 (3,139) 10,561
Total intangible assets $ 23,100 $ (7,481) $ 15,619 $ 23,100 $ (11,756) $ 11,344

Amortization expense was $3.2 million, $4.3 million and $4.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively.

Expected future amortization expense forff intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Fiscal Years:
2024 $ 1,925
2025 1,142
2026 1,142
2027 1,142
2028 1,142
Thereafteff r 4,851
Total $ 11,344

9. Balance Sheet Components

Othett r Assets

Other assets consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Servicing feesff and other receivables $ 46,652 $ 40,490
Loan servicing assets (at faiff r value) 36,467 28,092
Other assets 22,678 18,589
Prepaid expenses 16,740 17,976
Notes receivabla e and residual certificates (at fair value) 6,181 14,847
Intangible assets, net(2) 15,631 11,356
Deposits 10,002 8,919
Interest rate capsa (at faiff r value)(1) — 5,958
Total other assets $ 154,351 $ 146,227

_________
(1) Referff to “No“ te 4. Derivative FinFF ancial InsII truments” for furff ther information.
(2) Referff to “No“ te 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets” forff further inforff mation.

Servicing feeff s and other receivabla es represent amounts recognized as revenue but not yet collected in
relation to servicing and other agreements with instituttt ional investors and lending partners.
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Property,tt Equipmii ent, and SofSS twff are, Net

Property, equipment, and softwff are, net consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Internally developed softwff are $ 37,783 $ 55,008
Leasehold improvements 13,074 14,281
Computer and networking equipment 6,049 6,054
Furniture and fixff tures 4,421 4,761
Total property, equipment, and softwff are 61,327 80,104

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (17,159) (37,449)
Total property, equipment, and softwff are, net $ 44,168 $ 42,655

For the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, depreciation and amortization expense on
property, equipment, and softwff are was $4.2 million, $13.5 million, and $20.6 million, respectively. Capia talized
internally developed softwff are balances, net of accumulated amortization, were $27.4 million and $31.3 million
as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. The Company also recognized impairment charges to
internally developed softwff are of $2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 as a result of the
January 2023 Plan. Referff to “No“ te 16. Reorganir zaii tion Expex nses” forff more information. There were no
impairments of long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Accrued ExpeEE nses and Other Liabilitii iett s

Accruerr d expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Accruerr d payroll $ 21,825 $ 30,161
Accruerr d expenses 23,506 28,099
Trailing feeff liabia lity (at faiff r value) 4,852 4,251
Beneficial interest liabia lities (at fair value) — 4,221
Other liabia lities 12,795 2,668
Loan servicing liabia lities (at faiff r value) 3,968 2,038
Total accruerr d expenses and other liabilities $ 66,946 $ 71,438
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10. Borrowings

The folff lowing tabla e presents the aggregate principal outstanding of all debt mentioned in this note that
are included in the consolidated balance sheets:

Borrowings
December 31, December 31,

2022 2023
Warehouse credit facff ilities $ 336,452 $ 387,425
Convertible senior notes 661,250 661,250
Total payments dued 997,702 1,048,675
Unamortized debt discount (11,308) (8,251)
Total borrowings $ 986,394 $ 1,040,424

Warehouse CreCC dit Fii acFF ilitiii es

Upstart Loan Trust WarWW ehouse CreCC dit FacFF ilitytt

In November 2015, the Company’s consolidated VIE, ULT, entered into a revolving credit and
security agreement with a third-party lender (the “ULT Warehouse Credit Facility”). The credit and security
agreement forff the ULT Warehouse Credit Facility was amended and restated in its entirety in May 2020 and has
been further amended froff m time to time. Under the revolving credit and security agreement, the ULT
Warehouse Credit Facility provides an aggregate of $250.0 million financing capacity of which $175.0 million
is committed and $75.0 million is uncommitted. ULT may borrow up tu o this capacity until the earlier of June
15, 2025 or the occurrence of an accelerated amortization event. Accelerated amortization events include, but
are not limited to, faiff lure to satisfy certain loan performance metrics or the occurrence of an event of default.
The proceeds may only be used to purchase unsecured personal loans and to pay fees and expenses related to
the credit faciff lity. The ULT Warehouse Credit Facility matures on the earlier of June 15, 2026 or acceleration of
the faciff lity folff lowing an event of defauff lt, upon which date 100% of the outstanding principal amount, together
with any accrued and unpaid interest, becomes dued and payable. The ULT Warehouse Credit Facility bears a
floating interest rate of Compounded Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus a spread ranging from
2.75% to 4.13% per annum, duedd and payable monthly in arrears. The Company is also subju ect to a monthly
unused fee ranging from 0.15% to 1.00% per annum on the undrawn balance. The maximum advance rate under
the ULT Warehouse Credit Facility on outstanding principal of loans held by ULT was 72.5% as of
December 31, 2022 and 2023.

In June 2023, ULT entered into an interest rate cap agreement intended to protect against exposure to
changes in cash floff ws attributable to interest rate risk on the warehouse faciff lity. Referff to “No“ te 4. Derivative
Financial InsII truments” forff further details related to the agreement.

The ULT Warehouse Credit Facility contains certain finff ancial covenants. As of December 31, 2022
and 2023, ULT was in compliance with all appla icable covenants under the ULT Warehouse Credit Facility. The
creditors of ULT have no recourse to the general credit of the Company, except forff certain limited obligations
of ULT to its creditors that are guaranteed by the Company. The Company does not guarantee the credit
performance of the loans owned by ULT, and the loans and other assets owned by ULT are not availabla e to
settle the claims of creditors of the Company.
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The folff lowing tabla e includes the aggregate balances held by ULT that were pledged as collateral forff
the ULT Warehouse Credit Facility and included in loans at fair value and restricted cash in the consolidated
balance sheets:

ULTWarehouse Credit Facility
December 31,

2022
December 31,

2023
Outstanding borrowings $ 163,773 $ 247,942
Aggregate outstanding principal of loans pledged as collateral 228,895 350,396
Aggregate faiff r value of loans purchased and held by ULT 256,024 356,109
Restricted cash pledged as collateral $ 8,547 $ 10,799

Upstart Auto WarWW ehouse TruTT st Credit Facilitytt

In December 2021, the Company’s consolidated VIE, UAWT, entered into a revolving credit and
security agreement with a third-party lender (the “UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility”). The credit and security
agreement forff the UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility was amended and restated in its entirety in August 2022
and has been further amended froff m time to time.

On January 31, 2023, UAWT entered into the Omnibus Amendment to the Credit Agreement with the
existing third-party lender which extended the last date by which UAWT may make a drawdown froff m its
existing $200 million UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility until the earlier of June 2024 or an accelerated
amortization event. An accelerated amortization event includes, but is not limited to, failure to satisfy certain
loan performance metrics or the occurrence of an event of default. The proceeds may only be used to purchase
secured auto loans originated using Upstart’s platform and to pay fees and expenses related to the credit facility.
The UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility matures in June 2025, at which time all outstanding amounts owed must
be repaid. As of December 31, 2023 the UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility bears interest per annum at a rate
equivalent to the weighted-average cost of commercial papea r notes issued by the lender (the “UAWT
Benchmark Rate”), plus a spread ranging from 3.0% to 4.0%, and the maximum advance rate under the credit
facility on outstanding principal of loans held by UAWT was 82.5% as of December 31, 2022 and 72.5% as of
December 31, 2023. All other key terms of the Omnibus Amendment to the Credit Agreement were the same as
those as of December 31, 2022.

In Februarr ry 2023, UAWT entered into an interest rate cap agreement intended to protect against
exposure to changes in cash floff ws attributable to interest rate risk on the warehouse faciff lity. Referff to “No“ te 4.
Derivative FinFF ancial InsII truments” forff further details related to the agreement.

The UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility contains certain finff ancial covenants. As of December 31, 2022
and 2023, UAWT was in compliance with all applicable covenants under the UAWT Warehouse Credit
Facility. The creditors of UAWT have no recourse to the general credit of the Company, except forff certain
limited obligations of UAWT to its creditors that are guaranteed by the Company.

The folff lowing tabla e includes the aggregate balances held by UAWT that were pledged as collateral forff
the UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility and included in loans at fair value and restricted cash in the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2023.
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UAWTWarehouse Credit Facility
December 31,

2022
December 31,

2023
Outstanding borrowings $ 172,679 $ 139,483
Aggregate outstanding principal of loans pledged as collateral 221,847 277,576
Aggregate faiff r value of loans purchased and held by UAWT 216,539 258,374
Restricted cash pledged as collateral $ 843 $ 446

Convertible Senior Notes

On August 20, 2021, the Company issued $661.3 million aggregate principal amount of 0.25%
convertible senior notes due 2026 (“Notes”) pursuant to an indenturtt e (the “Indenturt e”), (including the exercise
in full of the initial purchasers’ option of an additional $86.3 million aggregate principal of additional notes) in
a private placement to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to RulRR e 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. The net proceeds froff m the sale of the Notes were $645.5 million after deducting debt issuance costs.

The Notes represent senior unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 0.25%
per year, payable semiannually in arrears on February 1rr 5 and August 15 of each year beginning on Februarr ry 15,
2022. The Notes mature on August 15, 2026 unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased in accordance
with their terms.

The Notes will be convertible at an initial conversion rate of 3.5056 shares of our common stock per
$1,000 principal amount of Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of $285.26 per share,
subju ect to adjud stment if certain events occur. Following certain corporrr ate events that may occur prior to the
maturity date or following our issuance of a notice of redemption, the Company will increase the conversion
rate for a holder who elects to convert its Notes in connection with such corporate event or during the related
redemption period in certain circumstances. Additionally, upon the occurrence of a corporate event that
constitutt es a “fundamental change” per the Indenture, holders of the Notes may require the Company to
repurchase forff cash all or a portion of their respective notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Note plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Holders may convert their Notes at their option any time prior to the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding May 15, 2026 only under the following circumstances:

(1) durd ing any calendar quarter commencing afteff r December 31, 2021 (and only durdd ing such calendar
quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Common Stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each
applicable trading day;

(2) durd ing the five business-day period after any fivff e consecutive trading-day period in which the
trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes forff each trading day of such five consecutive trading-day
period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Common Stock and the conversion
rate on each such trading day;

(3) if we call any or all of the Notes forff redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the
second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; or

(4) uponu the occurrence of specified corporate events.
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On or afteff r May 15, 2026, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately
preceding the maturity date, holders of the Notes may convert all or any portion of their Notes regardless of the
foregoing conditions. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, either cash, shares
of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at its election.

The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to August 20, 2024. The Company may redeem for cash
all or any portion of the Notes, at our option, on or afteff r August 20, 2024, if the last reported sale price of our
common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effeff ct for at least 20 trading days (whether
or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading-day period (including the last trading day of such period)
ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides a
notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed,
plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

The Company accounted for the issuance of the Notes as a single liabia lity at par as the conversion
featurt e does not require bifurcation as a derivative under ASC 815 and the Notes were not issued at a substantial
premium. Debt issuance costs related to the Notes totaled $15.7 million and consisted of underwriting feesff and
third-party offering costs, which are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the
contractuatt l term. The Company recorded immaterial coupon interest expense forff all years presented. The
Company also recorded $1.4 million, $3.0 million, and $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
2022, and 2023 respectively, of amortization of debt issuance costs within expense on convertible notes on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The effeff ctive interest rate of the Notes
is 0.7%.

The estimated faiff r value of the Notes as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 was appra oximately
$364.8 million and $488.7 million, respectively, which represent Level 2 valuations in the faiff r value hierarchy.
The estimated faiff r value was determined based on the estimated or actuatt l bids and offeff rs of the Notes in an
over-the-counter market. The carrying value of the Notes as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 was
$649.9 million and $653.0 million, respectively.

Cappea d CalCC l Tll raTT nsactions

The Company used $58.5 million of the net proceeds froff m the Notes to enter into privately negotiated
capped call instrumrr ents (“Cappa ed Calls”) with certain financial institutions. The Cappea d Calls each have an
initial strike price of $285.26 per share, subject to certain adjud stments, which corresponds to the initial
conversion price of the Notes. The Cappea d Calls each have an initial cap price of $400.36 per share. The
Cappea d Calls cover, subju ect to anti-dilution adjustments, 2.3 million shares of common stock. The Cappea d Calls
are expected to reduce the potential dilution to common stock uponu any conversion of Notes and/or offsff et any
cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the
case may be, in the event the market price per share of common stock, as measured under the terms of the
Cappea d Call, is greater than the strike price of the Cappea d Call, with such reduction and/or offsff et subju ect to a
cap. If, however, the market price per share of the common stock, as measured under the terms of the Cappea d
Call, exceeds the cap pa rice of the Capped Calls, there would be dilution and/or there would not be an offsff et of
such potential cash payments, in each case, to the extent that such market price per share of the common stock
exceeds the cap pa rice of the Capped Calls. The Cappea d Calls expire on August 15, 2026, subject to earlier
exercise.

The Capped Calls were determined to be freestanding financial instrumrr ents that meet the criteria forff
classification in equity; as such the Cappea d Calls were recorded as a reducd tion of additional paid-in capia tal
within stockholders’ equity.
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The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the aggregate amount of maturities of all borrowings as of
December 31, 2023:

December 31,
2023

2024 $ —
2025 139,483
2026 909,192
2027 —
2028 —
Thereafteff r —
Total $ 1,048,675

11. Stockholders' Equity

Common Stoctt k Reserved forff Future Issuance

In December 2020, the Company's amended and restated certificff ate of incorporrr ation became effective,
which authorizes the issuance of 700,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share.
Shares of common stock reserved for issuance, on an as-converted basis, are as folff lows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2023

Options issued and outstanding 12,547,010 12,617,254
RSUs outstanding 6,046,796 5,534,394
PRSUs outstanding 687,500 —
Shares availabla e forff future issuance under 2020 plan 5,842,057 6,420,703
Shares availabla e forff issuance under ESPP 2,543,089 2,896,226
Total 27,666,452 27,468,577

Share Repuee rchase Program

In Februarr ry 2022, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase up tu o $400.0 million of
common stock of the Company. The Company may repurchase shares froff m time to time through open market
purchases, in privately negotiated transactions or by other means, including through the use of trading plans
intended to qualify under RulRR e 10b5-1. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any
particular amount of its common stock, and may be suspended or terminated by the Company at any time at its
discretion without prior notice.

The Company records share repurchases on the settlement date. Repurchased shares are subsequently
retired and returt ned to the statust of authorized but unissued. The Company’s policy forff share retirements is to
allocate the excess between par value and the repurchase price, including costs and fees, to additional paid-in
capital. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company made no repurchases of common stock. As of
December 31, 2023, $222.1 million remains availabla e forff future purchases of our common stock under the share
repurchase program.
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Equityii Incentivtt e PlaPP ns

In 2012, the Company adopted the Equity Incentive Plan (“2012 Equity Incentive Plan”) authorizing
the granting of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and non-statutt ory srr tock options (“NSOs”) to eligible
participants.

Under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, the exercise price of an ISO and NSO shall not be less than
100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors. The
exercise price of an ISO granted to a 10% stockholder shall not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of
the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors. Options generally vest over fourff years
and are exercisabla e forff up to 10 years after the date of grant if the employee provides service to the Company
for at least three years.

In October 2020, our Board of Directors adopted, and in November 2020 our Board of Directors
amended and our stockholders approved, our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan which was effective on December 14,
2020. The Company terminated the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan immediately prior to effeff ctiveness of the 2020
Equity Incentive Plan with respect to the grant of future awards. However, our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
continues to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards granted under our 2012 Equity Incentive
Plan.

The 2020 Equity Incentive Plan authorizes granting of ISOs, NSOs, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, or RSUs, and performance awards. In addition, the 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan also includes any shares subju ect to awards granted under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan that, on or afteff r
December 15, 2020, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised or issued in full, are tendered
to or withheld by us for payment of an exercise price or forff satisfying tax withholding obligations, or are
forfeited to or repurchased by us due to failure to vest. The maximum number of shares that may be added to
the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan pursuant to outstanding awards under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan is
15,000,000 shares. The number of shares available for issuance under our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan also
includes an annual increase on the first day of each fisff cal year beginning with 2021 in an amount equal to the
lesser of 15,000,000 shares or 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the last day of our
immediately preceding fisff cal year.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Prodigy, the Company assumed the Prodigy
Software, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Prodigy Plan”), under which certain unvested options under the
Prodigy Plan were assumed by the Company. The assumed options are subject to the same terms and conditions
that were applicable to them under the Prodigy Plan, except that (i) the assumed options relate to shares of
Upstart’s common stock, and (ii) the number of shares of Upstart’s common stock was the result of an
adjud stment based uponu a ratio as described furff ther in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 fileff d with the SEC
on April 16, 2021.
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Stoctt k OptOO iott ns

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Balances at December 31, 2022 12,547,010 $ 14.65 6.6 $ 77,289
Options granted 2,139,321 15.82
Options exercised (1,441,787) 8.93
Options cancelled and forfeited (627,290) 33.41
Balances at December 31, 2023 12,617,254 14.57 6.1 375,897
Options exercisabla e – December 31, 2023 8,754,026 9.82 4.9 292,002
Options vested and expected to vest – December
31, 2023 12,617,254 $ 14.57 6.1 $ 375,897

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the differff ence between the exercise price of the
underlying awards and the fair value of the Company’s stock as of December 31, 2023. The aggregate intrinsic
value of options exercised forff the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 was $1,391.7 million,
$157.3 million, and $28.9 million respectively. The weighted-average grant date faiff r value of options granted
during the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 was $62.06, $15.60, and $8.19 per share,
respectively. The total fair value of options vested for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 was
$23.5 million, $23.2 million, and $34.7 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested
stock options was $40.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period
of 2.5 years.

In May 2021, the Company amended an employee stock option agreement which resulted in a
modification of the vesting of a certain number of option shares. The Company valued the amended stock
options as of the modification date. Based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model, incremental stock-based
compensation expense of $4.4 million resulting from the modification was recognized during the year ended
December 31, 2021. The amendment had no impact for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii

The Company grants RSUs to employees and nonemployees. RSUs vest uponu satisfaction of a service-
based condition, which is generally satisfied over one to four years. The folff lowing tabla e summarizes RSU
activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share

Unvested at December 31, 2022 6,046,796 $ 51.28
RSUs granted 4,049,756 19.64
RSUs vested (3,170,158) 36.05
RSUs cancelled and forfeited (1,392,000) 59.05
Unvested at December 31, 2023 5,534,394 $ 34.90
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As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding
unvested RSUs was $150.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average
period of 2.0 years.

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k

In connection with the Prodigy acquisition in April 2021, 82,201 shares of the Company’s restricted
stock with a faiff r value of $10.1 million were issued to certain Prodigy employees. The restricted stock is subject
to transferff restrictions and a repurchase option and is contingent upon the employees' continued employment
with the Company. The restricted stock is subju ect to restrictions which lapse on a quarterly basis over two years
from the time of the Prodigy acquisition, refer to Note 7. Acquisiii tions for furff ther information. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, 10,271 shares of restricted stock with a weighted-average grant date value of
$123.33 per share fully lapsa ed and there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense as of
December 31, 2023.

Perforff marr nce-based Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii

On Februarr ry 24, 2023, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors appra oved
the cancellation of PRSUs that may be settled forff 687,500 shares of the Company’s common stock granted to an
executive in February 2rr 022.

At the time the PRSUs were granted, the PRSUs were intended to be the executive’s primary
compensation through calendar year 2029 so that, in connection with the grant of the PRSUs, the executive’s
cash compensation was limited to the amount necessary to allow the executive to participate in the broad-based
employee benefitff s generally applicable at the Company. In reaching its decision to cancel the PRSUs, the
Compensation Committee extensively considered the purposrr e of the PRSUs and determined that the grant no
longer provided the intended retention and incentive value to the executive. Afteff r considering various
alternatives and the pros and cons of such alternatives and consulting with its external advisors, the
Compensation Committee believed it was in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders to cancel the
PRSUs in exchange for the reinstatement of the executive’s cash compensation, including the executive’s
annual base salary arr nd eligibility to participate in the Company’s 2023 Executive Bonus Plan with an annual
target bonus opportunity equal to 75% of the executive’s annual base salary.rr

Compensation expense associated with the PRSUs was recognized using the straight-line attribution
method for each of the nine vesting tranches over the respective derived service period. The weighted-average
grant date faiff r value using the Monte Carlo simulation was $68.76 per share. The Company recognizes stock-
based compensation expense forff awards subju ect to market-based vesting conditions regardless of whether these
conditions will be achieved or not, and stock-based compensation expense forff any such awards is not reversed if
the market condition is not met. The cancellation of the grant was treated by the Company as a settlement for no
consideration and remaining unrecognized compensation expense of $39.0 million associated with the grant was
accelerated and recorded by the Company as part of engineering and product development expense on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

2020 Emplm oyll ee Stoctt k Purchase PlaPP n

Our ESPP provides forff consecutive six-month offering periods. The offeff ring periods are scheduld ed to
start on the first trading day on or after Februarr ry 15 and August 15 of each year. The ESPP permits participants
to purchase shares in the amount of 85% of the lower of the faiff r market value of our shares of common stock on
the firff st trading day of the offering period or on the exercise date. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
459,459 shares of common stock were purchased under the ESPP.

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP
was immaterial.
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Fair Value of Ao wards Gdd raGG ntedtt

In determining the fair value of stock-based awards, the Company uses a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model forff its options granted and ESPP purchase rights and a Monte Carlo simulation model forff its PRSUs. The
inputs used forff estimating the fair values of options granted, ESPP purchase rights and PRSUs granted during
the period include:

Fair Value of Co omCC mon StoS ck–Tkk he fair value of the Company’s common stock is determined by the
closing price, on the date of grant, of its common stock, which is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Expex cted Term–The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock options and ESPP
purchase rights are expected to be outstanding. We estimate the expected term based on the simplifieff d method,
which is the weighted-average time to vesting and the contractuat l maturt ity. The expected term for PRSUs is the
simulation term, the time period from the valuation date to the end of the performance measurement period.

Volatility–Byy ecause the Company has not had an active trading market for its common stock for a
sufficient period of time, the expected volatility is estimated based on the average volatility for comparabla e
publicly-traded companies, over a period equal to the expected term of the stock option grants.

Riskii -fkk reff e IntII erest Rate–The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury zrr ero
coupon issues in effeff ct at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.

Dividends–The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying
dividends on common stock forff the forff eseeable future. Therefore, the Company uses an expected dividend yield
of zero.

The folff lowing assumptions were used to estimate the faiff r value of options granted:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Expected term (in years) 5.3 – 6.9 5.1 – 7.0 5.1 – 7.0
Expected volatility 45.98% – 65.01% 47.58% – 52.96% 50.96% – 53.76%
Risk-free interest rate 0.62% – 1.34% 1.70% – 4.23% 3.45% – 4.86%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

The folff lowing assumptions were used to estimate the faiff r value of the February 2rr 022 PRSUs granted:

Expected term (in years) 6.9
Expected volatility 48.43%
Risk-free interest rate 1.89%
Dividend yield 0%
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The folff lowing assumptions were used to estimate the faiff r value of ESPP purchase rights:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Expected term (in years) 0.5 - 0.6 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility 61.65% - 152.95% 91.98% - 179.35% 97.74% - 131.05%
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% - 0.09% 0.72% - 3.13% 4.97% - 5.55%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n

The Company recorded stock-based compensation in the following expense categories in its
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for employees and nonemployees:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Sales and marketing $ 6,059 $ 11,354 $ 8,166
Customer operations 6,251 9,355 10,683
Engineering and product development 39,191 72,169 110,381
General, administrative, and other 21,685 33,067 45,809
Total $ 73,186 $ 125,945 $ 175,039

12. Leases

The Company’s operating leases expire between 2027 and 2029 and are primarily forff its corporrr ate
headquarters in San Mateo, Califorff nia and Columbus, Ohio, as well as additional office space in Columbus,
Ohio and Austin, Texas. Certain leases have rent abatement, escalating rent payment provisions, lease renewal
options, and tenant allowances. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable lease
term, except when it is reasonabla y certain that the renewal option will be exercised.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to partially
terminate a portion of its leased offiff ce space in Columbus, Ohio. In connection with the amendment, the
Company removed the extension option froff m the lease term as it was no longer reasonabla y certain to exercise
such option. The Company also incurred a one-time termination feeff of $7.0 million. The transaction was
accounted for as a lease modification, which resulted in a decrease of the ROU asset and lease liabia lity of
$19.9 million and $21.2 million, respectively, and an immaterial gain on partial termination within other income
(expense) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

In connection with the Company’s lease agreements, letters of credit were issued on behalf of the
Company forff the benefitff of the landlord in an aggregate amount of $3.4 million. The letters of credit are secured
by certificff ates of deposit which are included in restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.
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As of December 31, 2023, futff urt e minimum lease payments are as follows:

Operating
Leases

2024 $ 14,966
2025 15,402
2026 15,850
2027 15,474
2028 6,143
Thereafteff r 2,990
Total undiscounted lease payments 70,825
Less: Present value adjud stment (8,501)
Operating lease liabia lities $ 62,324

The Company did not have any material finff ance leases as of December 31, 2022 and had no finance
leases as of December 31, 2023. The Company’s operating lease expense consists of rent and variabla e lease
payments. Variabla e lease payments such as common area maintenance and parking fees, were included in
operating expenses. Rent expense forff the Company’s short-term leases was immaterial for the years presented.
Operating lease expense was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Rent expense $ 7,756 $ 15,916 $ 15,766
Variable lease payments $ 1,650 $ 3,696 $ 4,067

Supplu emental cash floff w and non-cash information related to the Company’s operating leases was as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabia lities $ 4,553 $ 11,084 $ 22,014
Right-of-use assets capia talized 83,463 1,826 —
Adjud stments to operating lease right-of-use assets due to
modification and other reassessment events $ — $ — $ (19,865)

Supplu emental balance sheet inforff mation related to the Company’s operating leases was as folff lows:

December 31,
2023

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 4.56
Weighted-average discount rate 5.11%
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitmentstt

The Company has loan purchase obligations under the Company’s loan agreements with certain
lending partners. These lending partners retain ownership of the loans faciff litated through Upstart’s platforff m forff
three days or longer (the “holding period”) after origination, as required under the respective agreements. The
Company has committed to purchase the loans at the conclusion of the required holding period. As of December
31, 2022 and 2023, the total loan purchase commitment included outstanding principal balance of $17.8 million
and $36.6 million, respectively.

Contintt gencies

Accounting forff contingencies requires the Company to use judgment related to both the likelihood of a
loss and the estimate of the amount or range of loss. The Company records a loss contingency when it is
probabla e that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonabla y estimated. The
Company discloses material contingencies when it believes a loss is not probabla e but reasonabla y possible and
may voluntarily provide information on additional contingencies.

From time to time the Company is subju ect to, and it is presently involved in, various litigation and legal
proceedings arising froff m the ordinary course of business activities, the outcome of which the Company cannot
reasonabla y determine. Other than the class actions and derivative actions described below, the Company does
not believe that it is presently a party to any litigation of which the outcome would individually, or taken
together, have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash floff ws, or finff ancial condition. As
of December 31, 2022 and 2023, no loss contingency has been recorded in connection with legal proceedings.

Indemnifications

In the ordinary crr ourse of business, the Company may provide indemnificff ations of varying scope and
terms to vendors, directors, offiff cers and other parties with respect to certain matters. In addition, the Company
has entered into indemnificff ation agreements with directors and certain offiff cers and employees that will require
the Company, among other things, to indemnify tff hem against certain liabia lities that may arise by reason of their
statustt or service as directors, officers or employees. No demands have been made upon the Company to provide
indemnificff ation under such agreements, and thus, there are no claims that the Company is aware of that could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Repure chases

Under the terms of the loan purchase and loan servicing agreements between the Company and
institutional investors, as well as in agreements with investors in securitizations and pass-through certificff ate
transactions, the Company may, in certain circumstances, become obligated to repurchase loans from such
institutional investors. Generally, these circumstances include the occurrence of verifiaff bla e identity theft,ff the
failure of sold loans to meet the terms of certain loan-level representations and warranties that speak as of the
time of origination or sale, the faiff lure to comply with other contractuatt l terms with the institutional investors, or
a violation of the applicable federal, state, or local lending laws.

The maximum potential amount of future payments associated under this obligation is the outstanding
balances of the loans sold to the institutional investors, which at December 31, 2022 and 2023 is
$15,551.1 million and $12,208.1 million, respectively. Actual payments made relating to the Company’s
repurchase and indemnificff ation obligations were immaterial.
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The Company did not have material contingent liabia lities related to future loan repurchase obligations
as of December 31, 2022 and 2023. These amounts are included in accrued expenses and other liabia lities on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Legale

On May 13, 2022, a purporrr ted class action lawsuit was filff ed in the United States District Court,
Northern District of California, captioned Ward v. Upstart Holdings, Inc., et al., Case No. 5:22-cv-02856-BLF
(N.D. Cal.) against the Company, the Company’s Chief Executive Offiff cer, and Chief Financial Offiff cer alleging,
among other things, that the defendants made falff se and/or misleading statements or omissions about the
Company’s business, operations, and prospects in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act. The Ward lawsuit claimed unspecified damages and legal feesff .

Between May 19, 2022 and June 22, 2022, two additional related purporrr ted class action lawsuits were
filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of Califorff nia, captioned Plymouth County Retirement
Association v. Upstart Holdings, Inc., et al., Case No. 3:22-cv-02973-WHO (N.D. Cal.) and Zhang v. Upstart
Holdings, Inc., et al., Case No. 3:22-cv-03668-JD (N.D. Cal.). On July 7, 2022, a related purporrr ted class action
lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, captioned Handelsbanken
Fonder AB v. Upstart Holdings, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:22-cv-02706-SDM-EPD (S.D. Ohio). The Zhang,
Plymouth County, and Handelsbanken Fonder actions named the same defendants and made similar allegations
to those in the Ward action.

On July 11, 2022, plaintiffsff in the Zhang and Plymouth County actions filed notices voluntarily
dismissing their lawsuits without prejudice. On July 12, 2022, motions to appoint lead plaintiff aff nd lead counsel
were filed in both the Ward action and the Handelsbanken Fonder action. On July 26, 2022, plaintiff iff n the
Ward action filff ed a notice voluntarily dismissing his lawsuit without prejudice, and on July 27, 2022, plaintiff iff n
the Handelsbanken Fonder action fileff d a notice voluntarily dismissing its lawsuit without prejudice.

On July 26, 2022, an additional lawsuit was filff ed in United States District Court, Southern District of
Ohio, captioned Crain v. Upstart Holdings, Inc. et al., Case No. 2:22-cv-02935-ALM-EPD (S.D. Ohio) against
the Company, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Offiff cer. The Crain lawsuit makes
allegations similar to those in the Handelsbanken Fonder action and alleges that the defendants made falff se and/
or misleading statements or omissions about the Company’s business, operations, and prospects in violation of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act. The Crain lawsuit claims unspecified damages and legal feesff . On August 16, 2022, the court
appointed a lead plaintiff and appra oved lead counsel in the Crain action. On December 5, 2022, the lead plaintiffff
filed a consolidated amended complaint, which names the same defendants as the previous complaint, along
with two Company executives, as well as Third Point LLC and its CEO and Third Point Venturtt es LLC and its
managing partner (also a forff mer Upstart board member). The consolidated amended complaint brings the same
claims as the previous complaint but adds a claim under Section 20A of the Exchange Act. On Februarr ry 24,
2023, the Upstart defendants fileff d a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On September 29,
2023, the Court issued an order, granting in part and denying in part the Upstart defendants’ motion. On
November 7, 2023, the Upstart defendants fileff d a motion for reconsideration, which has now been fully briefed
and is awaiting decision by the Court. The Company believes the remaining claims in the Crain action are
without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously.

On July 28, 2022, a derivative lawsuit was fileff d in United States District Court, Southern District of
Ohio, captioned OConnor v. Hubeu r et al., Case No. 2:22-cv-02961-EAS-KAJ (S.D. Ohio). The OConnor action
includes allegations similar to those in the Crain complaint, and names as defenff dants each of the Company’s
current board members and its Chief Financial Offiff cer. The Company is named as a nominal defendant. The
OConnor action includes claims for violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
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thereunder, breach of fidff ucd iary duty, aiding and abea tting breach of fidff ucd iary duty, unjust enrichment, and waste
of corporate assets. The OConnor action seeks unspecified monetary damages and an accounting froff m the
individual defenff dants. The OConnor action also seeks unspecified corporate governance and internal procedurd e
modifications, punitive damages, and legal feeff s.

On October 7, 2022, a second derivative lawsuit was fileff d in United States District Court, Southern
District of Ohio, captioned Chung v. Hubeu r et al., No. 2:22-cv-03620-MHW-CMV (S.D. Ohio). The Chung
action includes allegations similar to those in the OConnor complaint, and names as defendants each of the
Company’s current board members, a forff mer board member, and its Chief Financial Offiff cer. The Company is
named as a nominal defendant. The Chung action includes claims forff violation of Section 10(b), 14(a), and 21D
of the Exchange Act, breach of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, and
waste of corporrr ate assets. The Chung action seeks unspecified monetary damages, restitution, and attorney’s
fees and costs from the individual defenff dants. It also seeks corporrr ate governance and internal procedure
modifications.

On December 12, 2022, in response to a joint motion by the parties, the Court consolidated the
OConnor and Chung matters, appoia nted co-lead counsel, and stayed the consolidated case until resolution of the
related Crain securities class action.

On Februarr ry 3, 2023, a third derivative lawsuit was fileff d, in the United States District Court, District of
Delaware, captioned Hsu v. Girouard, et al., 1:23-cv-00132-UNA (D. Del.). The Hsu action includes allegations
similar to those in the consolidated derivative matter pending in Ohio, and names as defenff dants each of the
Company’s current board members, a forff mer board member, and its Chief Financial Offiff cer. The Company is
named as a nominal defendant. The Hsu action includes claims for violation of Section 14(a) of the Exchange
Act as well as breach of fiduciary duties, and seeks unspecified monetary damages, restitution, and attorney’s
feesff and costs from the individual defenff dants. It also seeks corporrr ate governance and internal procedure
modifications. On February 1rr 6, 2023, in response to a joint stipulation and proposed order submitted by the
parties, the Court stayed the Hsu action until resolution of the related Crain securities class action.

On March 8, 2023, a fourff th derivative lawsuit was fileff d, in the United States District Court, District of
Delaware, captioned Sornchai et al. v. Girouard, et al., 1:23-cv-00253-MN (D. Del). The Sornchai action
includes allegations similar to those in the consolidated derivative matter pending in Ohio, and names as
defendants each of the Company’s current board members, a forff mer board member, its Chief Financial Offiff cer,
and a Company executive. The Company is named as a nominal defendant. The Sornchai action includes claims
for violations of Sections 10(b), 14(a) and 21D of the Exchange Act, breach of fiduciary duties, breach of
fiduciary duty through misappropriation of material non-public information, and unjust enrichment, and seeks
unspecified monetary damages, restitution, and attorney’s feesff and costs from the individual defenff dants. It also
seeks corporrr ate governance and internal procedurd e modifications. On March 24, 2023, in response to a joint
stipulation and proposed order submitted by the parties, the Court stayed the Sornchai action until resolution of
the related Crain securities class action.

On April 5, 2023, a fifff thff derivative lawsuit was filed, in the Court of Chancery orr f the State of
Delaware, captioned Okhai v. Girouard, et al., C.A. No. 2023-0401-SG (Del. Ch.). The Okhai action includes
allegations similar to those in the consolidated derivative matter pending in Ohio, and names as defenff dants the
Company’s current board members, two forff mer board members, its Chief Financial Offiff cer, and two current or
former Company executives, as well as Third Point LLC and Third Point Venturt es LLC. The Okhai action
includes claims for breach of fidff ucd iary, aiding and abetting such alleged breaches, and unjust enrichment, and
seeks equitabla e and/or injun nctive relief, restitution, and attorney’s fees and costs from the individual defenff dants.
On August 3, 3023, in response to a motion to stay by the defendants in the Okhai action, the Court stayed the
Okhai action until resolution of the motion to dismiss in the related Crain securities class action. Following the
issuance of the September 29, 2023 order on the motion to dismiss in the related Crain securities class action, on
November 16, 2023, in response to a joint stipulation and proposed order submitted by the parties, the Court
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stayed the Okhai action until resolution of a motion forff reconsideration of the September 29, 2023 order on the
motion to dismiss in the related Crain securities class action.

On October 13, 2023, a sixth derivative lawsuit was filed, in the Court of Chancery orr f the State of
Delaware, captioned Romanyshyn v. Girouard, et al., C.A. No. 2023-1029-SG (Del. Ch.). The Romanyshyn
action includes allegations similar to those in the consolidated derivative matter pending in Ohio, and names as
defendants current and forff mer directors and Company executives, as well as Third Point LLC and its CEO, and
Third Point Venturtt es LLC. The Romanyshyn action includes claims for breach of fiduciary, and seeks
unspecified monetary damages, restitution, and attorney’s feesff and costs from the individual defenff dants. It also
seeks corporrr ate governance and internal procedurd e modifications. On November 3, 2023, in response to a joint
stipulation and proposed order submitted by the parties, the Court stayed the Romanyshyn action until
resolution of the motion to stay in the related Okhai derivative action.

On October 24, 2023, a seventh derivative lawsuit was filed, in the Court of Chancery orr f the State of
Delaware, captioned Agarwal v. Girouard, et al., C.A. No. 2023-1075-SG (Del. Ch.). The Agarwal action
includes allegations similar to those in the consolidated derivative matter pending in Ohio, and names as
defendants current and forff mer directors and Company executives, as well as Third Point LLC and its CEO, and
Third Point Venturtt es LLC. The Agarwal action includes claims for breach of fiduciary, and seeks unspecified
monetary damages, restitution, and attorney’s fees and costs from the individual defenff dants. It also seeks
corporate governance and internal procedurd e modifications. On November 3, 2023, in response to a joint
stipulation and proposed order submitted by the parties, the Court stayed the Agarwal action until resolution of
the motion to stay in the related Okhai derivative action.

Given the uncertainty of litigation described above, the preliminary srr tage of the cases, and the legal
standards that must be met for, among other things, class certification and success on the merits, the Company
cannot estimate the reasonabla y possible loss or range of loss that may result froff m these actions.

14. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes consisted entirely of income froff m domestic operations of $133.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021. Loss beforff e income taxes consisted entirely of losses froff m domestic
operations of, $ff 109.1 million and $240.0 million forff the calendar year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023,
respectively. Income tax (benefit) expense included in the statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss) consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ —
State 229 174 107
Total current tax expense 229 174 107
Deferred:
Federal (1,435) 41 —
State (506) (624) —
Total deferff red tax expense (1,941) (583) —
Total (benefit) provision for income taxes $ (1,712) $ (409) $ 107
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Income tax expense diffeff red froff m the amount computed by applying the Federal statutt ory irr ncome tax
rate of 21% to net income (loss) before income taxes forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as a result of the
following:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Federal tax at statutt ory rrr ate $ 28,084 $ (22,906) $ (50,405)
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit (248) (448) 107
Stock-based compensation (236,726) (4,490) 2,306
Research and development credit (19,103) (6,333) (6,288)
PPP loan forgiveness (CARES Act) 1,110 — —
Change in valuation allowance 222,230 26,263 38,189
Tax returtt n to tax provision adjud stment (34) 309 (878)
Section 162(m) limitation 2,653 6,494 16,586
Other 322 702 490
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes $ (1,712) $ (409) $ 107

The tax effeff cts of temporary drr iffeff rences that gave rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferff red
tax assets and liabia lities related to the following:

December 31,
2022 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 304,879 $ 328,511
Capia talized research and experimental expenditures 28,732 54,335
Research and development credits 38,796 47,009
Operating lease liabia lities 29,052 18,041
Stock-based compensation 13,714 14,067
Convertible debt transactions 10,734 6,694
Accruarr ls and reserves 6,647 7,306
Investment in partnerships 801 —
Amortization 90 299
Other 631 298
Total deferff red tax assets 434,076 476,560
Less: valuation allowance (387,976) (443,165)
Deferred tax assets – net of valuation allowance 46,100 33,395
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right of use asset 24,887 15,832
Servicing rights 9,368 7,542
Interest receivables 3,699 4,100
Intangible assets 4,502 3,461
Depreciation 3,644 1,972
Investment in partnerships — 488
Total deferff red tax liabia lities 46,100 33,395
Net deferff red tax liabia lities $ — $ —
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Management believes that, based on availabla e evidence, both positive and negative, it is more likely
than not that the deferff red tax assets will not be utilized, and as such the Company maintains a full valuation
allowance at December 31, 2023. The valuation allowance increased by $55.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 primarily as a result of current year activities and the capitalization of research and
experimental activities.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had appra oximately $1,069.2 million and $1,528.1 million of
federal and state (post-apportioned) net operating losses (NOL), that will begin to expire in 2035 and 2034,
respectively. The Company also has Federal and Califorff nia research and development tax credits of
$49.8 million and $21.7 million, respectively. The Federal research credits will begin to expire in 2032 and the
Califorff nia research credits have no expiration date. The Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) limits the amount of
NOL carryforwards that a company may use in a given year in the event of certain cumulative changes in
ownership over a three-year period as described in Section 382 of the IRC. Utilization of NOL carryforwards
and credits may be subject to a subsu tantial annual limitation dued to the ownership change limitations provided
by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may
result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits beforff e utilization. The Company performed an
ownership analysis and identified ownership changes in prior years, as defined under IRC Section 382 and 383,
however neither resulted in a material limitation that will reducd e the total amount of NOL carryforwards and
credits that can be utilized.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of gross unrecognized tax benefitsff is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2023
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,820 $ 13,904 $ 18,474
Additions for tax positions of prior years 461 885 308
Tax positions related to the current year 11,623 3,685 3,376
Balance at end of year $ 13,904 $ 18,474 $ 22,158

If recognized, all of the unrecognized tax benefitff s would not impact the effective tax rate due to the
valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had
$22.2 million unrecognized income tax benefits and there was an increase of $3.7 million to the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefits during the year. The Company does not anticipate any significant increases or
decreases to unrecognized tax benefitsff during the next twelve months. The Company’s policy is to classify
interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company had no
interest or penalty accruals associated with uncertain tax benefitsff in its consolidated balance sheet and
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the tax year ended December 31,
2023.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and various state and local
jurisdictions. The Company is not currently under examination by income tax authorities in fedff eral, state, or
local jurisdictions. However, because the Company has net operating losses and credits carried forward in
several jurisdictions, certain items attributable to closed tax years are still subju ect to adjud stment by applicable
taxing authorities through an adjud stment to tax attributes carried forward to open years. All tax returns will
remain open forff examination by the federal and most state taxing authorities forff three years and four years,
respectively, from the date of utilization of any net operating loss carryforwards or research and development
credits.
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15. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is based on the weighted-average common shares
outstanding during the relevant year. Diluted net income (loss) per share is based on the weighted-average
common shares outstanding during the relevant year adjud sted for the dilutive effect of share-based awards and
convertible debt. Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share are computed independently for each year
presented, which involves the use of diffeff rent weighted-average share count figures. As a result, and after
factoring the effeff ct of rounding to the nearest cent per share, the sum of each fiscal quarter-to-date basic and
diluted net income (loss) per share may not equal year-to-date basic and diluted net income (loss) per share.

For years in which the Company reports net losses, basic and diluted net loss per share are the same
because potentially dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ 135,443 $ (108,665) $ (240,132)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding used to
calculate net income (loss) per share, basic 78,106,359 82,771,268 83,765,896
Weighted-average effeff ct of dilutive securities 16,666,282 — —
Weighted-average common shares outstanding used to
calculate net income (loss) per share, diluted 94,772,641 82,771,268 83,765,896

Net income (loss) per share, basic $ 1.73 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)
Net income (loss) per share, diluted $ 1.43 $ (1.31) $ (2.87)

The folff lowing securities were excluded froff m the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share for
the years presented, dued to their anti-dilutive effect. These amounts represent the number of instrumrr ents
outstanding at the end of each respective year:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Options to purchase common stock 461,157 12,547,010 12,617,254
Unvested RSUs 506,302 6,046,796 5,534,394
Convertible debt 2,318,078 2,318,078 2,318,078
Purchase rights committed under the ESPP — 101,397 184,447
Unvested PRSUs — 687,500 —
Total 3,285,537 21,700,781 20,654,173

16. Reorganization Expenses

On January 31, 2023, the Company implemented a plan of reorganization (the “January 2023 Plan”).
The January 2023 Plan was designed to reducd e operating costs, streamline operations and returt n the Company
to profitaff bia lity. As part of the January 2023 Plan, the Company reducd ed its workforce by appra oximately 20%, or
365 employees, and suspended development of its small business loan product.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred $15.5 million of reorganization
expenses in relation to the January 2023 plan, which primarily consisted of severance charges related to
employee cash compensation, benefits, and associated taxes. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has made
all cash payments to impacted employees. The Company also recognized an impairment expense of $2.6 million
for previously capitalized internally developed softwff are costs. In addition to these charges, the Company
recognized $2.9 million of one-time non-cash savings related to the reversal of previously expensed stock-based
compensation associated with forfeited stock awards for the year ended December 31, 2023.

17. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events that have occurred through the filinff g date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Based on its evaluation, other than any items recorded or disclosed within the consolidated
financial statement and related notes, including as discussed below, the Company has determined no subsu equent
events were required to be recognized or disclosed.

On Februarr ry 9, 2024, the Company signed an agreement with an investor to sell a pool of Upstart-
powered core personal loans with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of $299.7 million. The total
consideration in exchange for the loans include cash, and a right to receive additional cash amounts if credit
performance of the loan pool is in line or exceeds initial expectations. In case of credit underperformance, the
Company is obligated to make cash payments to the purchaser over time, subject to a certain cap. The Company
plans to account for this sale under ASC 860, Transfes rs and Servicing.

On Februarr ry 13, 2024, the Company obtained a waiver for breach in certain covenants related to the
UAWT Warehouse Credit Facility for the January 2024 collection period and paid down $15.3 million of the
outstanding advance on the credit facility.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation and supeu rvision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es as defined in RulRR es
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Based
on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiff cer have concluded that, as of
December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were designed and function effectively to provide
reasonabla e assurance that inforff mation required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rulrr es
and forff ms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Officff er, as appra opriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

b. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedurd es or our internal control
over finff ancial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonabla e, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedurd es must reflect the factff there are resource constraints and
that management is required to appla y its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns
can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The
design of any system of controls is also based in part uponu certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential futff urtt e conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with policies or procedurdd es may deteriorate. Due to inherent limitations in a cost-effeff ctive
control system, misstatements due to error or fraff ud may occur and not be detected.

c. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over finff ancial reporting (as defined in RulRR es 13a-15(d) and
15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act) that occurred durd ing the year ended December 31, 2023 that has materially
affeff cted, or is reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

d. Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over finff ancial reporting. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
assessed the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting based on the fraff mework in Internal
Contrott l - Integre ated Framework (rr 2013)(( issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”). Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal Contrott l - Integre ated
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Framework (rr 2013)(( , our management concluded that our internal control over finff ancial reporting was effeff ctive
as of December 31, 2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firff m, as stated in their report
which appea ars in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Upstart Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over finff ancial reporting of Upstart Holdings, Inc. and subsu idiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Contrott l — Integre ated
Framework (rr 2013)(( issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Contrott l — Integre ated
Framework (rr 2013)(( issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated Februarr ry 15, 2024, expressed an unqualifieff d opinion on those
financial statements.

Basis forff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial
reporting and for its assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management’s Repore t on IntII ernal Contrott l over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e
assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external
purposrr es in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonabla e detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
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acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urt e periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, Califorff nia
Februarr ry 15, 2024

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

(c) Securities Trading Plans of Executive Offiff cers and Directors

From time to time, some of the Company’s executive offiff cers or directors may determine that it is advisabla e to
diversify tff heir investments forff personal finff ancial planning reasons or may seek liquidity for other reasons and
may sell shares of common stock of the Company. To effeff ct such sales, from time to time, some of the
Company’s executive offiff cers or directors may enter into trading plans that are designed to comply with the
Company’s Insider Trading Policy and intended to satisfy the affirmative defenff se conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, the following officer (as defined in RulRR e 16a-1(f) of the Exchange
Act) of the Company has adopted a contract, instrucrr tion or written plan for the sale of securities of the
Company intended to satisfy the affirmative defenff se conditions of Rule 10b5–1(c) of the Exchange Act:

Name and title of offiff cer: Natalia Mirgorodskaya, Corporrr ate Controller
Date of adoption: November 30, 2023
Duration of the trading arrangement: Through August 31, 2024 or earlier if all transactions under the trading
arrangement are completed
Aggregate number of securities to be sold froff m time to time: up tu o 13,688 shares

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT
INSPECTIONS

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATR E GOVERNANCE

We maintain a Code of Ethics that incorporates our code of ethics applicable to all employees,
including all directors and executive officers. Our Code of Ethics is published on our Investor Relations website
at ir.upstart.com under “Governance.” We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form
8-K regarding amendments to, or waiver froff m, a provision of the Company’s Code of Ethics by posting such
information on the website address and location specified above.
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The remaining information required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement forff our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120
days afteff r December 31, 2023.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The remaining information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be fileff d with the SEC no later than 120 days afteff r
December 31, 2023.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The inforff mation required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be fileff d with the SEC no later than 120 days afteff r December 31,
2023.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSRR ACTIONS, AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The inforff mation required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be fileff d with the SEC no later than 120 days afteff r December 31,
2023.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our principal accountant is Deloitte & Touche, LLP. The information required by this item will be set
forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days afteff r December 31, 2023.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not
present in amounts suffiff cient to require submu ission of the scheduld e, or the required inforff mation is shown in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
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3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated
herein by reference, in each case as indicated below.

EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificff ate of
Incorporation.

10-K 001-39797 3.1 Februarr ry 18, 2022

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 001-39797 3.2 November 18, 2022
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificff ate. S-1/A 333-249860 4.1 December 4, 2020
4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights

Agreement among the registrant and certain
holders of its capia tal stock, amended as of
December 31, 2018.

S-1 333-249860 4.2 November 6, 2020

4.3 Description of Capital Stock. 10-K 001-39797 4.3 Februarr ry 16, 2023
4.4 Indenturt e, dated August 20, 2021, between

the registrant and U.S. Bank National
Association.

8-K 001-39797 4.1 August 20, 2021

4.5 Form of 0.25% Convertible Senior Note due
2026 (included in the indenturt e filff ed as
Exhibit 4.4).

8-K 001-39797 4.2 August 20, 2021

10.1+ Form of Indemnificff ation Agreement between
the registrant and each of its directors and
executive offiff cers.

S-1/A 333-249860 10.1 December 4, 2020

10.2+ 2020 Equity Incentive Plan and related forff m
agreements.

10-Q 001-39797 10.1 November 12, 2021

10.3+ 2012 Stock Plan and related forff m
agreements.

S-1/A 333-249860 10.3 November 6, 2020

10.4+ Employee Incentive Compensation Plan. S-1/A 333-249860 10.4 December 4, 2020
10.5+ 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1/A 333-249860 10.5 December 4, 2020
10.6+ Prodigy Software, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive

Plan and related form agreements.
S-8 333-255270 4.4 April 16, 2021

10.7+ Amended and Restated Executive Change in
Control and Severance Policy and related
participation.

8-K 001-39797 10.1 November 18, 2022

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
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Outside Director Compensation Policy. 10-K 001-39797 10.7 Februarr ry 18, 2022
10.9+ Employment Offer Letter, dated October 6,

2022, between Upstart Network, Inc. and
Scott Darling.

10-K 001-39797 10.10 Februarr ry 16, 2023

10.10 Sub-u Sublu ease Agreement, dated April 1,
2019, between the registrant and Snowflake,
Inc.

S-1 333-249860 10.8 November 5, 2020

10.11 Sublu ease, dated September 13, 2021, between
Upstart Network, Inc. and Open Text, Inc.

10-Q 001-39797 10.3 November 12, 2021

10.12^ Amended and Restated TransUnion Master
Agreement forff Consumer Reporting and
Ancillary Services, dated November 25,
2020, between Upstart Network, Inc. and
TransUnion LLC.

S-1/A 333-249860 10.16 December 7, 2020

10.13^ Amended and Restated Billing Agent
Agreement, dated November 25, 2020,
between Upstart Network, Inc. and Trans
Union LLC.

S-1/A 333-249860 10.17 December 7, 2020

10.14 Form of Cappea d Call Confirff mation. 8-K 001-39797 10.1 August 20, 2021
21.1* List of subsu idiaries of the registrant.
23* Consent of Independent Registered Publu ic

Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature

page hereto).
31.1* Certificff ation of Principal Executive Offiff cer

pursuant to Exchange Act RulRR es 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certificff ation of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to Exchange Act RulRR es 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Certificff ations of Principal Executive Offiff cer
and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of
2002.

97.1* Compensation Recovery Policy.
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH
*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

101.CAL
*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF
*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
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101.LAB
*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l
Linkbase Document

101.PRE
*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase Document

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

—————
* Filed herewith.
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
^ Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisk) have been excluded because such information is both (i)

not material and (ii) would be competitively harmfulff if publicly disclosed.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-
K has been signed below by the folff lowing persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Date: February 15, 2024

Upstart Holdings, Inc

By: /s/ Dave Girouard
Dave Girouard
Chief Executive Offiff cer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutt es and appoia nts Dave Girouard, Sanjan y Datta and Scott Darling, and each of them, as his or her true and
lawfulff attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of subsu tituttt ion and resubsu titution, for such individual in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to fileff the same,
with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, fulff l power and authority to do
and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fulff ly
for all intents and purposrr es as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifyiff ng and confirff ming all that
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or the individual’s substitute, may lawfulff ly do or cause to be
done by virtuet hereof.ff

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report
on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on
the dates indicated.
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Signatureg Title Date
/s/ Dave Girouard Chief Executive Offiff cer and Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Dave Girouard (Principal Executive OffiO cer)r

/s/ Sanjan y Datta Chief Financial Offiff cer February 1rr 5, 2024
Sanjay Datta (Principal Financial OffO icff er)r

/s/ Natalia Mirgorodskaya Corporate Controller February 1rr 5, 2024
Natalia Mirgorodskaya (Principal Accounting OffO icff er)r

/s/ Sukhinder Singh Cassidy Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Sukhinder Singh Cassidy

/s/ Kerry Cooper Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Kerry Cooper

/s/ Paul Gu Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Paul Gu

/s/ Mary Hrr entges Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Mary Hentges

/s/ Jeff Hff uber Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Jeff Hubeu r

/s/ Ciaran O’Kelly Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Ciaran O’Kelly

/s/ Hilliard C. Terry III Director Februarr ry 15, 2024
Hilliard C. Terry III
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